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      At the edge of the galaxy, a Galactic Republic research station has gone dark…

      Volka, 6T9, and Carl Sagan are called to help in the rescue mission … A mission that triggers telepathic nightmares in their starship so terrifying battle hardened Galactic Marines breakdown and weep.

      They’re about to discover some nightmares are real.

      The Darkness is Rising.
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      Besides reading and buying my books, and giving me words of encouragement, you, my fans, have also shared them with your friends and family, in person, on Facebook and Twitter, and GoodReads. I couldn’t keep doing this without you.

      Thank you for hanging around to read my daydreams!
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            Luddeccea: Fallout

          

        

      

    

    
      Alaric gripped the bars of the cell window and pulled himself up so his chin was above the sill. The smoke billowing above New Prime’s prison bit into his lungs and stung his eyes.

      The penitentiary sat on a hill to the west of No Weere, the ironic name of the weere settlement. Weere were wolf-human hybrids, and he remembered his mother explaining, “It’s no weere a good man wants to be.” Weere and humans weren’t supposed to mix, and the weere’s animal natures and appearance were openly and frequently derided. Of course, they did mix. He remembered his fellow cadets in Guard training laughing while heading to “weere houses” exclaiming, “It’s exactly weere we want to be.”

      The smoke had been in the air since his return from his ill-fated mission to Libertas sixty-three days ago. He’d exited his ship, smelled the acrid scent, and noticed the black, curling trails just above the horizon. A moment later, four members of Luddeccea’s Local Security had stepped up to him and said, “Sir, you’re under arrest by orders of the Council.” They hadn't mentioned the charges.

      At first, the smoke had come from No Weere. There had been riots there when he’d been incarcerated. Cut off from the papers and radio, he didn’t know what set them off, but he’d watched weere and Prime security forces clashing in the street. Weere had thrown rocks and Molotov cocktails, but Luddeccean Security had shot phasers. The weere had fallen like toy soldiers, and then fires had consumed huge swathes of the settlement before the tail end of the rainy season showers had extinguished them.

      The smoke had returned after the rains, but now it came from the west. Whether it came from New Prime, or from the prison itself, he couldn’t say.

      Beyond the half-burnt remains of No Weere was the jungle basin of the exclusion zone. Once it had been Prime, the old capital of Luddeccea. There’d been a spaceport there directly beneath Time Gate 8. The time gate had provided faster-than-light travel to any other gated port in the Galactic Republic. But then had come Revelation, when it had been discovered that the giant computers within the time gates were self-aware. Unprovoked, Time Gate 8 had dropped fission bombs and chemical weapons on the city of Prime. After over a century of cleanup, fallout still lingered. Even from a distance, the trees and vegetation looked mutated and wrong. The basin was alarmingly green; the tree limbs were too large and excessively twisted. Fruit grew in the exclusion zone to enormous sizes but was inedible. Volka, his uncle’s maid and Alaric’s…well, his weere…had brought him back a bornut that she’d found near the zone’s edge. Normally the size and shape of a thumb, it had been as large as his clenched fist and shaped like a deflated balloon.

      He remembered Volka’s wolf-like ears being curled down as she presented it to him, her eyes, outlined with naturally dark pigmentation, averted shyly. Her black fingernails had been glossier than the nut’s shell…

      Alaric’s arms started to shake, and he eased himself down until his bare feet touched the stone floor. Wiping his face, his hands strayed in the two months’ worth of beard—he hadn’t been allowed a razor—and gazed around his cell. It was sparse, the bed only a metal slab that hung from the wall, but there was a polyfoam mattress and a wool blanket. There was also a toilet, a sink, soap, and three brand new copies of the Three Books—the revised versions of the Torah, Bible, and Koran that Luddeccean society was based on.

      It was an officer’s prison, and no one had laid a hand on him since he’d arrived. Far better than what would have befallen Volka if he had arrested her. The screams of captured weere echoing up from the basement were a testament to that.

      His jaw got hard. He’d saved her from this place but failed to rescue her from the Galactic Republic’s android agent. Alaric had seen how disposable humans could be to the machines. He’d picked through the shattered, bloody bodies of women and children left behind by the Republic’s android spies. He also had intel on the outer rim sections of the Kanakah Disk, the closest Republic outpost. The Republic treated its poor worse than Luddeccea treated its weere. Would the machine that had brainwashed Volka toss her aside and leave her to drift down to the outer levels of some desolate space station?

      His jaw clenched at the memory of the android throwing out its arms and facing Alaric’s craft, as though trying to draw their fire. He shook his head. It was a hallucination. It had to have been. He’d also hallucinated about being aboard the strange Republic craft with Volka, her werfle, and a ghost of the machine.

      He should have killed Volka. He regretted that.

      He also regretted not destroying the ship she and the android had escaped on. His failure would embolden the Republic. They would think they could intrude on Luddeccean space with impunity.

      He regretted not being able to see his sons. He knew they would face hardships without him, but those would make them stronger, and his wife Alexis, more than any woman, had the spine to raise two boys without the help of any man. Still, his boys had been a wonder to him— their transformations from helpless infants to beings who understood larger and larger pieces of the world were among his life’s greatest joys. He regretted that he would miss their transformation into men.

      But he didn’t regret not turning Volka in to be interrogated, and so he could not regret being in prison. He could only extrapolate that was why he was here. He still hadn’t been formally charged. He hadn’t been given a legal representative. Nor had he been allowed a visit with his wife Alexis. The daughter of a colonel, she’d have some gossip of his case.

      Alaric rapped the flat of his palm against his thigh. He knew he’d face a firing squad, that his trial would be a mere formality, and yet he wished they would get to it. Most of his crew had been killed in a surprise attack by rebel forces on Libertas. His trial would be on public record, and he needed his sons to know he had sworn upon the Three Books that he hadn’t been involved in the attack, and that he had not betrayed his crew.

      Somewhere down the hall, he heard someone whisper, “Doctor…I need a doctor…” The sounds of retching, and then of someone falling to the floor followed. Many of his fellow prisoners had gotten sick in the past few days—a particularly bad strain of the rainy season flu, he suspected. Alaric had seen them being carried past his cell on their way to the infirmary.

      For lack of anything to do, he walked over to the door, peered through the bars of the tiny window there, and waited for the guards to come and take the man away, silently counting the seconds. At 1,200 seconds he began again, but rustling in his cell made him pause. He turned his head and saw a rat in the corner. Not native to Luddeccea, the small, adaptable rodents had brought as much devastation to the local flora and fauna as Time Gate 8’s fission bomb. He looked around the cell for something to kill it with.

      A shadow in the outer window made him glance up. A werfle was poised there, bewhiskered nose shifting between Alaric and the rat. Werfles were one of the few native species that could eat the vermin. Alaric’s shoulders softened, and he almost smiled. He’d always liked the ten-legged, weasel-like creatures. This one was wild and probably venomous, but as long as he made no sudden moves, he’d be safe. “It’s yours,” he mouthed silently, as though the creature could read his lips and understand. “I’m not that hungry.” The food had gotten sparser the past week—just a few bites of beans or grits thrown in a bowl. He was hungry and not above eating rats, but the thing was most likely carrying the flu. A few minutes of a full belly wouldn’t be worth the pain later and would be counterproductive. “And your physiology is different enough that its bugs won’t hurt you,” he added, as though that would assuage the werfle’s hesitation.

      The creature stared at him a long moment and then slithered down the wall, its ten claws clutching the cracks between the stones with surprising ease. Before Alaric could blink, or the rat could squeak, the werfle had dispatched it. Instead of clasping its prey in its middle claw pairs and climbing back up the wall, the werfle began eating, keeping its eyes on Alaric.

      Careful to keep his movements slow, Alaric sank to the ground and drew his knees to his chest. In boredom, he found himself talking to the werfle. “Well, Solomon, what can you tell me of the outside world?”

      Lifting its head, the werfle studied him, bloody whiskers twitching.

      “Solomon is what I called the werfle who lived on our farm when I was a boy,” Alaric explained. “Like Solomon the Wise.” He idly remembered Volka saying that weere believed that werfles were possessed by demons, but when he’d last seen her, she’d had a pet werfle.

      The werfle before him sniffed in what sounded like a laugh and resumed its feast.

      From down the hall came the sound of more retching. As a cadet, Alaric had taken a barrage of psychological tests. His mentor had suggested that he go into intelligence. “The results indicate that you’d tolerate isolation, imprisonment, and interrogation well.” Alaric had been tempted, just to test himself, but charting courses at lightspeed and seeing the solar system had been more tempting. Still, over the course of his imprisonment, Alaric had noted with a sort of detached amusement that the test seemed to have been accurate. He hadn’t panicked, hadn’t tried anything desperate in order to escape, and when he lay down his head at night, he slept.

      Down the hall, he heard more retching, and what sounded like someone losing their bowels. The hairs on the back of Alaric’s neck rose. He noticed—or imagined—a note of decay mixed with the odors of vomit and feces drifting from beneath the door. His mind began whirling over the mystery of the smoke cloud, the way the meals had been getting poorer and poorer, the lack of a guard, that he hadn’t had word from Alexis, and that he had no idea if his boys were safe. He shivered and took a shallow breath. Down the hall, someone whispered, “Doctor…I need a doctor.”

      The werfle sniffed again, and again it sounded like a laugh. Lifting its head, it gazed at Alaric, whiskers twitching as it feasted.

      Alaric was transfixed by it. He couldn’t say for how long.

      “Please…” a prisoner whispered.

      The whisper snapped Alaric to alertness, and it was like a fog in his mind had cleared. What was wrong with him? Humans around him were sick, possibly deathly so. Springing to his feet, Alaric began banging at the door and shouting, “Doctor! We need a doctor!”  With each pound, his heart rate increased and his fists stung, but he couldn’t stop. Another distant part of him noted, So this is panic.

      He was distantly aware of the werfle hissing. He heard boot steps in the hall and pounded harder. “They’re dying!” he shouted, suddenly sure that he had smelled decay. “Dying!”

      A face emerged at the other side of the door. Alaric almost shouted, “What took you so long!” but the man wasn’t prison personnel. He wore the black uniform of a private security guard, and around his right arm was an orange and green ribbon, the colors of the house of Abraham. Drawing away from the door, Alaric remembered Volka’s tale about Counselor Abraham murdering his half-weere child, its mother, and the weere who’d known about the baby. The counselor had tried to murder Volka, too. All that blood to protect his name from the scandal of a half-weere offspring. A moment after those thoughts entered his mind, Alaric found himself staring down the barrel of a phaser pistol.

      In the corner of the cell, the werfle’s hiss increased in volume.

      Alaric’s panic fled, and his fists curled at his side. They knew Volka had saved him from the wreckage of the rebel attack, and they knew he knew about the baby. They were tying up loose ends.

      Fury washed over Alaric in a wave that turned his vision red. He’d never get to testify. His lip curled, his skin heated, and he felt that if it was possible, he would self-combust.

      The man holding the pistol began to shake. He was sweating profusely, his breathing rapid and shallow, his skin was pale, and dark circles underlined his eyes.

      “What are you waiting for?” Alaric demanded, leaping forward and shaking the bars. Falling back, he pounded his chest. “Hurry up and shoot!” Alaric had failed his homeworld, failed his sons, and he’d failed Volka. Were any of them safe? Were his children safe from Abraham? Was Volka being abused in some dingy oxygen-depleted hovel in the Republic?

      Down the hall, someone said, “They all have the flu, Jong.”

      The security guard, who might have been Jong, coughed.

      The werfle hissed, and Jong’s eyes slid to it. For the first time, Alaric noted the blueness in his lips. Jong’s pistol sagged, and he backed away. “He has one of them in there.” He gasped. “He’s as good as dead.”

      “Shoot him and let’s get out of here,” said the man out of Alaric’s eyesight.

      Jong’s pistol clattered to the floor and he began heaving bile in the hallway. The smell was so rancid it flushed away Alaric’s anger, and he backed against the far wall, holding his arm over his face. He heard a thump and retreating footsteps. Holding his breath and peeking through the bars, he saw Jong had collapsed in his own vomit.

      In the corner, the werfle laughed.
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      “Hurry up!” the voice made Volka’s ears swivel, but she didn’t hear it so much as feel it like a flutter of tiny pterys in her stomach.

      “I’m...going…as fast…as I can…Carl Sagan!” Volka panted, protesting the werfle’s demands, jogging through Copernicus City’s immense passenger spaceship terminal. It was wide as a four-lane roadway. The ceiling was several stories high and made of clear plastic. The sky was blue, and clouds were white at this level, but here and there, between the people and hover cabs passing on either side, she’d catch glimpses out the side windows and see the yellow sulfur clouds that the city floated above.

      “Turn right at the intersection!” Carl ordered.

      Volka turned and skidded to a halt.

      “Go, go, go!” Carl said.

      Gaping, Volka craned her neck upward and took a step back instead. In front of her was a statue at least four meters high. Its head touched the ceiling, and its nearly three-meter width filled a huge section of the terminal walkway. Zipping by on either side of it were hover cabs, and Volka was afraid to tread in their path. Also, she couldn’t take her eyes off the statue. It looked exactly like Venus de Willendorf—a reality “holostar” who had had her body reconstructed to look like the real Venus de Willendorf, a famous Stone Age statue. Volka remembered the statue from books of art in her former employer’s library on the planet Luddeccea. Like that tiny Stone Age statue, this enormous modern work had a large, smooth belly as though she were pregnant and enormous breasts. Thick braids of dark brown hair fell in front of her eyes and nearly touched her chin. The skin tones were so lifelike that Volka half expected to see a pulse.

      “Volka, it’s a hologram,” Carl said, his voice gentle in her mind this time.

      Volka blinked. The “statue” shimmered slightly, and two men in the high-necked suits that were popular among businessmen in the Galactic Republic passed between the statue’s legs, their heads exactly at the level of its groin. Hands on the metal plates at their temples, the businessmen didn’t pause as they approached Volka. The metal plates were “neural interfaces” that allowed them to connect to the ethernet. Her business partner, Sixty, had described the ethernet as “like the ancient internet, but connected to the brain.” The ethernet allowed humans to connect mind-to-mind, to download apps that turned them into living calculators, encyclopedias, video recorders, and much, much more. Humans in the Galactic Republic had the interfaces implanted in their infancy before their skull bones fused. For Volka to get one, it would mean cutting through bone, and there would be no guarantee it wouldn’t be rejected. Volka was over 90 percent human, but she was also a weere—her genetic code was partially borrowed from the wolves of Chernobyl. Weere, like those wolves, had heightened immune systems.

      One of the businessmen caught her eyes, looked at her wolf ears, and smiled. It wasn’t a cruel or mocking smile, and he was handsome with dark hair and dark eyes, but Volka curled her ears down self-consciously. Human men didn’t smile at weere in public—at least not kindly—not where she was from. For a moment, she had a vivid memory of Alaric leaning on his elbow, tracing the lines of her ear with a finger, a soft smile on his lips, and then she felt a stab of anguish in her chest as she remembered how he tried to destroy her. Her nails bit her palms.

      “Volka, we must go,” Carl said, his tone still gentle.

      She stared in dismay at the naked legs she was going to pass through. She’d be part of the exhibit, she realized. On her homeworld, Luddeccea, people wore modest clothing, and there were no naked holographic statues to pass through. On Luddeccea, there was no ethernet either, just radio, although some people were lucky enough to have rotary phones. There were no hover cabs, just old-fashioned cars with pushrod engines. There were movies, but no holograms. She didn’t belong here. She swallowed. Her friend Sixty did belong here and he’d been missing for hours. Ducking her head and flushing, she passed through the Venus’s thighs and resumed her jog.

      A few minutes later, Volka took a running leap onto a moving walkway and paused a moment to catch her breath. Ferocious squirming in the pack she wore almost knocked her over.

      “Squeak!” said the source of the squirm, and Carl’s voice returned to her mind. “Why are we pausing?”

      “I’m checking the map, Carl Sagan,” Volka said, lifting her wrist. On it she wore an “ether bracelet” given to her by Sixty. Made of twisted copper-colored wires, it had a flat circular plate at its apex. Speaking into the plate, Volka said, “Bracelet, would you please show me the map to the maintenance shop again?” A hologram about two handspans high sprung from the central plate, and Volka’s brow furrowed in confusion. She could see where they were trying to go, but not where they were now.

      Wiggling from the pack, Carl Sagan leaped to the moving handrail beside the walkway. Carl Sagan was a member of The One, a “quantum wave” controlling alien species that could possess the bodies of wave-sensitive creatures like werfles, cats, wolves, and many others that, according to Carl, “humans haven’t discovered yet.” At the moment, he inhabited the body of a long-haired golden werfle, a sort of ten-legged, venomous weasel, with long golden striped fur very much like an orange tabby. Rising to his back four paws on the handrail, putting his brown eyes just about level with Volka’s own, he fidgeted with the collar he wore, a leather band with a metal piece like the one at the apex of Volka’s bracelet. Volka mentally corrected herself. Carl preferred the adornment to be called a “necklace.”

      A businesswoman strode up behind her and pointed at Carl. “Is that thing possessed by those aliens…The Only, or The One, or whatever?”

      Carl lifted his chin and began to preen.

      Volka tried to answer. “It is a—”

      “If not, its venom better be milked,” the businesswoman muttered, striding by them.

      Carl’s whiskers twitched.

      “Yes, ma’am,” said Volka.

      “It’s actually coming back in,” said Carl, licking his lips. The woman didn’t hear Carl’s assessment. He was talking to Volka telepathically using “the quantum wave.” Besides possessing bodies, Carl’s species, The One, used the quantum waves for telepathy, creating the wireless frequencies of the ethernet, pyrokinesis, and, Volka suspected, for telekinesis. Carl was cagey when Sixty and Volka pressed him about the last.

      Since Volka was a weere, she was also part wolf, wave sensitive, and slightly telepathic. She could hear Carl’s thoughts and feel the emotions of their spaceship, Sundancer. As Carl explained it, wave-insensitive creatures, like humans, felt quantum wave shifts, but their minds couldn’t interpret the shifts. Humans either outright ignored the shifts or discounted them as dreams, “psychotic breaks,” or “schizophrenic episodes.”

      “Where are we in this maze?” Carl asked, bobbing his head and staring at the hologram on Volka’s wrist.

      Peering back at the confusing map hovering over Bracelet’s central disk, Volka frowned and then remembered a trick Sixty had taught her. “Bracelet, show us the route from our current location, please.”

      The holo shifted and displayed them as a dot with a glowing red thread of light that led to their destination: a maintenance shop Sixty had gone to for repairs. Sixty, Volka, Carl, and Sundancer had a delivery service—the fastest delivery service in the galaxy, since Sundancer was the only faster-than-light spaceship in the galaxy. They’d started the delivery service because Sixty owed money—he’d blown up a luxurious borrowed spaceship while rescuing Volka and Sundancer. They’d worked out a payment plan, and since their services were in demand, he wasn’t in prison. Since they could charge a lot for their services, they also did occasionally have time for leisure and maintenance.

      Sixty had gone to the maintenance shop after they’d done a delivery here on Copernicus City. Copernicus City had a time gate—one of the portals that allowed faster-than-light travel for ships and data between the stars. But Copernicus’s gate was very busy, and spaceship traffic suffered frequent delays. A trillionaire holomogul had wanted to send his granddaughter a “time-sensitive” birthday gift, and he had hired their services.

      After his “tune-up,” Sixty had left a message with Volka informing her his systems were 100 percent operational, and that he had a quick errand to run. He promised to be back in about an hour. That had been five hours ago. Volka ran a hand down Sixty’s coat. He’d left it aboard Sundancer, and she’d put it on almost as a talisman. Her hands ran over Sixty’s most treasured possession in the inside pocket—the ashes of his deceased lover, Eliza Burton.

      It was quite possible Carl and Volka’s business partner had stopped at a charging kiosk and paused for a reboot on the way back to the ship. Probably. Hopefully. Thinking about other things that might have happened made anxiety prick like cold needles under her skin. Sixty, Carl, and Sundancer were Volka’s only friends in the Galactic Republic.

      On Luddeccea, sentient machines like Sixty and aliens were considered the ultimate evil, but now here Carl and Volka were, desperately trying to retrace Sixty’s steps. The maintenance shop he’d gone to was so small it had no public ethernet channel, though thankfully Sixty had given them the physical address. She hoped someone at the shop would have an idea where he’d gone.

      Pointing with a claw to a spot on the holo where the thread descended in a straight vertical, Carl said, “That’s the ped-elevator at the end of this walkway.”

      Nodding, Volka said, “Thank you, Bracelet, you may turn off now.”

      Carl smacked a paw to his nose. “Volka, you don’t have to thank it! It’s not sentient like Sixty.”

      Volka’s ears flattened, and her nostrils flared. “Good manners cost us nothing, Carl.” And how did he really know? No one had thought the giant time gate computer above her homeworld had been sentient, and then it dropped a nuclear and chemical arsenal on their heads. Better safe than sorry, in Volka’s opinion.

      “You’re welcome, Miss Volka,” Bracelet replied. Volka arched an eyebrow at Carl.

      Spreading his top paws, he said, “It costs us time, that’s what it costs us!” With that, he hopped onto her shoulders. “Let’s move!”

      Clenching her teeth, Volka idly wondered if he only saw her as a beast of burden.

      “You’re not my beast of burden!” Carl exclaimed, sliding into her pack. “You’re my pet. Now go quick, the elevator is about to depart!”

      Thinking of Sixty, Volka broke into a run.

      
        
          
            [image: ]
          

        

      

      Jumping into the nearly packed elevator, Volka bent over and caught her breath. Her ears popped as the doors whooshed shut and the elevator started to descend. Straightening, she frantically scanned the elevator and realized there was no operator or buttons. “Carl,” she whispered to the werfle hiding in her pack. “How do we get to level 163?”

      It was as if she’d shouted. Everyone in the elevator turned to stare down at her—she was shorter than most Republic citizens.

      A woman’s eyes went to Volka’s temple and got wide. “You have no neural interface!” The other occupants of the elevator blinked at her. Most lifted their hands to their temples and their own interfaces as though afraid her state of ethernet-less-ness might be contagious.

      “You need to enter the floor you want over the ether,” the woman who’d noticed her lack of an interface said. She had long black hair, a perfect complexion, and a perfect figure. She didn’t look a day over twenty, but that didn’t mean anything. Plastic surgery was popular in the Galactic Republic.

      Volka smiled weakly. “Thank you,” she murmured and lifted her wrist. When she’d navigated the elevators before, 6T9 had been with her. He must have been sending directions over the ethernet the whole time. “Bracelet,” she whispered. “Would you please make the elevator stop at level 163?”

      “Yes, Miss Volka,” Bracelet replied.

      “Thank you,” she whispered.

      Someone tittered.

      “You’re welcome, Miss Volka,” said Bracelet.

      “And please tell me when we get there,” Volka added.

      “Of course,” Bracelet replied.

      “Thank you.”

      There were more titters. Volka’s ears flattened against her head, and she stared at her boots.

      “You can move your ears,” a woman exclaimed.

      Volka’s head snapped up and her ears snapped forward. There were gasps. Another young-looking woman, this one with elven ears, put a hand over her mouth. Her eyes, dyed completely black, got wide.

      On Volka’s homeworld, plastic surgery was only done when injuries were debilitating—a split cleft, for instance. In the Galactic Republic, plastic surgery and body modification were as popular as makeup was on Luddeccea and much more creative. She’d gotten used to it in the last few weeks. When she’d boarded the elevator, she had barely noted the men with beads inserted beneath the skin of their noses to get the popular Lizard Look, the girl with fairy wings, or the woman whose body was carefully sculpted into the Venus de Willendorf to look like the holostar. No one in the elevator looked older than thirty-five, either. In the Three Books religion, the prophet before Muhammad had said, “Judge not, that ye not be judged,” but it was hard not to think that all the plastic surgery was superficial and a waste.

      Someone at the back of the elevator said, “Where did you get your ears?”

      Someone else said, “I love the tattoos around your eyes! They look so natural.”

      “And your contacts are amazing,” said someone else. “Or is that retina staining?”

      Volka’s ears rotated madly in the direction of each new voice, and Volka patted them self-consciously. “My father. I got them all from my father,” she replied. Her mother’s ears had been almost human, only slightly pointed with tufts of gray velvet at the tips. Her mother’s hair had been long and black. Her eyes had been blue, not yellow like a wolf’s, and her mother’s eyes didn’t have the natural black pigment that surrounded Volka’s and made her look like she had outlined them with kohl. “I got all these features from my father.”

      “Your father was a plastic surgeon?” asked the woman with the blackened eyes.

      Volka’s mouth fell open. Of course, they thought her weere appearance was artificial. “No,” she murmured, once again feeling out of place.

      The woman’s brow furrowed, and her gaze roamed from the top of Volka’s head to her boots. Her lips turned up. “Is that real leather?”

      “Yes,” said Volka, lifting one of the soft, brown boots Alaric had given her.

      The elevator opened and nearly half the occupants left.

      “From…a real animal?” said the woman.

      “Yes,” Volka confirmed, her ears flattened, this time with annoyance.

      “Do you eat real meat too?” asked a man, voice laced with disdain.

      Volka could lie, but she loved fresh meat still warm from the kill. On Sixty and Carl’s asteroid, she hunted rats with Carl, and deer with Shissh, a Bengal tiger possessed by the spirit of Carl’s big sister. Sixty found their hunting “barbaric,” but if they didn’t hunt, the rats and deer would still have to be culled. Sixty didn’t want that job, and the “carnivore way” meant their meat wouldn’t be wasted. “Yes,” said Volka, narrowing her eyes. She thought about licking her lips for emphasis, then bowed her head in shame. There was no need to be rude, even if these people were.

      Everyone left in the elevator took a step back, and Volka didn’t raise her head until Bracelet declared, “This is floor 163, Miss Volka.”

      She stepped out of the elevator and blinked. Level 163 was much different than the terminal and the neighborhood the holomogul’s granddaughter lived in. It was darker and the ceiling was lower. There were children running about and people who looked older than thirty. She didn’t see a single Lizard Look, though she did see tattoos on bare arms. There were no windows that Volka could see, but somehow, natural light was being piped in. Ovoid spots of sunlight lit patches of cement. In those patches were pots of climbing beans and even a few renegade flowers.

      Carl poked his nose out of her pack. “This area looks very residential.”

      Volka peered around. “Well, that makes sense. It’s a small maintenance shop that is only known to a few people and isn’t in any phonebook.” Her former employer on Luddeccea used to take his car to a repairman in such a place. He swore he got the best service there.

      She felt Carl’s whiskers twitch against her cheek. “I guess so.”

      Lifting her wrist, Volka politely requested Bracelet show her the map again. Ducking her head, she followed the glowing red thread of light. She came to a stop outside of a pair of heavy black doors. Etched into their surface were the words, “The Madison Residences.”

      The doors were jammed open with a piece of cardboard, so Volka let herself in. The ceiling, if anything, was lower inside. It was also darker and smelled like antiseptic cleaning fluid and urine. There were placards with directions to the various apartments, and Volka followed them down a hallway not wide enough for two people shoulder to shoulder, up a rickety elevator, and down another narrow, dark hall. When she got to the correct door number, she heard a man and woman laughing within. Gathering her courage, Volka knocked. The laughter stopped, but no one approached on the other side. Volka knocked again and heard a man whisper, “Don’t answer. Maybe they won’t know we’re home.”

      “I hear you!” Volka shouted, ears straining for the sound of footfalls. When none came, she took a deep breath and shouted, “I’m sorry to bother you, but my partner Sixty is missing, and—”

      The door whooshed open and an older man wearing thin shorts appeared. He was fleshy around the middle, balding, with white hair. The woman next to him had the softness of late middle age. She was hastily pulling a pink robe over her undergarments and tossing her gray-streaked hair over her shoulder. They smelled like each other and sex, but Volka also detected the very faint scent of Sixty—his own scent and the scent of the forests of the asteroid and Sundancer’s interior—so it was her Sixty, not another android of the same model.

      “Something happened to 6T9?” said the man.

      “Our 6T9?” said the woman.

      Volka’s ears flattened at the word “our.” Recovering, she stammered, “He was here…at your…maintenance shop?”

      Their lips pursed and eyes got wide.

      “Oh, for chaosmos’s sake,” Carl grumbled into her mind. Sliding out of her pack and taking a position on her shoulder, he squeaked aloud and mentally muttered, “Now how to make this thing work?”

      Volka’s eyes slid to see him playing with his “necklace.” Carl could talk to humans over the ether with the power of the quantum wave, but he needed to know their ethernet channels, and they had to answer. On Luddeccea, when the rotary phone had rung in her employer’s house, Volka and her employer, Mr. Darmadi, had sprinted up and down stairs and from the farthest reaches of the eight-acre garden to answer. The people of the Galactic Republic didn’t feel the same urgency toward ethernet callers. They often ignored people they knew, and Carl always showed up as “Unidentified” on the ethernet ID. He was mostly ignored. So Sixty had come up with the collar—or, as Carl called it, “necklace”—an ingenious ethernet-to-speech device for Carl to use to “speak” out loud so humans could hear.

      Static flared in her ears. Carl lifted a paw, and then his voice crackled from his necklace. “Ahem,” said Carl. “I am Carl Sagan, a member of The One.”

      The man’s eyes went wide. “Sixty said one of his partners was a One.”

      The woman leaned closer hand outstretched. “Aren’t you the cutest though!”

      Carl rubbed an ear with a paw. “Well, yes, I—”

      “Carl!” Volka snipped. “Focus!”

      “Right…right…” Carl murmured. “We’ve lost Sixty. He hasn’t answered his ether, though he left a message saying that he had an errand he’d be running.”

      The woman put her hand on Volka’s shoulder. “Honey, this must be Volka! His other partner." Her voice changed to an excited, conspiratorial whisper. “We’ve heard all about you.”

      “By Neptune, I think you’re right, Celeste! I’ll ether the police,” said the man. “It’s a little early for a missing person—android—report, but you never know. He coulda gotten lost or had a power outage somewhere.”

      “Thank you,” said Carl.

      Nodding once at the werfle, the man touched his neural interface. His face took on the vacant, distracted look of someone connecting to the ether, and he turned and walked back into the shop.

      “Come in, come in! I’m Celeste, by the way, and that’s my husband, Bart,” said the woman, stepping around and ushering Volka into the shop. Once inside, Volka realized it wasn’t a shop at all, but a small apartment that was nearly all bed. The bed smelled like Sixty, too…as did Celeste’s skin. Volka’s skin heated and her nails dug into her palms. Celeste had had sex with Sixty—and cheated on Bart!

      “He said he had an errand to run for you,” said Celeste.

      Volka’s lips curled in a snarl. “He did not have an errand to run for me.” A growl rolled from her chest. Celeste took a step back and put a hand to her mouth.

      “Oy!” Bart shouted, placing himself between Volka and Celeste. “Don’t be growling at my wife!”

      Volka’s lips parted in disgust. He also smelled like Sixty, though not quite as much.

      “Volka, relax,” said Carl, silently into her mind.

      Grabbing Carl by the scruff of his neck, Volka ripped him from her shoulder and dropped him on the floor. “They’re lying!” A picture was forming in her mind. Celeste had had sex with Sixty. Bart had found out and disposed of him; maybe they’d even disengaged his Q-comm—the chip that gave him the intelligence of a human. Without his Q-comm and his connection to the huge server on Time Gate 1 that was his “brain,” he was just a regular “dumb sex ‘bot.” Volka didn’t know what a “server” was, but she’d seen Sixty without his Q-comm connection to it. He’d have happily had sexual relations with men intent on slagging him.

      Twisting and rising to his hindmost leg pairs, Carl Sagan hissed. His voice crackled over his collar. “No, they’re not! They are genuinely worried about Sixty.”

      “Of course we are,” whispered Celeste.

      “He’s a nice guy,” said Bart. “We’ve been ether buddies for a while.”

      “He really believes that,” Carl said, and Volka wasn’t sure if she was hearing it with her heart or her ears. She looked between the two humans gazing at her earnestly. Maybe they hadn’t hurt Sixty, but Sixty had fornicated with Bart’s wife. Volka suddenly had the urge to strangle her business partner, or at least give him a snarling-to. Glaring at Celeste, Volka’s lip curled in distaste.

      The human woman touched her throat.

      Dropping his hand from his temple, Bart said, “The police officer said it’s too early to file a report, but he said something very disturbing in an offhand way.” He shook his head and stared at the floor.

      “Well,” Carl demanded, spreading his three top paw pairs and marching toward Bart on his back four legs.

      “6T9—” He looked at Celeste. “Our 6T9 is the fifth android to be reported missing in the past ten hours.”

      Celeste’s hand flew to her neural interface. “He isn’t answering when I ping him.”

      Bart scowled, and he asked Carl, “He doesn’t have a tracker chip on him?”

      Carl shook his head. “Not that I know of.”

      Volka swallowed.

      “Maybe he ran out of power somewhere?” Celeste said. “He could be hurt.” She put her hand on her husband’s arm. “How can we find him?”

      Carl held up a paw. “I have an idea.” Everyone’s attention snapped to the werfle.

      Putting two pairs of paws behind his back, Carl paced the room. “The Q-comm is connected to Time Gate 1 by the principle of quantum entanglement.”

      Volka blinked at her werfle partner.

      Carl met her eyes. “That’s when subatomic particles are entangled. The particles are always in the same state. They are in sync.”

      She blinked again. Carl had explained the Q-comm to her on multiple occasions. It was hard not to get it confused with the ethernet. The ethernet relied on lightbeam transmissions, radio, and wireless frequencies. Ethernet signals had time lags and could be physically blocked. Q-comm could not. Q-comm were very expensive, and very few people and machines had them. All these things she knew. She had no idea how it all worked.

      Carl held up two paws. “Whether or not Sixty is operational, whether or not the chip is still in place, the subatomic particle in his Q-comm chip that is entangled with the particle on Time Gate 1 is still in the same state—that is to say, they are still connected, still communicating. Depending on Time Gate 1’s sensitivity to the quantum wave, it—he—might know where the chip is. If it is still in Sixty’s metal skull, it can act as a tracker.”

      “What are you suggesting?” Bart asked.

      “That we contact Time Gate 1 directly,” Carl said.

      Bart and Celeste’s eyes went wide as saucers. They took a step back, and Volka smelled fear in the air.

      “Can we do that?” whispered Celeste. “We’d need its ethernet channel.”

      “Does it even talk to non-machines?” Bart said.

      Carl Sagan put a paw on his chest. “I have Time Gate 1’s channel. As to whether it will speak to us without Sixty present…there is only one way to find out.”

      Bart and Celeste took another step back, and the scent of fear increased. Volka’s brow furrowed in confusion. Her world had been nearly destroyed by a psychopathic time gate, but Time Gate 1 was different. It had never done anything to hurt anyone that she knew of, and every machine she’d met since meeting Sixty had been law-abiding, if not kind like Sixty, and polite, like Bracelet.

      Carl gripped his necklace and closed his eyes. Bracelet began to crackle with static. More static sounded from a speaker in the wall by the door.

      “Someone is at the door…?” said Bart.

      “No,” said Carl.

      His necklace began hissing.

      A holographic projector sitting on the counter between the single room and galley kitchen began to flicker madly. Tiny speakers set at the corners of the room began cycling through ethernet music stations. Opera, galactic funk, new frontiers, and other styles Volka had just been introduced to filled the room, each only for a dizzying few seconds.

      Volka shifted nervously on her feet, ears twisting.

      “What’s going on?” Celeste cried.

      “It is Time Gate 1,” Carl said.

      Every ethernet device in the small apartment chuckled in a deep register. “Hello, Carl and Volka,” said the voice. “Mr. and Mrs. Jacobsen.”

      Celeste gasped and put a hand over her mouth. Volka’s hair rose. The voice coming from every corner of the house sounded like what she’d always imagined God would sound like.

      “We need to know where Sixty is,” Carl declared. His ears were flat against his head, and his eyes were narrowed.

      Gulping, Volka added hastily, “If you please, Time Gate 1, sir.”

      The multitude of devices rumbled with Time Gate 1’s laughter, and Volka’s ears flicked frantically.

      “Ah, Volka, always so polite,” Time Gate 1 responded.

      “Skip the theatrics!” Carl hissed. “Just tell us where Sixty is, if you even know.”

      “Carl!” Volka exclaimed. “Be nice!”

      The little werfle stood with his paws crossed over his chest, his ears completely flat against his head. He wouldn’t meet Volka’s eyes, and his tail swished like mad.

      “Of course I know where he is,” Time Gate 1 said. Static crackled through the speakers.

      Volka gulped. “Would you tell us, please?”

      “It is not my nature to intervene in the affairs of my androids or of humans—” Time Gate 1 rumbled.

      Carl shook a tiny paw at one of the speakers. “You gave androids sentience! Don’t say you don’t like to interfere, you meteor pocked, bucket of—”

      Swooping down, Volka smacked a hand over Carl’s necklace. Carl squeaked furiously and continued to shake his paw at the speaker, but his barrage of insults stopped.

      “—but since you asked nicely, Volka,” Time Gate 1 said, “I will tell you that he is on Level 302 in cargo ship berth 54. He is being held by android-nappers and their ship, the Copperhead, is scheduled to depart in ten minutes and—”

      Volka didn’t hear the rest. With Carl under her arm, she was already running out the door, shouting, “Thank you, Time Gate 1, thank you, sir!” adding, “Call the police again,” to Bart and Celeste. She was still mad at Sixty for having an affair with a married woman, while, by the smell of it, being friends with her husband, but she wasn’t going to abandon him to android. Cold sweat prickled along her spine as she raced down the hall. Had Sixty’s Q-comm been dislodged? Did he even know he was in danger?
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      6T9 wasn’t sure where he was or how he had gotten here, or why he was carrying a parcel under one arm, but he at least was sure he wasn’t in any danger. He was being guided by a human. The man’s hand was on his upper arm, and he was leading him through a maze of tunnels. As grateful as 6T9 was, there was a slight problem. “You’re holding my arm too tightly, sir,” 6T9 said to the human male.

      “Shut up,” said the man holding his arm.

      “Yes, sir,” 6T9 replied. For some reason, that made the man snort, squeeze more tightly, and give 6T9 a harsh yank. A light went on in the periphery of 6T9’s vision alerting him that the synth skin on that arm had been damaged. Next to that light was another informing him that the back of his cranial cavity had also been damaged, and a third telling him his ether connection was offline. He touched his torso, as though expecting to find something there...but there was nothing.

      They passed through a pair of sliding doors that said BERTH 54 and approached a ship with a gangplank 4.6 meters wide, that, according to his records for this ship model, also served as an airlock door. At the top of the gangplank, off to one side, a man sat on a stool. In his hands, he had a handheld android diagnostic computer. 6T9 was familiar with the type. Although it was easier to command a android by ether, the handheld would protect the man if 6T9 had any viruses of the computer variety. It could also be used as a local ethernet hub in areas with unstable or unsecured ethernet and issue commands for a large number of ‘bots simultaneously. The seated man was also surrounded by various tool cabinets and parts. Beyond him was a darkened hold, crowded with deactivated sex ‘bots, standing and sitting in uneven lines.

      “What did you bring me, Scrapper?” the human man on the stool asked as 6T9 and the man who must be Scrapper began walking up the plank.

      “A 6T9 unit, heard demand for ‘em was high,” Scrapper replied.

      “That peaked weeks ago, Scrapper,” the new man replied. As they drew closer, 6T9 noticed that among the other tools and parts there was even a spare 6T9 head. Maybe they’d put a new head on his body?

      He gazed past the man. A cursory inspection and his calculator app informed 6T9 that there were at least 312 other ‘bots in the hold of the vessel, some very much in need of repair. Maybe he was here to have his shoulder skin and head fixed?

      “Ya want me to ditch him, General?” Scrapper asked.

      6T9’s brow furrowed. The “general” wasn’t wearing the uniform of any military in his databanks.

      “Nah, he’s still worth more than his freight weight.” The general looked 6T9 up and down and then pointed to an empty stool in front of him. “Sit down, ‘bot.”

      6T9 sat down and set his parcel next to him.

      The man on the stool who might be a general said, “Don’t know who you belong to—”

      “I don’t know either, sir,” 6T9 replied, hand reflexively touching his torso again for some odd reason. “I have no memory of a new owner after Eliza.” He had a curious memory of her saying that he would never be sold again. He was very sure he hadn’t been. But he was also very sure he hadn’t been gifted to anyone either. Some of his circuits sparked, trying to determine the answer to that riddle, but it was beyond him. Where had Eliza gone? He tapped his hand against his torso.

      “But we’ll reset you to factory settings and then you’ll belong to us,” the man finished.

      “Are you sure you want to do that?” 6T9 asked, hand smoothing his torso. “I have medical and cooking apps installed.”

      “Yes, I’m sure,” replied the man.

      “Eliza installed them,” 6T9 said, his circuits dimming oddly, though he wasn’t sure why. “You should probably run a full diagnostic on me,” 6T9 told the man.

      “Oh, you can bet I’ll be doing that and more,” replied the general. He plugged a hardlink into the handheld and then  reached toward 6T9’s temple. “What the—?”

      “His neural interface is covered,” Scrapper said. “I put the jammer overtop of it.”

      “Ya, I see that now,” General replied.

      6T9 felt a tug at his temple, and a light informed him that his synth skin had been peeled back and his neural port exposed. For a moment he was back online, too. “6T9, we’re coming! Try to delay—”

      There was a thunk against his skull. His connection to the ether was cut off, and an instant later the hardlink was in his neural interface. There was a surge of electricity and a stream of data from his systems overlay his vision, along with the name of the technician requesting the data: Android_General1.

      “Asteroid rubble, this thing is over 150 years old,” the general muttered. “Wipe is gonna take a bit.”

      6T9 tilted his head. Was he that old? He didn’t have memories for more than thirty-seven years of that time.

      “Huh. Looks like most of his memory was flushed already. Saves me the hassle,” the general said. His brows drew together. “But you’re clean. No viruses detected.”

      “I have no viruses of the sexual or hardware variety,” 6T9 said proudly.

      “Shut up, ‘bot,” said the general.

      “Yes, sir,” 6T9 replied.

      The general snorted. “Annoying bucket of bolts.”

      “Where?” said 6T9.

      “Should I shut the hold, General?” Scrapper asked.

      “Nah, Dreg and Craw are bringing in another batch,” the general replied, not looking up from the screen of his handheld. There was a flare of electricity through the hardlink. “Now to give myself permission to perform the wipe—”

      There was a whoosh of air outside of the ship and the stomp of feet. 6T9’s self-preservation routines made him look. Approaching them through a metal door labeled AIRLOCK were ten new sex ‘bots and two large human males. Remembering his brief ethernet connection, some circuits lit within him. “Ah,” he said. “These are the people who were coming and the reason for the delay.”

      “Huh?” said the general.

      The approaching men and sex ‘bots were not a threat, so there was no reason to continue watching them. However, there was no reason to turn back to the general either, especially as he was standing up and shouting, “Hey, that one is stumbling, don’t let him near my workstation.”

      A light beside the airlock door went orange, and a voice said, “Commencing liftoff lockdown sequence in thirty seconds.”

      One of the humans said, “We’ve got only minutes before we lose our liftoff window. Close the hatch.”

      “Squeak!” A small, furry creature raced through the airlock and dashed toward the ship.

      Squinting at the creature, 6T9 engaged his zoom and began counting the legs. “One, two, three, four, five…”

      The sex ‘bots all stopped mid-stride on the gangplank and turned around. “Is it a rat?” they said in unison. And then, “Yes, we must kill it!”  They charged toward the creature, the one sex ‘bot limping badly and lurching side to side behind the others. Dodging between their legs, the creature’s charge barely paused.

      “Get them back up here!” shouted the general.

      “Brothel ‘bots—” one of the humans started to say.

      Finishing his counting, 6T9 interrupted him. “Don’t kill it! It is a—”

      “My werfle!” shouted a human female, jumping through the airlock doors just before they whooshed behind her heels. She was very short and had wolf ears and wolf-like fur on the top of her head. 6T9’s circuits dimmed a bit with the recognition that she was probably a furry, and he was most likely unable to satisfy her. He noted she was wearing a pleather coat that was much too large for her. For some reason, just looking at it made his hand touch his torso again.

      “Awww…rad burns!” cursed one of the humans. “That critter is slippery.”

      “I’ll get it!” said Scrapper, about to pounce on the creature.

      “Don’t touch him! He’s venomous!” shouted the girl.

      Scrapper pulled back, eyes wide, and the werfle dashed toward the general.

      “Venomous?” screamed the general, dropping the handheld and dancing backward.

      The sex ‘bot with the limp hadn’t gotten as far down the plank and was the first back to the top. “I will kill the rat,” it said, knocking into a tall rolling tool cabinet and sending the contents spilling. The other new ‘bots tromped through the mess. Bits of electronics shattered, and one of the ‘bots tripped.

      “Stop them!” shouted the general.

      One of the new men shouted, “Brothel ‘bots freeze!” And the ten new ‘bots all froze in place, two of them crashing to the ground as their “freeze” position left them unbalanced.

      The werfle finally stopped its charge right beneath 6T9. It twined itself around his ankles and squeaked at the humans. It was pleasantly warm, but it was getting fur on his pants, which was against his grooming protocols. 6T9 bent down and cleaned his legs.

      “Kill it!” the general ordered him.

      Straightening and wiping his hands, 6T9’s brows drew together. “I am afraid I cannot kill a werfle, sir. Werfles eat rats. Eliza hated rats.”

      Dashing up the plank, the furry woman cried, “I’ll get him!” She ran toward 6T9, but at her approach, the werfle hopped into a large rectangular bin of ‘bot parts.

      “I am so sorry,” said the girl, rummaging through the ‘bot arms, legs, heads, and occasional bones. “He has never done this before.”

      The ship’s engines roared.

      “Will you help me?” the furry asked 6T9. She had a metal femur in her hand.

      “Certainly,” said 6T9, standing and going to lean over the box, the handheld computer still dangling from the cable inserted in his head. The human men kept their distance and shifted on their feet. Something behind him whined, and the girl gulped audibly. The air pressure changed, and the ship they were on rose and moved forward. The furry woman gulped again. Maybe she got space sick? Hearing a squeak, 6T9 bent further into the box, and something hit him on the back of his head, knocking him half into the pile of detached limbs.

      “Hey!” shouted one of the men.

      “Oops!” said the girl.

      6T9’s vision went briefly white, and then he found himself staring into the eyes of Carl Sagan. One of 6T9’s hands was touching his torso, searching, he now understood, for Eliza’s ashes that were in the front inside pocket of the jacket Volka was wearing. He couldn’t see the crew around him, but in a nanosecond, he comprehended all he had seen and heard. The whining noise had been the sound of the gangplank hatch closing. They were trapped inside the ship and pulling out of the dock. 6T9 had worked for “independent traders.” Most androids called them “pirates,” but it was more correct to call them fencers, movers, or receivers. They knowingly bought stolen goods and resold them, but they didn’t kidnap humans. This was a real pirate ship, and the general had logged in and almost wiped 6T9’s memory. They’d almost taken away his memories of Eliza. 6T9’s hands clenched the edges of the shipping container. On the planet Libertas, he’d been shot with a phaser blast. Its power had overwhelmed him, heated his body to the point of almost melting his hardware. He felt like that now. How had “white-hot rage” not been an idiom coined by an android?

      “Umm…” Volka whispered. “Are you…? We’re moving…”

      He heard the four pirates drawing closer.

      “Just reach in and grab the werfle,” the general ordered him.

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked hotter than his anger. He had to be smart about this. He wanted to rip the ethernet blocker off, but as soon as he did that, they’d know he was more than a dumb ‘bot. With his Q-comm, he was smart enough to stall. “I am not sure if it is a werfle or a rat,” 6T9 said. “I must count its legs.”

      Volka edged closer to him.

      “Dumb ‘bot, it’s the same werfle you saw earlier!” one of the men said, drawing closer, but not too close, the threat of Carl Sagan’s venom keeping him at bay.

      “One, two, three…”

      The ethernet blocked, his mind slipped to the only source of intel he could reach—the handheld still hardlinked into his port. 6T9 quickly changed the ethernet channel associated with Android_General1’s account to his own, and then his mind scrolled through all the other androids makes and serial numbers. There were 315 in the hold and more in other areas of the ship. All of them were under the command of Android_General1. Not all of them were sex ‘bots, and one had a serial number that ended in QC. 6T9 didn’t know the android personally, but he knew the make—it was a child android. The QC meant that it had come off the assembly line with a Q-Comm chip. For a second time, he thought his hardware might melt with his rage.

      “What’s wrong with him?”

      Using the handheld device as a local hub, 6T9 accessed the ship’s computer and almost cursed. The “general” would only be able to control the ship’s computer if the captain died.

      Resuming the count, 6T9 slowly slipped the handheld computer into his shirt so it couldn’t be flung around by his movements.

      “What are you doing, ‘droid? Get the werfle!”

      “Yes, sir,” 6T9 replied, but he ripped the internet blocker off his naked metal skull instead. His ethernet began to ping madly with Celeste’s number and the local time gate’s. Carl Sagan leaped into 6T9’s arms, and the werfle’s thoughts leaped into his mind. “Throw me on the nearest one!”

      6T9 threw the werfle at Scrapper. Stunners came out all around. “Take cover, Volka!” 6T9 shouted. She dashed into the forest of sex ‘bots beyond the repair station, and two men followed her. Scrapper cursed. Carl shouted in 6T9’s mind, “There are four more men on the bridge—” and then gave a squeak of fear as Scrapper tore the werfle from his neck and tossed him aside. Carl landed with a thunk, and Scrapper took a step toward 6T9, raising a weapon. It was a phaser, not a stunner, and a direct hit could destroy him and leave him nothing more than a memory in Time Gate 1’s servers. His Q-comm sparked, and 6T9 stepped toward Scrapper with inhuman speed. Grabbing the arm with the phaser, 6T9 pushed it to the side, but Scrapper had augmented strength, and for precious seconds they grappled. 6T9 answered the hail of the local time gate. “6T9,” the gate said. “Is it true that you’re aboard the Copper—?”

      “Yes,” 6T9 replied over the ether. Q-comm sparking, he sent the gate the boy android’s make and serial number as well. In the moment of distraction, the man he was fighting twisted 6T9’s arm behind his back. 6T9 cried out in shock and maybe “pain.” The urge to extricate his arm from the lock was overwhelming—wasn’t that what pain was to humans? He almost turned up his masochism settings but couldn’t risk the desire to receive more “pain.”

      “They’re preparing to jump to lightspeed,” the gate responded. “I’m losing—”

      The ship jerked forward; the ethernet cut out. 6T9, his attacker, and the general all almost lost their footing. And then, strangely, the hand wrenching 6T9’s arm around his back went slack, and the phaser fell to the floor. Yanking himself from the man’s grasp, 6T9 picked up the phaser and spun to his attacker. The man had fallen to his knees, and there was a dazed look in his eye…which was when 6T9 noticed the bite marks in his neck. He hadn’t realized Carl’s venom had come back in; if he had, he couldn’t have thrown the werfle at the man.

      The general raised a weapon, and 6T9 raised his stolen phaser at him. He found himself staring down the barrel of what was, thankfully, only a stunner.

      From the forest of deactivated  androidroids, 6T9 heard one of the men say, “Here, girlie-girlie.”

      The general squinted at the phaser and then smirked. “She is real purty with those ears of hers.”

      6T9 jerked the phaser as though he was going to shoot it. Of course, he wouldn’t. He couldn’t. Killing humans, no matter how criminal, was against his programming. He couldn’t even shoot to frighten the man. Shooting wide might depressurize the cargo hold and kill every human in it.

      The general chuckled. “You can’t shoot me, can you?”

      6T9’s jaw got hard.

      “I see you!” said one of the men hunting for Volka in the dark forest of deactivated ‘bots. There was the sound of a door whooshing open, two new sets of footsteps, and a new man’s voice said, “I heard we got a stowaway.” 6T9 swallowed. Now there were seven humans in the hold and two more elsewhere on the ship.

      The general hissed, “You’ve lost. You’re as helpless as a worm.” He turned his head and spit.

      Lowering the phaser, 6T9 bowed his head. His Q-comm hummed, but no immediate inspiration came to him.

      “Now give me the phaser, 6T9 unit,” the general said, holding out his hand.

      The serial numbers of all the stolen sex ‘bots recorded on the handheld began playing in 6T9’s vision. They were all under control of the Android_General1. Since he’d given Android_General1 his ethernet channel in the handheld, as far as the ‘bots were concerned, Android_General1 was 6T9, but they wouldn’t be able to hurt a human any more than 6T9 could.

      From the floor of deactivated androids came a shout. “You bitch! You’ll pay for that.”

      The general lunged for the phaser. Stepping back, 6T9 held it aloft.

      “Being a pain in my ass will only make it worse for her,” said the general.

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked. His mind leaped into the ether and he turned on the ‘bots. Aloud, just to be distracting he said, “I excel at being a pain in the ass.” A faint buzz rose in the hold as the sex ‘bots started to power up.

      The general snarled at 6T9, “They can’t hurt us, either.”

      6T9 tilted his head. “No, they cannot.”

      In the dark recesses of the hold, 6T9 heard the scamper of Volka’s feet.

      “All my men have battle augments,” the general said. “She won’t last long.”

      “We got her cornered,” shouted one of the men, as though to confirm the general’s statement. 6T9 wanted to run to Volka, but his Q-comm was humming and he knew that wasn’t the way to save her. He had to trust she could take care of herself…just for a little longer. He pictured her in his mind and sent the mental picture of her to BOY4YR-QC, the child ‘bot with the Q-comm. Backing up, he stood protectively over the unconscious Carl Sagan and entered parameters for applications that only a human or android familiar with sex ‘bots’ factory installs would know.

      “What are you doing?” the general asked, lowering into a crouch, looking like he was about to spring at 6T9.

      Trying to give his ‘bots the precious seconds they needed to finish their boot-up, 6T9 smirked and answered, “Hey, Sailor.”

      The general, probably familiar with the factory installed “Hey, Sailor” app, blinked.

      6T9’s smirk stretched to a wide grin. “Ya wanna have a good time?”

      In the darkened section of the hold, he heard the sound of metal hitting metal, the soft thud of Volka’s footfalls, and he hoped his army would come online in time.
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      Standing as still as the sex ‘bots crowded around her like disheveled mannequins, Volka breathed in through her nose, held it, and breathed out through her mouth. Slowly. Just as her father had taught her to do in a fight. When she’d run back into the darkened area of the ship’s hold and the disorganized lines of ‘bots, the human-like machines had been absolutely silent. Now they all emitted a faint hum. She couldn’t talk to Bracelet and use it to connect to Sixty to ask what the hum meant. Sometimes she could think to Carl Sagan, and he would respond, but he wasn’t responding now.

      She could feel Sundancer, though. The ship’s anxiety for the team was a cold weight in the pit of her stomach. She tried to will herself not to be afraid—for Sundancer and herself. The poor ship still suffered from nightmares. Whatever gave a phaser-proof, impact-resistant faster-than-light “quantum wave bending” spaceship nightmares had to be much bigger and more terrible than this situation…Still, Volka didn’t want to give Sundancer any more reasons to have bad dreams. Sixty and Volka had taken on the Luddeccean Guard; android nappers were nothing compared to that. Of course, they’d had an alien spaceship to swoop in at the last minute during that showdown. Also, the Luddeccean Guard had all been only human. Volka thought that these men must be what Sixty called “augments” and Luddecceans called “cyborgs”—humans with machine parts. She had struck one of the men with a blow that should have taken out his kneecap, but the titanium bone she’d used to strike it had only bounced off the man’s leg with a faintly metallic ting.

      A few steps away from her, one of her pursuers said, “We gotchu,” in a leering voice. His two companions snickered farther off. Thankfully, Leering Man was facing the other way. He was closing in on a sex ‘bot that Volka had thrown 6T9’s coat over. It had weere-like ears—something she didn’t want to think too closely about.

      Leering Man lunged at the fake Volka, and Volka lunged too, striking him in the back of the head. This time there was no metallic ting, and the man fell forward with a groan, a pistol rattling on the floor. Hitting the prone man once more for good measure, Volka snatched up the pistol, 6T9’s coat, and then took off back into the maze of motionless ‘bots. Her Luddeccean leather-soled boots were nearly silent as she wove through the maze. The other men were heading toward their fallen comrade and away from her. She glanced down at the pistol and almost cursed. It was a phaser pistol. She couldn’t use it in the hold and risk a breach. Slipping it into 6T9’s coat next to Eliza’s ashes and shrugging the coat over her shoulders, she reminded herself she was small, she was quiet, and it was dark. As long as she continued to stay unnoticed…

      “Miss Volka,” a child’s voice whispered. “Will you help me?”

      Skidding to a halt, Volka’s head jerked in the direction of the voice. A meter away, she saw a perfect little boy with enormous brown eyes framed by long lashes and child-pink lips. She blinked. No, it wasn’t a little boy. A bit of synth skin was hanging by his ear, revealing a metal skeleton, and the arm of the hand he was putting to his mouth had no covering at all. It was just metal, tubing, lights, and wires.

      She gaped.

      “Please...Miss Volka,” the little boy android said, his lip trembling. “I’m scared.”

      “She’s over there!” shouted one of the pirates.

      A tear fell out of the android boy’s perfect eyes and rolled down his cheek. “Don’t let them get me!”

      Volka didn’t think. Swooping in, she picked up the child. He was too heavy to be human, but when his arms wrapped around her neck, he buried his face against her, and she felt hot tears against her skin, he felt very human.

      He whimpered, and she said, “Shhhh…shhh…” trying to move into the deeper shadows, but his weight impaired her speed and made her footfalls heavier. She heard a whirring and noticed that all the ‘bots were turning to look at her as she passed them.

      “There she is! She’s got the boy ‘bot!” said one of the men, and she heard three sets of footfalls closing in on her. In the distance, she heard heavier steps—Sixty? She reached out with her heart, as she could to Sundancer, their spaceship, and Carl, trying to say where she was. But Sixty was a ‘bot, wasn’t telepathic, and he didn’t have a heart.

      A stun blast passed by her shoulder, and the child ’bot let loose a wail. Volka felt like she would be sick. She was still clumsily holding the titanium long bone that was the only weapon she could use, but it was useless with the burden of the child. She dodged behind some sex ‘bots and tried to put him down. “I’ll fight them,” she promised. “I just have to set you down.”

      His tiny body shook, but his arms and legs stayed wrapped around her, and in the instant she paused, she smelled a human man approaching. She tried to dodge, but he caught the collar of her shirt. With a cry, Volka jerked forward, and the fabric gave. The man didn’t curse. He laughed, and his friends began laughing with him, all too close. The boy in her arms cried, and she patted his head. “It will be all right. It will be all right,” she found herself murmuring with the intensity of a prayer. All around her, sex ‘bots turned to stare. Some looked like Sixty, but they didn’t have the smell of their asteroid or Celeste and Bart. Somewhere she heard someone shout, “It’s over, 6T9 unit!”

      One of the men near Volka feinted leaping at her. Volka spun, attempting to dodge, and backed into a sex ‘bot. Its arms wrapped around her and the boy, trapping them.

      She saw the three men approaching her now. All were tall and broad. They smelled like stale sweat, alcohol, and the human S-rations she hated with a passion—all flour, pea protein, vitamins, and no meat. Tugging against the sex ‘bot’s arms, Volka’s lip curled up and she growled but couldn’t break free.

      That earned more laughter.

      And then, abruptly, every sex ‘bot turned to the pirates and said, in an eerie chorus, “Hey, Sailor.”

      “What?” said the man closest to Volka, eyes getting wide.

      The ‘bots came to life, swarming around him and the other attackers, packing so tightly that in moments, Volka couldn’t see her attackers anymore. Another chorus rose in the hold. “Wanna have a good time?”

      In the press of bodies, she thought she made out her attackers, retaliating, trying to push the ‘bots away. She even saw one female ‘bot’s head jerk back as though she had been punched. “Oh, yes, baby, yes!” the ‘bot cried.

      “Hey, Sailor!” all the ‘bots said in unison again. From the throng, she heard, “Hit me again!”

      Behind Volka, a female voice whispered, “Have you regained your footing, miss?”

      The arms around Volka dropped. Yelping, Volka spun awkwardly around,  imbalanced by the boy’s weight. She found herself facing a female ‘bot with dark almond-shaped eyes, dark hair with dense curls, and milky white skin. The ‘bot was only wearing a pale pink sequined bikini.

      “I…yes, thank you,” Volka said.

      The ‘bot smiled. “I’m so happy to have helped. Now I must attend to the gentlemen behind you.” With that, she sashayed past Volka, raised an arm, and said, “Yoo-hoo, hey Sailor! Wanna have a good time?” and joined one of the throngs.

      Volka stood shocked. The boy sniffled against her neck.

      “Volka!” she heard Sixty exclaim and smelled their asteroid, Celeste, Bart, and him.

      She turned to find Sixty, his metal skull still partially exposed, and a long cable twisting out of his neural port and into his shirt. Curled on 6T9’s right arm lay Carl Sagan, eyes closed. Sixty held up his free hand. “The ‘bots aren’t going to be intimate with those men. That would be completely against our programming.” He grimaced. “They’re just propositioning them. Repeatedly and annoyingly.”

      There was a smack and a moan of pleasure. Sixty’s face became hard. “I upped their masochism settings.”

      The little boy in Volka’s arms said, “You’re Android General 1! You told me Miss Volka would save me, and she did!”

      Sixty smiled at the boy and held out his arm. “You’re a little heavy for Volka, BOY4. Why don’t you come to me?”

      The boy’s arms and legs released from Volka’s neck and waist, and he threw himself onto 6T9’s left side. For the first time, Volka noticed that the synth skin was removed from the back of the boy’s head.

      6T9 closed his eyes, and the little boy murmured, “They tried to take out my Q-comm.”

      “You’re lucky yours is more firmly attached than mine,” Sixty replied. His eyes opened and locked with Volka’s over the boy’s shoulders.

      Volka’s eyes went to the sex ‘bots in the hold, all busy propositioning the pirates, and then they went back to the little boy. Her lip curled, and her hand tightened on the metal bone. “He isn’t a—”

      “He’s not a cybernetic consort,” Sixty said.

      Volka’s ears perked forward.

      The boy sniffed. “I’m not a cyborg! I’m an android.”

      “Yes,” said Sixty. To Volka, he said, “I extracted two stunners from the one you gave a concussion.” Volka blinked. Those would have been useful if she’d seen them.

      Sixty continued, “Well done. Now come.” Inclining his head toward a spiral staircase at the rear of the hold, he started off at a brisk pace and Volka jogged to keep up. The sound of slaps, punches, what may have been artificial hair being pulled out, and moans of pleasure echoed behind them. Pressing his face into Sixty’s shoulder as they climbed the stairs, the little boy said, “The bad men took away the memory of my human parents.”

      Human parents? Volka swallowed. Once she would have thought humans having an android child was aberrant…now, knowing she was unlikely to ever have a child of her own, she understood.

      “All my memories are…broken…I think Time Gate 4 defragged the server I was on,” the little boy said.

      Volka didn’t know what the last part of that meant, but standing two steps behind Sixty, Volka thought she saw his shoulders rise and fall in a sigh.

      The boy sniffed. “Will they remember me?”

      “They couldn’t have forgotten you,” Volka said assuredly. He was perfect and looking at him made her heart hurt. Thinking of what android-nappers might have done with him made a growl threaten to rise in her chest.

      Sixty glanced back at her, his expression unreadable, and then a door at the top of the stairs opened. An amply endowed woman with blonde hair stood before them. “Hello, Android General 1, Miss Volka, and BOY4!”

      Someone downstairs shouted, “32DD, don’t open the door for them, you dumb ‘bot!”

      “Come in,” 32DD said, stepping out of the way and gesturing a hand.

      “Lock it behind us, 32DD,” 6T9 commanded. “And don’t let anyone back in.”

      “Yes, Android General 1!” 32DD replied, beaming at him and Volka and performing a bouncy salute. The door whooshed shut just as Volka stepped through. Another ‘bot who looked just like 32DD was in the hallway beyond. She smiled and waved at them.

      “BOY4, you have to stay with the 32DDs while Volka and I go to the bridge,” Sixty said.

      “No, they’re not like us!” the boy cried. “Please take me with you!”

      Sixty whispered, “BOY4, the 32DDs aren’t like us, but you can trust them not to hurt you.”

      “Oh, no,” the 32DDs said, mouths forming tiny moues. “That would be against our programming.”

      The boy didn’t move.

      “BOY4,” Volka said, “We have to hurry if we’re going to contact your parents.”

      He met her eyes, and his lip quivered, but he released his hold on Sixty. Sixty placed him in the arms of one of the 32DDs and handed the unconscious Carl to the other. The second 32DD’s nose wrinkled. “It will shed on me.”

      “Yes,” he said. “Where is the nearest empty crew quarters?”

      One of the 32DDs pointed at a door not a meter away.

      “You have access?” 6T9 asked.

      “We have access to all the crew quarters,” said one of the 32DDs, giving him a wink.

      “Get inside, take the boy and the werfle, and do not come out until I order you to,” 6T9 commanded.

      “Yes, Android General 1!” the 32DDs replied, giving jiggly salutes. Only after they entered the chamber did Sixty speak. “Volka, I cannot access this ship’s ethernet.” He touched a square rectangle tucked into his shirt. “I’m only able to connect to the ‘bots via the local ethernet of this handheld.”

      Volka stared at him, not comprehending.

      Sixty put a hand on her arm. “We’re at lightspeed which means we’re difficult to track.”

      Pulling from her sci-fi paperback education, Volka said, “We’re probably going to rendezvous with someone who wouldn’t mind buying stolen sex ‘bots, ‘bots with Q-comms, or humans.”

      For a moment, she thought she saw an incongruous flicker of relief in Sixty’s expression, but then he just nodded. “There are two more men not in the cargo hold. One is guarding the bridge; the other is on the bridge.”

      “We have to go there now.”

      6T9 inclined his head toward a heavy door at the end of the hallway. “The first man is right through there…” He pointed to the wall opposite the door to the bridge. “This is not a part of the hull—the part of the ship that faces open space—he may use a phaser, Volka.”

      “I understand,” she said.

      He took a stunner from his belt and handed it to her, and then his hand fell on a phaser pistol he must have picked up from one of the pirates. Sixty’s head did its robotic tic. “When I think what he wanted to do to us and BOY4. My programming…” He winced, shook his head, and his hand slipped from the phaser. “I can’t kill, Volka.” He took out a stunner instead.

      She nodded, feeling every second like a weight on her chest. “Let’s do this.”

      Jogging to the door, they clung to opposite sides of the hall. Volka felt the prickle of sweat along her spine. She felt cold, and knew it wasn’t the temperature of the ship. Sundancer’s worry was an arrow of fear in her gut.

      She could do this, she reminded herself and Sundancer, and she felt some of the ship’s anxiety lift. Volka still had her metal bone, but she’d shoved it into her belt in favor of the stunner. A few weeks ago, she wouldn’t have been able to use the pistol with confidence. On Luddeccea, she and her mother had often hunted rats with small bows—weere weren’t allowed stunners or phasers. While hunting on the asteroid, she’d practiced using phaser weapons. The stance was completely different, but the principle was the same: pick your target, be calm and confident, mind your form. She willed her heart to slow.

      Volka stood with her back to the wall beside the left side of the door. 6T9 did the same on the other side and put his hand on a large button. Nothing happened.

      Inclining her head to his phaser pistol, she whispered, “Can we cut through with that?”

      “Yes, but I have a better idea,” 6T9 said, the eye that wasn’t exposed narrowing. He smiled grimly and whispered, “There’s a sex ‘bot on the other side.”

      His unexposed eye closed, and a moment later, the door slid open, and a light voice with a lilt said, “I’m just opening the door for Android General 1,” And suddenly Volka found herself staring at a ‘bot that looked like a youth, barely taller than her. His torso was bare and crisscrossed with scars and burn marks. It looked like half of one ear had been cut off. Machine parts had been used as piercings in his remaining ear and the remnants of the other. Volka felt something within her change, all fear within her melting. The growl threatening to bloom from her chest came out.

      A gruff voice just out of Volka’s vision said, “Get out of the way, ‘bot!”

      The ‘bot stepped out of the way, and Volka swung into the doorway, stunner up and aimed where her ears told her the man’s face was. She fired. The man’s stun rifle clattered to the floor. He slumped, instantly unconscious, and she got a chance to look at him. He wore thick, segmented, black armor on his chest, legs, and arms, and a helmet. She wasn’t sure if she’d struck him anywhere else if the stun would have worked.

      The new ‘bot dropped into a crouch beside him. Volka averted her eyes. His back was a mess of scars that hurt to look at. Her gaze landed on Sixty. His focus was on the other ‘bot’s scarred back. His nostrils were flared, and his lips turned down. The Luddeccean priests said that machines couldn’t feel, but the look on his face was pure rage. 6T9’s head tic returned. “I am having trouble with my programming.” His head jerked to the side, the motion small, but noticeable. “I cannot think what I feel.” The new ‘bot exclaimed, “A direct stun to the head can be lethal.”

      “Give him mouth to mouth,” 6T9 said, staring at a second door beyond the unconscious guard. To Volka, he said, “The captain doesn’t allow ‘bots on the bridge.” Pulling the phaser from his belt, he muttered, “But I can hotwire this if we burn the panel away.” His head tic started again. “We have to convince the captain to turn the vessel around.” He touched the rectangular shape in his shirt. “Droid General 1 is only allowed to pilot the ship if the captain dies.”

      Volka’s ears went forward, and then back against her skull, as she imagined trying to reason with a slave trading captain, and what she would have to do to make a pirate captain see reason. For a moment, the idea of hurting the person who had kidnapped 6T9, BOY4, Carl, and her almost brought her joy, and then she remembered her former lover, Alaric, before he began officer’s training in the Luddeccean Guard. He hadn’t wanted to join but had been pushed by his family. “At least,” he had said nervously, “I won’t be in interrogations. They don’t let the officers perform torture. They say it’s bad for us psychologically.”

      Later, he’d tried to kill Volka and destroy Sixty, but he was above torture.

      She snarled. She would not be a torturer. Pointing at the rectangular shape beneath Sixty’s shirt, she asked, “You can pilot this thing with that?” It was only after the words came out that she realized she’d shouted them.

      “In the event the captain dies only. We must reason with him.” Sixty emphasized again and then aimed the phaser at the corner of the octagonal plate. He must have set it to low power because it didn’t blast through the metal. Instead, the plate curled upward and then popped off. Sixty reached in with one hand and Volka heard the sizzle as his synth skin burned. How to reason with a pirate captain? You couldn’t...not without threats of pain, pain that you’d have to demonstrate to be believed. Pain that Sixty couldn’t inflict, and for her own sanity she didn’t want to inflict. Something inside her changed as quickly as if a switch had been flicked. She became so calm she didn’t recognize herself.

      Moving to his side, she eyed the gap where the door would open. “Only open the door a few centis,” Volka said. Or another person who sounded like Volka said. This Volka wasn’t shouting. This Volka had a plan.

      “That’s a good idea,” Sixty said, shifting the phaser to the far side of his belt—if she asked for it, she knew he wouldn’t give it to her. It would violate his programming. Reaching into the open hole in the wall with both hands, Sixty winced. The hallway filled with the smell of burning plastic and chemicals as his synth skin sizzled.

      “Will you be able to close it fast?” Volka asked.

      “Yes,” 6T9 said, grimacing in what might have been the ‘bot equivalent of pain. He remained intent on what he was doing.

      Slipping the stunner into a spare pocket, Volka got down on one knee, the plan set.

      “Kneeling is a good idea,” 6T9 said. “You’ll be less likely to be shot. We’ll take a peek, get the lay of the land, come up with a plan…”

      Volka said nothing.

      “On three,” said Sixty. “One, two, three…”

      The door rumbled and opened a hands-breadth. Volka peered in. She saw a shadow silhouetted against a window filled with grayish light. The shadow looked more like a giant robot than human, and it clutched a phaser rifle—the captain must have been wearing some sort of armor.

      “Give up, Worm,” said the shadow. “I know you can’t kill.”

      Its voice was female, and for a moment, Volka found herself angrier than she would have been at a man. Women were supposed to stick together! She tamped down her anger and focused on the window with the gray light. From her paperback education, she’d gleaned it was “the light of God from the beginning of the universe.” Alaric called it “radiation left over from the Big Bang. At lightspeed, it looks gray.”

      “Um,” gulped Sixty. “We might—”

      Reaching into the front of the coat, Volka pulled out the phaser pistol she’d stolen. Her form was rat piss-poor, but her target was large.

      “Go ahead, fire on me!” roared the woman. “This is a mech suit!”

      Volka fired. She missed the captain but not her target.

      Behind the captain, a crack spread across the window from the phaser’s point of impact like a frost spreading over a puddle.

      Roaring, the woman ran forward, metal armor thunking against the deck. Volka’s ears popped. An alarm blared, and the door shut. “I cannot open the door,” 6T9 said, hands back in the panel. “It is an emergency override in event of a breach.” His voice became softer and inflectionless. “You have most likely killed her. I did not expect you to do that, Volka.”

      Volka felt as emotionless as his voice, and she didn’t have the time or inclination to explain herself. He couldn’t kill, and she didn’t think he could have allowed her to kill, especially while the possibility of “negotiations” with the captain had been present. But that possibility had almost certainly been an impossibility. She put her ear to the airlock door, felt it vibrate, and what sounded like metal banging against metal in the distance.

      Springing up, Volka said, “She may be able to open the door. We have to get behind the next airlock.”

      Sixty continued to wrestle with the electronics inside the panel. She put her hand on his arm. He looked down at it and then up at her. “Or I’ll die, Sixty.”

      He dropped his hands from the panel. “I am programmed to save what life I can.” Grabbing Volka’s arm, he led her to the second airlock.

      “This human will die, too,” said the youth.

      6T9’s head tic resumed. “Move him!” he ordered.

      Lifting the pirate’s legs, the ‘bot pulled him after them. Volka looked over her shoulder and saw a dent forming at the edge of the door to the bridge. Her eyes went wide, there was a whoosh of air, another alarm sounded, and then the secondary door shut, and the alarms went silent.

      “We should get to where BOY4 is being held,” 6T9 said, pulling Volka along the corridor. “The captain may have magni-boots that would allow her to—” His head jerked back, and he halted. “Never mind. The captain is dead. I am in control of the ship now.”

      Fishing the rectangular device out of his shirt, he glanced up from the thing’s screen. “I don’t want to talk to the ship’s computer directly. I think the thing has to be crawling with viruses.” His expression was almost guilty.

      Volka shook her head. “I trust you on these matters, Sixty.” Her ears perked, and her stomach did a little somersault. Gazing down the corridor, Volka said, “I think Carl is awake. I’d like to check on him.” Sixty didn’t even like to kill rats, much less humans—even if they were trying to slag him. What must he be thinking of her now? Carl was a predator, and she suddenly needed to be with him. She was shaken by their adventure, and her adrenaline was wearing off, but she didn’t really feel guilty. She felt relieved, like laughing. They were almost out of danger, they would go home, she would lope among the imported trees on the asteroid, stalking deer and rats and be content. She worried if she should feel guilty, or if 6T9 felt that she should.

      She began heading toward Carl Sagan, the werfle’s murmur of, “Oh, my head,” a sound in her heart, not her ears. Carl would understand and know what to say.

      Sixty called out to her, “Volka.”

      She turned.

      “Sundancer is off the portside,” Sixty said.

      Volka’s ears flicked, and she felt a sense of relief in her stomach that wasn’t her own. It was Sundancer’s. She smiled and tried to feel, Yes, we’re okay.

      She resumed walking down the hall.

      “Volka,” Sixty said.

      She turned again.

      “The captain...I wanted…” His tic returned, and he growled. Shaking his head as though he had a flea, he said, “I cannot think what I feel, Volka.” He squeezed his eyes shut. “But I trust you on these things.”

      Volka suddenly felt lighter. She bowed to Sixty, out of old habit.

      Lips quirking, Sixty said, “We’ll go back to Copernicus, and then home. I have a surprise for you.”

      Volka smiled at the thought of peace, quiet, rats, deer, Sixty, Carl, and maybe a Bengal tiger. Sixty’s eyes went to the rectangular device. “I’m being hailed by Copernicus Security. This may take some focus.”

      Pivoting on a heel, Volka felt at peace. Home would be enough of a present for her.
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      In the cargo hold of the Copperhead, a member of Copernicus’s Security handed 6T9 the parcel he’d dropped. “Receipt chip says it’s yours. Wanna check it? If it’s damaged, we can impound it with the other evidence.” He gestured at the sex ‘bots milling about the hold. Some were in bad shape, thanks to 6T9’s brilliant plan. He knew they hadn’t minded…still...

      “Impounded,” Volka repeated, standing at his left holding BOY4’s hand, Carl sitting on her shoulder. Sixty peered into the cloth bag holding the parcel. Miraculously, it appeared undamaged.

      “Yep, deactivated until the trial date,” said the security officer. “And then returned to their rightful owners, ma’am.”

      “I can’t be deactivated!” said BOY4. “My family is coming for me.”

      The security officer looked at Carl and gave him a scratch. And then his eyes returned to Volka’s. “The adolescent ‘bot—er, android with the Q-comm will be returned to his human family. They’re in the berth just outside waiting for him, ma’am.”

      Bowing so she was at eye level with BOY4, Volka said, “They’re here.”

      “Ma’am,” said the security guard.

      Volka straightened and her ears perked forward.

      “I’ve got to move on,” the security guard continued, “but just want to say, my wife loves ears like yours, and would love a pair just like them.”

      “Oh…thank you?” she replied.

      The security officer waved a hand and walked off. He hadn’t met 6T9’s or BOY4’s eyes once. On Volka’s homeworld, Sixty had been mistaken for human, and he had been the one people noticed. Ironic he was treated more like a human on a world that believed intelligent machines were evil. The man had paid more attention to Carl than to him.

      Out of the blue, FET12, the badly damaged fetish ‘bot designed to appear no older than twelve said, “Captain McNamara was my owner.”

      Volka, BOY4, and 6T9 turned to FET12. His semi-nakedness had been disturbing, and 6T9 had found a trench coat to throw over the ‘bot’s torso. A core part of 6T9’s programming was a revulsion toward sexual acts with minors, but he found himself revolted by the scars as well. There was a Luddeccean expression, “There but by the grace of God go I.” 6T9 didn’t believe in God, but he understood the sentiment looking at FET12. If he had an owner different than Eliza, he could be an adult version of the beaten machine. The ‘bot was in such bad shape, 6T9 doubted he could even be resold. He’d most likely be recycled for parts.

      “Captain McNamara is dead now,” FET12 noted.

      Volka turned to 6T9, ears perked. Her pupils were smaller than a human’s would be in similar light, and the yellow of her irises was made more striking by the natural kohl-like pigmentation around her eyes. At the moment, her eyes were exceptionally wide. “What will happen to him, Sixty?”

      On her shoulders, Carl stirred. “Yes, what will happen?”

      “He’s doesn’t have a Q-comm,” Sixty said. “He—”

      “What will happen to him, Android General 1?” BOY4 whined, tugging at 6T9’s pant leg, eyes as large as Volka’s.

      To Volka and Carl, 6T9 said, “We’ll discuss this later.”

      Carl’s whiskers twitched. “The thing has led less of a life than the last rat I had for lunch.”

      Volka’s lips parted in a look of dismay. She’d obviously caught the meaning behind 6T9’s “we’ll talk later” evasion. “Can we keep him?” she asked.

      6T9’s circuits sparked. Now that she knew he had emotions, she treated every machine as though it did. He wasn’t sure if he found it endearing or disturbing. A ‘bot with a Q-comm was different.

      “Yes, can we keep him?” said Carl. “He could be handy to have about.”

      “That ‘bot doesn’t want to stay with us,” 6T9 said. “He is…” He looked at BOY4, remembered how humans didn’t like any aspect of sex openly discussed around children and said, “…what he is. FET12 won’t want to be somewhere without human company.” Despite the abuse it had suffered, it would crave human intimacy.

      Volka’s ears curled down in what the ethernet told Sixty was a wolfish expression of submission. “Are you sure?”

      Exasperated, 6T9 said to FET12, “Would you like to come with us after the trial? The only job we’ll have for you is clearing underbrush from a forest.”

      “It really needs to go,” Carl commented. “It’s a fire hazard.”

      “Would I be burned or scarred?” asked FET12. He held up hands crisscrossed by lesions. “It goes against my programming to be in such disrepair.”

      “You might get small scratches in the forest,” Volka replied, ears still curled.

      “I can repair small scratches,” FET12 responded. He nodded. “I would be happy to perform such a function.”

      6T9’s jaw fell. A sex ‘bot that would rather clear underbrush—a lonely, dirty job—than have sex?

      Volka beamed. “We’ll come and get you when the trial is over, then.” Putting her hand on 6T9’s arm, she said, “Inform security that he’s ours and that if they mistreat him or abuse him between now and the trial we’ll…we’ll…sic Lauren G3 on them. Sic her on them anyway!”

      Lauren G3 was a law ‘bot. The dour ‘bot was, in 6T9’s estimation, a viable threat.

      “Sixty?” Volka said.

      “Fine,” 6T9 said, still troubled by how readily FET12 accepted the offer. He sent an ethernet note to Lauren G3 informing her of the situation, and then said, “Let’s take BOY4 to his family.”

      “Goodbye!” Volka and BOY4 said to FET12 as 6T9 led them away.

      FET12 waved. “Thank you, Android General 1,” he said.

      6T9 tried to correct him. “That’s not my na—”

      But FET12 had already shut down.

      Less than 122 seconds later, BOY4 and his “parents” and “brother” were reunited.

      “Bobby!” cried the Laghari family, a man, woman, and a boy who couldn’t be more than six at sight of BOY4. 6T9 had downloaded all public information from them. The parents both had doctorates. The boy was in gifted programs.

      “I don’t remember you very well,” BOY4 said, releasing Volka’s hand. “Bobby’s my name…isn’t it?”

      The mother, a doctor of cybernetics, crouched beside him. “Yes, Bobby, yes,” she murmured, stroking his cheek.

      The human boy said, “I’m your brother…you didn’t forget me, did you?”

      The father, a computer scientist and psychologist, said, “Don’t worry, Bobby. I backed you up right before you disappeared.”

      “You went outside to play ball and didn’t come home,” declared his brother.

      “We were so worried,” the mother said.

      “A full backup,” BOY4—or Bobby—whispered. He gazed up at the man. “Thank you, Father.” He looked at the human boy. “You’re Jay, right?”

      The boy nodded.

      Bobby leaned his forehead against his adopted mother’s. Tears were streaming down her cheeks.

      “Mother, I want to go home,” he said. His human mother swept him up into her arms and pulled him close, and stood with him in her arms. Only then did the small family come over to Volka, Carl, and 6T9.

      All of them looked 6T9 in the eyes when they thanked them. Their own eyes were red with tears, and Volka cried, too.

      When they finally left, Volka murmured, “They’re all human.”

      Watching the family depart, 6T9 said, “Some machines haven’t adjusted to sentience as well as me.” In actuality, in the opinion of the time gates and most of the androids, 6T9 had taken to sentience so poorly that no new sex ‘bots had been given the honor of a Q-comm chip. In Volka’s arms, Carl sniffed at the joke, but Volka just nodded earnestly. 6T9’s Q-comm, humming along until that moment, briefly went offline.

      Recovering, 6T9 said, “Some of the gates thought that allowing an android to go through all the stages of human development with human mentorship might allow our kind to be more stable. The Langharis wanted to adopt. Time Gate 4 put forward that unit.”

      “Do you have to be someone special to adopt an android child?” Volka asked.

      “I suppose you do,” 6T9 responded, thinking of the couple’s combined curriculum vitae.

      Volka’s shoulders fell. “I suppose you would. Let’s go home, Sixty.”

      Sixty’s eyes slid to Volka. Once the asteroid had seemed like a prison to him, but with her, Carl, and Sundancer there, the word “home” fit. “Let’s go,” he agreed.

      They approached the airlock doors that led from the pirate ship’s berth. A group of security officers stood there, shoulder to shoulder, backs to them. It was only when they were nearly to the door that 6T9 realized that they were guarding the captured pirates. Hands pinned behind them, ankles bound together, they were sitting with their backs to the wall. Spitting at 6T9’s feet, the general hissed, “You killed Katie, Worm. I’ll make you pay for it!” His eyes were red-rimmed and there were bruises on his cheeks.

      “I am programmed not to kill,” 6T9 said—or rather, his old, “dumb” sex ‘bot programming said before his Q-comm had formulated an appropriate response.

      Volka growled. “I killed her.”

      Carl Sagan squeaked, and the ether-to-speech necklace 6T9 had devised for him crackled. “And I would have if I’d had the chance.”

      The general’s eyes didn’t leave 6T9’s. “You’ll pay, Worm. You’ll pay.”

      One of Copernicus’ Security knocked him none too gently with a baton, but the general only smiled, his eyes locked on 6T9.

      The airlock door to the berth whooshed open. 6T9 stepped through, almost breathed a sigh of relief, and then he turned toward the cargo port exit. His ether started pinging like mad with unidentified channels, and humans wearing press badges, packed just past a line of electric security tape, started shouting.

      “6T9!”

      “Volka!”

      “Is that the sentient space weasel?”

      When 6T9 had returned to Republic space with Carl, Sundancer, and Volka, they’d all briefly been celebrities, but then Venus de Willendorf had gotten engaged. It seemed, however, they were going to experience another seven minutes of fame.

      Volka gripped 6T9’s arm in a death grip. Carl’s necklace hissed, “I’m out of here,” and the creature slithered into Volka’s backpack.

      Putting his hand on top of Volka’s, 6T9 led her to the throng, whispering, “Sooner we get through this, sooner we get home.”

      She nodded, ears flat back.

      They reached the electrical tape, security let them through, and mics and human reporters leaned in.

      “Was this a secret government sting operation?” a man asked 6T9. He felt someone else’s hand goose him, because of course, he was still a sex ‘bot. Normally, he liked that sort of thing, but he wanted to get home.

      “How did you know the rendezvous for the ring would be asteroid S7O7.15432?” a man asked, pressing a mic to Volka’s lips.

      “It was set as the destination in the ship’s log,” 6T9 answered. He’d seen it when he’d gained control of the ship as Android_General1 and sent it to the authorities. Instead of the Copperhead arriving, System 7’s Local Guard had arrived.

      “Did you hack into the ship’s ether?” someone else asked him, putting a hand over her neural interface.

      6T9 tried to respond. “No, I—”

      A man pressed himself from the crowd and shouted in his face. “Were you aware that the Copperhead was taking you to the heart of a kidnapping ring?”

      No mention of android napping? 6T9 accessed the news on the public ether—ah, yes, the Copperhead’s crew weren’t just trading in androids. Five humans had been rescued at the Copperhead’s destination. No numbers on the androids.

      “We…no…” stammered Volka.

      “Did you know any of the five humans who were recovered?” someone else shouted.

      6T9 shook his head.

      Another man pressed a mic forward. “How does it feel to be heroes again after just a few short we—”

      All the shouting stopped.

      The eyes of the reporter just in front of them went wide. He threw his hand to his ether port, turned, and started running back through the crowd. All the other reporters started scrambling away, too, pushing and shoving each other to get out of the cargo port.

      “What’s happening?” Volka whispered.

      6T9’s mind flew to the local news again. “Venus De Willendorf has just arrived in Copernicus City…only now her name is Venus De Rubens. She has transformed her body to look like the painting Venus in Fur-Coat by Peter Paul Rubens.”

      “That is more important than a kidnapping and android napping ring?” Volka asked.

      “It will probably get them more ethernet traffic,” 6T9 confessed.

      “I don’t understand,” Volka said.

      6T9 had some memories of Luddeccean news after the disablement of Luddeccea’s ethernet. It had been delivered via paper, radio, and television, and had been…well, slow would be the word for it. Problems with the drainage system in Prime’s southwest corner had been headlines for weeks. “News in the Galactic Republic changes fast,” 6T9 explained.

      “Oh—”

      The last of the reporters cleared away and two new figures ran forward. 6T9 blinked and grinned, recognizing Celeste and Bart.

      “6T9!” they cried.

      6T9 broke away from Volka. Not everything on Copernicus had gone poorly.

      “Hey, you two!” 6T9 shouted, holding out his arms. The afternoon before his android-napping, he had engaged in what might have been the most satisfying sex since Eliza. Bart and Celeste had treated him like they were honored by his company, not like he was the last resort, an experiment, or a square on a sexual bingo card to scratch off.

      “We were so worried about you,” Celeste said, catching him in a hug. 6T9 gratefully hugged her back. She was soft around the middle and delightful to squeeze.

      Bart thumped him on the back. “Glad to see you back!”

      “It’s good to be back,” replied 6T9, smiling ear to ear.

      “It all sounded so terrible!” Celeste said. “Do you want to stay for a while? Get your bearings? Your friends, too?” She gave Volka a timid smile.

      “After that adventure, I’d need a beer!” Bart said, smacking his impressive gut.

      Beer was high in calories. 6T9 almost said yes, but then he looked over Bart’s shoulder and noticed Volka’s left nostril was twitching. Repeatedly. She probably was anxious to get home. She’d been in more danger aboard the Copperhead than he. He could have uploaded himself or turned on his masochism app if the worst had happened. She’d had no such escape. “I would love to, but we’re heading back to our asteroid now. We’ve got to…” Volka’s eyes narrowed. “...to take care of some underbrush before it catches on fire.”

      Volka’s eyes narrowed further.

      
        
          
            [image: ]
          

        

      

      By the ped elevator, Volka stood back as Sixty hugged Celeste. Again.

      Volka crossed her arms to restrain them. She felt her nostril flaring spasmodically, but she didn’t grab her business partner by the throat and shake him mercilessly, as he so obviously deserved. Nor did she grab Carl Sagan as he hopped into Celeste’s arms, rolled onto his back, and let the unfaithful woman rub his belly while purring madly.

      When Sixty hugged Bart, Volka’s face crumpled and she even felt tears threaten to come. She hadn’t thought of crying once aboard the Copperhead, but Sixty wasn’t just one of her only friends in the Galactic Republic; he had shown himself to be one of her best friends, ever. However, watching him lie so smoothly and cheerfully to his friend Bart whom he’d just cuckolded made her wonder if she’d just imagined their friendship. Her brow furrowed. But that didn’t make sense. Sixty had also shown friendship in all the ways that mattered.

      As soon as Sixty, Carl on his shoulder, and Volka were alone in the ped elevator behind closed doors, she couldn’t hold it in anymore. Putting her hands on her hips, she glared up at Sixty, her nostril twitching. “You had sex with Celeste!”

      Sixty blinked. “Oh, well, yes.” Putting a hand to his chest, he smiled, and his focus became distant as though he was in a happy dream. “It was a great tune-up.”

      Volka huffed. “She. Is. Married. To. Bart. Who sees you as a friend!”

      Sixty’s eyes slid to the side and back to her. “And…” He squinted at her as though he was genuinely confused as to why that might be an issue.

      “You betrayed your friend!” Volka cried.

      Laughing, 6T9 said, “No, I didn’t! Bart knew about it, approved, and even watched.”

      Volka’s eyes went wide.

      Shrugging, 6T9 said, “It was his fantasy to be cuckolded.”

      Volka’s heart sank, though she couldn’t say why. No, she could say. It was just…unhealthy…to be in a love triangle. She’d seen it time and again between human men and their weere mistresses. It poisoned human marriages and weere hearts. How could Sixty do such a thing? She swallowed, understanding exactly how it must have happened. “Sixty, I thought we agreed you wouldn’t have sex for money anymore.”

      Smile melting, Sixty leaned toward her, and his voice became low and threatening. “We didn’t agree to that…I chose not to have sex for money of my own volition because…” He blinked again and pulled back as though confused, and then he leaned forward again and hissed, “Do you think Bart and Celeste could afford me?”

      Volka’s lips parted in shock, and then she thought of Bart and Celeste’s tiny quarters and their unaugmented middle-aged looks. Sixty looked like a Greek god next to them. Actually, he always looked like a Greek god.

      “They couldn’t in a hundred years,” 6T9 said. “And it was the most satisfying sex I’ve had in since…since…” Shaking his head, he frowned. “I have only one regret.”

      Volka’s jaw snapped shut. He’d been a sex ‘bot his whole life, and she wasn’t even sure exactly how long that was. Old habits were hard to break.

      Rubbing the back of his neck, Sixty sighed. “My only regret was I couldn’t get Bart to join in.”

      Volka’s eyes got wide. She felt herself crumple. “You…” How could Sixty, who let her sleep without molesting her, and who had been nothing but a gentleman toward her—well, except for that hardware malfunction that was unintentional—have sex with multiple people at once with no regard to the sanctity of marriage, or their gender? Even Mr. Darmadi had the decency to stick to men, and not confound a woman by marrying her and then abandoning her after marriage for gentlemen “friends.” Shaking her head, she blurted, “You’re worse than human.”

      6T9’s frame went rigid. “Have you considered…you’re worse than human, Ms. Monogamy?” He rolled his eyes. “You’re probably still mooning over Alaric, a man who tried to destroy me and kill you.”

      Volka wanted to retort with something witty, but just the mention of her lover’s name was like being punched in the gut. What Sixty said was true, and yet Alaric was still an open wound, a space in her heart that she didn’t think would ever be filled again. She remembered the scent of him, his arms around her, his piercing blue eyes, and the weight of him, how he tasted, and those memories were as real as the ped elevator she rode in.

      Carl squirmed on Sixty’s shoulder, and Volka’s ears flicked at his thoughts. “I sense…a presence in the quantum wave…uh-oh.”

      Sixty must not have been listening to Carl’s channel because he didn’t say anything.

      The elevator stopped before their floor, and a crowd of humans got on. Volka stepped to the back.

      Carl said nothing more, and Volka should have asked, but she couldn’t. She was…maybe mooning over Alaric wasn’t the right word. Agonizing was a better fit. He had tried to save her before trying to kill her, and Sixty and Volka had saved him from the destruction of the inn on Libertas. Would his fellow guardsmen have found that suspicious? Would he be prosecuted for failing to destroy Sundancer and letting them escape?

      One of the humans pointed at Carl. “Is that a member of The One, like that werfle Carl Sagan in the ether a few weeks ago…or just an ordinary werfle?”

      On Sixty’s shoulder, Carl rose to his back-hind paw pairs. “I am a member of The One, and that Carl Sagan,” he declared, a claw on his necklace.

      Excited murmurs rose in the elevator, and a woman sighed. “You’re adorable!”

      “And cuddly,” Carl said. “If you want to scratch me behind the ears.”

      “Oh, yes,” the woman said.

      Unwinding Carl from his shoulder, Sixty rolled his eyes. “Here, you can hold him, too.”

      Another woman squealed. “Ladies, ladies, one at a time, please,” Carl said. “Ah, yes, right there.”

      Volka swallowed, watching the excited faces of the people on the elevator. The One were telepathic, quantum wave-bending aliens. They were the first aliens to reach out to humans to establish diplomatic relations. Not all the humans looked thrilled by Carl’s presence, yet she smelled no fear. She’d grown up believing that if there were aliens like Carl, they were demons. On Luddeccea, the One’s reception would have been quite different.

      Her stomach constricted at the thought of her homeworld, and it was too painful to ignore. What was happening there to Mr. Darmadi, her people, and Alaric? She was a little telepathic, and she had a horrible feeling it was something terrible.
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      Alaric lay in his prison cell. Flies zipped overhead. Outside in the hallway, he heard the skittering of rats. He was hungry enough to eat them, but his cell had become the wild werfle’s den, and the creatures no longer ventured inside.

      It had been five days since Abraham’s men had come. Alaric had seen no one else since and had had no deliveries of food. As far as he could tell, his fellow prisoners and his guards were dead.

      Five pairs of feet pattered outside his cell, and then the werfle slipped beneath the door. Its jaws were empty, but its muzzle was red.

      “You could share, Solomon,” Alaric whispered, calling the creature by the name of his deceased pet. The werfle bared his teeth at him, and Alaric sighed. “Yes, I suppose the disease in the rats would kill me.”

      With a squeak that his hunger-addled brain confused as an affirmative, the creature hopped onto the foot of his bed and proceeded to groom itself by Alaric’s feet. Alaric lifted a brow at it. The words You could at least pretend to show some respect were at the tip of his tongue; he was just too tired to speak them. He could try to frighten the creature off, but its scent would linger, and the rats might not return. Also, although Alaric never touched the venomous creature—he needed to survive for his sons’ sakes and he had to testify—it did remind him very much of Solomon. He’d woken a few times to find it lying by his head just as Solomon had done. He dreamed sometimes that the creature was guarding him. Apparently, despite his psychological profile, Alaric wasn’t completely immune to loneliness.

      His lips twisted in a thin smile, and he reached toward the creature almost unconsciously. It stretched toward Alaric’s fingers. Remembering himself, Alaric crossed his arms over his chest, trapped his hands beneath his arms, lay back, and closed his eyes. He couldn’t risk being bitten. He had to testify.

      He wasn’t sure how long he lay immobile—dreams and wakefulness had been blending together during his forced fast—when footsteps in the hallway made his eyes snap open. For a moment, he wasn’t sure if he was awake. A man’s voice echoed from the hallway. “Sir, this is the officers’ wing. There are only humans here.”

      “They are God’s creatures, too,” a man replied, his speech strangely slurred, and then that same slurred voice called out, “Hello? We smell at least one of you is alive. Call out so we may find you more quickly!”

      Reserves of energy Alaric hadn’t known he had coursed through him. Stumbling to his feet, he called out, “Over here!” Reaching the door, he threw an arm over his face, overwhelmed by the stench so close to the hallway.

      He heard hesitant footsteps and coughing, and then a face appeared at Alaric’s door. For a moment, Alaric didn’t realize what—or who—he was looking at. It was the most wolf-like weere he had ever seen. The weere had a wolf’s muzzle, and his face was covered with the soft short velvet, like Volka had on her ears. The man had wolf ears too, but his eyes were blue and human, although surrounded by black skin pigmentation like Volka’s. More surprising than his wolf features, though, was his clothing. He wore the robes of a priest. Archbishop Kenji Sato had allowed for a few weere to be ordained, but they served exclusively in his service managing Luddeccea’s single supercomputer…a position Alaric had regarded with not a bit of envy. What was a weere priest of Archbishop Sato doing in a prison?

      Solomon squeaked, and the weere-man’s eyes shifted to the werfle.

      Behind the weere-priest, outside of Alaric’s line of vision, someone panted, “How can humans stand the stench!”

      “I’m sure Captain Darmadi does not enjoy it, Ebren,” the priest replied. Alaric drew back. How had the weere known his name? And then he shook himself. The man must have reviewed a list of prisoners.

      The priest’s eyes slid to Solomon, and his ears flicked. For too long he was silent, but then he continued, “Captain Darmadi, I am Father Ze’ev. We will release you if you give your word you won’t try to escape.”

      Alaric wavered on his feet. “If I have your word I will be tried.” His hands balled into fists. He had no leverage, nothing to exchange for that demand. Or maybe he did, but he couldn’t piece it together right now. His mind wasn’t working correctly.

      Father Ze’ev barked, and in Alaric’s stupefied state, it took a moment for him to process that it was a laugh. “Haven’t we all been tried enough?” the weere asked. But then he shook his head, and his ears flattened. “Forgive me. You will get a trial.”

      Rubbing his jaw, Alaric glanced around his prison. What choice did he have? “You have my word.”

      Nodding, Ze’ev withdrew, and Alaric heard a key click in the lock. Even though Alaric knew he only had something as weak as a stranger’s word, his heart leaped. He wasn’t sure if he was more heartened to be leaving his cell, or that he could still feel joy.

      “Come,” said Ze’ev, turning on his heel, robes swirling. Rats shrieked and scurried from his path. Alaric walked out of his cell unsteadily, and almost fell over but caught himself on the door frame. Solomon hissed, and the second weere took Alaric’s arm. This weere could almost pass for human if it weren’t for his wolf-like ears and yellow eyes. He wore the baggy garments of rough cloth that all weere-workers in the human settlements wore. “Come on!” the weere snapped.

      Pulling from his grip and raising his free arm to cover his mouth and nose, Alaric shuffled out of his cell on his own power, Solomon slinking by his feet, and flies buzzing in his ears. The joy of escaping his cell melted away with his first steps into the hallway.

      It was one thing to theorize that all his prison mates had died. It was another thing to see it. They passed by corpses of two of Abraham’s men and a few of the regular prison personnel, two in the starched whites of infirmary workers. From beneath cell doorways stretched the hands of Alaric’s fellow prisoners, swollen and discolored in death.

      When they exited the building and entered the courtyard, Alaric gasped for breath and then choked on smoke. At the center of the courtyard, a funeral pyre burned. A human priest was standing close beside it, head bent over a tome of the Three Books, droning final prayers.  Weere and human prisoners threw dead men onto the flames.

      “What has happened?” Alaric whispered.

      “How long have you been pent up?” Ebren asked, his voice laced with incredulity.

      “Sixty-eight days,” Alaric replied.

      Ears flattening, the weere-man responded, “Over half of New Prime has died of plague.”

      Alaric gaped at the funeral pyre. The smoke made the world waver. “How…” The civilian weere, Ebren, caught his arm, and Alaric realized he’d been the one wavering.

      “Why don’t you ask your friend?” Ebren snarled, and Alaric jerked away. Solomon hissed at Ebren, and the weere-man’s face became pale. He backed off and then bolted back into one of the prison wings.

      Alaric stood dumb and uncomprehending.

      Father Ze’ev, until a moment ago leading the way, turned back to Alaric. He was a weere, but he was learned. Alaric swallowed. Over half of New Prime. He remembered the Republic’s extraordinary spacecraft that Volka had been abducted on. “The Republic…is this some…biological warfare?”

      Ze’ev came closer. His ears flicked, and his gaze shifted to Solomon. Ze’ev growled, but then met Alaric’s eyes. “It is not the Republic’s doing.” His lips twisted into a wry smile that revealed long, dangerous canines. Alaric refused to be cowed. He stood straighter.

      Ze’ev continued dryly, “Although I’m sure they are concerned.”

      Solomon chirped, and Ze’ev glared at the werfle. Alaric found himself shifting so his body was between the creature and the weere priest. He was out of his cell, but he wasn’t free. “The charges against me—”

      “Were made by Counselor Abraham,” Ze’ev said. “To cover up his mistakes.” His lip curled. “As though he could cover up the fires in No Weere he caused, and the corpses in Prime. But he’s joined the corpses, so his judgment falls to God.” A growl rose in the weere priest’s chest. “...unfortunately.”

      The world was wavering again. “My charges were made by a man who has been disgraced, but I am not free.”

      Ze’ev’s eyes narrowed. “None of us are free. All of us are duty bound, especially now.” His shoulders softened. “You need to recover. All will be revealed in time. Come.”

      He turned again, but Alaric didn’t follow. “I never was allowed to speak to my family. I need to speak to them.”

      Ze’ev paused, looked down at the werfle, and then said, “The phone lines are down, but I would suspect that they’ve been well looked after.”

      Solomon gave a squeak that sounded to Alaric’s starved mind suspiciously like an affirmative.

      Ze’ev began striding away. Without an alternative, Alaric shuffled after him.
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      Volka bowed her head. There was nothing she could do for anyone on Luddeccea anymore. She was cut off from them forever.

      The elevator doors parted, and the humans disembarked—one woman dawdling with Carl Sagan. The woman tickled his tummy while Carl purred up a storm, but at the last moment, he leaped over to Sixty’s arms.

      As soon as the doors closed, Sixty held Carl up and asked sharply, “Wouldn’t you rather shed on Volka?”

      Carl squeaked and said, “I’m mad at Volka.”

      Volka’s lips parted in dismay. She’d upset Sixty and Carl. “What did I do?”

      “Yes, what could Volka possibly have done to you?” Sixty asked.

      Carl hissed, “She was intolerably subservient to Time Gate 1. Please Time Gate 1, sir. Oh, thank you, Time Gate 1, sir.”

      Remembering Time Gate 1’s voice crackling through every device in Bart and Celeste’s apartment, Volka protested, “When you’re dealing with people—or…or…machines—that are immensely more powerful than you, you should show deference, Carl.”

      Carl’s ears flattened, and he glared at her. “You don’t do that to me.”

      Volka blinked, remembering the little werfle on his back submitting happily to tummy tickles just moments before.

      Carl blinked at her. “You don’t believe I’m dangerous because I’m small, and because I don’t deny this body the simple pleasures it desires.”

      Volka stared at the werfle. He was telepathic, venomous, and could cause sparks that could be deadly, if they were, say, in an oxygen tank. But he was small, vain, and did like his tummy rubs.

      “Do you think we should be subservient to you?” Sixty asked.

      Volka tilted her head, and her ears perked forward.

      Carl sniffed—or sighed—and he closed his eyes. “Me? No, of course not. That would end the belly rubs.” Bowing his head, he said, “Go ahead, give me to Volka.”

      Sixty handed the werfle over to Volka, and for a moment their fingers touched. Ears curling down, Volka averted her eyes, the memory of their “fight” still fresh. She pulled Carl to her chest, but instead of indulging in a cuddle, he climbed up to her shoulders, and then slipped into the pack again. The elevator suddenly felt too big.

      She faced forward, not knowing what to say, just feeling lost. Sixty usually smelled good to her, too good, but now he smelled like the pirate ship and worse, like Celeste and Bart. The whole escapade was repellent to her. How could anyone want to share their lover? Or want to be shared? That would smack as much as a betrayal. Her shoulders fell. Was it worse than what Alaric had offered her? Alaric had wanted to be Volka’s patron while he kept his human wife. Undoubtedly, that human woman would be in the dark about Volka…or simply unable to do anything about it. No matter how gross she found it, everything Sixty had done was consensual, even if she’d want to rip Sixty’s limbs out if she were Bart.

      Sixty and Volka had just saved each other. It was stupid to be angry.

      “I’m sorry.”

      Sixty said the words at the same time Volka did, and her ears perked toward him in surprise.

      Looking down at her, he shrugged. “You can’t help being monogamous. It’s part of your programming.”

      “My programming?” Volka asked, ears flicking in confusion. That was something for machines, not people.

      He shrugged again. “For me, it’s code. For you, it’s your culture, family upbringing, and probably in your DNA. You’re part wolf, and they’re very monogamous.” His brow furrowed. “Do you know what DNA is?”

      Alaric had explained how she had inherited the kohl-like skin pigment from her father while tracing her eyelid with a finger. She remembered the way the nighttime breeze had stirred the curtains of his uncle’s guest house. He’d lived there while going to university, and it had been their haven.

      Sixty leaned closer, and her ears flattened. “Yes,” she admitted. She gazed at her shoes. “You didn’t hurt anyone and…and…I shouldn’t judge you.” God was judge, certainly not her.

      The elevator stopped, and a few people got on. Sixty pulled a fabric wrapped package from underneath his arm and handed it to her.

      “I got you something,” Sixty said in a hushed voice. The new riders peered at him curiously, probably wondering why he hadn’t ethered her those words.

      Volka took the package. Perhaps half a hand width high, two wide, and three long, it was surprisingly heavy.

      “Go ahead, look inside,” Sixty whispered.

      She peeked inside as the elevator came to a stop again.

      Sixty said, “This is us.”

      Volka followed him out into the terminal, glad to be moving, glad that she didn’t have to look at him. Inside the package was a plein air easel. She’d seen the like of them on Luddeccea, although those were made of wood, and this seemed to be made of some sort of carbon fiber and metal.

      Sixty said, “It has solvent, oil, a basic palette inside, and two gessoed canvases in its storage box—granted, the canvasses are very small. I hear it’s everything you need to get started.”

      A lump was forming in Volka’s throat and she thought she might cry. “It’s…thank you,” she whispered.

      Not breaking stride, Sixty said, “I promised you landscapes to paint on our asteroid, but you have no paints. Just your little sketchbook.”

      “This is…perfect,” Volka stammered. “I don’t know how I can repay you.” She had no idea how much it cost, but more than that, she couldn’t imagine a gift that would be suitably fitting for him.

      Sixty scratched the back of his neck. “If you had to repay me, would it even be a gift?”

      His tone was one of innocent inquiry, and it made Volka laugh for some reason. “I guess not.” She kept her nose buried in the package so he couldn’t see her tears. “I can’t wait to get back to the asteroid to try it.” She began picturing the strangely close horizon, the sparkling glass-like domes, and the imported Earth forest, imagining how she’d translate those to paint.

      Squirming in her pack, Carl declared, “I can’t wait to get back to the asteroid to get something to eat. All the lab-grown meat in the ‘civilized galaxy’ makes me ill. So bland. Blech!”

      Volka smiled at the thought. Carl and her happiness must have leaked out into the universe because she felt pterys in her stomach begin to fly with Sundancer’s happiness, too. Her nose was tucked in the bag, hiding her happy tears, and she was grinning ear to ear when Sixty’s steps came to a halt.

      Volka lifted her head as they approached the airlock to Sundancer’s berth. Up on the terminal level, airlocks were fancy with sliding doors of clear glass that led to plastitubing gangways to the ships docked outside. Standing just inside the glass airlock doors, in front of the gangway to Sundancer, was a man she’d never seen before. He looked to be perhaps in his mid-thirties. His hair was the color of hay in the late dry season, his eyes were nearly as light as Alaric’s, and he was as tall, but his shoulders were broader. His skin was incredibly pale. Down one side of his face was a long black scar. Was he augmented? Or an android? She gulped. Despite the scar, he would have been exotically handsome—he looked like the pictures of Old European Earthers she’d seen with his coloring, straight nose, and hard jaw—but his expression was the coldest she’d ever seen. She instinctively shrank from him. He and the seven men and one woman flanking him were wearing form-fitting suits that looked like the shells of insects and seemed to blend into the surroundings. They all carried rifles and packs on their backs.

      Volka looked at Sixty in alarm. Sixty’s eyes were on the cold-eyed man at the center of the group. He didn’t hesitate as he stepped up to the sliding glass airlock doors, though, so Volka didn’t, either.

      Before the doors even closed behind their heels, Sixty said, “Since you didn’t ether, I’m guessing this isn’t a personal call.”

      Wiggling in her pack, Carl said, “Oh, yeah, forgot to mention he was visiting.”

      “No,” said the man, his voice as chilly as his expression.

      Scanning the military escort, Sixty said, “I’ve done nothing to warrant an arrest. Do I need to sic Lauren G3 on you?” Volka’s stomach dropped at the mention of the legal ‘bot who had helped defend Sixty from a frivolous lawsuit, and who was hopefully already working on protecting FET12 from being deactivated permanently. Was more legal trouble following Sixty?

      “You have done no wrong, 6T9,” the stranger replied, and tension left Volka’s shoulders. “Nor has your companion.” He tilted his head toward Volka. “Aren’t you going to introduce me?”

      Sixty’s eyes narrowed at the stranger. “Volka, this is James Sinclair. James, this is Volka.”

      Volka’s ears perked. “Admiral Noa Sato’s husband James?” she asked, startled. This cold man was married to Noa?

      James bowed slightly. “The same. I’ve heard a lot about you, Volka. It’s an honor to finally meet you.” His expression didn’t soften with his words, and his eyes immediately returned to Sixty. “This isn’t a personal call,” he said. “I need your help. My team needs immediate transport to System 33.”

      The tiny space between the glass airlock doors and the plastitubing gangway had an intercom mounted in the wall. It crackled, and an announcer called passengers of a flight to Mars, and then another for Proxima Centauri.

      Volka’s android partner had programming that made him inhale and exhale, even though Sixty didn’t need oxygen. Her ears flicked now. He wasn’t “breathing” at all, and his face had drained of all expression. His hand went out as though he was going to put it behind Volka’s back, but he didn’t touch her. “How immediate is immediate?” Sixty asked, voice soft.

      “Now,” said James.

      Her ears twitched at Sixty’s gulp.

      From her pack came the crackle of Carl’s ether-to-speech device. “No, no, no! Absolutely not.” A moment later, Carl poked his head around her shoulder. “Volka and I need to go back to our asteroid for some real food. We can discuss transporting you afterward.”

      “Carl Sagan,” said James, his eyes focused on the werfle with predatory-like intensity. “The One might want to consider being more helpful. What with events on Luddeccea.”

      Volka remembered the fear that had gripped her in the elevator. “Events on Luddeccea?” she blurted.

      “Relax, pet, Solomon wouldn’t let any harm come to Alaric,” Carl said.

      Solomon? Volka’s eyes went wide. “Alaric’s…werfle?” Carl’s words spun around between Volka’s ears like flies. The uneasy churn returned to her stomach.

      “Yes,” Carl replied. “James, you can tell Noa that Kenji is safe, too.”

      “That won’t reassure the Senate,” James said tightly.

      Something terrible had happened. Volka’s chest tightened. “And it doesn’t reassure me either.”

      “Events on Luddeccea have nothing to do with The Republic,” Carl said. “And they are…political…not personal.”

      Volka’s heart skipped a beat.

      Stepping closer to Volka, eyes on Carl, James said, “To assure The Republic of The One’s goodwill, it might be wise to help us out now.”

      Unable to contain herself, Volka exclaimed, “What is happening on Luddeccea?”
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      Sitting in a bed of startlingly clean linens, Alaric lifted the bowl to his lips and drained the contents. The ptery rice soup was room temperature and unseasoned, but it tasted as good as anything he’d ever eaten. Wild Solomon sat at his feet, purring softly and kneading the sheets.

      It was only after he’d drained the last dregs that Alaric asked a med tech, “What is happening here?”

      The human med tech, just finishing administering intravenous fluids to another patient, gave a worried look in Solomon’s direction. “I…I don’t think I can explain that to you, sir.” The man had dark circles under his eyes and deep hollows under his cheekbones. Ducking his head, he hurried off. Alaric sat on the bed, bewildered. He gazed at his fellow patients. Some were awake, but sweat beaded their brows, and they lay in bed with empty eyes. Others muttered to themselves. Many had bandages wrapped around their lymph nodes. Alaric lay back and tried to be patient.

      The medic came back, perhaps half an hour later, a pair of electric clippers, a towel, soap, and Luddeccean Guard dress greens neatly folded in his arms. “A messenger just brought the uniform. You’re to have an audience in an hour.” Casting an uneasy eye at Solomon, he gave the items to Alaric and then pointed to the rear of the ward. “There are showers back there.”

      “I need access to counsel—” Alaric began to say.

      “A demon!” shrieked a man several beds down, ripping out his IV fluids. “Let me go!”

      Rushing to the fevered man, the medic fumbled with the IV, murmuring, “Without fluids and antibiotics, you’ll die. You must be calm.”

      Another patient ripped out his line. “I can’t stay here with it!”

      “Can I help you?” Alaric asked, approaching the struggling medic.

      Looking over his shoulder, the medic hissed, “If you want to help me, take the werfle with you.”

      Other patients began thrashing in their beds. Someone cried out, “Devils. Devils!”

      “Go!” shouted the medic.

      Alaric turned to the bed, wondering if he could catch the wild, venomous Solomon in the sheets, but the creature was already at his heels, blinking up at him, seemingly unperturbed by the commotion. The werfle had followed him this far. Alaric grabbed his bundle and went to the showers. Wild Solomon followed him into the long, empty room, crawled up a stone wall, settled into a sunbeam on the ledge of the single barred window, and closed his eyes.

      Alaric showered, dressed, and set to work with the safety clippers. Venomous or not, Alaric was used to the creature’s company, and even though the room’s only mirror was right next to the window, Alaric didn’t think twice about standing under the werfle as he shaved. He was just dusting off his uniform when he heard boot steps in the med ward, too regimented to be anything but the Luddeccean Guard. He turned on his heel just in time for Commander Ran, his second in command, to walk in, flanked by eight Guardsmen, all armed. Alaric recognized none of them.

      Alaric clasped his hands behind his back. He’d lost weight and his uniform no longer fit. The safety clippers hadn’t been sharp and had a permanent guard, and his hair and beard were still rough and uneven. But he’d learned long ago that being imposing was all in attitude. He leveled his eyes at Ran—his back straight, his chin high—and then the werfle jumped onto his shoulders. Alaric doubted the prison infirmary had anti-venom, and a werfle bite was enough to kill a grown man, but he froze not in fear, but frustration. Jaw going hard, his gaze went to the ceiling. So much for projecting authority. Wild Solomon twined around the front of Alaric’s neck, settled with its snout facing Ran and his retinue, kneaded its ten sets of claws, and purred. Loudly. Alaric exhaled slowly through his teeth, unable to look at the Guardsmen.

      “Are you trying to threaten me?” Ran demanded.

      Completely caught off guard, Alaric blurted, “What?”

      “Get that thing off your shoulder!” Ran ordered.

      Alaric almost reached up to pull the creature off its perch. The first Solomon had liked to sit in exactly the same way and had kneaded his back just so. With his first Solomon, whenever it had gotten to be too much, Alaric had merely reached up and pulled his werfle off. But it wasn’t Solomon, and he stilled his hands. Standing before Ran and the Guardsmen, looking like the werfle-draped farm boy he once was and not the man he’d become, he said, “I can’t. It’s not tame. It’s just…” His eyes slid to the creature. “...taken a liking to me.” It was comical, really. His lips twisted into a crooked half-smile and the werfle butted its head against his cheek, forcing him to look back at the Guard. To his surprise, instead of the bemusement and disdain he expected, Ran’s men looked tense. Their knuckles were white on their stun rifles, and they shifted on their feet. Alaric heard a few gulps, and he swore they’d all become paler. The men looked terrified…as everyone had seemed to be of Solomon. Werfles’ venom was deadly, but they were hardly ever aggressive if unprovoked, and in any event, the most likely target of a bite was Alaric himself.

      “We could stun it,” Ran said.

      Alaric’s embarrassment turned to fury in a heartbeat. Stunning a werfle, even at the lowest power, would kill it. Trying to stun the werfle, missing and hitting Alaric’s head, might kill him.

      “I’m sure that isn’t necessary,” Alaric said, taking a step toward Ran. “Let the creature live. God knows, we could use the pest control around here.”

      All but one of Ran’s guard took a step back, rifles sagging in their arms, their eyes sliding to one another. Alaric did his best to keep his expression neutral, but he was becoming alarmed by their fear.

      “Commander, sir,” said the one man holding his ground, a Corporal. “We have orders from Archbishop Sato that werfles and cats are to be left alone.”

      Alaric tilted his head at the archbishop’s name. Archbishop Sato was a hero of Revelation. Over one hundred years ago, he’d been the first to discover that the time gates had become sentient. He’d placed a bomb aboard Luddeccea’s gate, delaying the gate’s eventual attack, and enabling a crack team of Guardsmen to slip aboard and disable the gate’s remaining defenses in a dramatic suicide mission. That, in turn, had allowed the Guard ships to strike before any more fission bombs could be dropped. The archbishop was undeniably a genius, and was in charge of monitoring Luddeccea’s supercomputer, making sure that it never developed its own sentience. He was also over 122 years old. Religious Luddecceans like Volka believed Sato survived because he was a saint. Alaric suspected it was Republic technology combined with the sense to be apolitical. The only controversial stance the old man had taken was to allow exceptionally talented weere into the priesthood.

      At mention of the archbishop’s name, Ran’s frame sagged slightly. To Alaric, he said, “You can keep it.” His eyes narrowed on the werfle. “Or it can keep you. Come with me.”

      The guard divided into two neat lines and Ran led Alaric between them. A few minutes later, they were marching across the gravel that surrounded the prison to two armored vans. Ran hesitated a moment and then said, “Darmadi rides alone with me.” A few moments later, they were alone in the back of the first vehicle. Sitting across from Alaric, Ran gripped his pistol tight, his gaze occasionally going to Wild Solomon, still on Alaric’s shoulder. Through the phaser-proof glass to the front seat, Alaric could see two of Ran’s escorts. He heard another man hop onto the wide, back bumper, and knew that exit was guarded, too. Not that he was thinking of escape.

      As soon as the engine started, something in Ran appeared to snap. His lip curled up and he turned to Alaric. “I didn’t turn you in.”

      Alaric raised a brow, curious at the confession of innocence juxtaposed with the anger.

      “You had everything!” Ran continued. “A beautiful colonel’s daughter, two healthy sons, a career most would envy…and then you do this.”

      Alaric’s skin heated. “I did not collaborate with the Libertian rebels, Ran, and I had no part in the attack at the inn.”

      “You think I don’t know that!” Ran said. “I would have turned you in if I’d thought you had. But it looks bad, Darmadi. Why didn’t you tell command you were the weere bitch’s patron?”

      Oddly, it took a moment for Alaric to tie Volka to the slur “weere bitch.” When he pieced it together, he wasn’t angry. Instead, a wry smile crept across his lips. “I was not her patron.”

      Ran hissed, “Don’t lie. We know you were involved.”

      “We were involved, but I was never her patron,” Alaric responded, leaving out that Volka had refused his patronage. No need to expose that old wound.

      “She and the android saved you from the rubble after the attack!” Ran protested.

      So she had. Alaric almost smiled. “I believe she is still fond of me.”

      Ran stared at him a beat too long and then looked away. He huffed. “Of course, you weren’t her patron. You didn’t have to offer her money; she did it all for love.” He shook his head again. “You had everything.”

      Suddenly very tired of talking to Ran, Alaric’s eyes drifted to the front window, past the guards, and out to the street. In front of their vehicle was a truck with an open back. The cargo made his chest tighten. Corpses of men, women, and children were stacked like wood, many of them not even shrouded. “What has happened here?” he whispered.

      “A lot,” Ran said, his own voice tired. “When you were arrested, there was already tension in No Weere. Some weere were murdered by the Guard under orders of Counselor Abraham. Among them were Counselor Abraham’s own weere and her whelp.”

      Alaric remembered Volka’s assertion that the reason there was a warrant for her arrest was because she knew about Abraham’s “weere whelp.”

      Ran continued, his voice tired, “The weere believed it was his miracle child.”

      On Luddeccea, it was believed that weere and humans couldn’t conceive. Alaric had that misconception destroyed during his time with Volka, but he hadn’t thought that weere could carry a human-weere fetus to term. On Libertas, the system’s other self-sufficient colony, where Luddeccea central control was weaker, weere-human hybrids were relatively common. Travel was so restricted between the two planets that the truth hadn’t filtered to Luddeccea—but Ran knew.

      Ran scowled and ran a hand through his hair. “I guess it could have been his. Anyway, his crackdown caused riots. And then, maybe to deflect from the chaos that his personal life had caused, Abraham released intel from the Galactic Republic that the werfles are sentient and capable of rudimentary mind control.”

      Alaric went rigid, remembering Volka saying her werfle had spoken to her.

      Ran’s eyes narrowed on Solomon, and the creature slithered from Alaric’s shoulder to the seat beside him. Smiling tightly at Alaric, Ran added, “Abraham framed it as demon possession, of course.”

      “It’s madness either way,” Alaric said.

      The tight smile melted. “Some of the weere started claiming they could hear the werfles talking,” Ran said, and Alaric felt the hairs on the back of his neck rise. Ran continued, “Abraham declared a bounty on all werfles and cats, too, for good measure.”

      “The rats…” Alaric murmured.

      Ran nodded. “Their population exploded, but even before that, people started getting sick. Abraham blamed demons and the unfaithful. He condemned the premier for not eradicating critters like yours and claimed that was the reason for the plague.”

      Alaric felt himself go cold. He’d read of Europeans killing cats during the Black Death back on old Earth. His people rejected the excesses of the Republic, but they were educated; they had radios, cars, antibiotics—he hadn’t realized they could slide so quickly into dangerous superstitions.

      Shaking his head, Ran said, “The premier, the counselors, and the high-ranking clergy were busy trying to enforce a quarantine of New Prime, while getting themselves out, of course. Abraham tried to stage a coup during their relocation, but most of us in the Guard, we resisted. Things were tense. We didn’t know if we’d be labeled traitors later.”

      “You prevailed,” Alaric said.

      Ran met his eyes. “Not really. The plague killed Abraham, the premier, and half of those who fled. They spread the disease to the Northwest Province. Might take care of the rebel groups known to hide out in the caves there.” He shrugged. “Or maybe not. Seems to have run its course.”

      “Who is Premier now?” Alaric asked.

      Ran sighed. “No one, yet.”

      “Then who is in charge?”

      Ran looked out the window. “During the worst of the plague, Archbishop Sato refused to be evacuated. He went on television and came out into public, a werfle in his arms, and urged the people to let them do their jobs and kill the rats.” His eyes returned to Alaric, and he said earnestly, “Archbishop Sato was why I didn’t join Abraham’s coup. Abraham, his fellow counselors, the premier, the clergy, they abandoned the people of New Prime behind a quarantine I was ordered to enforce while my men died around me. His Holiness stayed with us to face the demon-spawned plague.” His eyes fell on Solomon and became hard.

      “Werfles aren’t demons,” Alaric said.

      Lifting his chin, Ran said, “The intelligence from the Galactic Republic is that they are sentient and capable of some very demonic things.”

      “You can’t believe that,” Alaric protested.

      “The archbishop says they should not be harmed. I follow the orders of Archbishop Kenji Sato, and so I won’t harm them.” Ran’s eyes fell on Solomon again, and he frowned. “But I’m not sure what I believe.”

      It was only then that Alaric realized he’d unconsciously put a protective hand on Wild Solomon. Kneading its claws, the werfle gazed at Ran. It yawned and licked a glistening amber bead of venom from its fangs.
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      “Carl,” Sixty said, static flaring along his spinal column. “What is happening on Luddeccea?”

      Sitting on Volka’s shoulders, the werfle’s ears went flat against his head.

      James answered, “An extremely virulent version of pneumonic plague has set upon New Prime.”

      “What does that have to do with Carl?” Volka whispered.

      Carl bowed his head. “They declared a bounty on werfles and cats.”

      “That’s terrible,” Volka gasped.

      The static under 6T9’s skin calmed. “I’m sorry,” he said, calling on the same programming he’d use for a human who’d suffered a loss, knowing both how inadequate the words were and how important they were to say.

      Carl leaped from Volka’s shoulder to the floor. He rose to his back four legs and looked between Volka and Sixty. “None of The One actually died. All my kin were able to slip through the wave to new hosts. But werfles are our favorite hosts and Luddeccea is our favorite world.”

      Sixty kneeled beside the small creature. Losing one’s world…that would be like losing memories of Eliza. “Carl,” he said. “If there aren’t any werfles left on Luddeccea…we’ll…we’ll ...” What would they do? 6T9’s Q-comm hummed. Hadn’t he made a decision to do what Eliza would do? His eyes slid to Volka. Eliza’s inclinations had served him well so far. Q-comm sparking, he said, “We’ll repopulate Luddeccea with your hosts. There are enough werfles chasing rats aboard ships and stations to be a healthy genetic pool. And enough wild places where their population could hide.” As soon as he said it, he felt dizzy. Was he really suggesting going back to Luddeccean space? If he went back, Volka would go back, and she could die.

      Sitting on her heels beside Sixty, Volka declared, “I’ll help too!” Just as he’d suspected.

      Carl looked between them, ears still flat. “You haven’t been listening to what James has been saying.”

      Sixty’s brow furrowed. “Of course we have.”

      Carl’s tiny chest expanded and fell with a barely audible sigh. “You haven’t been understanding, then.”

      “The werfles are fine,” James rumbled, standing above them. “It’s the humans who aren’t doing well.”

      “They attacked,” Carl said. “We retaliated.”

      “How?” Volka said.

      “With the plague,” said James.

      Gasping, Volka bolted upright. 6T9 remained frozen beside Carl, unable to believe what his Q-comm was telling him.

      “They have since backed down,” Carl said. “There is an uneasy armistice.”

      “You can create plagues?” Sixty asked, bewildered.

      Carl’s eyes narrowed. “We can manipulate the waves that make up all matter in the universe. Of course we can mutate a bacterium and make it more deadly.”

      “It wiped out over half of New Prime if our spies are correct,” said James.

      Volka staggered back. “Carl…that is…that is…You didn’t need to do that. You just said that none of your kind died! You could have reasoned…or…or…”

      Carl drew himself up to his hindmost paw pairs. “Or what? Turned the other cheek? Volka, wisdom isn’t in passivity or force. Wisdom is in knowing the time for each. In the face of genocide of my host species, I would choose force again.”

      Still sitting on his heels, Q-comm blazing white, Sixty tried to grasp it all. He could not kill humans, or any self-aware life form. He didn’t want to kill either, even creatures that weren’t self-aware. For a millisecond, an image of Captain McNamara of the Copperhead flickered in his circuits, and his annoying head tic returned. He shook himself. “Half of Prime…That’s more than a million humans, Carl.”

      Carl met Sixty’s eyes. “Overwhelming force is sometimes kinder, Sixty. The dramatic outcome helped convince Archbishop Kenji Sato to put an end to the culling of my host’s kind. Had he waited, I, and like-minded members of The One, wouldn’t have been able to persuade the others to end the plague. All humans on Luddeccea would have been wiped out.”

      “Kenji would never give in to an alien species,” James rumbled.

      Remembering his recent encounter with Kenji, Sixty said to James, “Kenji didn’t turn me in, and he knew who—what—I am.” Kenji knew Sixty wasn’t just an android, he was a sex ‘bot. Sex was for procreation only in Luddeccean orthodoxy. To Kenji, Sixty should have been the devil squared.

      Scowling, James shook his head. “Never. He’s—”

      James’s eyes slid over Volka and his own entourage, and 6T9 mentally finished the sentence. Human. Human programming was more difficult to change. Still, Eliza had been a fundamentalist until several of her children had died from a disease that wouldn’t have been deadly with Republic treatments. Dramatic circumstances, Eliza had told him, either solidified beliefs or convinced one to change them.

      Swiveling his upper body to face James, Carl asked, “So, taking you to System 33 will help ease Republic fears that The One will attack here?”

      “It might,” James replied.

      “I’d have to consult with Sundancer first,” Carl replied. “And I’d like 6T9 and Volka to be allowed to go back to the asteroid.”

      That sounded agreeable to 6T9, but Volka stepped forward. “If I go back to the asteroid, and something happens to you, Carl, no one else will be able to communicate with Sundancer…well…not as well.”

      Carl swiveled back to her. “Pet, you don’t—”

      Putting her hands on her hips, Volka declared, “I’m not your pet, and I’m not doing it for you.” She waved a hand at James’s entourage. “I don’t want these people stranded somewhere because you’re injured.”

      “I’ll go too,” Sixty found himself saying. Although he wanted to go to System 33 even less than he wanted to go to Luddeccea. In their brief conversation, Kenji had told Sixty that he had Noa’s left flank. Noa’s left flank, if she were standing on Earth’s North Pole, facing Luddeccea, was System 33. He could only hypothesize that something…undesirable…had occurred there, and it had caught the attention of Luddeccean intelligence.

      Volka muttered, “And if Sundancer has one of her nightmares, and you were hurt, I’d need to be there to snap her out of it.”

      Sixty felt static along every inch of his synth skin at the mention of Sundancer’s nightmares.  Something that was undesirable to the Republic and Luddeccea had to be terrifying…would it be as terrifying as the source of Sundancer’s dreams? He swallowed. “I suppose there is some reason you can’t utilize Time Gate 33?”

      “I’ll let her tell you that story herself,” James said. He looked over Sixty’s shoulder and nodded. The glass airlock doors slid open, and a woman entered. She was dressed casually in “jeans,” the traditional trousers of the old United States that were currently experiencing a revival, and a fitted sweater that highlighted a form that was at once voluptuous and athletic. Her skin was medium-dark, her hair was long and black, and her eyes were a startlingly light hazel. 6T9 wasn’t programmed to respond to “beauty”—all humans were attractive to him, but with his Q-comm he could understand intellectually that she was objectively beautiful. Her face was very symmetrical, her skin clear, and her features proportional. All of that might be plastic surgery; however, she didn’t sport any other plastic surgery affectations—she had no fairy wings, elf or animal ears, or a tail. Nor did she have the Lizard Look, or Venus de Willendorf’s figure.

      Taking a sip of her coffee, the woman walked toward them. “It’s very sweet,” she said, as though to herself. And then she looked up at 6T9 and said, “You’re Android General 1!” He blinked, and she smiled wide. “All the androids are talking about it! What you did was very brave—”

      The compliment hit 6T9 like a volt of electricity, but then she continued, “—and how you rescued Sundancer, the alien, and the Luddeccean girl.”

      Emotional responses kicking in, the capillaries in 6T9’s synth skin dilated in his cheeks. “I didn’t so much rescue them as—”

      The woman’s eyes went to Volka. “And there’s Volka, the Luddeccean.” The woman tilted her head, sending long black hair cascading down one shoulder. “You don’t have ethernet.” Her eyes dropped to Volka’s wrist. “Except there. How interesting.” Her words contrasted with her deepening frown, but then she turned to Carl. “And you are the member of The One, Carl Sagan. You’re cute…aren’t you?” The last was said with a great deal of uncertainty. Looking to James, she said, “His small stature, the relative largeness of his eyes compared to his head, and overall neotenous appearance…those are what ‘cute’ is, correct?”

      Volka scowled at Carl, and James frowned, as did every human in his escort.

      Carl raised several paws to his chest. “Indeed, I am objectively adorable.”

      “Adorable is as adorable does,” Volka muttered, but the new woman nodded earnestly at Carl and offered her coffee cup to him. “Is this sweet?” she asked. “It has two sugars and one cream, and I think it is very sweet, but I have so little to go on.”

      Carl’s upper half pulled back from the cup. “I can’t drink that drek.”

      “Oh, right, it’s poison to you,” she exclaimed. “Biological organisms are so varied and complex!”

      6T9 blinked, his Q-comm humming. Her commentary identified her as an android, one that probably had less real-world experience than the BOY4 model he just rescued. “It’s nice to meet you. I’m not familiar with your model number. Is there a name you prefer to go by?” He cast a dirty look at James for not giving him an introduction.

      Her eyes went wide. “Oh, no. I don’t have a model number.”

      “What gate made you?” 6T9 asked. He’d heard there were a few custom models made.

      “I made myself!” she said brightly.

      6T9 took a step back. “You’re an augment?” She must have suffered severe brain trauma.

      The new woman smiled timidly. “No, I am an android. I made myself. I am Time Gate 33.”

      “What does that mean?” Volka asked.

      “My mind is literally Time Gate 33. Like Android General 1—” Time Gate 33 looked at 6T9 and nodded in a way that was unfamiliar to 6T9. His Q-comm sparked. Respectful, the nod was respectful. His cheek capillaries dilated again, and one of the Fleet personnel coughed. Time Gate 33 continued, “I have a Q-comm chip. However, Android General 1’s server is either a partitioned part of a larger machine, or a server stack in an unused corner of Time Gate 1. The General has many gifts—”

      There was another cough from the Fleet personnel.

      “However, he doesn’t have access to the systems aboard Time Gate 1. He can’t lower the lights on the promenade, tell you the air pressure in the airlocks, or which support androids are scheduled for maintenance. My Q-comm is connected to all of Time Gate 33’s functioning systems and I am able to access them…” She frowned. “…even if at the moment I can’t control them.”

      Sixty rolled back on his feet. She would have almost limitless computing power even if she didn’t command the station’s systems.

      Time Gate 33 continued, “I had a Q-comm chip aboard Time Gate 1 so that my crew could always be in contact with the rest of the galaxy.”

      6T9 nodded. It was typical for ships on long-range journeys to have a Q-comm connection with one of the gates so they were always in communication with the Republic.

      Touching her chest, she added, “I decided to put that chip in this body so that I could always share with these men which of my systems are currently operational,” she waved a hand at the Galactic Fleet personnel and James, “and so I could physically assist them with the rescue mission.”

      It made perfect sense. If she had left her second chip aboard Gate 1, the team could have communicated with her by relaying messages through James since his Q-comm, like 6T9’s, was connected to servers there. But sometimes Gate 1 wasn’t in the mood to relay messages, and sometimes even a millisecond delay could result in life or death for human companions. Also, her android form would doubtlessly be strong, fast, durable, stunner proof, and possibly capable of operating in a vacuum. The choice of an aesthetically pleasing female could be soothing to men and women in stressful situations. It was thoughtful of the gate to choose it.

      “Rescue mission?” Volka asked.

      “I…my time gate form was sabotaged,” said Time Gate 33. She touched her head. “The partner for this Q-comm chip aboard my gate form went offline for several hours. During that time, twenty-seven members of my crew were lost, and the remaining three are in terrible danger.” Her lip trembled, like she might cry. Touching her cheeks, she murmured, “When I think of them, my facial muscles hurt, and my eyes get wet.”

      6T9’s lips parted. She cared about humans. Not all AI did.

      “Who sabotaged you?” asked Volka, ears coming forward.

      Time Gate 33’s gaze became distant. “Not who. What.”

      Looking over 6T9’s shoulder, James said, “May we take this elsewhere? The walls have ears…and eyes.”

      6T9 followed his gaze to the glass doors of the berth’s entrance. The presence of Fleet in envirosuits was drawing attention. A little robot, no higher than his knee, with a singular, mounted, blinking camera eye was hovering just past the glass, and a human he recognized from the press pool.

      “Volka, will Sundancer allow them aboard?” Sixty asked.

      Volka’s yellow eyes slid closed. A moment later, she opened them. “Let’s go.”
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      Volka walked up the airtight plastitubing that led to Sundancer. It was set at a forty-five-degree angle and had rings of some sort of polymer at three hands-breadth intervals along its length. The rings were keeping the tube from collapsing, but Sixty had explained that they’d cinch tight when Sundancer pulled from the gate, and the whole tube would withdraw. 6T9’s precious package was tucked under one arm, the yellow sulfur clouds of Copernicus City stretching beneath her. It would be nice to paint them, but Sixty, the woman or android who said she was Time Gate 33, a group of Galactic Republic Fleet Marines, and James—who she still wasn’t sure was machine or man but was as chilly and frightening as she’d grown up believing machines to be—were at her heels.

      Using the plastitubing rings for grips, Carl was crawling on the wall next to her. Volka was trying to ignore him.

      Over half of the city of New Prime was dead. Carl had said that Alaric and Mr. Darmadi were fine, but that didn’t make her feel better. She thought of the members of her church, of the rat sellers at the weere market, and the kindly human man at the art supply store who sold Mr. Darmadi paints and gave Volka odd-sized pieces of canvas, brushes, and paint tubes that had been damaged in shipping. Her fingers curled into fists, and she blurted, “You can’t tell me that innocents haven’t been killed.”

      “No, I can’t, Volka,” Carl agreed. He sighed. “I can say the over 3 million cats and werfles that were euthanized, burned alive, and drowned were innocent. As were the humans who were murdered and beaten for not handing over the creatures.”

      Volka’s heart stopped, her stomach felt like lead.

      “It ended quickly. If it had dragged on, and more of our hosts had been killed, The One would have eradicated all the humans on Luddeccea and possibly in the entire system.”

      Volka swallowed. “You would do that?”

      “I don’t want to do that,” Carl said. “We didn’t extract an eye-for-an-eye Volka. As soon as our hosts were safe, we neutralized the bacteria and ended the plague.”

      They reached the end of the tube, and Volka touched Sundancer’s pearlescent hull. She simultaneously felt like crying and screaming and knew the ship must know it but couldn’t hide her conflict and despair—at The One and her own people. The ship warmed beneath her fingers, and the smooth surface retracted like an iris opening. Behind her, members of Fleet let out soft sounds of surprise. Volka climbed the last of the steep grade into the ship and found Sundancer’s interior had become dark blue-gray, like a Luddeccean sky in a storm. Sundancer’s surfaces inside and out were usually pearlescent.

      The ship wasn’t like anything in any of Volka’s sci-fi books. There was no furniture, no computer monitors, dials or buttons, not even any light bulbs. The ship had a large room they thought of as “the bridge,” and a hallway with a few tiny rooms in the back, with iris doors like the one they just entered, and all similarly empty. There were no “facilities” as such, but Sixty had suggested they put a standalone toilet and charging station in the back. They hadn’t gotten around to it though because trips aboard Sundancer were practically instantaneous. There were no windows, but sometimes Sundancer let them see through her walls.

      The Fleet team filed in behind Volka, and the camouflage that had been light gray in the terminal seemed to absorb the blue-gray color within the ship. Volka should probably be more interested in Time Gate 33—but her eyes kept returning to the female soldier. Volka had met Admiral Noa Sato, James’s wife, but that had been different. Noa had worn dress grays or formal attire every time Volka had seen her, and she hadn’t been toting a phaser rifle like this woman. Women serving in combat was barbaric to every Luddeccean she knew, except maybe Alaric. But even he said they’d be too distracting and that their lack of upper body strength would put them at a disadvantage. Volka remembered the captain of the Copperhead in her suit—maybe with technology, strength wouldn’t be an issue? She surreptitiously studied the woman to see if she was augmented. She was tall, but most people in the Republic were tall to Volka. The female soldier was slenderer than the males. She had short blonde hair, dark skin, and almond-shaped blue eyes that were almost violet. She was striking, but her comrades didn’t seem distracted by her at the moment. They were forming lines along the walls, all of them facing Volka.

      One of the Fleet men said, “I don’t detect any local ether.”

      “Sundancer doesn’t have a computer,” Sixty answered, stepping into the ship right behind James. “Not that we know of, anyway.”

      Carl hopped aboard. The “iris” opening closed, and the color on the walls swirled like an angry sea. In her stomach, Volka felt a painful swell of sad emotions that weren’t just her own.

      “What is happening to the walls?” James asked Sixty.

      Sixty didn’t have an emotional connection to Sundancer. Sending a panicked glance to Volka, he said, “I…errr…Volka?”

      Volka’s shoulders fell. “Sundancer knows I’m angry at Carl and doesn’t know how to respond.” The poor ship was confused and hurt.

      “How do you control her?” asked one of the men in a booming voice. Maybe it was because he was human, but not an obvious enemy like the pirates. Maybe it was the authority in his voice and that he was loud; maybe it was that Sundancer’s bridge was packed tighter than it had ever been with too many people with too many smells. Or maybe Volka was feeling claustrophobic, but she automatically shifted her gaze to the floor, shuffled backward, and her ears curled submissively.

      “Excuse me, ma’am,” he said in a softer voice. “Didn’t mean to frighten you.”

      Volka wanted to deny she was frightened, but her ears had curled, and she might as well have screamed.

      Stepping forward, he held out his hand. “We weren’t introduced. I’m Lieutenant Young.”

      Volka took it and forced herself to look up at him. He wasn’t Sixty good looking, but he was handsome the way men of the Republic tended to be—tall, medium-dark skin, brown eyes, straight teeth, and no skin ailments. “Volka. Please call me Volka,” she said.

      He shook her hand firmly but not too hard and smiled at her, the skin crinkling at the corners of his eyes when he did. The sort of nice smile she got from humans in the Republic and not on Luddeccea. “Nice to meet you, Volka.”

      Releasing her hand, he spoke at a more appropriate volume. “How do you control it?”

      “We don’t control her,” Volka said.

      The smile on Lieutenant Young’s face vanished.

      Volka continued, “We—Carl and I—let her know what we’re feeling and where we want to go, and she either helps us or doesn’t.” Sundancer couldn’t communicate with Sixty. Her telepathy didn’t extend to non-carbon-based life forms, which was, in Carl’s words, “Ironic because she isn’t a carbon-based life form.”

      Frowning, Lieutenant Young said, “Doesn’t sound reliable.”

      Volka’s ears swiveled forward. Just because Sundancer had her say in the missions she went on didn’t make her unreliable precisely, and she’d saved Volka’s life. Irritation made her lose all deference she’d been trained to have toward humans. “She didn’t go through boot camp, sir,” Volka quipped back. The words rolled off her tongue so smoothly her ears went back in shock at her own gall.

      For a moment, Young’s face went blank. Sixty grinned. Some of the Fleet personnel, including the woman, chuckled. The woman with the coffee who said she was Time Gate 33 just took a long sip and stared at everyone. James lifted an eyebrow at Sixty, but otherwise, his face remained impassive.

      A smile cracked on Young’s lips. “I guess not, but we need to depend on her for the mission we’re about to undertake, ma’am.”

      He called her ma’am. Humans of the Republic were so…different.

      “Let me give you a quick introduction to my team.” He ran through their names and each man stepped forward. Volka knew she’d never remember them, except the woman. The lieutenant introduced her as Doctor Zhen Walker. Even Luddeccea had a few female doctors for women’s things, but a woman that was a doctor and a soldier? It boggled Volka’s mind and made her feel small in more than the literal sense.

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “May we discuss this mission and our part in it? Time Gate 33, perhaps you’d like to begin?”

      The woman with the coffee looked around the room, and her eyes stopped on Sixty. “I—my other physical form—before it became a time gate, was a spaceship that traveled ten years at near light speed with a human crew aboard. When we reached System 33, I was reassembled as a colonization class time gate, Android General 1.”

      Wincing, Sixty said, “Please refer to me as 6T9 or Sixty.”

      Time Gate 33’s eyes got wide. “A nickname! I’d be honored to call you that, Android General 1, sir. I mean, Sixty!” She looked heavenward. “My title is unwieldy, too. Perhaps everyone could call me…Trina.” She got a faraway look in her eyes. “It is short for Trinity. And appropriate because thirty-three is a trinity of elevens. John, the crew’s lead engineer, called me that. He always took care of me.” Her voice rose and became more urgent. “One time, when we were hit by an asteroid in deep space, he repaired my exterior hull in vacuum. He worked over thirty-six hours with the repair  androidroid fleet fixing me, without sleep. He’s one of the three that survived.”

      “To help him, we need to hear more,” Carl said. “Please continue, Trina.” His voice was gentle. Caring. His kind had just been at war with Volka's people. Had they really had to kill so many?

      Trina bit her lip. “Up until recently, everything was going according to plan. I’d just finished the conversion from space ship to gate—though I wasn’t fully operational. My memories from that time are all intact. The Marines have heard the dry details of the story, but maybe if I show you the ether conversations from that time—”

      Everyone aboard Sundancer’s bridge suddenly stood up straighter and got the vacant look in their eyes Volka associated with ether conversations.

      Trina’s brow furrowed, and she said, “So you don’t get left out, Volka.” She waved her hand at Volka’s wrist and Bracelet began projecting a holo; it was of the back of a man floating inside an enormous corridor. He had longish, wavy salt and pepper hair, wore blue coveralls, and was gazing out a window at what Volka realized was the opposite side of a giant ring in space. “The conversion is complete, Trina. You are a thing of beauty.”

      “Thank you, John,” said Trina’s voice in Bracelet’s speaker.

      John brought his legs up, pushed off the window, spun in midair, and floated toward the camera. He had a neat beard, laugh and worry lines, and Volka would guess his age as being around forty-five. He looked…almost normal, like a Luddeccean, not an augmented member of the Republic. Only the neural port in his temple gave him away. Winking at the camera, he said, “Of course, you’ve always been beautiful to me, Trina.”

      “Thank you, John.”

      A female voice that was not Trina’s said in obvious frustration, “The shuttle is returning from that asteroid site. Alcocer's envirosuit was compromised and the rest of the team didn’t follow protocols. I’m going to have to quarantine them all. Isaacs is setting up Airlock 4 as a quarantine zone. You don’t have any business in that airlock, do you?”

      “Nope, Doc, I’m good,” John responded. His lips didn’t move. Volka blinked. He was talking over the ether.

      “Good,” said the “Doc” curtly.

      Trina’s voice said, “John, the diagnostic of my grav plating is complete. Everything appears to be operational. You did a great reinstall.”

      “Thanks, Trina. Let’s turn them on.”

      Another voice came over the holo. This one masculine and angry. “Lang is quarantining us!”

      Floating gently to the floor, John replied, “It’s standard protocol when a suit is compromised, Clive.”

      “We haven’t been wearing environment suits planet-side in over three months!” the man who must have been Clive retorted.

      “But scans reported that the fish around the crash site were—”

      “This is not Earth, and the aquatic life is not fish,” Clive interjected.

      Pinching the bridge of his nose, John gritted his teeth. “The aquatic life around the crash site is dying. The asteroid is not even from this system, and local life is belly up. Lang was right; you needed the envirosuits.”

      “Maybe, but we don’t need to be quarantined for six weeks. It will slow down bringing the gate’s bands online.”

      “You can command the repair drones etherly,” John replied.

      “So you agree with her?” Clive demanded.

      “Yeah, at this point—”

      John’s head jerked back and then he muttered, “Right back at you, Buddy.”

      Trina—the real Trina, or woman Trina—whispered in Volka’s ear, “Clive and John were not really buddies.”

      Volka’s ears flicked at the obvious.

      “Did you already understand that in context?” Trina asked.

      Volka nodded tentatively, not wanting to lie, but also afraid of offending.

      Putting a hand to her lips, Trina whispered, “That’s so amazing!” as though Volka had just solved one of the long squiggly equations in Alaric’s mathematics textbooks.

      In the holo, John touched his neural port. His lips did not move, so Volka understood that when he spoke, it was over the ether. “You okay? I heard there was an accident?”

      A woman responded from off-screen. “Yeah, I’m fine.”

      “That’s Dr. Lisa Alcocer,” Trina whispered to Volka. “She’s in the shuttle, waiting to dock.”

      In the holo, John asked, “How did it happen?”

      “I was wading in the water at the asteroid landing site. A wave knocked me over. Tore my suit on a rock, and water leached in everywhere. I think Clive thought he’d need to do mouth-to-mouth, so he took off his suit helmet. Lang says we didn’t follow proper decon procedures…and…maybe she’s right. Now she’s declaring everyone else potentially contaminated.”

      For a long moment, neither said anything. And then Lisa—Doctor Lisa Alcocer—Volka reminded herself, said, “Thanks for checking up on me. You haven’t ethered me since—”

      “Yeah, well, I don’t want you dead.”

      Volka blinked.

      Trina whispered, “They were lovers, but then she broke up with John to be with Clive.” Volka’s eyes darted to Trina. Scowling at the holo, Trina muttered, “Clive introduced a virus to my systems before launch through sheer carelessness. It took John hours to clean it up.”

      The holo faded, and then to the room at large, Trina said, “After that, things proceeded as normal. Lisa and the other members of the away team attended to what duties they could etherly until they all came down with a fever. They exhibited the symptoms of meningitis, but they seemed to recover…”

      “Seemed?” Sixty asked.

      Trina nodded. “I’ll show you the last ether recording I have just prior to my Q-comm aboard the gate going offline.”

      Hoping she didn’t sound too stupid, Volka asked, “How would a time gate get a bump to the head?” That was how Sixty’s Q-comm went offline.

      “Ah,” said Trina. “I see what you’re asking. The answer is, it was either physically dislodged, or the connecting circuitry that allowed me to connect with all my systems was damaged.” She waved a hand. “Here are the ethernet conversations going on just before it happened.” Bracelet’s holo changed. Volka was looking at John, walking through what looked very much like the Copernicus’s terminal.

      “John,” Lisa’s voice whispered. “Let me out.”

      “Doc Lang’s not done with the vaccine yet.”

      “It was just a mild flu,” Lisa said, her voice low and husky.

      “Meningitis is never just a flu,” John said.

      “Please let me out…I miss you. Remember…” Lisa went on to describe just exactly what she remembered, and Volka’s skin went beet red. It wasn’t anything she hadn’t done, but she’d never talk about it. Someone cleared his throat, and she smelled arousal in the air.

      In the holo, John snapped, “As you told me yourself, you’re with Clive now.”

      “Clive won’t mind sharing.”

      Beside her, Sixty hummed with approval, and Volka flushed more.

      In the holo, John stopped walking. “Goodbye,” he said.

      Next to Volka, Trina whispered, “Some gates have told me humans’ sexual appetites are insatiable, but he resisted her.” It was impossible not to note the pride in her voice.

      John took a few deep breaths, ran a hand through his hair, tapped his temple, and said, “Hey, Doc…are you sure that Lisa is really over her meningitis?”

      “I think so, why?” Doctor Lang replied. Volka knew she was hearing only the doctor’s thoughts, but she swore she could hear the woman pinching her lips.

      “She just contacted me etherly, and…she wasn’t herself. I know you said that mental confusion is a side effect, but if she’s cured, that should be over with by now, right?”

      There was a moment of silence, and then Lang responded, “It’s a new pathogen, so anything’s possible. The vaccine isn’t going well—”

      The holo disappeared, and Trina said, “That is the last memory I have until this happened.” Another holo sprang from Bracelet’s surface. Volka found herself staring at John. He was in a small enclosed space lit by red light and had some sort of tablet in his hand. “Trina, are you there?” he whispered at the tablet. Trina’s voice came from a speaker. “I’m here, John. Thank you for relocating my Q-comm.”

      John put a finger to his lips. “Isaacs, Lang, and I have to go planet-side. We’ll last longer down there than up here, as long as we stay away from the crash site. We won’t be able to ether you…they’d track the signals. It’s taken you over, Trina.”

      “Physically it may inhabit my body, but it doesn’t control my soul. That belongs to you,” Trina replied.

      Volka’s eyes slid to Trina. The time gate’s eyes were intent on John, her face glowing in the holo light.

      John bit his lip. “Take care, Trina.”

      “I’ll get help for you, John,” Trina replied in the holo. “I promise.”

      Beside Volka, Trina repeated softly, “I promise.”

      Flickering in the holo drew Volka’s eyes. Behind John, a door had slid open and an unfamiliar man said, “We have to go.”

      A woman with her black hair cut in a short, severe style said, “John, if it gets in the vents…”

      Spinning, John ran through the sliding doors. They slid closed behind him, and for the first time, Volka realized that they were doors to a small craft. On its side, it said, “Escape Pod 1.” The pod lifted, and an enormous hatch opened in front of it. It blasted off toward a planet that looked like a blue marble…it could have been Luddeccea or Earth.

      The holo flickered off.

      In the real world, Trina said, “I called for help right away.”

      James spoke up. “We had a team deployed within hours. We tried to use Trina’s gate even though the preliminary diagnostics of the central ring’s time bands hadn’t been completed. With lives at stake, and a potential unknown enemy, we ran the risk of our ship not arriving…We almost made it…” His eyes got distant. “We could see the planet below…but the timefield bubble became unstable. We just barely managed an emergency jump to a different gate.” He grimaced. “It was too small for our ship, and we fried that time gate’s bands in the process. Worse, by trying to jump before Time Gate 33 was fully operational, we damaged Trina’s time bands as well…it will take years to reach her at near light speeds.”

      “The human survivors have a month at best,” Trina said. She waved her hand and another holo appeared above Bracelet. This one was a star map. “We are here,” Trina said, pointing to a star. “And I am, well, here, but also, here at S33O4…”

      Volka’s ears flicked, translating the Republic’s system for naming the vast number of planets and systems it controlled. S33 was System 33, and O4 was the fourth orbital ring from the system’s sun.

      Bracelet’s holo flared larger until the flickering light took up half the bridge. Trina pointed to a tiny dot near a yellow star. The dot expanded, becoming a blue planet with white clouds, like Earth or Luddeccea. Orbiting the planet was a single moon and the shimmering ring of a time gate. “That’s me,” said Trina, pointing to the gate.

      Over the holo, James’s eyes met Volka’s. “Will Sundancer—”

      The scene shimmered in Volka’s vision. James, Trina, Sixty, and all the rest becoming light. She gasped. Looked down…and she was light, too. Sundancer was transporting them through time and space, faster-than-light.

      A moment later, they were solid again and on Sundancer’s bridge. Volka had barely taken a breath when one wall and part of the floor became transparent. The entire party appeared to be standing in empty space above a blue marble of a planet—it was S33O4. In the distance was a time gate. All the other time gates Volka had seen had lights flickering all around their rings, and they were always busy with spaceship traffic. There were no spaceships orbiting this gate, and no lights flickered in its ring.

      “What happened?” Young exclaimed.

      “We’re in System 33,” said James.

      “Something’s not right,” Carl murmured, dropping to all ten legs and hopping between the booted feet of the Republic soldiers toward the wall closest to the gate.

      The hairs on the back of Volka’s neck rose, though she couldn’t say why.

      “We should be on the other side of the planet!” Trina exclaimed. “They’ll see us!”

      Volka’s bracelet began beeping, and then the device exclaimed, “Ms. Volka, we are receiving an emergency hail.”

      All the humans turned toward Volka, and her ears went back.

      “I’m getting a hail too,” James said.

      “Same,” said Young. There were more murmurs of “same” around the bridge.

      Eyes narrowed, Young said to Trina, “I thought you said your crew was lost!”

      “Don’t answer them!” said Trina.

      “The hell I won’t answer,” Young replied.

      “Wait!” said James, holding out a hand. Young’s head jerked in his direction, his face furious.

      “An unknown enemy may have taken over the gate,” James said. “It could transmit a virus to your neural interfaces.”

      Volka blinked. She had been taught on Luddeccea that machines controlled humans via the ethernet connections to their minds. Sixty had explained to her, “No, the human mind is too complex. However, viruses can be transmitted over the ether, and they can give humans a headache.” He’d grimaced. “And they can give androids a figurative headache as well. Imagine a cat video playing on loop as an overlay all day…okay, you can’t imagine it, but it is annoying, trust me. But even those viruses aren’t common. Local ethernet hubs monitor the ether for viruses and scrub them. The gates are the most powerful hubs in the Republic, so a computer virus coming through the gates hasn’t happened in nearly one hundred years, four months, and three days. It is regularly attempted, however, by would-be revolutionaries, but more often by pranksters. The most famous case being the Iktomi Uncollective’s attempt to launch a modern-day holo hamster dance over the…” He had winced and rubbed the bridge of his nose. “I’m sorry. I didn’t mean for that to turn into a data dump.”

      In the present, James said to Trina, “I’m sorry, but you’ve said yourself you’re not in control of all your systems. I don’t trust your ether.”

      “No offense taken,” Trina said.

      James’s eyes came back to Volka. “Volka, your bracelet ethernet is the safest option. Will you answer?”

      Volka’s ears went back, and her heart thumped fast. “It won’t hurt her, will it?”

      James blinked.

      A man taking off his pack said, “Go ahead, Volka. I can run a scan on your device as soon as you’re done.”

      Bowing her head, Volka whispered, “Answer please, Bracelet.”

      There was a crackle, and a voice that was not Bracelet’s said, “Unknown ship, unknown ship, please come in.”

      Volka’s ears went forward. She recognized the voice. “Clive!”

      “This is Doctor Clive Wong. Who am I speaking to?”

      Carl Sagan hissed.

      “I thought you said Clive Wong was dead,” Young accused Trina.

      “I…” Trina stammered.

      Volka started to give her name. “This is…”

      A feeling hit Volka in the stomach so hard it felt like a fist. Don’t tell him your name…

      Volka blubbered a lie. “This is Margaret Wolf, Mr. Wong, from um, System 11 aboard an experimental Republic ship. How are you?”

      “Better since you showed up. We’re having trouble with our time bands. We could really use some help. Don’t suppose you’ve got some band engineers?” Volka’s ears started flicking madly. There was something wrong with Clive…or his voice…

      “Sure do!” said Young.

      “We’ll open Airlock 5 for you,” Clive continued.

      Carl Sagan’s necklace crackled. “May we have a visual?” he asked, hopping over to Volka.

      “Of course,” Wong replied, and an instant later, a holo appeared above Bracelet.

      A man appeared. He had straight black hair, a strong jaw, and broad shoulders—the picture of authority. He smiled at whatever was acting as a camera. All the hairs on Volka’s head rose. She started to tremble.

      Carl squeaked plaintively. The floor beneath them began to shake.

      “Won’t you please come aboard? We can fill you in on all that happened then,” Clive continued. His smile widened. “We really want to get our time gate working.”

      “Don’t go aboard,” Trina whispered.

      “Who was that?” Clive asked.

      Young spun to Trina. “Why not?” And then he looked down at his feet. “Why is the ship shaking?”

      Volka met his eyes, but before she could answer, Young and everyone assembled turned back to light. A moment later, Sundancer’s bridge was completely dark, but Volka could feel insects crawling over her in the black. Around her, humans screamed.
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      It was dark before the van halted. Peering out the window, Alaric saw treetops, and above them stars as brilliant as on his family’s farm and the old time gate, lights blinking on the broken ring. There had been priests aboard it since Revelation, constantly monitoring it for signs of sentience. The stars and the lights in the time gate weren’t as bright in New Prime. They’d left the city behind. Were they going to shoot him and leave his body in a ditch? His eyes darted suspiciously to Ran, but his former first was staring out the window.

      The back door of the van opened suddenly, and Alaric found himself staring at two new guards and a weere priest in long green robes just two steps behind them. This priest was much more human than Ze’ev had been. His thin white hair was curly, and his ears were completely human, but his eyes were outlined by the same natural, nearly-black pigmentation Volka had.

      “Hands up and get out!!” one of the guards ordered.

      Solomon jumped onto Alaric’s shoulders. The guard’s face reddened, and he adjusted his grip on the rifle. Did he believe the stories of werfles’ possession too?

      Raising his arms, Alaric climbed out of the vehicle.

      “He needs handcuffs before he enters,” one of the new guards said.

      Squinting at Solomon, the weere priest said, “He doesn’t need them. He won’t run—”

      “Not worried about him running,” the man replied, the veins on his neck popping.

      “Or attack,” the weere priest said. Speaking gently to the guards, the priest added, “We’ve had a rough time, but Captain Darmadi is on our side.”

      Alaric’s fingers curled above his head. He wasn’t sure if that pronouncement boded good or ill, but the guard lost the frenzied look in his eyes, and his body relaxed just a fraction.

      Focus returning to Alaric, the weere priest smiled, revealing a mouth full of sharp teeth. “The captain just doesn’t know he’s on our side yet.”

      Alaric studied the new weere. He was perhaps in his sixties—an extraordinary age for a weere.

      “Keep your hands up,” said the guard, shifting on his feet.

      Insects and pterys called in the night. Alaric surveyed the road they were on. The pavement was smooth and black. There were no direction lines, and the vegetation on either side was meticulously sculpted. A private drive—not a lonely stop in the woods. He climbed out of the vehicle, arms still raised. “I was promised a trial.”

      Beckoning Alaric around the vehicle, the weere priest said, “And so you shall have it. Please put your arms down and come with me.”

      Looking over his shoulder, Alaric saw sandbags had been placed across the drive just a few meters down. Beyond that was an estate that would put his uncle’s to shame. Not budging, Alaric eyed the Doric columns of the neo-Revelation mansion.

      “I swear, by the Three Books, you shall have your trial,” the weere priest reiterated, his voice steady. “Please, put your hands down and come with me.”

      Words were cheap, but Alaric remembered something Volka said. “You humans talk about the Three Books. We weere feel them.” Hands balling into fists, Alaric lowered his arms and followed the priest to the mansion, Ran and his men close behind.

      Inside, the house was empty of furniture. There were phaser burns on the walls, and guards were everywhere. Alaric took mental note of the guards’ locations. If this did turn out to be a trick, he would probably die—but he would take as many of them with him as he could.

      The weere led him to what looked like a ballroom and paused at the door. Inside there were parquet floors. Heavy, antique metal chandeliers of a type that had been popular just after Revelation hung from the ceiling, their lights turned low. There were no guards, but there was a noticeable lack of windows. The only furniture was a table of the cheap fold out variety and similar chairs.

      “Have a seat,” said the weere priest, gesturing from the doorway.

      Alaric entered the barren room. It was another prison cell, obviously. Abraham might have been disgraced, but as Ran had said, Volka rescuing him from the rubble looked bad. They still thought he had something to do with the rebels on Libertas.

      He scanned the ballroom. This could be an attempt to gas him, but he knew from his experience remodeling his uncle’s house that his weight would be enough to pull down this particular type of chandelier and a large part of the ceiling with it. The wiring could be used to start a fire—

      “You may wait outside, Commander,” the priest said behind Alaric’s back.

      Alaric turned to see the weere holding up a hand to prevent Ran from entering. Alaric cocked his head. Ran was more bigoted toward weere than any man he knew. As Alaric expected, Ran bristled at the order and glared at the priest, but to Alaric’s amazement, he turned and left.

      The weere priest prepared to close the door, but Alaric asked, “Will I be given counsel?”

      “I will be your counsel,” said the weere priest. Somewhere in the house, a clock chimed.

      It wouldn’t be unheard of for a priest to be trained in the law, even if he was a weere. Alaric decided to be diplomatic. “I am grateful. I don’t even know your name—”

      “My name is Father Ujk. Tell the truth, Captain. That is my only counsel,” the weere said. With that, he closed the door and left Alaric alone.

      On his shoulders, Solomon squeaked.

      Alaric amended his thought aloud. “Well, I’m not quite alone.” And then he realized he was idly scratching the wild creature behind the ear. Dropping his hand, he began carefully surveying the room, noting the vents. There wasn’t the two-way mirror he would have expected for interrogations. He looked carefully for bugs. He didn’t see any but that didn’t mean anything. Although Luddeccean civilians only had tech consistent with the Earth’s mid 20th century, the Guard and Intelligence borrowed modern tech from the Republic. They had Q-comms to communicate with Luddeccean spies on Republic worlds, surveillance devices smaller than a drop of water, nanobots for injury recovery and to slow aging, and then there were the holo simulations they used for Fleet training. Alaric frowned. Many Guardsmen were wary of Republic technology, even though it didn’t rely on machine-to-mind connections, and the priests monitored the computers for self-awareness and corrected for it.

      Alaric was fascinated by all tech. Sometimes he thought he was born on the wrong side of the Kanakah cloud.

      Finishing his survey, he took a seat in one of the chairs and mentally composed his defense. He heard the clock chime once again before the door opened. Alaric didn’t know what to expect, but he didn’t expect the first person he saw to be Archbishop Kenji Sato himself. Alaric immediately rose to his feet, swallowed hard, and bowed.

      Waving a hand for Alaric to sit, the archbishop rolled in on an electric wheelchair. The neural interface that had once tethered him to the time gates via the ethernet gleamed in the low light. On his knees was the whitest werfle Alaric had ever seen and walking behind him was Father Ujk.

      At over one hundred years old, the archbishop was thin and frail. At the same time, he was larger than life. The time gate above Luddeccea had done great damage, but without the archbishop, it would have done much worse. Sato had staged a preliminary attack that had crippled it long enough for the Luddeccean Guard to rally. What was larger than Sato’s actions, though, was his mind. The archbishop had husbanded the planet’s supercomputer for over a century, never allowing it to develop sentience.

      It had been Alaric’s dream to work for Sato. As a boy, he’d stumbled on an ancient tablet in the basement of a rich relative. He’d managed to recharge it and had run through its tutorials on programming. He’d always liked math and logic games, and he’d created a game—to the delight of his siblings—a crude geometric spaceship that fired on invading “Galactians.” When his mother had found it, she’d been terrified, certain he needed re-education. She’d confided in their priest’s wife, who’d eased his mother’s fears, reassuring her that as long as Alaric didn’t connect to it with his mind, he was safe and not a criminal. And then the priest’s wife and the priest himself had given his mother and Alaric the unfortunate hope that he might join the priesthood someday.

      He was from the poorest branch of the Darmadi clan, the extended family needed someone of Alaric’s generation to join the military, and the poorest son could not refuse.

      It hadn’t been as bad as it could have been. He hadn’t spent years at lightspeed, and time dilation hadn’t aged his boys or Alexis beyond recognizing. Aside from his two brief brushes with android spies, instead of protecting Luddecceans from Republic invaders, Alaric had been tasked with dealing with rebels on Libertas. Before that, he’d had the bloody job of rounding up and executing pirates raiding the mines in the asteroid belt. Through it all, he’d held onto the hope that if he served with distinction, he might someday become an advisor for the battle simulations the priests ran on the supercomputer.

      But now he was standing before his idol as a suspect in a rebel attack that had killed dozens of Guard and civilians. He kept his eyes on the floor.

      “Please sit down, Captain Darmadi,” the archbishop said. His voice was soft, but there was steel behind it.

      Alaric erupted, “I did not aid the rebel forces on Libertas,” all his carefully defenses forgotten.

      Patting the werfle’s head, the archbishop said, “We know you’re not in league with the rebels or the Republic, but we do have some questions for you.”

      Stunned, Alaric sank into his chair. Solomon hopped from his shoulders to the table and took a position at Alaric’s right hand. The white werfle slunk from the archbishop’s lap and adopted the same position across from him.

      Drawing up a chair, the weere priest said, “Intelligence points to evidence that you were the weere woman’s patron. You fired on her without hesitation. We would like to know your thought process.”

      The question caught Alaric off guard. Of all things he had done that day, he thought firing on the Republic craft and attempting a kamikaze strike would be what exonerated him. And yet, there was something about the phrasing that suggested to him, “It was my duty to protect Luddeccea” was not quite the answer they wanted.

      His eyes slid to Ujk, his weere counsel, now eyeing him coolly. Tell the truth, the weere had said. “I am not her patron,” Alaric admitted. “Though we were involved years ago.”

      Shuffling some papers in front of him, the weere priest said, “So feelings for her didn’t factor into the equation.”

      “No,” Alaric said, anger bubbling within him unexpectedly. “They did factor in.”

      The weere’s head jerked up. The archbishop’s hand rose from the werfle.

      “You were angry at her?” said the weere priest, his tone sharp.

      “No, I was angry at the android who snatched her mind from her, made her take part in the rebel plot, and turned her into a killer.” He didn’t intend to shout, but his voice echoed in the cavernous room. Focusing on the table, he took a deep breath and forced himself to calm. “I would have fired on the ship and attempted to destroy it by any means necessary regardless of any personal feelings. The Republic has apparently discovered a way to attain faster-than-light travel without gates—”

      That made both men sit up straighter, and Alaric knew he’d been correct in that deduction.

      He continued, “We are at a technological disadvantage. The Republic cannot be encouraged by our inaction to kidnap Luddeccean citizens and violate their minds. I would rather be destroyed than let myself become a slave. I gave Volka the same courtesy and would give any Luddeccean the same.” She’d call it her soul, not her mind, but he couldn’t imagine she’d feel different. Her soul was what she valued above all else. Why else had she turned down his offer?

      “When I think of her alone, in the Republic…” Her body would be her only asset. The chair had no armrests, and it was probably a good thing. He felt as though he could bend metal with his hands.

      “She is in no danger with Sixty.”

      Alaric’s head jerked toward the archbishop. “Sixty?”

      “The android.” Pushing his spectacles up his nose, not meeting Alaric’s gaze, Sato said, “He is programmed to be a helpmate to humans, not to harm them. He encountered Guardsmen when they attempted to apprehend, interrogate, and murder Volka on behalf of Counselor Abraham. He stunned them and tied them up, but they weren’t permanently harmed. He cannot harm humans.”

      “That android and the rebels murdered my men on Libertas!” Alaric declared. “And it killed men aboard the Leetier.”

      The archbishop frowned. “How events unfolded aboard the Leetier are still murky. Some men claim it was Volka who was responsible for the crew member’s death.”

      Alaric’s lip curled. “No.” Not Volka. If she had killed, it was because the android had controlled her mind with some heretofore unknown technology, and in that case, it was the android who was the only guilty party.

      The archbishop shrugged. “Accidents are possible even if an android is programmed not to harm. However, as far as your men are concerned, Sixty, Volka, and Carl Sagan were not part of the rebel uprising on Libertas.”

      Alaric’s mind spun. Carl Sagan, the ancient Earth physicist...where had he heard that name recently?

      Sato tilted his head. “They pulled you and your fellow crew member from the wreckage…why would you think rebels would do that?” There was no accusation in the archbishop’s tone, only curiosity.

      “For another hostage! To interrogate me for my passcodes,” Alaric retorted hotly, shocking himself with the emotion in his voice. Where had his carefully cultivated stoic exterior gone?

      The archbishop blinked owlishly. “No, Sixty would not do that.”

      “How would you know?” Alaric heard himself demand. Sweat prickled along his spine.

      “Oh, because I know him,” the archbishop replied, running a hand along the white werfle’s back, his eyes distant.

      The words took Alaric’s breath away and his anger, too.

      “You know it?” he whispered, body going cold.

      “Mmmm…” said the archbishop. “He belonged to one of my great aunts before Revelation. He has a fantastic application for cooking. His Founder’s Feast is…” His lips curled in a smile of gentle bemusement. “...out of this world.”

      “Androids kill humans without respect to women or children,” Alaric whispered.

      The archbishop’s attention snapped to him. “Yes, some do. Which is why they cannot continue to have a technological advantage.”

      Alaric straightened, eyes shifting between the two men.

      The weere priest cleared his throat. “We had been informed that when you fired on Volka, it wasn’t because of her rejection.”

      Alaric inclined his head. How could they have been informed of that?

      The priest continued, “We wanted to hear you say it ourselves.”

      The full significance of what the archbishop had just said began to sink in. The archbishop knew the android…before? Alaric’s men had risked their lives flying in a Libertan blizzard, in hostile territory, and Volka hadn’t been in danger. Alaric felt bile rising in his throat. His fingers flexed. He reminded himself this hearing wasn’t about him. It was about his sons and about his good name. “The charges against me—”

      The weere waved a hand. “It was, as far as we are concerned, Counselor Abraham trying to tie up loose ends. All Abraham’s false charges of treason, terrorism, and murder against you have been dropped. No one else from the Libertas incident has spoken against you.”

      Alaric felt a chill and not relief from his complete exoneration. “That was too easy,” he said.

      The white-haired werfle’s eyes rose to his. Solomon slunk closer to Alaric’s side.

      Ujk growled. “Except for Commander Ran and your engineer Agrawal, what remained of your crew is dead. There is no one to spread rumors.”

      Alaric sucked in a breath.

      Ujk’s lips twisted in a mirthless smile. “All victims of plague or Abraham’s men during the recent unrest.”

      Alaric felt like all the oxygen had been sucked out of his lungs.

      Pushing his glasses up his nose, Archbishop Sato said, “We need your help.”

      Just moments ago, Alaric would have said his “help” would be a dubious prospect. Even with Abraham’s death and disgrace, rumors of the events on Libertas could taint his reputation, but all but Ran and Agrawal were dead. Agrawal hadn’t even been at the scene of the explosion, hadn’t seen Volka rescue him, and wouldn’t be a man to spread rumors anyway.

      Mistaking his hesitation, Ujk said, “We realize you’re just recovering from your stint in prison…”

      The archbishop blinked. “Oh, yes. That.” Alaric’s gaze shifted to the old man. The archbishop’s befuddlement filled him with envy and respect. He’d met Kenji’s type before in the seminary. The archbishop was a man so consumed by his intellect that the world of his mind was more real than the world of flesh and blood.

      The weere priest continued, “And it will be dangerous. You may yet be labeled a traitor when all is said and done.”

      “We all may,” said Kenji. “But the fate of all Luddeccea…indeed all humans may depend on it.” The white werfle cheeped, and Kenji smiled at it, a tight, barely perceptible pull of his lips. “And werfles, too.”
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      Humans were screaming, and 6T9 could not see. Carl, when Sundancer’s emotions got the best of him, sometimes overwhelmed 6T9’s ether with the ship’s fear and caused blackouts in 6T9’s visual hardware. Before Carl had his ether-to-speech device, 6T9 needed a constant connection to communicate with the genocidal little weasel, but now he cut it off…and found himself still in darkness.

      “It’s okay, Sundancer,” he heard Volka murmuring. “It’s okay. It’s okay. It’s okay. We’re here.”

      “Get them off of me!” someone shouted, gripping 6T9’s arm.

      There were lights in 6T9’s eyes, literally. He turned them on. Around him, humans were clawing at themselves, rocking on their heels, or sitting on the floor. Trinity was sitting beside Carl Sagan, who was lying flat on the floor squeaking plaintively.

      James was looking around, face writ with confusion. “What’s happening?”

      Volka cried from the floor, “Sundancer’s terrified. She’s in all our minds.” She was on her hands and knees, stroking the ship. “It will be okay, Sundancer,” she whispered. Where her hand touched, a faint glow bloomed.

      The man next to 6T9 began raking his fingernails down his own face, leaving red welts. 6T9 grabbed the man’s wrists. “You’re caught in a telepathic nightmare,” 6T9 said in a cool, clinical tone. “It’s not real.”

      Trying to pull away, the man whispered, “Insects. They’re everywhere.”

      “Guardsman!” 6T9 said, switching to a voice he used for disciplinarian scenarios, “Get a hold of yourself. This is all in your mind.”

      6T9 heard James saying the same thing to Young but was too busy fighting the man before him to see how that was turning out. Fighting against 6T9’s grip with cybernetic strength, the man muttered, “No, no, no…”

      “Make them think of something happy,” Volka exclaimed.

      Q-comm sparking, 6T9 commanded, “Think of your last great fuck, Marine!”

      The man tried to tear away for a few seconds more, but then stopped struggling. “Nebulas…” he whispered. At his feet, a faint glow appeared in the floor. The man’s eyes met 6T9’s. “It was on Mars, the low gravity—”

      “I want to hear this so badly,” 6T9 said, “but we’ve got to help your friends.”

      A man nearby moaned.

      “I can help,” the Guardsman said. Spinning from 6T9 to the man bowed beside him, the Guardsman said, “Jerome, remember the girl we picked up on Mars? Remember?”

      6T9 almost groaned with frustration at not being able to eavesdrop properly but went to the next man down the line. Behind him, he heard Young saying, “Get a hold of yourself. Remember your kid’s birthday party. Come on…you remember…” and James awkwardly saying, “You’re being mentally controlled by the ship’s fear. Think of something…errr…happy?”

      6T9 stuck to “last great fuck.” He didn’t know who had kids and who didn’t, and “happy” was too vague. Slowly, the humans in the ship started snapping from Sundancer’s mental control, or maybe Sundancer just felt better, buoyed by the humans’ improved mental states. The inside of the ship began to glow faintly all over, and when he reached the sole female Fleet Marine, she winked at him and whispered, “Should I think of my next great fuck, General?” before he could speak.

      The slow smile and the wink he answered her with were completely pre-programmed. So was his immediate shift in focus to the rest of the group. Q-comm humming, he hastily evaluated the humans for any sign of serious injury.

      Volka was still on the floor where she’d been before. Kneeling, she looked up at him and wiped her face. “This is the worst it’s ever been, Sixty.”

      Nodding, he scanned the bridge. “Where’s Carl?” he called, worried that he might have gotten stepped on. He couldn’t help worrying, even when the subject of his worry was a genocidal weasel, and he wasn’t sure if it was just his programming. Carl had been the first being to ever believe 6T9 was capable of anything extraordinary.

      “He’s over here,” Trina called from the far wall.

      “Jerome, get local ether established,” Young ordered as 6T9 stepped quickly over to Trina. She was cradling Carl close to her chest. Less than two hours earlier, the werfle had wiggled happily in the arms of strangers, demanding belly rubs and scratches behind his ears. Now he was listless in the gate’s arms. His legs were splayed as though all ten of them had been yanked out from beneath him. His tail drooped. His eyes were blinking, but unfocused.

      Biting her lip, Trina said, “He’s shaking.”

      Taking the werfle from her, 6T9 began downloading all veterinary data on werfles. Gently touching the two points between his upper paw pairs, he found both of Carl’s hearts beating 33.4 percent faster than normal. Drawing his fingers down the creature’s sides, 6T9 didn’t detect broken ribs, but his basal temperature was depressed. “I believe he’s in shock.” To the nearest Marine, he said in his dominant voice, “I need a thermal blanket.”

      The human’s head jerked back as though surprised at the order, but he swung his pack around and produced a silvery sheet moments later. 6T9 was distantly aware of Young storming up behind him, but he focused on swaddling Carl.

      “What is going on?” Young demanded. “Where are the windows?”

      “Sundancer doesn’t have windows,” 6T9 said, making the final tuck around the small creature. “She just occasionally allows us to see through her.”

      “Well, why can’t we see through her?” Young said. “And why can’t we connect with the crew of Time Gate 33?” The last was accompanied by a hostile glare in Trina’s direction.

      “I think we’ve left System 33,” 6T9 said, remembering the brief flash of light that accompanied faster-than-light travel.

      Young stepped closer to Trina. Glaring down at her, he said, “You said they were all dead.”

      Hand to her mouth, Trina searched the floor. “They are. It’s in my memory…John said they were lost. He wouldn’t lie.”

      Young took another step closer to Trina, and the gate stepped backward, knocking her shoulders against the wall. Her obvious distress made static buzz along 6T9’s spine. Sliding between them, Carl still in his arms, 6T9 said, “Easy, Sailor.”

      Young’s shoulders got tight. Sensing a physical altercation coming, 6T9 adjusted his internal settings and smiled. “Go ahead. Hit me.”

      Young took a step back and a muscle in his jaw jumped. “If we’re not in System 33, where are we?”

      Keeping his eyes on Young and his body between the lieutenant and Trina, 6T9 responded, “I don’t know. Volka?”

      Volka’s growled response came from just behind Young’s shoulder. “Back off of Sixty. I’m right here.” The Marine spun around.

      Volka’s ears were forward, her delicate bow-shaped lips were curled, and her dainty hands with their naturally dark nails were curled into fists at her side. She looked like she was ready to bite Young. And not in a nice way. Even though she was tiny, Young looked unnerved by her obvious fury. 6T9’s Q-comm sparked and began downloading useless data from Earth zoological studies on similar unevenly matched confrontations. “The two of you would be like a match between a lion and a honey badger or a wolverine and a grizzly,” he blurted. “Sometimes a battle with a smaller opponent is unwise.”

      They both looked at him, Volka’s lips forming a small “o,” and Young’s brow wrinkling. “Stress-induced data dump, sorry,” said 6T9. His eyes widened at additional info. “A honey badger will run beneath a lion’s body and rip off its testicles.” That was when he realized the bridge had gone silent and all eyes were on him. Well, except for James’s eyes. James was pinching the bridge of his nose and shaking his head.

      Attention going to Volka, Young said, “We have to get back to Time Gate 33.” His eyes shot to Trina. “The real gate.”

      Volka’s hair stood on end and her ears curled submissively. “No…they were…wrong…”

      Young retorted, “What’s wrong is that Trina told us they were dead.”

      In 6T9’s arms, Carl’s ether-to-speech device crackled. “They’re worse than dead.”

      The bridge went silent. Carl sighed. “Oh, pets…I am so sorry,” the werfle said.

      “What is it, Carl?” Volka whispered. Normally, she and 6T9 rolled their eyes when Carl declared them pets, but something in the tiny animal’s plaintive words made 6T9 hesitate to twitch even a muscle.

      “I’m afraid,” Carl replied. “More afraid than I have been in thousands of years. For all of us.” He squeezed a forelimb out of the blanket, and Volka held out her hand. Wrapping his tiny paw around Volka’s smallest finger, Carl bowed his head and closed his eyes. The little animal was only middle-aged for a domestic werfle, but he looked much older.

      “Carl, perhaps you need to explain,” James said.

      Carl lifted his head. “Yes, I must.”

      Young shifted on his feet, and the other Marines came closer.

      Carl’s ears flattened. “To fight it, Lieutenant, we must understand it. Put me down, Sixty.” When 6T9 hesitated, Carl said gently, “This body is no longer in shock.”

      His pupils were normal. 6T9 ran a hand between his ears and checked his temperature. It was normal, and he unwrapped Carl and set him down. Rising to his four most hindlimb pairs, Carl began to pace. At his feet, the ship’s hull went from dull gray to transparent, and the transparency spread like ripples in water until every surface of the bridge was invisible.

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked, and he gaped at the ribbon of stars around them. From a central cluster, they fanned out like wings. “Is this a new galaxy in the early stages of formation?” he whispered.

      “Yes,” said Carl. “Sundancer has brought us to a place that will be safe for billions of years. A brand-new baby galaxy filled with brilliant stars and light that will be safe from the Darkness.”

      “The Darkness?” said James.

      Bowing his head, Carl said, “My species first became aware of Sundancer because she was telepathically transmitting her nightmares to us. The Darkness the humans just saw in their minds was overcoming every single one of us with increasing regularity. We believed that the Luddeccean’s plan to build a magni-freight line past Sundancer’s resting place was what was causing Sundancer’s fear, and that if we rescued her, the nightmares would end. It was 6T9 who first realized the fault in our analysis.” Carl held out a paw to 6T9.

      All eyes in the room shifted to 6T9, their expressions hard and unreadable. His Q-comm hummed, not sure what to say, not sure what silent judgment was being made. Carl began pinging him madly over the ether. “Tell them what you realized. Take credit, General.”

      “That name is ridiculous,” 6T9 answered silently. Besides the obvious fact that he wasn’t and had never been in military service, a general who couldn’t issue a command to kill wasn’t really a general. But aloud he said, “Sundancer rescued us from the Luddecceans. She is immune to phaser fire. She can withstand impacts that would destroy a Fleet ship of the same size; in atmosphere, she is at least faster than the speed of sound, but has no sonic boom; she is faster than light out of the atmosphere. The Luddecceans never frightened her. I realized it had to have been something else.” Something terrible. Bigger than pirates, bigger than the Fleet and the Luddeccean Guard. His Q-comm sparked, and he turned to the werfle. “How long ago since her nightmares began, Carl…?”

      “Approximately 183 days,” Carl replied.

      Trina’s eyes went wide. “That was when we noticed the asteroid’s collision course with S33O4.”

      There were murmurs around the room.

      Static crawled along 6T9’s skin, and he felt cold, though the temperature hadn’t dropped. Under his breath, he muttered, “I haven’t enjoyed being right lately.”

      Beside him, Volka whispered, “I’ve heard that painful knowledge comes with command, General.” He looked down at her, prepared to retort he was no general, but her expression caught him off guard. He’d expected a smirk, or a lifted eyebrow, or some sign of teasing. Instead, her yellow eyes were wide and concerned. For a moment, it felt like his Q-comm had gone offline. Trina’s next words made it snap online again. “The asteroid caused a massive aquatic life die off, one too great to be explained by the impact alone.”

      Carl rubbed a paw over his nose. “We’ve found the source of her nightmares.”

      “But what is it?” Young asked.

      Shaking himself, Carl said, “It is a species, not unlike my own, that can take up residence in a host species, but I don’t think humans are its desired form.”

      “Another body-snatching species?” one of the Marines interjected.

      The fur on the back of Carl’s neck rose. “The One don’t wish to destroy all life we encounter and reshape it into our own dark image. That is what it wants...Darkness. I could feel it.”

      For a moment, there was silence. Volka stepped close enough to Sixty that her arm brushed his, and his synth skin heated at the point of contact. He obviously needed to run a diagnostic on his sensation receptors.

      Young huffed. “I don’t buy it…‘dark image’ sounds like quasi-religious nonsense.”

      “It’s a literal description,” Trina whispered.

      All heads in the room swiveled to the gate.

      “The water became dark where the asteroid landed,” Trina whispered. “We theorized it was some sort of blue-green algae. It was spreading incredibly quickly.”

      Eyes on Trina, James said, “We can discuss the finer points of microbiology later—but I’m going to assume that these blue-green algae are dangerous?”

      Trina nodded. “It made the humans exposed to it…sick, and then not themselves.” She blinked up at the group. “Doctor Lang would be able to tell us about it. But they’ll be maintaining radio silence planet-side…if they’re still alive.” Wrapping her arms around herself, Trina searched the floor.

      “Dr. Lang said she’d isolated the pathogen,” said Young.

      Trina nodded vigorously. “Yes, she had developed rapid tests to detect it, too.” She winced. “I heard them talking about it, but I don’t have access to that data.”

      6T9 began downloading all the data he had on S33O4. It was a “Goldilocks” planet: temperate, gravity approximately .93 Standard G, breathable air, two relatively small continents with more than 80 percent of the planet covered by water. It was a younger system and a younger world. The amount of animal life was enormous. “We know where they won’t be,” he mused aloud. “Not near the asteroid drop site.”

      “Still leaves a lot of ground,” said Young.

      The female Marine said, “They think help is ten years away. Trina, you said that the blue-green algae is spreading…if it is the pathogen or is related to it somehow…they’ll want to hole up someplace as far from it as possible. They’ve been studying the planet’s currents and prevailing winds. They’d have a location in mind. You must know where it would be.”

      Trina’s eyes got wide. “I do know.”

      An image of S33O4 began playing in 6T9’s mind, and by the way James’s and the Marines’ eyes became vacant, they were sharing in the vision, too.

      “Would you play it on Bracelet?” Volka asked. “For Sundancer and me?” Everyone in the bridge looked at her, and her ears went back. “I think the hologram on Bracelet was how Sundancer knew where to go the first time…right, Carl?”

      “Yes!” said Carl Sagan. “That must have been how! I don’t think she follows ether conversations…or, well, conversation at all.”

      “Of course!” said Trina, in the real world and in 6T9’s mind.

      A hologram shot up from the apex of Volka’s bracelet, revealing S33O4 and Time Gate 33. There was a stain of black in one of the oceans spreading from the western coastline of the smaller of the planet’s two continents. Sundancer’s translucent walls and ceiling became dark gray. Static erupted along 6T9’s spine.

      “What’s happening?” one of the Marines asked.

      “She sees the hologram,” Volka replied, her ears flat against her head, avoiding everyone’s gaze.

      The hologram of S33O4 spun, and at the center of the second larger continent, a blue light shone. “That’s where they will most likely be,” said Trina. The image zoomed to a region with sparse trees and mountainous terrain.

      “Well,” said Young, his voice angry. “Why aren’t we moving?”

      Sundancer jerked so violently that 6T9 almost pitched over. Carl fell to his ten legs. Volka fell to a crouch, and even the space-legged Marines rocked on their feet. The light in the bridge dropped so that the only illumination came from the tablet that Jerome was using to establish a local ether hub.

      Rising from her crouch, tiny hands balling into fists, Volka snapped at Young, “She’s scared!” 6T9 marveled at how quickly she’d gone from ears back, shy, and self-effacing to selflessly, near-violent in defense of a friend.

      “What is she, some sort of child?” Young shouted back at Volka.

      “She’s over a million years old!” Volka growled. “Don’t call her a child just because she won’t—”

      “Ahem!” Carl squeaked. Snarling, Volka’s head snapped to the werfle. Carl held up a paw. “Sundancer might be a child…” His whiskers twitched. “We actually have no idea how starship development works. She could be a juvenile of her species. In fact…” He scratched behind an ear. “It might explain a few things. The gaps in her cognition for instance. A creature that skips through time but can’t talk. Perhaps the first is instinctual, but the second is learned. She is a creature of emotion…that is childlike.”

      6T9 hadn’t noticed the background noise on the bridge—the shuffling of bodies and feet, murmurs, hands checking equipment, and steady inhale and exhale of breath—but at Carl’s words, there was a moment there was near silence.

      Massaging his temples, Young growled, “Anyone have experience with children?” His eyes slid to the man with a child. “No offense, but you haven’t been home since your kid was born.”

      “I do,” 6T9 volunteered.

      The eyes of every Marine shot toward him. They shifted closer to 6T9, hands balling into fists and jaws tight. 6T9’s Q-comm sparked in understanding. “Not that kind of experience!” 6T9’s skin prickled with white-hot static. He wanted…he wanted…His head tic returned. He took a step toward Young. “Easy, 6T9,” James said, putting a hand on his shoulder.

      6T9 ripped it off. “I don’t have sex with children!”

      “We know,” said Volka more softly, her hand going to his opposite arm.

      6T9 couldn’t meet Volka’s eyes. He had overreacted. But the accusation, even unspoken, had been abhorrent. It wasn’t just that he was programmed not to desire children; with his Q-comm he could understand how violating children would harm them. That humans would think, for a millisecond, that he could be capable of that made him want to…his head jerked to the side again, and his circuits fired in frustration at the thought he couldn’t even complete.

      Standing on his hindmost limbs beside Volka, Carl twisted to the group. “During Admiral Sato’s and Mr. Sinclair’s escape from Luddeccea before Revelation, 6T9 minded children in their escape craft.”

      “There were children aboard the Ark?” someone asked.

      “It was a very professional operation,” James said dryly. “6T9, how would you handle a toddler who needed to do something frightening?”

      Letting his fists unclench, 6T9 responded, “I would empathize first,” 6T9 responded, “and then once the child was calm, I’d try to coax them. I only forced him if absolutely necessary.” His eyes roved Sundancer’s dark hull. “Forcing isn’t an option we have.”

      “All right,” said Young, rubbing his jaw. “How do we do this?”

      The acceptance was so fast 6T9 almost believed that he had misheard.

      “Marines are very practical,” James said, answering 6T9’s unspoken question.

      6T9 inclined his head toward Volka and Carl. “Sundancer can’t feel the emotions of androids. Volka and Carl will have to help you.”

      Volka rolled on her heels and cleared her throat as all eyes on the ship fell on her. “We have to feel about how the dark water…the thing on the time gate and the people there, scares us. And then we have to think of the humans—”

      “John!” Trina said.

      Nodding at her, Volka finished, “Who will be hurt if we don’t rescue them.”

      The rate of shuffling in the room increased. Hands went to hips and to the backs of necks.

      “Well,” said Young, turning to his team. “You heard her…lives are depending on us…Think about—”

      “Feel about,” Carl said.

      “Feel about what scares us and then about what we have to do.”

      Volka and Carl bowed their heads. From the Marines, there were hard stares. Men wiped their jaws and stamped their feet. One of them glanced around, bowed his head, and put his hands together. 6T9’s eyebrows lifted. Another theist? They were as rare in the Republic as atheists in Luddeccea. Another man closed his eyes. The woman shook her head and gave a nervous smile.

      “Can’t we do anything to help?” Trina whispered. “John…and the others are my friends, too.”

      “No,” said 6T9, circuits dimming. But around the feet of the Marines who were concentrating, Volka, and Carl, Sundancer’s hull went from dark gray to light. Seeing it, some of the other humans closed their eyes, and then every figure on the bridge turned to light as Sundancer transported them faster than the speed of light.

      “Did we do it?” one of the Marines asked when they were solid again. “Did we jump through space-time again?”

      “Yes, we jumped again,” said Carl, “But—”

      Whatever he said next was drowned out by cheers.

      And then the opacity of the walls, ceiling, and floor fell away.

      6T9 gaped.

      The bridge, once again, went silent.

      What hovered in the void outside them was not System 33, not natural, and not made by humans or their machines. But it was immediately and obviously terrifying.
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      Volka stared out of the ship in horror. Hovering just outside were the corpses of beings that weren’t precisely human. Their heads were enlarged at the crown with pointed chins, their eyes—frozen over in the void—were enormous, and their noses were flush with their faces. They had hair-like feathers and slender, elongated limbs. Their hands had only four fingers. Their skin was blue, with purple blotches etched with black veins. She swallowed, remembering what Alaric had told her about death in space. “Your capillaries would boil and burst.” Among these beings were other creatures; some looked vaguely like earth kangaroos and others like dogs but with impossibly long tails. There were also car-like conveyances floating among them, blue-faced beings trapped inside.

      “Oh,” she murmured.

      “What is this?” someone whispered.

      “An alien graveyard,” said Carl Sagan.

      Volka held her breath, eyes searching the scene. There were too many bodies to count, seemingly of all ages. They stretched in every direction farther than she could see and were lit by a faint orangish light. There were no stars.

      Sundancer accelerated gently, weaving through the cadavers floating in the void, and the source of the light came into view. It was a rough sphere, perhaps the size of 6T9 and Carl’s asteroid. Its surface swirled with orange, yellow, and dark gray and reminded Volka of pictures she’d seen of lava in Luddeccean Geographic magazines. As she watched, a cadaver touched the sphere and was sucked beneath the molten surface, bursting into flames just before it disappeared.

      Sundancer veered around the sphere and navigated through the bodies toward something that looked like a crack in the sky—Volka could see starlight through it. As the ship drew closer, she realized it was a crack, and the “sky” was a sphere they were inside. Protruding from its inner surface were icy, skeletal tree-like shapes, houses, and other buildings. Here and there she could see the frozen surfaces of lakes and rivers.

      “Sixty,” she whispered, “could you give me one of your data dumps?”

      “It’s an artificial world,” Sixty replied. “The molten core at the center must have served as its sun.”

      They drew closer to the crack in the sphere. Along the edge, cables buckled inward, their ends weirdly frayed. Sixty said, “An explosion must have exposed them to the vacuum. You’d think that a civilization like this would have a defense force…” His voice trailed off as Sundancer slipped through the gaping hole in the sphere. Hulking vessels, all dark, some shattered, hung in the void outside the sphere.

      “What did this?” someone whispered.

      Sundancer’s hull became opaque again.

      Volka’s ears went back. She could feel the answer in the pit of her stomach. It was the Dark from the nightmare. She turned, ready to explain, and her eyes caught those of a Fleet Marine. They were such a light, saturated brown that they were nearly orange, a shade she associated with weere, not humans. And then light spilled from his eyes, spread to his body, the rest of the ship, the crew, and Volka herself. They were traveling faster-than-light again.

      She found her eyes still locked on the Marine when they rematerialized. Averting her gaze to the floor, she whispered, “Whatever took over Trina—I mean, Time Gate 33—it destroyed that world. Sundancer’s warning us…” Her breath caught and the hair on her head rose. Something was still wrong.

      Carl began squeaking frantically. “It’s here! And stronger! Sundancer, we believe you. Get us out of here!”

      “Where are we?” Young asked, eyes going to the now-opaque walls.

      Jerome—who Volka thought was some sort of communications officer—shook his head. “No local ether, sir. I don’t think we’re in the Republic.”

      “We have to get out of here,” Carl cried, but Sundancer didn’t turn to light and leave. Instead, the opacity of the hull fell away again. Below them was a world with swirling clouds, much like Luddeccea’s, S33O4, or Earth. But beneath the clouds, there was only black.

      Staring down at it, Trina put a hand on the hull. “It looks like the water where the asteroid struck S33O4.”

      Young stepped back and looked up at the ceiling. “I get it. You’re trying to warn us, but this is more reason for us to rescue our people.” Nothing happened, but then Young put a hand to his helmet and growled. Once more the hull became opaque; a moment later, they were light. When they solidified, the walls became transparent again. They were floating outside another planet, only distinguished from the last by the abundance of orbitals. Every hair on Volka’s body stood on end, and she shivered. Carl squeaked pitifully and hid his head in his paws. “Not here! Not here! It’s even worse!”

      There were the wrecks of ships in orbit and what might be satellites, all dark and forbidding. Sundancer accelerated through the debris, and a larger structure came into view. It looked like a sort of space station and might once have been disk-shaped, but now had a jagged edge of sharp struts jutting out from one side. At the very center of the disk shape was another orange, molten core structure like the one they’d just seen in the sphere.

      “I know, I know,” Young said, shaking his head. “It’s dangerous. We might die. But—”

      A piece of debris broke free from the others. It was only the size of Volka’s joined hands, but when it hit Sundancer’s side, the ship trembled. Sundancer had been struck by drones and by phaser fire, and Volka hadn’t even felt it, but this time, at the site of impact, the hull became an opaque, dark gray, and strands of opacity snaked out from the spot. Volka’s stomach curled inward, and she felt the same sense of wrongness she’d felt at Gate 33. A high-pitched wail ripped through the bridge, hitting Volka’s eardrums like needles. She fell to one knee and heard someone scream in pain. She threw her hands over her ears and felt the ship shake. The wailing stopped, but Sundancer shook. More snaking strands of gray opacity spread across the hull, and the ship became dark. Tears left hot trails on Volka’s cheeks, and the inside of her ears felt like they were on fire.

      She was dimly aware of 6T9 dropping to his knees beside her and someone saying too calmly, “The radiation levels in here are rising fast, Lieutenant.”

      The bridge was getting darker under the impact of the spreading strands. For a moment, everyone aboard appeared to flicker, but then Sundancer jerked, and through a tiny portion of the hull that was still transparent, Volka saw that the ship was hurtling toward the core of the space station. Volka blinked, and then the view was obscured by more debris hitting the ship, shaking the vessel and turning the hull nearly black. She tried to stand, but the floor jerked out from beneath her, and she pitched backward. She landed on her back, but thankfully, her head hit something that wasn’t the floor. She smelled metal, plastic—the peculiar scent that was Sixty—and Bart, Celeste, and sex. Around her, she heard shouts, Carl squealed, and people tumbled to the floor. Before she could right herself, Sundancer hit something head-on, and Volka went sliding forward. Her feet hit the hull, and she gasped. Where the ship had struck, the wall went from dark gray to Sundancer’s normal pearlescent ivory and then became translucent again. The scene outside was a lake of lava. Orange light and heat filled the bridge. Bracelet began screaming, “Radiation levels dangerous. Immediately seek shelter!”

      The orange spread over the hull—not in a frightening, snaking pattern—evenly, as though Sundancer was sinking into orange bathwater. Sweat broke out on Volka’s brow, and the air in her lungs was too hot to be a relief. Bracelet blinked frantically and told her unhelpfully, “The temperature is dangerous to human life. Oxygen levels dropping.” Sundancer trembled, and for a moment was submerged in the molten bath. Volka hated to breathe, hated the heat in her lungs, and she froze in place, trying to conserve oxygen. Her hands tightened on a weight on her stomach. She heard someone say, “Thermal blankets might insulate us from the—”

      And then the ship was pearly ivory again. The incessant beeping stopped. Bracelet declared, “Radiation levels dropping,” and the next breath Volka took was cool. She loosened her grip on the weight on her waist and realized it was 6T9’s arm. Her head was pillowed on his other arm. Around them, the Marines, Trina, and James—who she suspected was an android—rose to a sitting position. Volka didn’t move. Remembering her head nearly cracking on the floor, her hands tightened on Sixty again. “Sixty, are you all right?”

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “Is he ever really all right?”

      “Carl,” Volka hissed. “That’s not nice.”

      “I’ve just witnessed Armageddon. I’m trying to inject a bit of levity into the moment,” Carl grumbled.

      Sixty’s breath brushed her ear. “My Q-comm is still online if that’s what you mean.”

      He was warm and comforting, but folding back her ears, she unclenched her fingers and sat up. Sixty did the same beside her. Close by, Trina rose, and all throughout the bridge, Marines did the same. By some unspoken agreement, they all remained sitting.

      James rubbed his eyes. “Well, we know the organism dies in fire.”

      The female Marine said, “And that whatever it is can harm the spaceship. None of our weapons can do that.”

      Young growled in frustration. “More reason to get to S33O4 as soon as possible.”

      “Agreed,” said Carl, hopping among the humans and androids. “We need to get to Dr. Lang. We need to know what she knows. She’s too far away from any of the One for us to read her mind.”

      All heads in the room snapped to the werfle. “Our intelligence didn’t inform us you can read human minds,” said Young.

      “We can warp the quantum wave with our minds. We can create pestilence, form ether waves, start fires—”

      “Fires?” said someone.

      “Of course. We’re telepathic,” Carl finished.

      There were murmurs that sounded vaguely angry.

      “Add telekinesis to that list, too,” Volka heard Sixty say, but she was distracted by Trina. Sitting next to Volka, Trina had pulled her knees to her chin and wrapped her arms around them. “Oh, John, I’m trying,” she whispered so faintly, a human wouldn’t have heard it in the din.

      Volka put a hand on Trina’s arm and whispered back, “I’m sure he knows you love him and that you’re trying.”

      Raising her head, Trina said, “I can’t fall in love. That is for biological organisms, a pheromonal illusion to ensure the survival of their species.” A tear trickled down the android’s cheek. Trina wiped it away and then stared down at the droplet, her expression confused.

      Volka didn’t believe her for a moment. She was in love, whether she knew it or not. “Has John seen you in this form?” she wondered aloud.

      Wiping away another tear, Trina shook her head in the negative.

      John, Volka realized, probably had no idea Trina was in love, either.

      Young’s voice rang out in the din. “We must get to S33O4. It’s more important than ever. You’ve voiced your telepathic superiority to us, werfle. Can you communicate how much we need to get there with the ship?”

      Holding up two paws, Carl squeaked, and his necklace crackled. “I will try.”

      The ship went silent. The walls became ivory; they became statues of light, and someone said, “The little weasel did it.”

      But then someone else said, “We’re in Republic space.”

      At those words, the bridge became transparent, and Volka saw the familiar, elaborate puzzle of honeycomb-shaped windows that sealed Carl and Sixty’s asteroid from the void. Through their lenses, she could see the green of the carefully cultivated forests and lawns. Down there, there were deer, rats, and soft beds. On the asteroid, there was peace and safety. Around her, Marines groaned.

      “It’s no use,” said Carl. “I tried to convey the urgency, the apocalyptic nature of the consequences if we cannot rescue the survivors of Time Gate 33. She doesn’t understand.”

      “Oliver, a little boy I watched, seldom understood consequences,” Sixty said. “Apocalyptic or otherwise.” His eyes were in the distance, and he was frowning. Carl was standing on his hind legs near James and Young, still sitting on the floor. Young was touching his neural port. James’s head was bowed, and his eyes were closed. Presumably, they were all conversing with someone privately through the ether.

      To Sixty, Volka whispered, “You’re right.”

      His head snapped toward her, and his lips parted in question.

      Volka’s jaw got hard. “A child doesn’t understand an apocalypse.” What would Sundancer understand? Volka looked at Trina. Her head was pressed to her knees, and she was rocking slightly. Her pain was invisible to Sundancer. Trina wasn’t a carbon-based life form, and even though Sundancer could “see,” as Carl had said, body language was its own way of communicating, and Sundancer probably couldn’t understand Trina’s tears or her obvious dejection…How to make Sundancer feel it? Volka had no feelings for John, but she did understand hopeless, bewildering love, and loss.

      Releasing a breath, Volka put her hands on the floor, squeezed her ears back to block the murmured conversations around her, closed her eyes, and pictured John and the continent on the planet he was trapped on. She could hold the picture, but she had no emotion for John, no feeling. Almost without her volition, he morphed in her mind’s eye to Alaric. Part of Volka still ached for him, even though he’d tried to destroy her. Her eyes scrunched tighter. But Alaric had tried to save her, too, hadn’t he?

      She swallowed. She’d been so madly and hopelessly in love with him for so long. From that first season, she’d hoped, prayed even, that they would be together, if not in marriage, then in a faithful patronage. Alaric’s uncle had gotten permission to remain unmarried by bribing a doctor to declare him infertile. He’d have helped Alaric to do the same if Alaric had only asked…and Volka had believed until the very end that Alaric would ask. Even after he bowed to his family pressure to join the Guard, she’d thought he wouldn’t bend to marriage. She’d rejected his patronage when he’d become engaged to a woman picked for him by his family, but how many times since had she wanted to run to him, to beg him to take her back? In the end, her jealousy was stronger. But she still wanted him. She still longed for him.

      All the noise on the bridge faded away as she became consumed with the memory and the feeling. Memories of Alaric were a horrible, gaping, empty hole deep within her. And if he was the one trapped in System 33, after everything, she’d still go to him, still risk her life. Light flashed behind her eyelids. She’d march into Hell for Alaric, after all his betrayals. It terrified her, and she hated it, but it was how she was made.

      “Volka,” Sixty whispered. She felt his hand on her back, and she opened her eyes. Her eyelids were soaked with tears and they tumbled down her cheeks.

      Around her, the Marines were standing—Trina and James, too. Sixty was sitting on his heels beside her.

      “You did it, werfle!” someone said.

      Which was when Volka realized that they’d returned to System 33. The walls were transparent, and they were in orbit above the fourth planet, the continent that was their destination below.

      “It wasn’t me,” Carl said. “It was Volka.”

      A few turned to her, and she wiped her eyes and bowed her head. She couldn’t look at them and really couldn’t look at Sixty. She’d brought them to where they needed to be with longing for a human man who had wanted her dead and Sixty turned to slag.
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      The early morning pterys woke Alaric before his alarm went off. He flexed his hand on the sheets beside him and found the bed empty and cold. In the distance, he heard Alexis’s footsteps. Somewhere in the house she was dressed and had already done her hair and makeup. He exhaled. He wished she’d stayed in bed. Sometimes when they made love or whatever it was they did, he could almost pretend there was something like feeling between them. Today of all days he needed that.

      Giving up on sleep, he stood, went to the window and gazed across his uncle’s lawn to the guest house where he’d lived during his college years, and, for all intents and purposes, Volka had lived with him. During his imprisonment, Alexis had moved into his uncle’s house with their boys, ostensibly to be closer to Alaric, but probably more so not to sully her father’s good name with Alaric’s shame. The guest house would have been perfect for their small family, but Alexis hadn’t wanted to stay where “those vile things happened.” He was reasonably certain she’d been referring to the android briefly living there. Volka had happened before their engagement, and in any event, he’d always been discreet.

      In the early morning light, he couldn’t see into the window of the guest house bedroom, but he could vividly remember Volka rolling and laughing in the sheets while the pterys called. Frowning, he went to shower.

      Later, as he went down the stairs, the smell of eggs, bacon, toast, and fresh coffee greeted him. His uncle was at the table, sipping coffee, an empty plate in front of him. Alexis was at the stove. Turning as he entered, she gave him a smile that didn’t meet her eyes. As he suspected, her makeup was done, and her hair was pulled back in a fashionable bun high on her head. He’d liked it better when it was loose and twisted around his hand the night before.

      “I’ve made the eggs just the way you like them,” she said, slipping them onto a plate next to bacon, toast, and artfully arranged fruit. Setting the plate down, she smoothed down her apron, hands passing over the bump that was their third child. “I’ll go get the children,” she said.

      “Why don’t you join us?” Alaric’s uncle suggested.

      Alaric contained a sigh.

      Lifting her chin, Alexis said defiantly, “They must say goodbye to their father before he leaves,” and strode briskly from the room.

      When she was gone, Alaric said, “I don’t even ask anymore,” spearing his perfectly cooked eggs.

      “She won’t let me hire a weere to help out,” his uncle murmured. “She should have help in her condition.”

      Alaric agreed but only shook his head. “She should have been the captain.”

      His uncle scowled and sipped his coffee. “It isn’t right she has no help.”

      Upstairs he heard the boys rousing, the sound of water, and a few protests that he knew came from Sam as Alexis ran a comb through his unruly curls.

      Alaric’s uncle’s eyes got misty. “If Volka were here…I still don’t understand…”

      Alaric tensed. There was very little he could say about Volka’s situation. On Libertas, it was well-known that weere and humans could have children. But the counselors—those who hadn’t died in the plague—still resisted having it be common knowledge on Luddeccea. He wasn’t allowed to speak of Volka’s reasons for running, or why she’d stunned his uncle during the escape under the android’s influence. Alaric stabbed another piece of egg.

      His uncle continued. “She was very frightened when she…” He shook his head. “You won’t tell me what really happened.”

      Alaric dropped his fork and took a quick swig of coffee. “I am grateful for you allowing my family to stay here,” he said tightly.

      “I’m worried about her,” his uncle persisted. “She was like a daughter to me.” There was no denying the accusation in his tone or the sharpness of his eyes. Alaric knew his uncle hurt. His productivity had dropped since Volka had left, and he’d been turning down commissions, but there was nothing Alaric was allowed to say.

      He was saved from having to say anything by a flurry of footsteps on the stairs. A moment later, Lucas, Alaric’s youngest, burst into the kitchen, hair askew, wearing his ptery print footie pajamas. “Daddy!” he shouted, bolting for Alaric. Picking him up, Alaric set him on his lap, and his boy buried his nose against Alaric’s neck. Alaric had vague memories of his own father doing the same when he was Lucas’s age. Or at least, he remembered the photographs of himself sitting on his father’s lap. Patting Lucas’s back, Alaric resumed eating.

      Half a minute later, Alexis burst into the kitchen. “He isn’t dressed.”

      “It’s fine,” Alaric said.

      “He needs to learn discipline,” said Alexis.

      Was Alaric lacking in discipline for having sat on his father’s lap in pajamas as a child? Alaric’s skin heated, and he growled, “Leave it alone.” His eyes leveled on his wife, and his muscles tensed.

      Alexis’s shoulders fell, and she turned on her heel and retreated down the hall. “Where is Sam?”

      Alaric exhaled.

      “She’s easier on them when you’re not around,” his uncle said, and Alaric had no idea what to do with that information. He heard Alexis going from room to room upstairs. Patting Lucas’s back, he enjoyed his son’s weight on his leg, his warmth against his side. This was why Alaric was going back up today. This was why he would risk everything.

      Alexis was still upstairs, going from room to room, when Sam came into the kitchen.

      Alaric’s eldest was dressed in his Sunday clothes, his hair was neat and tidy, and his face was solemn.

      “Father, I have something for you,” he said. “You look like you need it.”

      Alaric almost spit out his coffee. Did he look that upset?

      Sam placed a cap gun on the table next to Alaric’s coffee cup. Glued to the top of the barrel was a straw that had been painted with gold paint. “It’s an electro-disruptor,” Sam said. “If you point it at a robot and shoot, all their electrics will break.”

      “An electro-disruptor?” Alaric asked, raising an eyebrow and fighting to keep a straight face.

      “Well, it’s only a prototype,” Sam said.

      Alaric almost laughed out loud, wondering where his five-year-old had learned the word “prototype,” but he bit it back. “I’ll show it to tech,” Alaric suggested, managing to keep his expression solemn. “They’re always looking for new ideas.”

      Like the new idea he was going to test today. He didn’t know when he’d see them again. Or if.

      Sam nodded. “Good.”

      Making a show of slipping it into his belt, Alaric gave in and pulled Sam into a hug. They’d both grown so much—and Sam was making “prototypes.” Each time he came home, they were different people. He hoped he’d come home again.

      A horn honked outside, and without letting Sam or Lucas go, Alaric lumbered awkwardly to the foyer, both boys laughing in his arms.

      Alexis greeted him by the door with Alaric’s bag and a scowl for Sam. “I’ve been looking all over for you!”

      Giving the boys one last squeeze—earning him screeches of laughter—Alaric put them down.

      “When will you come home again?” Sam asked.

      It was a loaded question, and Alaric answered in a way that was allowable. “I won’t be away as long this time,” he said, omitting the if I come home at all.

      He picked up his bag, and Alexis dutifully proffered her cheek without meeting his eyes. Just as dutifully he kissed it and stepped out the door.

      “Wild Solomon” was on the stoop but vanished into the undergrowth at Alaric’s appearance. Keep the rats away from my family, Alaric found himself thinking. Like you did for me in the prison. The werfle’s head appeared in the grass a few feet away. It nodded once as though it had heard Alaric’s thoughts and then disappeared again.

      Alaric turned his head to the sky. It was still dark enough that Time Gate 8’s broken ring shone like a moon. Lights winked along its unbroken edge, and although he couldn’t see it from here, he knew that there was a Luddeccean warship docked there. A warship that would be Luddeccea’s salvation or Alaric’s doom.
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      “Do not reach out to the local ether,” Lieutenant Young said to 6T9 as Sundancer glided into S33O4’s atmosphere.

      6T9 cut off the hail he’d almost performed. It was automatic to reach out for the local ether whenever he came to a new system, but if the humans aboard Time Gate 33 were monitoring, his hail would give them away. Were there humans aboard Time Gate 33? Carl and Volka didn’t think so. If they were being controlled by…something…did that diminish their humanity? Noa had told him about an experiment that was part of the standard lesson plans of every Republic child. She and a classmate had replaced the antennae of cockroaches with ethernet receivers and proceeded to control the insects through the ether. It worked for a little while, but eventually, the cockroaches resisted the remote control. Even a simple cockroach’s mind was sophisticated enough to resist ether meddling indefinitely. Human minds were far more complex, with far more redundancies, which was why ether control didn’t work on humans—at least not any more effectively than traditional forms of mind control—hypnosis, false memory implantation by an authority figure, or information restriction. They could recover after such incidents.

      The female Marine stepped over to Volka, a nano-injector in her hand. “Hold out your arm. I’m going to treat you for the radiation we just experienced.”

      6T9 caught the woman’s wrist and held it aloft just as Volka raised her bared arm. “She’s a weere,” 6T9 said. “Her immune system is hyper-vigilant.” Weere were designed and bred to be radiation resistant.

      The Marine protested, “But the amount of radiation she was just exposed to—”

      Slipping into a dominance routine, 6T9 retorted, “The nanos could cause an immediately fatal reaction. Unless you’ve got a rapid-test kit for nano-compatibility, she doesn’t get that injection, Marine.”

      The Marine gave Volka a concerned look, but then she nodded smartly to 6T9. “You’re right,” she said and moved on to the next person.

      Touching her throat, Volka murmured, “Weere do sometimes get radiation sickness.”

      Remembering the radiation level in the stream near her home—not to mention the toxic chemical soup—6T9 didn’t doubt that. He frowned. “Did you ever hunt in the forest by your house in the exclusion zone, Volka?”

      “Yes, and we sometimes went camping there.” She shifted on her feet, ears going back.

      6T9 frowned. “The dose you just received is minimal compared to your previous exposure.” He tried to give her an encouraging smile, but knew it was grim. “Your hyper-vigilant immune system should clean up the damage. However, we’ll test you when we get back to the asteroid for nano-compatibility.”

      Volka nodded and rolled down her sleeve.

      James came over and dumped a bag at 6T9’s feet. Rummaging through it, he said, “You need a suit, 6T9.”

      “What about me?” Volka asked.

      James looked over his shoulder at her, but said nothing, and that spoke volumes.

      Volka took a step toward him. “You might need me. To summon Sundancer or just to let you know if that…thing…is close by. I can feel it. You can’t.”

      “She’s right,” said Carl Sagan. “If something happens to my body, there may not be a compatible creature nearby to hop to.”

      James raised an eyebrow at the werfle. Crossing his forepaws, Carl said, “You are taking me, too.”

      Lieutenant Young said, “Sinclair, we have suits for Volka and Carl. We might as well use them.”

      6T9 eyed the Marines’ envirosuits. They were very practical. Although the material wasn’t heavy, it would keep him thermoregulated so he would expend less power. For humans, the suit’s helmet recycled CO2 into oxygen, and the bodies collected wastes and recycled water that could be drunk through a straw in the helmet. For androids, that recycling system could be filled with ethanol, which, since they were physically incapable of getting drunk, they could use as a backup power source. The suit was resistant to tearing. It was pressurized—although 6T9 could survive in vacuum, it wasn’t optimal. There was one thing he didn’t like about the suits, though. The camouflage. In it, he would be nearly invisible. “Do I really need a suit?”

      Trina looked down at the landscape coming into view. “I don’t think so. The pathogen was carried in water. This region is very arid. The pressure is nearly identical to Earth Standard, and the atmosphere is breathable.”

      “Let me check if the pathogen is nearby,” said Carl. Standing on four hind limbs, he closed his eyes and raised a paw. “No, it’s safe.”

      “We’ll wear full suits,” said Young.

      “Even us?” Trina asked.

      “Yes, you, James, and 6T9, too,” Young said. “I don’t want any bugs in your gears.”

      Carl sniffed. “Fine, don’t believe me.”

      “Here’s your suit, Carl,” said James, pulling out a werfle-shaped suit. 6T9 blinked. Before he could ask, Young answered his question. “It’s borrowed. Admiral Dabiri has a werfle aboard the Churchill. He had an envirosuit specially made for the critter.”

      “Ah, yes,” said Carl, rising to his hindmost legs. “I know the ‘critter’ well. His name is Fasssh-issha-wooosh-ia. That literally translates to ‘He who has lived within 10,001 bodies, on 5,002 worlds, beneath the icy seas of 301 moons, and—’”

      “The name at the collar says ‘Pumpkin,’” said James, glancing down at the suit.

      Sniffing, Carl said, “Yes, that is another one of his names. I will be honored to wear it.”

      James pulled out another suit. “This is for you, Volka.” The other android began giving her instructions on wearing it. Nodding at James, she slipped off Sixty’s coat and handed it to him. His hands went to the shape of Eliza’s ashes in the front pocket.

      Taking the envirosuit, Volka said, “Will I be able to smell through a helmet?”

      “Not if it’s working,” said James.

      6T9 could see her hair rising, and he stifled the urge to smooth it down.

      “Oh,” she murmured. “Well, I guess I didn’t know if the Dark would smell any different…I mean, usually sick people do smell different, but this is an alien organism. I guess I’ll have to know by feel.”

      Static flared beneath 6T9’s skin as the implications sunk in. They were going to determine the pathogen’s presence by a sense he didn’t possess and was close to “magic” in his opinion.

      He followed Volka with his eyes as she made her way to the narrow aisle at the rear of the bridge. Sundancer was transparent, and the floor, walls, and ceiling of the aisle were nearly imperceptible. Volka appeared to be walking in open air above the trees. It was almost like magic. She turned to the right and disappeared into one of the ship’s tiny rooms, and he was staring at mountain peaks and empty sky.

      James grumbled, “And maybe we’ll find our missing crew with a divining rod while we’re at it.”

      6T9’s circuits sparked. James was just as uncomfortable with the werfle’s and Volka’s “sixth sense.” That they were uncomfortable didn’t mean it wasn’t real. “Any technology significantly advanced is indistinguishable from magic,” 6T9 said, quoting a twenty-first-century philosopher.

      James rolled his eyes. “Telepathy isn’t technology, it’s…” he winced and shuddered.

      “To ancient humans, the heightened senses of animals appeared to be magic,” 6T9 said. Cats had alternately been worshipped as gods and culled as demons, which, actually, knowing Carl’s kind’s ability to use felines as hosts due to their “wave sensitivity,” maybe wasn’t the best example. Instead, he said, “Dogs can smell tumors and recognize when seizures are coming on. They can smell fear and adrenaline and anticipate violence in humans because of it. Those abilities were seen as magical.” And human intelligence had seemed near magical to him before he’d had his Q-comm.

      Shoving the gear at 6T9, James replied, “We’re going down to the surface. Get dressed.”

      Taking the suit, 6T9 gazed through Sundancer’s hull. They were hovering perhaps fifty meters above the ground over purplish treetops on the slopes of a mountainous river valley. While working for his former employer, 6T9 had passed his spare time reading ancient books from her library. There had been a theory in the twenty-first century that carbon-based life, given the right conditions, wasn’t unusual. In fact, it was to be expected. Further, the theory had held that life would evolve in predictable ways, from amino-acid chains to multicellular organisms that would be similar to Earth life from similar environments. The trees looked very much like Earth pines despite their purplish color. 6T9 marveled that the early human scientist had been so prescient without the ethernet.

      Young’s voice snapped 6T9 to the present. “Werfle—”

      “It’s Carl,” the werfle declared.

      “Can you get the ship to make sweeps so we can look for signs of human habitation?” the lieutenant continued.

      Rising to his hind paws, suit in his forepaws, Carl spoke through his necklace. “I could do that.”

      6T9 tilted his head and mused aloud, “Carl, you’re using the ether to talk through the necklace.”

      “Shit,” someone said. “Time Gate 33’s scanners will pick us up.”

      Carl’s ears went back, and the necklace crackled. “I’m a master of the quantum wave. I’ve confined my ether footprint to…well, my footprint.” He lifted a hind paw and wiggled it. “Which is quite dainty, you must admit.”

      Jerome protested, “That’s not—”

      “Check your readouts,” Carl hissed.

      “Oh,” said Jerome, eyeing a tablet. “He’s right. There’s no reading.”

      Puffing his chest, Carl continued, “As I was saying…Volka or I could instruct Sundancer to perform a search in a grid pattern, but—”

      “But what?” Young thundered.

      Carl sniffed. “But they’re only about 500 meters away…right…over…there.” Squinting one eye, the werfle pointed a paw toward a part of the harsh landscape that looked no different than the patch of trees they hovered above. Crossing his forelimbs, Carl said, “May I suggest performing a wider search after we check out the cave over there?”

      Young’s eyes narrowed. “And you know they’re there because of your hocus pocus.”

      6T9 looked between the man and the werfle and said, “We traveled here in a faster-than-light starship. No one in the Republic knows precisely how it works.”

      “Your point?” said Young.

      6T9 shrugged. “It might as well be hocus pocus. Still, it works.”

      Young’s jaw got hard, but then, shaking his head, he said, “All right. We’ll check out the werfle’s locale first. Everyone, suit check!”
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      Sundancer rose into the air, depositing the team and Volka in a clearing a few hundred meters from their destination. Volka took her first deep breath of air on a truly alien world. It smelled like plastic. The hazmat-camouflage-envirosuit she wore filtered out all odors. It also muffled sound. Both were disorientating and made the hair on the back of her arms prickle. Was this what it was like to be human?

      The visor was designed for superior human distance vision. It wrapped around her face so that she had a completely unobscured view. They’d told her that the visor would automatically give her night vision, too—and allow her to turn it off if it was too bright for her weere eyes. Her ears tried to twitch, but they were pinched by her helmet. A weere with a snout wouldn’t have been able to put the helmet on at all.

      “At least you can move in yours,” Carl complained. His werfle envirosuit’s ten little legs were too short and stiff to be functional. He was riding in a pack on 6T9’s back just a few paces in front of her. James had said he looked like a “stuffed sausage.”

      Volka blinked, and the Marines melted into the surrounding terrain. Their suits had become a mottled pattern of browns like the tree trunks and yellow ochre like the rocky ground. A Marine she thought was Young waved a hand, beckoning them to follow behind him. Trina set off toward him at once. 6T9 followed at a more leisurely pace, and Volka trailed him. The suit was not exactly uncomfortable, but the fabric was stiff between her legs from her navel to her lower back. There was a gel there that would recycle liquid wastes, absorb solid wastes, and pull both away from her skin. The gel didn’t feel wet, but it didn’t feel exactly dry, either. There was also a heavy, squarish section in the chest of the suit where the filtration of liquids took place. According to the lady Marine doctor, it added electrolytes and the barest amount of sugars and “it might taste a little strange.” There was a little straw to the side of her helmet from which she could sip said strangeness. She was determined not to.

      It could be worse. She’d sometimes worn masks while varnishing Mr. Darmadi’s paintings, and they always were heavy, too hot, and hard to breathe in. The suit was light and climate controlled and had a ventilator in the helmet that was piping in air at just the right temperature. But she should be able to smell Sixty, Carl, and the Marines, as well as this alien world…without their smells, it was as if they didn’t exist.

      A shadow moved over her, and Volka looked up.

      Sundancer was hovering above them, bobbing like an anxious balloon. Volka’s stomach fluttered with the sense that Sundancer was ready to swoop down, trees or no, scoop them up, and whisk them off if necessary. She waved to the ship. Its pearlescent hull briefly flashed, and she smiled.

      Carl said, “Volka, can you hear me?”

      Her ears tried to perk. “Yes, I hear you fine,” she replied.

      In front of her, Sixty turned around. “Did you say something?”

      “I was being telepathic,” Carl said. “He didn’t hear my question.”

      “Carl was being telepathic,” Volka said to Sixty. “I was answering him.”

      She thought she saw him lift an eyebrow and the touch of a wry smile, but then he turned back around.

      “I’m glad you picked up on my thoughts,” Carl continued. “I don’t sense the thing nearby…but when it approaches, I want you to notice. It’s good that your telepathy is getting stronger.”

      “When it approaches?” Volka clarified. Not if?

      She felt a flutter of tiny pterys in her stomach. Was the sensation a sign from Carl? His voice continued in her mind. “I brushed up against the thing and it wants, Volka. It devours worlds. It can control things the way The One cannot. It’s stronger.”

      “Stronger?” Volka squeaked. Carl could create fires with his mind.

      “It was a small fire,” Carl said.

      “It caused an emergency landing,” Volka protested, remembering the harrowing last few minutes aboard the Leetier.

      “It was in a very strategic place, but it was small,” Carl responded. “I’m a small werfle. E=MC2. Have you heard of that equation, Volka?”

      She swallowed. She had, from Alaric.

      “I sense you have. Well, it means that mass and energy are related. My mass is insignificant compared to the mass of the dark waters of the worlds we saw. That said, I do think it has some weaknesses. It—”

      A streak of phaser fire tore overhead, and then another, emerging from the brush in the direction they were going. Each struck Sundancer from below. For a moment Volka’s heart stopped, but then the phaser blast fanned across the hull, turning the pearlescent exterior the color of a frozen confection on Luddeccea affectionately named an “orangesicle.”

      Before she could blink, think, or breathe, the trees ahead began crashing down with such force the ground shook. Volka’s eyes went wide. Sundancer had plopped herself between the rescue party and the phaser fire—crushing the trees as she did.

      Sixty’s voice, muffled by his helmet and hers, reached her pinched ears. “Get back!” She heard a sound like a thousand toothpicks crackling and made the mistake of glancing up. As if in slow motion, she saw a pine falling toward her. She jumped back and a tree crashed just centimeters from her toes. The ground shook, and she heard a few exclamations from the Marines. They were all in the vein of “Gosh,” “Gee,” “Oopsie,” and “Fiddlesticks.” Which isn’t how she thought of Marines talking at all. “Golly,” she murmured herself. She felt an incredible wave of sheepishness. If she were the type of weere that had a tail, she’d tuck it between her legs.

      The ship was directly ahead of them, flat on the ground, in the midst of fallen trees. The pearly ivory hull had turned a distinctive shade of mustard.

      “Oh, Fudge!” Young said.

      “What the—?” said James. “You don’t say ‘oh, fudge’ in a firefight.”

      Sixty pointed out, “Well, it isn’t a firefight anymore. Sundancer’s in the way.”

      “Did the Lieutenant just say ‘fudge’?” someone asked.

      “Did I just say ‘fiddlesticks’ after a tree nearly fell on me?”

      Carl’s voice crackled from the backpack. “It’s Sundancer. She’s aware she almost squished us, and she is very embarrassed right now. Her emotions transferred. John’s phaser fire startled her.”

      “John!” shouted Trina. The android sprinted around Sundancer, and then dropped to the ground as a streak of phaser fire flew over her head.

      “Don’t come closer!” a man’s voice shouted. “That was a warning shot!”

      “John, it’s me!” Trina cried, her voice muffled within her helmet.

      “I have no idea who you are! Don’t move!” John shouted back. Even through the muffling layers of the helmet, Volka could hear his fear so clearly she could almost smell it.

      Crouching low, Sixty pulled Volka toward Sundancer’s bulky shape. The shadows around her moved, and she realized the Marines were doing the same thing. The rescue party pressed their backs to the ship’s surface and waited.

      Lieutenant Young went to peer around the back and called, “Dr. John Bower, we’ve been sent by the Galactic Republic. We’re here to rescue you.”

      “The Galactic Republic doesn’t have ships like that,” John replied.

      “John, it’s me, Trina!” Trina said.

      “What is she doing? She’s going to get herself slagged,” Sixty muttered.

      Volka whispered, “She’s in love with him. Even if she says she can’t be because ‘love is only a pheromonal illusion.’ She’s not being rational right now.”

      “Well, the last I agree with,” Sixty said.

      Somewhere beyond the ship, John shouted, “Trina’s not a person!”

      “I am an android-avatar version of Trina,” Trina replied. Her voice had lost its muffled softness, and her desperation was more apparent. Volka peeked around the rear of the ship and saw Trina, back to Sundancer’s side. She’d taken off her helmet, and her black hair was falling out of the bun she’d tied at the nape of her neck. “I plugged the Q-comm that was located on Time Gate 1 into this form so I could help rescue you.”

      A man beyond the treeline came forward, and Volka recognized him as John from the holos. He wore an envirosuit that was shades of gray and not as well camouflaged as the Marines’. His hair was longer than before, his face haggard. He wasn’t wearing a helmet. “How do I know?” he whispered.

      Trina raised her hands and walked toward him. “I don’t know…I’d hoped this form would be reassuring.”

      “Who’s with you?” John pressed.

      “Fleet Marines,” Trina replied. “The spaceship, her name is Sundancer, and her friends: Volka, a weere from Luddeccean space, an alien named Carl Sagan, and Android General 1, he’s a 6T9 unit, and—”

      “No rescue mission would bring a 6T9 unit!” John hissed, raising his rifle.

      “He’s the 6T9 unit with a Q-comm,” Trina replied.

      The rifle didn’t fall. John’s nostrils flared, and then he shouted, “I want to speak to him. Now!”
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      “I want to speak to him. Now!”

      6T9 blinked at Dr. John Bower’s words. Why would he want to see him specifically? His eyes slid to the humans around him. He could hear John’s fear, and knew if he obeyed the doctor, he was very likely about to get shot. But he had to go, he had to take the phaser blast. His deepest programming compelled him to protect these humans who weren’t pirates or Luddeccean Guard members salivating for a torture session. Raising his hands, 6T9 prepared to go around the ship, but Volka grabbed his arm.

      “Be…careful…don’t get in between them.”

      6T9 looked at the position of Trina, the position of John, and whispered back, “I might have to go between them.”

      “Has your Q-comm slipped out of its socket?” Volka whispered.

      Tilting his head, Q-comm sparking, he tried to understand what she was talking about. 6T9 responded carefully, “Noooo…”

      Carl Sagan’s voice snapped over his necklace. “She means don’t get between them emotionally, you idiot!”

      “Sure,” said 6T9, deciding not to argue even though they were mistaken. Androids could be programmed to fall in “love,” an illusion of programming instead of pheromones. 6T9 was programmed to “love” all humans and his owner in particular, though he’d had no owner since Eliza. But Trina had chosen her own body and done her own programming. Why would she give herself such a weakness? Moreover, she’d denied that she was in love. Ergo, Volka and Carl were wrong. Holding his hands aloft, 6T9 walked around the ship. As he walked toward John Bower, he cast a furtive glance at Trina. Her lips were parted, her eyes were wide, there was a slight crease between her brows, and his Q-comm took all that information and diagnosed her expression as “shocked.”

      “Take off your helmet!” John ordered 6T9. Up close, the doctor looked worse than he sounded. He was gaunter than in Trina’s memories, his hair was longer, there were dark circles under his eyes, and although 6T9’s sensors put the temperature as ideal, John was sweating.

      6T9 took the helmet off, hoping that Carl was right, and he wasn’t going to get any bugs in his “gears.”

      Nodding at him, John said, “How do I know you’re not Kowalski’s? He stowed one of you aboard.”

      6T9 tilted his head. His particular make was a popular “classic” model. “My full serial number is—”

      Cutting him off, John shouted, “‘There are more things in heaven and earth, Horatio, than are dreamt of in your philosophy.’ Explain it, android!”

      6T9’s Q-comm hummed. It was the same lines from Shakespeare's Hamlet that Alaric had quoted to him—a part of his Q-comm began calculating the odds of that—but another part, a bigger part, filled him with wonder. “It describes my life lately. How I wound up with a sentient spaceship—” He gestured back toward Sundancer. “And wound up the friend of a quantum wave-controlling werfle—”

      “I consider you more a pet, actually,” Carl snipped from 6T9’s backpack.

      6T9 rolled his eyes. “Things I never could have dreamt of, that all the time gates in the galaxy had no knowledge of, but they exist—and a playwright foretold it in 1599.” His eyes dropped to the ground. “Without an ethernet…it was genius.”

      He jerked his gaze back to John’s, and the man lowered his rifle. “You are the 6T9 unit with the Q-comm. I’ve heard of you before.”

      6T9 sketched a shallow bow and gave his most dazzling smile.

      Scratching his head, John said, “I’d been informed you were unstable.”

      A rapid sniffing sound came from Carl Sagan. 6T9’s Q-comm unhelpfully identified it as a werfle laugh.

      John looked past 6T9. The Marines had drawn closer during their conversation. “Are we really being rescued?” he asked.

      “Yes, sir,” said Young. “Please take us to the others.”

      John nodded, but his eyes went to Trina. “Trina…that is really you?”

      “Yes,” she said, her voice tight.

      John’s eyes stayed glued to Trina.

      “Sir,” said Young, taking off his helmet. “We need to move.”

      “Yes, right!” he said, running a hand down his face, turning and stumbling toward the trees. “This way.” Two Marines took off after him, but John paused and looked back at Trina.

      “I have to talk to 6T9 a moment,” she said curtly.

      John nodded dazedly and didn’t resist the Marines when one put a hand under his elbow to steady him. 6T9 overheard him say, “One of the others is injured—”

      “Why was he reassured by you but not by me?” Trina demanded when they were barely out of earshot.

      “Pardon?” said 6T9, his processors whirring.

      “Explain,” she ordered, nostrils flaring. She took a step toward him.

      His Q-comm produced a not-elegant-at-all reply. “Errrrmmmmm…” said 6T9.

      Volka materialized at Trina’s side, her helmet off. Putting a hand on Trina’s arm, she said softly, “John could never trust his judgment when it came to deciding if you were part of the…the…thing.”

      “Why not?” Trina said.

      “You’re his friend,” Volka answered gently. “He’d want too much for you to be real to trust his judgment. With 6T9, he could be detached and logical.”

      “Oh,” said Trina. Her head bowed. “I had not considered that.”

      “You should go to him now,” Volka said. “Those Marines should really be focused and ready for the Dark, not on taking care of John.”

      Trina’s eyes got wide, and she jogged off to catch up with the rest of the team.

      6T9 glanced down at Volka. “Thank you,” he said.

      Watching Trina retreat, Volka exhaled audibly. “I hope they really are friends. For a minute there, I thought she might punch you.”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked, and his eyes followed Trina’s voluptuous form, jogging through the trees. “Being punched by Trina might have led to wrestling with Trina. Usually, I prefer humans, but wrestling with Trina…”

      Volka sighed. Loudly.

      Lips pursing, 6T9 reviewed his systems. “I didn’t mean to say that out loud. I might need a reboot.”

      “When do you ever not need a reboot?” James asked. James had been standing back, but he came forward then, an arm outstretched. “6T9, why don’t you give me the pack with your pet?”

      “Hey!” shouted Carl from 6T9’s backpack. “Who’s calling who a pet?”

      James continued, “You should go, too, Sixty. Your medical expertise may be necessary. Volka and Carl should stay with me outside the cave to monitor for…” His brow furrowed. “...the thing.”

      The thing. 6T9 hated the imprecision of the name.

      “The Darkness,” Carl said—which did nothing to clarify what the thing, or Darkness, was. Carl added, “He’s right, 6T9. Hand me over.”

      6T9 took the pack off, but as he did so, he found his eyes on Volka. Her ears were perked, she’d raised her delicate nose, and she was sniffing the air. Her nose was human in appearance, but her sense of smell was more-than-human. Her stature was…well, she was the smallest hominid on the team and the weakest.

      He handed the pack and Carl over to James and caught the other android regarding him with a raised eyebrow.

      “What?” Sixty asked.

      James smirked. Sixty’s Q-comm sparked, and he squinted, trying to understand what was on the other android’s mind.

      “Get going, Sixty!” Carl said. “We’ll be fine.”

      6T9 took off at a jog, but not before reassuring himself that Volka was carrying a phaser and that she knew how to use it.
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      Walking beside James, Volka watched Sixty jog off. He was heavier than a human, but stronger, and his pace was easy, although his footprints were deeper than the Marines’ in the sandy orange soil. His movements and body were those of a seasoned athlete, although she had never seen him exercise. He reached a shadowy outcropping where four Marines were already standing guard with huge weapons that looked to Volka like small cannons. Sixty slipped between them and out of view.

      She glanced shyly at James. His expression was still hard and unreadable, exactly as she’d been taught machines were supposed to be. He didn’t ask her questions and, intimidated, she didn’t ask him any. A few moments later, they stood next to the Marines beneath the overhang, backs to the cave proper. Without her helmet on, Volka could feel the day’s warmth and smell the sandy soil and purple pines. She sniffed, and her lips turned up at a scent not unlike lemon and maple. She heard insects, though she hadn’t seen or smelled anything that made her suspect animals or birds.

      From their observation point below the overhang, she could just see Sundancer through a thin strand of trees. The wind turned…she sniffed, and her mouth watered.

      There was a click from the backpack, and the faceplate of Carl’s hazmat helmet slid up. “Oh, I smell it too!” Carl announced.

      “Smell what?” James asked.

      “Something delicious,” Volka said, and then remembered she was on an alien planet. Her ears drooped. “I wouldn’t really eat it. It might be poisonous.”

      Pulling his head and first paw pairs out of his suit, Carl purred. “Nope, nope, nope, we can eat it. Oh, it’s a fat thing, too.”

      Volka licked her lips and then flushed. Did she and Carl seem incredibly barbaric to James?

      Carl squeaked and answered her unspoken thought aloud. “Nah, James is not like 6T9. He has no qualms with killing and will eat anything. He eats like a horse—an omnivorous horse. Now, his other physical appetites aren’t as—” James snapped his hand around Carl’s neck. The android pulled the werfle, still half in his suit out of the backpack, and aggressively scratched him behind the ears. Carl squeaked and the necklace crackled. “Um, you’re being a little rough with the affection there.”

      Blue eyes scanning the trees, not pausing his rough “affection,” James spoke in a tone that was almost a purr. “You’re right, Carl, I have no qualms with killing.” There was no missing the threat in his words.

      Carl chittered. “I just mean it as a scientific observation about the diversity in your species—”

      “Speak too much about the observations you had as Noa’s and my pet and I’ll observe if I can tie you in a knot,” James said.

      Volka’s eyes went wide, suddenly realizing the direction Carl’s observations had been about to take.

      “You would never—” Carl hissed.

      “Is there anything in the last hundred years of your observations that assures you that I wouldn’t?” James asked in an eerily calm voice.

      Carl’s ears went back. He jerked out of James’s grip and his head and first paw pairs retreated into the suit. “Some people are so touchy.”

      Volka found herself getting irritated on Noa’s, and even the obviously dangerous James’s, behalf. Some things were supposed to be private. She prepared to focus her mind—to give Carl a telepathic piece of her mind—when every hair on her head stood on end. “Something’s wrong,” she whispered. The Marines, up until that point, still, silent sentries, raised their enormous weapons to their shoulders and began scanning the forest. Darkness gathered at the edges of Volka’s vision. Recognizing Sundancer’s fear, Volka focused on the Marines. Their weapons were at the ready, the enormous stocks beginning to glow—recoil dampeners, she realized. They were small cannons.

      Putting every ounce of feeling she could into her words, Volka said, “We don’t give in to fear, Sundancer, we fight.” The darkness turned to brightness so fast, Volka almost reeled.

      “I don’t see anything,” said one of the Marines, the man with the orange eyes. Volka raised her rifle and began peering through the scope. “I don’t either, but I feel it.” Whatever had made her hair stand on end now felt like it was rubbing it the wrong way.

      “Carl?” Volka asked.

      “Meep,” said the werfle.

      “Should I radio below?” one of the Marines asked.

      “No, we don’t know if they’ve seen us, and they may be scanning for signals,” James said. Almost under his breath, he added, “The team should be out by now. Run down and tell them we have to get out of here.”

      The Marine took off into the cave.

      “Carl, can you tell us where it is?” Volka asked.

      “It’s getting closer,” said Carl.

      “Can you be more specific?” Volka whispered. In the trees nothing moved, and the insects still trilled.

      “Nothing in the air but a bird,” said one of the Marines.

      Carl squeaked fearfully. “It’s getting closer.”

      Volka scanned the forest through her scope, doing a full 180-degree sweep. “Could it be coming up behind the outcropping?” she whispered.

      “I can go look,” said James, dropping to a crouch.

      “Strange, it looks like a seagull,” said the Marine.

      Volka reached out and caught James’s upper arm without her conscious thought.

      “What?” he asked.

      “I don’t…” She didn’t know what had made her do it, and she suddenly felt afraid. James didn’t suffer foolishness. But James didn’t move—or yell at her like she thought Young might have. Her fear of James evaporated.

      She heard Young’s voice echoing from the cave. “A feeling? No visual?”

      “Same wing shape as a gull, different coloring, though,” the Marine said.

      Volka’s heart rate picked up. “A seagull…is it a type of ocean creature?”

      “Yes,” he said. “I guess they’re not native to your home planet. Making lazy circles up there.”

      “We’re nowhere near an ocean,” James said.

      It had been exactly Volka’s thought. She swung her rifle up, peered through the scope, trying to see what the human saw. She saw nothing but sky; the scope’s field of vision was too narrow.

      “It’s getting closer,” Carl said, slinking deeper into the bag. “I can’t quite get a feel for it.” Carl’s hazmat visor snicked shut.

      James dropped his helmet face shield, too.

      “I see it,” James said. “It’s not flying very fast.”

      “It’s in the bird!” Carl declared. “We have to get out of here before it sees us.”

      Volka gazed in the direction the men’s rifles were aimed. The sensation of wrongness she’d felt talking to the possessed human aboard Time Gate 33 came over her. Possessed…was that the word? She knew the people of the Republic didn’t like any description that suggested divine or demonic influence.

      “Possessed works,” said Carl, hearing her thoughts again. “It’s not searching for us in particular, it’s just…searching.”

      “Its flight path has changed. It sees us,” said the Marine.

      “No, it sees Sundancer,” said Carl. Volka peeked at the werfle. Inside the helmet, his eyes were closed as though he were praying—or as they called it in the Republic, “meditating.”

      “Visors down—and find out what’s taking so long,” James ordered a second Marine. The man took off into the cave.

      “Hurry, Sixty,” she whispered, feeling it with all her heart, the way she would if she was talking heart-to-heart to Sundancer or to Carl. But Sixty didn’t have a heart.

      The day was warm. Still, Volka shivered.
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      Inside the cave, Sixty kneeled, peered down into a dark crevasse, and turned on the lights in his eyes. Approximately 5.95 meters down a 15 percent grade he saw a human in a suit, lying on her back. There was a flex-cast on her leg from an older injury Dr. John Bower and Dr. Isaacs had described to them. “Found her,” Sixty said to the Marines.

      “She’s not reacting to your lights. She’s unconscious,” said Dr. Walker.

      “Less haste, more speed,” Sixty said, quoting a favorite idiom of Eliza’s. “Let’s figure out how we’ll—”

      To the other Marines, Dr. Walker said, “Rig up a stretcher with the ropes.” Before they’d moved a muscle or 6T9 could say another word, the human doctor leaped into the crevasse and landed on her feet as lightly as a cat. She was obviously heavily augmented.

      “In for a penny, in for a pound,” 6T9 muttered and followed, landing by Dr. Lang’s feet.

      “How long has she been down here?” Walker called up to the human researcher Isaacs.

      “About twenty minutes,” he replied. “We were trying to think of a way to get her out when you arrived.”

      “Too long to be a concussion,” Dr. Walker murmured.

      “A stroke,” 6T9 suggested quietly, not wanting to upset Issacs. “Perhaps from a bit of bone from her previous injury.”

      “That would be my guess,” Walker said. “Her neck doesn’t appear to be broken at least. Let’s get her out of here.”

      Above their heads, a stretcher attached to ropes bumped down the grade.

      Walker and 6T9 transferred the unconscious Dr. Lang to it and strapped her in. The job would have been easy if the drop had been straight, but as the men above tried to raise the stretcher, it bounced dangerously against the grade.

      Seeing their fragile patient dangerously shaken, static flared along 6T9’s spine and he commanded, “Slow down—no stop!” To Walker, he said, “That isn’t going to work.”

      Studying their patient, the doctor said, “Agreed.”

      Above, 6T9 heard Young say, “A feeling? No visual?”

      “Can we start pulling again?” one of the team asked from the top of the crevasse.

      “No,” Walker replied.

      “I have an idea,” Sixty said to the doctor. Calling up to the team, he said, “Lower her.”

      Dr. Jae Isaacs, one of Time Gate 33’s engineers, called down to him. “Her kit is down there! We need her kit.”

      Raising a hand in acknowledgment, 6T9 left Walker and began searching for the case.

      “She’s down. Now what?” Walker asked.

      “Slip your arms through the rope loops,” 6T9 replied, finding a metal case on its side behind a rock. He grabbed it, and his eyes widened at how heavy it was. He could easily imagine it unbalancing an unaugmented human. Jogging back to Walker, he said, “You have augmented upper body strength, don’t you?”

      “Augmented and almost as strong as you, General,” she said, trading his line of rope for the case. And then, looking up, she mused, “Maybe we could toss the kit up.”

      “No!” shouted Isaacs. “She’s got samples in that.”

      Walker made room for the case between Lang’s legs as 6T9 slipped the loops of rope that had been attached to the stretcher handles over his arms.

      Above, one of the Marines said, “Sir, the enemy has been sighted.”

      “Are they in the station shuttle?” he heard Young ask.

      “No, sir. It appears to be some sort of local seagull,” the Marine responded.

      6T9 swore he could hear Young’s jaw grinding.

      Walker must have guessed 6T9’s plans, because she dropped to her heels, grabbed the stretcher handles on the end with the station doctor’s head, and quipped, “Well, seagulls are evil.”

      6T9’s Q-comm buzzed at the word “evil.” The concept of evil was illogical, but it was also probably a figure of speech. He followed the Marine doctor’s movements, raising the end with Lang’s feet and the metal case and called up to the men above. “We’re ready! Start lifting.”

      The ropes jerked, and Walker and 6T9 lurched up, their sides closest to the rock face grinding against the stone. 6T9’s sensors screamed for him to reposition himself, and he heard the outermost layer of his suit ripping on that side. Through the glass of her helmet, he saw Walker grimacing in pain, but they kept the stretcher steady between them, adjusting for the bounce of the grade with their arms.

      And then from above came an explosion. There was the sound of falling rocks, and 6T9 plunged into the dark.
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      The explosion knocked Volka to the ground. Something hit the side of her helmet. James was over her a second later, and rocks showered down on them. She saw boots storming from the cave and heard a shout, “Can’t get a visual! It’s too high up!” There was the sort of roaring whoosh she associated with phaser blasts but louder. Trees between them and Sundancer started to fall. She didn’t see any flames, though. She automatically sniffed the air, but she’d put her visor back down and only smelled her suit.

      And then she realized Sundancer was gone.

      For a moment she was too shocked to feel anything, and then a shadow was above the cave entrance. She felt in her heart, I would not leave you, and Carl cried out, “She’s trying to protect us!”

      As soon as he said it, the bombardment of whatever-it-was returned in their direction. From the cave came shouts of confusion, and then a scream ripped across the alien landscape right into Volka’s heart. It came from Sundancer.

      The Marine with the orange eyes shouted, “They’re hurting the ship!” He ran from beneath Sundancer and fired up at the sky, and another man followed his lead. James scrambled after them, and Volka glanced up at Sundancer. Veins of gray were crawling across her hull, and thick, black water was dripping from her sides.

      Volka’s eyes went wide. “It’s killing her.”

      “The bombardment is killing the men in the cave,” Carl exclaimed.

      A knot formed in Volka’s stomach and she felt Carl’s telepathic—or empathic—command to Sundancer. Sundancer run! You must run! She remembered the “bath” they’d taken in “lava” above the dead world, closed her eyes and tried to convey the image to Sundancer. Save yourself now. We will be fine.

      The shadow that was Sundancer took off, rising tipsily in the air, black threads on her wings seemingly throwing her off balance. For a moment Volka saw white, and then orange, and enormous tendrils of molten material filled her mind. It took her a moment to put together what she was imagining—it was, based on the illustration on one of her paperbacks—the surface of a sun. “Go! Run, Sundancer! Go to the sun!” she shouted and at the same time felt the words in her heart. The vision of the sun’s surface disappeared, and Volka found herself staring at the ship soaring above the trees. There was a flash of white from the still-untouched region of Sundancer’s hull, and then she took off with a boom that reverberated through the forest. Volka’s heart fell. Sundancer didn’t usually create sonic booms…

      A black, boxy ship swooped down from the clouds and pursued her, and the Marines began firing on it with their huge guns but the blasts fell short.

      “Hold your fire!” James ordered. “It’s out of range.”

      Volka scanned the horizon. She saw no sign of the two ships.

      “Sundancer means to come back,” Carl whispered.

      Volka couldn’t see Sundancer, but she could feel her. It was as though there was a string stretched between her heart and the ship. She knew Sundancer would return for them. “I know that,” Volka said.

      “I know that, too,” said the Marine with orange eyes.

      Volka took a shaky breath and told herself that the weakening in the thread between her and Sundancer was just her imagination—her eyes confusing her heart. But she remembered the dark gray veins spreading across the ship and Sundancer’s scream and wasn’t sure.

      Volka’s eyes dropped to the forest floor in dismay, and her breath caught. Among the fallen trees and branches were what looked like piles of black ice sitting in puddles of black water. Staring at them turned her stomach and made her hair rise in her helmet.

      “Some of that dripped on us,” said one of the Marines, flicking some of the ooze off of his suit with a gloved hand.

      Volka’s stomach abruptly seized up, and she fell to one knee.

      “Sundancer!” she said, as a weight bowed her to the ground. Her vision turned black, she felt like she might vomit, and her breath rattled in her ears. Blinking her eyes didn’t clear them; she shivered as an immense shadow fell over her…

      A cord snapped in her heart, and it skipped a beat.

      She sucked in a long breath that felt too cold, and her vision came back in a rush.

      Instead of making Volka feel relieved, it felt ominous…

      Volka cried out, and the orange-eyed Marine whispered, “The spaceship’s gone?”

      Carl squeaked miserably from the backpack. “Yes.”

      Volka’s face crumpled. “I killed her. I convinced her to come here.”

      The Marine with the orange eyes put his hand on her shoulder. “Cry later. Right now, we have to make her sacrifice worth it.”

      Volka’s head snapped to him, and she growled.

      His jaw got hard, and she could see the orange of his eyes through his visor. “That’s it. Be angry,” he urged. “But don’t give up. Be the fierce weere you are.”

      Insects trilled for a long moment. Volka heard shouts from the cave. And then James said something she’d been too shocked to think about. “We’ve lost our only ride home.”

      Volka climbed shakily to her feet, feeling as dazed and as disconnected as she had when her mother had died. But the orange-eyed Marine was right. She couldn’t give up; she couldn’t be weak, not now.

      James continued, voice too calm, “We need to be ready for when the crew of Gate 33—or whatever it is that is controlling them—comes back to finish the job.”

      How long could they survive against the thing that possessed the crew? Surely not the years it would take a rescue ship to reach them…Sundancer had been the only ship in the galaxy that could travel faster than light without a gate. She felt her heart rate quickening. Her hands sagged.

      “Don’t lose hope!” Carl squeaked. “There are other faster-than-light vehicles in the works.”

      Inside the helmet, Volka’s ears tried to perk.

      James looked over his shoulder and then shook his head. “Since Sundancer’s arrival, the Republic has intensified gateless faster-than-light research and development. But they’re not even in the prototype stage. Don’t give false hope.”

      He spun on his heel and began marching into the cave.

      “There is hope. Can you feel it, Volka?” Carl asked.

      No one made any sign as having heard, so maybe he’d done it telepathically. Volka didn’t feel hope, but in the very pit of her stomach, there was a fury growing as hot as the sun Sundancer had imagined.
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      “Open outrigger hatches and extend,” Alaric ordered.

      There was the soft click of switches being flipped, and the hum of the Merkabah’s reactor deepened. Seconds ticked by.

      “Outriggers extended and the net is ready to be deployed, Captain,” Commander Ran declared.

      The Merkabah was a littoral combat ship like Alaric’s last posting. His eldest son had described the last LCS he’d flown as “a fat jet plane.” Designed for patrolling the Luddeccean System’s planets and outposts, LCS had hover engines at the bow, stern, and beneath either wing that provided for agile maneuvering in atmosphere as well as lift. The wings themselves would allow them to fly in atmosphere without hover or time bands. Like his last ship, the Merkabah had grav plating that kept the three decks at a constant .9 G. It had the standard guns and exterior shielding but fewer torpedoes. Unlike his last posting, the Merkabah did not have time bands for near-light-speed.

      The Merkabah’s bridge was nothing like his last one, either. In the center was a holo-projector about a meter and a half in diameter. Seated around the holo at computer terminals were priests in Luddeccean Green robes. Some were weere and others human. The holo depicted the vessel’s exterior. Protruding from its hull midship were outriggers for the nets at two o’clock, six o’clock, and ten o’clock. On the holo, the net extended from the outriggers as faint lines of blue light. Studying the holo, Alaric said, “The outrigger at two o’clock is out of position.” The netting was faintly buckled around it.

      “Adjusting,” said the human priest at a terminal, and the net shifted.

      “We’re ready to test,” Ran breathed.

      “No.” Alaric shook his head, his nostrils flaring at Ran’s suggestion. “I want the outrigger withdrawn, and I want Agrawal to see why its extension was out of alignment,” he said, referring to their chief engineer.

      All ambient conversation on the bridge ceased. They were ready to be part of history, but so much of history was hidden. They had no idea how many historic human firsts were really the tenth or eleventh trial. Men who failed were all but forgotten. Alaric wanted to be known as a first, but he held every man’s life on the ship in his hand, and they would not be snuffed out by any avoidable error.

      “Sir,” Ran said. “If we delay the test we’ll be thrown off schedule.”

      The man had seen the phaser resistant, faster-than-light ship the android had escaped on. He had access to the same intel Alaric had, and yet he was behaving as though the Luddeccean System was secure. Turning to his commander, he spoke with deliberate calm. “We will make sure the outrigger deployment is fully functional before we engage the net.” They would be ready to depart from their destination in seconds.

      For a beat too long Ran did not respond, but then he said, “Very well.”

      “I will inform command of the delay,” Alaric said, heading to the conference room off the bridge. He would take the heat and give heat back if need be.

      “I’ll come too,” Ran said, falling into step behind him.

      Ran exhaled as soon as they were alone, and then he snapped, “You’re right. We should make sure the outriggers are deploying correctly before testing. They can’t expect us to keep to schedule while making us rely on weere.”

      Alaric paused. The small meeting room had portholes that currently faced the shattered ring of Time Gate 8. He could just make out the warm lights of command’s position at the opposite side. He turned to Ran. “We’re behind because this is a brand-new technology. The first near-light-speed vessel was months behind schedule.”

      Alaric saw his first’s hands curl before he snapped them behind his back.

      Raising an eyebrow, Alaric turned his attention to the comm.

      Three hours later, all the outriggers were successfully telescoping from the hull to their correct alignment. Alaric stood on the bridge, feeling out of his body. Gazing down at the net in the holo, he was too amazed to be terrified. The net flared around the illusory ship from the outriggers in a perfect sphere. Made up of the same dangerous and unstable particles that made hover technology and time bands possible, the net created a rift in space-time. It utilized more power than the typical near-light-speed time bands, but utilized less power than a time gate. Instead of being anchored to metal, the particles were suspended in nearly invisible nets. Alaric had read the reports explaining this suspension. He’d done well in physics and mathematics but didn’t pretend to understand how it all worked.

      “Inform command we’re ready to perform the test,” he said.

      Alaric heard an ensign following his orders as he scanned the holo and the terminal readouts. The target was set. Alaric found himself holding his breath. He glanced at Ran. Their eyes met and Ran’s Adam’s apple bobbed. A few men on the bridge were praying.

      “Energize the net,” Alaric said.

      “Activated at port,” a priest declared.

      “Activated at starboard,” declared another priest.

      “Activated at keel,” declared the final priest.

      Alaric turned from the holo and gazed out the window. For a moment he was staring at Time Gate 8 again, and then the net became visible as tendrils of blue light. A warning light flashed red on the bridge, and an alarm sounded.

      At a terminal, a priest declared, “At current rate of drain, we’ll be out of power in—”

      Gravity vanished. The net flared outward, becoming a veil, and then contracted around the ship. Gravity returned, and Alaric fell forward in his seat, catching himself on his armrests, his safety harness digging into his shoulders. The alarm was silent, the red light no longer flashed, and the net was gone. So was Time Gate 8 and Luddeccea.

      Pressing the comm link, Alaric said, “Engineering report.” The alarms should not have sounded.

      Agrawal’s voice crackled through the bridge. “We’re fine, sir, and have enough juice for another jump. She’s just not used to such large, sudden drops in power.”

      A weight lifted from Alaric’s shoulders, and he actually laughed, relieved not to be dead, relieved that their engines weren’t damaged. Cheers went up around the deck. Remembering the purpose of their voyage and realizing they weren’t “out of the woods” yet, Alaric entered a command in the small terminal near his chair. Probably sensing Alaric’s concern, the men on the deck went silent. Alaric’s screen flickered, and his jaw dropped. It had worked. They had traveled 1.63 parsecs…instantly.

      Alaric raised his voice. “Gentlemen, we’ve done it. We have achieved gateless, faster-than-light travel.”

      Cheers rose around the bridge again. Men stood up and clapped each other on the back. A few weere and humans shook hands. Leaving his seat and walking among them, Alaric made a point of shaking the hand of one of the weere priests. Alaric’s face hurt, and it took him a moment to realize he was grinning ear-to-ear, using muscles that didn’t get a workout often.

      Ran clapped his hands for attention and said, “You may have heard that the Republic has a gateless faster-than-light ship.” The volume on the bridge dropped. Ran beamed and raised his chin. “But their ship is of alien origin. We built ours ourselves, men. Ourselves.”

      There were more cheers, but Alaric’s smile dropped. The Luddecceans hadn’t built it themselves. They were decades behind the Republic in tech—and what they did have was stolen. Usually, their tech was stolen from Republic pirates, but the “time-net” they’d just used was stolen from Time Gate 8.

      Over the last century, Luddeccean priests had been poring through the data banks of Time Gate 8. When Gate 8 attacked, Luddeccea had been part of the Republic, and the attack had appeared suicidal. Time gates were, for all intents and purposes, stationary. Their rings created the same sort of bubble in space-time that the Merkabah had just experienced—but only in the space within their ring. Gates could not transport themselves. But after decades of search, the priests, led by Archbishop Sato, had come across plans for the time-net. The gate hadn’t been planning suicide. It had been planning to transport itself away before the Galactic Fleet arrived. And now the technology had fallen into the hands of the people the gate had wanted to destroy.

      Ran’s fable of technological superiority made Alaric’s skin crawl and his teeth grind. The illogic of it made him wonder again if he hadn’t been born on the wrong side of the Kanakah Cloud.

      To the priest he’d shaken hands with, Alaric said, “Connect with command.” His lips turned up ruefully. The only way to reach command over 1.63 parsecs was by Q-comm—more stolen tech. Theirs just wasn’t wired into anyone’s skull. He surveyed the jubilant faces around the room, feeling oddly detached. Even if the tech wasn’t theirs, this was a human first. He was proud—and also relieved not to be at the heart of Luddeccea’s star like a few of the first unmanned test drones. He’d be seeing his sons again.

      The weere priest looked up at him and said, “Sir, it’s Archbishop Sato himself.”

      The bridge went silent.

      Alaric bowed toward the terminal. The archbishop appeared on the monitor. He was seated at a desk. The white werfle was at his left hand, blinking at the screen. The archbishop’s expression was flat, and Alaric had an immediate sense of foreboding.

      “Your Excellency,” Alaric said, keeping his voice level. “The test was a success.”

      Sato nodded. “Return to Station Base. We have to advance and modify our scheduled reveal of the Net Drive to the Republic.”

      Alaric pulled away from the screen. The plan had always been to reveal the Net Drive as deterrence against incursions into Luddeccean space—but that reveal had been scheduled months in the future. He waited to hear details of the revised time table and “modifications.”

      Touching his glasses, the archbishop said instead, “And Captain…congratulations.”

      The archbishop disconnected. A wild cheer went up from the bridge, but the word “modify” kept replaying in Alaric’s mind. He scanned the bridge, eyeing the men at their various command stations, and he looked down at the holo showing the outriggers and the net, but also all the Merkabah’s armaments and shielding. He clasped his hands behind his back.

      They could have sent a simple research team in a simple shuttle on this first human leap through time and space. That would have been the logical, economical, first leap in normal times and ordinary circumstances. Instead, they’d outfitted a warship and sent Alaric with a crew that included veteran spacemen. In extraordinary circumstances, gambles were appropriate.

      Not twenty minutes later, they docked with the husk of Time Gate 8 and a team of thirty-two Elite Infantry Guardsmen were added to the crew, along with the Archbishop Kenji Sato himself at their head, seated in his wheelchair, the white werfle perched on his shoulders. Ujk, the weere priest from the interrogation room, followed closely behind. Evidently, the reveal of the Luddeccean prowess was going to be immediate. Certainly they had intelligence that said it was necessary, but was the archbishop’s presence necessary? On the one hand, that the archbishop was willing to risk his life said much about the man, on the other…

      Bowing as the archbishop was wheeled onto the bridge, Alaric said, “Sir, I don’t know that Luddeccea can spare you for this trip.” He had been the only one to hold the planet together during the plague.

      Sighing, Sato said, “Captain, humanity cannot afford not to have me for this trip. I have some intelligence to share.”

      An hour later, Alaric sat in the meeting room, dazedly gazing at the white werfle. It had crawled from its perch on the archbishop’s shoulder to the table and met his gaze with slowly blinking eyes.

      “You are sure of this intelligence?” Alaric said.

      “Of course His Excellency is sure,” Ran said.

      More evenly, Ujk said, “We are sure.”

      “It’s a gamble,” Alaric said.

      “But you understand the stakes,” said Sato.

      “If the intelligence is correct,” Alaric replied. “If it isn’t correct, intruding in Galactic Republic space—even space that is only marginally its territory—will be seen as an act of war and we may be at war with the Republic within the next Luddeccean standard day.” He couldn’t fathom that what he’d just been told was true. It was too impossible. Too fantastic. As fantastic as a plague devised by werfles. “If we go to war with the Republic, we will lose.” One ship wouldn’t be enough against the Galactic Fleet armada that would stream through the Kanakah Cloud gate if the intelligence was wrong.

      “War with the Republic is the least of our worries,” said Sato.

      Alaric couldn’t squash the feeling that this was madness, that they were being set up.

      Ran shifted in his chair. “War isn’t a certainty in any event, Your Excellency. The Republic is weak. Their people are divided and lazy.”

      Alaric rapped his hand against the armrest. Yes, the Republic’s people were divided and some might well be lazy, but the Fleet was another matter. Ran was wrong and also eager. If the archbishop was wrong, eagerness would make war a certainty. A cool head would be needed to soothe any damage, and that wasn’t Ran.

      “We would appreciate your cool head in this crisis,” Sato said, too accurately echoing Alaric’s own thoughts.

      Alaric went cold, and his eyes rose to the archbishop’s, but Sato was eyeing the werfle. Alaric had the disquieting sensation that the galaxy had just begun rotating in the opposite direction, that everything he knew and believed was wrong, but all he said was, “We will prepare for the attack, Your Excellency.”
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      6T9’s descent came to an abrupt halt half a meter from the ground. The sensory receptors beneath his arms screamed and flashed red. Walker was over a meter above him, dangling from her own harness. The safety straps holding Dr. Lang on the stretcher were only designed to keep her from rolling off the side, and the slender woman slipped through the restraints toward 6T9. Her feet and the case impacted against his chest and stomach with lung-collapsing force, and all his sensors in his abdomen screamed and flashed their warnings, too. Self-preservation functions urging him to let go of the stretcher warred with his human preservation functions. Human preservation won out, but the conflict was excruciating.

      Walker gave a grunt. He glanced up to see her curling her lower body up under the stretcher. She hooked her feet around the edge from below, and the additional weight on the stretcher made 6T9’s alarms scream louder. “What are you—?”

      With a growl, Walker grabbed the doctor beneath the arms and gently drew her up through the straps. The weight against 6T9’s abdomen lessened and his Q-comm sparked, realizing what Walker was doing. She was using her lower body as a hook to hold up the stretcher while she used her arms to stabilize the doctor.

      6T9 jerked up ten centimeters and Walker jerked up twenty. Growling, the doctor said, “Put us both down so we can even out.”

      Whoever was above let them down. 6T9 exhaled as soon as his feet connected with rock. A moment later, Walker uncurled her legs from beneath the stretcher. Through the reflection on her helmet, he saw her teeth flash in a manic grin. “Well, I got my ab workout for the day.” His eyes met hers across the length of the stretcher and through her visor, and 6T9 had the odd sensation that there was nothing between them, not glass or space. She gave him an infinitesimal nod that he returned, not certain what he was acknowledging, but knowing it was important. And then, looking up, he shouted, “Haul us up—at the same time!”

      Walker’s eyes barely left his the entire trip up the incline, even though they both bounced against the rock face, and he heard their suits rip on that side.

      Two minutes and forty-three seconds later, they were at the top of the ledge. Isaacs met them there, barely recognizable from John in his envirosuit with its faceplate down. Kneeling beside Lang, Isaacs dropped his faceplate to the doctor’s and his shoulders heaved, but then he stood. “It’s out there. You better patch yourselves up or you’ll be exposed.”

      Walker looked down at her ripped suit and 6T9’s and pulled a roll of silvery tape from one of her pockets. “I’ll tape us up.”

      Toward the opening of the cave, 6T9 heard Young say, “We have to relocate. Another pass and a bombardment like the last and we’ll be done.”

      He heard James agree but was focused on one of the Marines, Corporal Stratos, who had been originally lowering them to the ground. Stratos was leaning against the cave wall, jaw set hard, eyes focused on nothing, a rock the size of 6T9’s torso near him. He was cradling one arm and the set of his shoulder was wrong.

      Closing up a hole in 6T9’s suit with a piece of tape, Walker whispered, “We have to take care of ourselves so we can take care of them. I’m almost done.” She put another patch of tape on his shoulder and said, “Go.”

      6T9 heard James’s and Young’s voices joined by John and Isaacs but couldn’t make out the words, and his attention was focused on the shattered human.

      “It’s broken,” Stratos ground out.

      6T9 nodded. The end of the acromion, the top part of the shoulder blade, and the clavicle were shattered. Maybe more.

      “It’s my left shoulder,” the man said. “I can still shoot.”

      Walker came over and said, “We can make a sling to take the pressure off, but we need to know more about the contagion before you take your suit off.”

      A phaser shot and a shout of surprise echoed from the mouth of the cave. It was Volka. Before he’d thought about it, 6T9 had bounded to his feet and was taking off in a sprint. He dashed past John, Issacs, and Trina and reached the cave opening. James and Young were already there. Volka stood panting over a creature vaguely like a seagull in form, but its coloring was darker, almost blue, and its feathers looked almost like scales where Volka hadn’t melted them with phaser fire. It had webbed feet with four long, black curved nails. His Q-comm heated. Could it have shredded Volka’s suit?

      Volka looked up at Sixty, chest heaving. “It’s part of it, the thing. I feel it.”

      He stared at the shattered creature and at its blood spilled on the rocks at the cave mouth. The blood was red. Iron based. There was nothing that suggested it was anything other than a bird.

      “It attacked me,” Volka hissed.

      Sixty’s Q-comm sparked. It couldn’t have hoped to kill Volka. It was too small.

      “It’s dead now,” said Young. “We agreed that we have to move out of here. Another cave in will kill us.”

      “Where is Sundancer?” Sixty asked, Q-comm seizing on what he should have noticed first.

      Volka stared at him. From James’s pack, Carl’s voice came in a sigh. “She was injured, like she was above the planet with the abandoned station. We told her to get away. The bombardment was going to kill her and us. I’d hoped that she could let herself fall back into the atmosphere and burn away the contagion on re-entry…”

      “She needed to get to the sun,” said Volka.

      “She didn’t make it…” said Carl.

      Volka growled.

      “We have no way home without her,” said 6T9.

      “Sundancer is maybe—” Volka’s voice cracked. “Sixty, we can’t feel her anymore!”

      6T9’s Q-comm hummed. Sometimes he could tell when humans required an emotional response. Now was one of those times. But his Q-comm was hot, yet pulling down no data. His vast server aboard the gate was calculating something monumental, but it was lacking some vital input. In a flash he knew what it was. “How long ago did this happen?”

      “I don’t…” Volka stammered.

      “How long ago did this happen?” 6T9 asked again, keeping his words slow, trying to cut through the emotion to get to the essential information he needed.

      “About ten minutes, maybe a little more,” Volka replied.

      “Carl?” Sixty demanded.

      “About that,” said Carl.

      “Are we ready to move out?” James asked Young.

      “No,” Sixty said, eyes falling on the gull creature, remembering his “army” of sex ‘bots aboard the Copperhead harrying the pirates. “We can’t leave.”

      “What?” said James.

      “Get a handle on him or shut him down,” said Young.

      “I think we should hear what Android General 1 has to say.” The last came from Trina.

      6T9 didn’t know when she’d joined them. To James, he said, “If they wanted us dead, we would be dead by now. They could do it from the station just by programming an escape pod to drop on us while we were in the cave.”

      “Which is why we have to get out of here,” Young said.

      “No, we need to stay here. The gull wasn’t trying to kill Volka. It was trying to infect her,” 6T9 said. “They won’t try to kill us. They will infect us—” He blinked. “Or you. It will infect the humans here.” His Q-comm hummed, a theory developing in his mind. “If Carl is right that it controls infected humans—”

      Carl hissed. “I am right. It does, and it controls infected whatever-the-thing Volka killed is, too.”

      6T9 continued, “Then we know what they want. They told us right from the beginning. They need help fixing the gate. The infected obviously have their human minds to some extent; they are flying the shuttle—”

      “And are already fixing the time gate,” Trina said.

      6T9 turned to Trina.

      She was standing near John, fully suited, face shield down, and he couldn’t read her expression. Voice somber, she continued, “The chargers for the interior ring that allows the jump are 51 percent repaired. That is up from 50 percent six hours ago. More manpower would mean faster repairs. When the repairs are finished, I won’t be able to keep them from using my processors to calculate jumps to other gates.”

      “More people infected would mean more opportunity to infect others,” said John. He looked down at the gull. “That bird would have drawn attention in a crowded gate terminal. None of us would.” 6T9 thought he heard a rueful smile in the man’s voice.

      Young shook his head. “So why should we stay here?”

      6T9’s Q-comm was humming. “Because even though this position isn’t defensible from twenty-sixth-century weaponry, it is defensible from—”

      “Seagulls?” Young snorted.

      “Yes,” said 6T9. “I have it on good authority they’re evil.” He meant it as a joke to lighten the mood, because his Q-comm was saying if what he thought was happening was correct, they were about to fight a battle they were going to lose.

      Young said, “You need a reboot.”

      “More than gulls,” said Isaacs.

      Everyone turned to the man. Through his helmet, 6T9 glimpsed a shocking white curl on his forehead.

      Isaacs continued, “Near the asteroid crash site, we noticed there were animals acting strangely. Carnivores biting prey animals and then letting them go. Prey animals letting themselves be eaten by carnivores.”

      “It’s spreading itself,” said Carl Sagan.

      “I think the general is right,” Trina said. “We should stay here. We have coverage from the air. You will survive the longest here.” She turned to John. “I want to stay with you as long as possible.”

      There was a moment of silence as Trina’s words sank in. They had 26th century weaponry. But they didn’t have endless power or endless food. If Sundancer didn’t come back, all the humans would become infected. 6T9’s eyes slid to Volka. It might be better than death. The humans still kept their memories, if not their free will. Static prickled along his back. Would an infected Volka charge aboard a pirate ship to rescue a ‘bot? He didn’t have enough data to know…and shouldn’t care. Her survival was the important thing.

      “I want to survive as long as possible,” one of the Marines said. “And take as many of the…whatever…the thing is with us.”

      Young looked to James.

      “I think 6T9 is right,” James replied.

      6T9 had the sensation that gravity had decreased. James hardly ever agreed with him. James never wanted his “horizons expanded” with a threesome. He didn’t believe that Behind the Green Door or Debbie Does Dallas were classics of twentieth century cinema. He thought “being a stick in the mud” could be “fulfilling” and that vanilla was “the most underrated flavor.”

      Young exhaled. For 4.3 seconds he said nothing. “We’re going to trust a sex ‘bot?”

      “He is Android General 1,” said Trina.

      “I have no idea what that means,” said Young.

      “Well—” said Trina.

      Young cut her off. “We’ll stay here.”

      6T9’s Q-comm buzzed with data from research expeditions to new systems. To Dr. Isaacs and John, he said, “What happened to the escape pod you landed in?”

      John replied, “We left it behind after a few days. We landed in a place too far from water to remain for long—”

      “Did it have camouflage netting?” 6T9 asked. Usually, research teams had it to hide their observation posts from local wildlife.

      “Yes, that’s how we managed to stay undiscovered,” Isaacs said.

      “It could be used to keep out small animals and gulls,” 6T9 said. “How far is it and can you give us directions?”

      “About three kilometers, and I can show you where it is,” Isaacs said.

      6T9 shook his head. “We have no idea when the attack will be. We’ll want to send cyborgs and androids for speed—”

      “I have bionic legs and can run three kilometers in 3.25 minutes,” Isaacs said.

      “You’re hired,” 6T9 said. To Young, he said, “Do you have a few others who can join us? Not Walker. She should be here to monitor Lang.”

      “I know who should go with you,” said Young. “Give me a few minutes.” Shaking his head, he went back into the cave, Isaacs tagging along behind, mumbling something about wanting to say goodbye to Isabella. Trina and John followed them.

      Gesturing to the pack on James’s back, 6T9 said, “James, I’ll need Carl. He’s more portable than Volka.”

      “Hey!” Carl protested. “I am not…lizzar dung. I guess I am portable. How demeaning.”

      6T9’s Q-comm was humming fast and data was pouring in too quickly to stop. “He can sense the—”

      “Darkness,” Volka supplied.

      “—for the retrieval team,” 6T9 continued. “Trina should stay here. She’s too young and inexperienced. I can’t have her being distracted by a pretty mushroom or a bug. I want you to stay here, James. Young trusts you, and you and I both have servers on Time Gate 1. If anything happens to me…”

      Volka visibly shivered, and 6T9’s data dump finally paused.

      Slipping off the pack, James said, “Gate 1 can share your final upload with me, and I’ll know what happened.”

      Contingencies poured into 6T9’s mind and right out his mouth. “While we’re gone, work on fortifying the cave with what’s available nearby. Don’t forget secondary entrances. Trees can be cut, rocks can be—”

      “We’ll get on it,” James assured him.

      6T9 exhaled. Of course, boring, dependable James would be on it. 6T9’s gaze slid to Volka. Her ears were squashed by her helmet and he couldn’t read her reactions in them. Her eyes were on his.

      “I promised you,” 6T9 said, “that I would be there for you when you died.” If something happened to him, he wouldn’t be able to fulfill his promise.

      Volka’s eyes widened.

      6T9 winced. “That came out wrong. I mean…”

      “You’ll come back, and I’ll be alive for it,” Volka said. “I refuse to believe otherwise. The prophets Jesus and Muhammad, peace be upon them, tell us never to lose hope.”

      Hope was illogical in this circumstance, and beliefs in prophets were always illogical. Volka would either die or become infected. Mind control was against 6T9’s programming—even Carl’s mind “nudging” gave him static—and he couldn’t let it happen without a fight. But perhaps it wouldn’t be so bad. Perhaps she’d remember him afterward? It would be better than death, wouldn’t it?

      Volka put a hand on his arm, and the firing of his sensory receptors briefly overwhelmed the flurry of activity from his Q-comm.

      “Better get going, General,” James said.

      “I’m not—” 6T9 began to protest, but James cut him off by shoving the Carl-containing-backpack at his chest. Two Marines, Hale and Ramirez, jogged out of the cave, Isaacs with them.

      “We’re ready for the retrieval mission,” Hale said. Smirking, he added, “Droid General 1.” Ramirez snorted, but he gave 6T9 a nod. Isaacs looked back toward the cave.

      6T9 swung the pack with Carl onto his back.

      Giving him a tired, crooked smile, Volka said, “If you don’t want to be called General, you might have to stop acting like one.”

      “This way,” Isaacs said, and 6T9 was too busy springing after the bionic researcher to respond.
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      “You have axes,” Volka said. She’d wondered when 6T9 said to build up the fortifications with rocks and trees how they would do it, but all the Marines had them. They were chopping down smaller trees, avoiding the places where the ground was dark and wet from the earlier barrage.

      “Standard kit for planet-side wilderness extraction, ma’am,” said the Marine with orange eyes, bending over a fallen sapling that, with her helmet on, had no smell.

      “How can I help?” she asked. Idleness was making her think too much about Sundancer, how much being severed from the ship had made her feel empty and alone. It also made her think of what was to come, about the way the patches of wet ground made her hair rise and remember how the gull had felt wrong.

      The Marine regarded her a moment and then, with a clumsy gloved hand, slipped what looked like a knife without a blade from his belt and handed it to her. “You can clean off the leaves.” She stared at the handle, uncertain, and he chuckled. “Phase blade, see?” He pressed a button and a hot plasma blade about fifteen centimeters long shot from the handle.

      Volka took it. “Thank you. I’m sorry, I don’t remember your name.”

      “You can call me Ben,” he said, and then set off to the nearest sapling. Volka touched the plasma blade to a branch and it cut through it like butter—if cutting butter made it smolder. Volka tossed the smoldering pieces onto the dark wet patches. The sound of sizzling gave her a sense of deep satisfaction. She was sure she was hurting It, whatever It was. It spurred her on to strip the saplings quickly, and she was disappointed when they began hauling them to the outcropping around the cave entrance.

      They set the trees at an angle in holes that had already been dug by other Marines.

      “Are shovels standard, too?” Volka asked.

      “Yes, ma’am,” said Ben, drilling a sapling into the earth with a grunt. Volka bent down to pack dirt around the end but paused, feeling the hairs on the back of her neck rise. Turning to the horizon, she saw nothing, and with the helmet on, she smelled nothing, but a chill started in her gut and started radiating outward.

      “What is it?” Ben asked.

      “I feel it…it’s coming…it’s…it’s…big,” Volka whispered.

      “Keep packing,” Ben said, stomping clods of dirt around another sapling.

      He was right. Volka resumed furiously packing earth around the poles, but occasionally she couldn’t help looking over her shoulder. She saw sunshine, but as soon as she turned her back, she felt as though there was a shadow gathering behind her.

      Ben cursed. Volka’s head jerked up, and she found the Marine staring out at the horizon. “The ‘bot was right,” he said. “And so were you.”

      Around him, Marines stopped what they were doing and gazed out at the horizon.

      Young shouted, “Get the blankets and the sleeping bags lashed to the frame and take your positions.” Marines jogged out from the cave, unfurled medical blankets and sleeping bags, and used duct tape to attach them to the saplings. They worked with such efficiency, Volka knew she wouldn’t do anything more than get in the way, so she turned to the horizon. Squinting into the distance, she saw a storm cloud. “Maybe if it rains, it will keep the birds away.”

      “That isn’t a storm,” Ben said. “Those are birds.”

      Volka swung her rifle around, raised it, and peered through the scope. It had been hard to find the single bird in the sky, but the massive flock was impossible to miss. She scanned it with alarm. The flock was so thick the sun was completely blocked out. She’d never seen anything like it. “Get into the shelter,” Ben said, pulling her arm.

      “Sixty’s out here,” Volka protested.

      “Would Sixty want you dead or infected?” Ben suggested tightly.

      Volka growled but retreated behind their line of saplings and raised her rifle to the cloud on the horizon. That thing had taken Sundancer, and it might take Sixty, too. If she lost him...Lifting her rifle, her lip curled and her nostrils flared. “If you don’t make it back, Sixty, I will murder you.”
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      “Volka sends her regards.” Carl Sagan’s thoughts piped into 6T9’s ethernet channel. The werfle was still in the backpack, safe inside his “sausage suit.” 6T9 was jogging with an industrial grade magni-spike gun in one hand and had a crate of spare rounds of said spikes under the other arm. Jogging in front of him were two Marines and Isaacs carrying the rolled up camo-netting between them like a rolled-up rug. Jogging was the right word. They’d sprinted to the abandoned pod, but the netting was long, and the terrain was rough with jutting boulders and ragged trees they had to weave between. Normally, 6T9 would be enamored by the view. He loved watching humans in motion. His Q-comm had given him the happy ability to look at any human physique during physical activity and imagine what that physique would be like in intimate activities. He liked all human physiques, and it was wonderful to contemplate the softness of adipose tissue and the strength of muscle and sinews. The Marines were rather extreme examples of the latter, and he would ordinarily be contemplating how those extremes could play out in various scenarios that involved considerably less clothing—but he was too worried about the storm clouds ahead and the prospect of a coming confrontation. He wanted to believe that if humanity were infected, it wouldn’t make that much of a difference. They’d still be humans, just with slightly modified goals—perhaps only a singular goal: to infect all other humans with their disease. But surely there would be time betwixt all that pestilence spreading for sex and food? He thought of the broken shell of the artificial world, and the world that was nothing but black waters. Somehow, he doubted he’d like an infected galaxy.

      Carl’s voice filtered through the ether. “Volka says she wants to kill you.”

      6T9 skidded to a halt in shock, processor whirring, trying to understand the implications of that.

      “But she means it in an affectionate way.”

      Sixty began jogging again. “Sometimes I don’t understand humans.”

      “Sometimes?” Carl said.

      The Marines halted abruptly, necks craned upward to the horizon. Sixty’s mouth dropped. “Birds,” he whispered.

      “Oh, you didn’t know,” said Carl. “Yes, they are here to attack and infect.”

      Sixty exhaled. He’d been right. “Move,” he said to the Marines. They took off at a faster pace, but Sixty’s Q-comm was sparking, analyzing the speed of the creatures’ approach. They weren’t going to make it to the outcrop in time.

      “Dr. Isaacs,” Sixty said, sprinting to catch up. “You said there was a secondary entrance up ahead.”

      The doctor nodded.

      Sixty grabbed his arm, forcing the team to halt again, and said, “You and the other humans will take Carl there. I’ll spread the camouflage netting myself.”

      One of the Marines, Hale, looked up at the approaching cloud. “You’ll need cover. I’m coming with you.”

      Sixty shook his head. “I cannot be infected. You can.”

      “I’m not doing it for you. I’m doing it for the mission and everyone else!”

      Sixty stood stunned for a moment. Carl’s voice crackled over the necklace. “He’s right, Sixty.”

      6T9 swallowed and met Hale’s eyes. They were dark brown. 6T9 didn’t know much more about the human than his name, eye color, and that he was a Warrant Officer with a specialty in explosives.

      Carl’s thoughts filtered through the ether. “He is determined to save his team and angry at you for wasting time.”

      To deny him would be to deny him his free will and endanger more lives.

      “Right,” Sixty said, dropping his burdens. He swung the backpack around, pulled Carl out of the pack, and thrust Carl at Isaacs. As Isaacs and Ramirez retreated with the werfle, 6T9 threw the refill round of spikes into the bag, hauled it on, and slung an end of the netting over his shoulder. The netting was designed to withstand the most extreme climates, to conceal heavy equipment and research shuttles with holo technology, as well as to secure them to the ground. It was woven of metal wire and heavy. As Hale picked up the other end, 6T9 had to admit that it would have been awkward to carry it himself. Sixty and Hale headed toward the outcropping. The sky on the horizon was dark with the birds, and even though 6T9’s apps put them at 1.7 kilometers away, their shrieks were already audible.

      The edge of the overhang was just 11.3 meters ahead. The way was clear. They had 1.15 minutes until the birds reached them. Every second of that minute seemed like an eternity. 6T9 was acutely aware of the crunch of stones beneath his feet, the blueness of the sky where there were no birds, and shouts from below. He reached the edge, dropped his side of the roll, and an instant later Hale dropped his. The next millisecond, the birds were upon them, twisting around 6T9 in a whirlwind. He heard phaser fire and saw it between the throng of birds swirling around him like angry leaves in a whirlwind. They didn’t attack him though. In his mind, Carl’s voice sounded, “It’s like Sundancer when we first met her! You don’t exist to them.”

      6T9 looked around in confusion; the birds were attacking Hale in earnest. Dead bodies of birds lay all around the Marine, but he’d fallen to one knee, and they were pecking at his helmet and his suit as he struggled with his rifle. 6T9’s skin went hot, and his emotion apps kicked in. Roaring with rage, 6T9 raised the spike gun and shot the birds above Hale’s head.

      “You can kill!” Carl Sagan’s voice in the ether was surprised.

      “I can’t kill humans,” 6T9 growled, stepping over to Hale and beating birds off of him with the magni-spike gun.

      Whatever he’d been struggling with, Hale fixed, and he shouted at 6T9, “I got this! Get the net!”

      Lip curling in anger and dismay, 6T9 eyed the human’s suit. Tatters of it were billowing in the breeze caused by the beat of birds’ wings.

      The stock of Hale’s rifle began glowing.  “Go!” he shouted.

      “Go!” Carl cried. “The others threw blankets over the front entrance, but they’re being torn to shreds.”

      Eleven lives to Hale’s one. It was simple math that even an unaugmented human could do. The Marine gave a furious growl and aimed his rifle at the sky. A plume of fire erupted from it and mushroomed out at its apex. Birds screamed and fell shrieking to the ground in charred husks. “Go!” Hale shouted.

      Spinning, 6T9 knelt over the netting and began unlatching the hooks that held it in the neat roll. He released the first. Refilling the magni-spike gun, he nailed that corner of netting to the cliff. In his mind, Carl said, “I’m collecting fascinating data. Although these birds are possessed, they don’t possess more than bird-brain intellect.” 6T9 unlatched another hook and began the process again. Carl continued, “They can’t read minds, and they’re not able to start fires or perform telekinesis.”

      In the orange glow of the fire plume, 6T9 raced to the final hook. “They can, however, relay data to their central host,” Carl continued. “Which means—”

      The fire plume vanished.

      “—they—or rather, it—will figure out what you are and what you’re doing,” Carl finished just as 6T9 released the final hook, and above him, the plume of protective fire vanished.

      Birds set upon him an instant later. He felt their talons on his suit. He tried to push through and unroll the net, but the birds blackened his vision. He had his eidetic memory and didn’t need to see, but the creatures buffeted his body so much that his motions became clumsy.

      6T9 heard a human growl too close. For a moment, he could see Hale’s helmet was off, and he was using it to bludgeon the birds. 6T9 dropped and began pushing on the netting, but the roll was meters long and needed to be unrolled at both ends.

      “Carl!” 6T9 grunted, trying to unfurl the unwieldy thing. “We need help!”

      Sparks erupted in the wings of birds, and Carl said, “There are too many of them, 6T9!”
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      Twisting a branch over her head, Volka knocked a bird down with a forward twirl. Shifting the weapon to the side to catch another, Volka heard Carl say, “There are too many of them, 6T9!”  There were birds in the cave that had made it past the Marines’ phaser fire and through their fabric, sapling, and duct tape barricade. She was too busy beating them to bloody pulps to ask him where Sixty was. She caught another bird in the breast with a quick forward thrust and broke the neck of a creature pecking its way through a hole in their patchwork shelter above Ben’s head. The job of killing the birds that made it through had fallen to her because she was really good at it. Years of stick fighting paying off again. Ben, by contrast, had an “app” that allowed him to accurately aim two phaser rifles at once.

      Over the shrieking of the birds and the flapping of wings, someone shouted, “Should I use another flame burst?”

      “No,” said Young. “Drains the charge too fast. We’re holding…”

      “If the ‘bot doesn’t drop the netting soon, we won’t hold much longer,” someone said.

      Volka agreed with him. The duct tape was strong, but the cave opening was filled with bits of thermal blanket and insulation as the other makeshift bits of the fortress walls fell to the birds’ attack.

      The researcher and one of the Marines who’d gone with Sixty to get the netting had re-entered the cave with Carl in tow through a tiny side entrance that had been immediately filled by boulders. They’d brought Carl to the mouth of the cave, and now, inside his suit, his necklace crackled. “James! You must go to 6T9. He’s right overhead!”

      “On it,” said James, ripping back a piece of duct tape in the corner and slipping through the resulting flap. Volka bit her lip, wanting to follow him. In her second of hesitation, a bird burst through another opening.

      “Sixty’s okay, Volka,” Carl spoke the words into her head. She wanted to go to Sixty, but she was needed here. Shoving a rectangular storage container with her foot to block the place where James slipped through, she knocked the new bird down and beat it past when it was dead. Another bird came in, and another. They began to enter more rapidly, and men had to put down their weapons to fight them off. Volka felt a bird latch to her back, threw herself against a cave wall, and stepped on the bird with her heel, only to have another launch at her head. She struck it and saw two more latching onto Ben. She knocked one off of him but didn’t even manage to stun it. It shrieked and flew at her as she caught another with her hands and wrung its neck. More of the deranged birds flew in. Picking up her discarded branch, she whacked the one that was trying—thankfully, unsuccessfully—to pick its way through her helmet and knocked another away from Ben. She could see tiny tears in his suit. John had said the disease could be transmitted through humid air for short periods of time, through ingestion or inhalation of dust from the birds’ guano, and through blood from a bite or a scratch. The tear in Ben’s suit didn’t pierce the inner protective layer, and there was still his underclothes and his skin beneath that, but they were ridiculously outnumbered. She felt a mirthless laugh bubbling in her stomach. She’d made it all the way from Luddite Luddeccea to the ultra-technological Galactic Republic to die under the beaks and talons of glorified chickens.

      No, they weren’t trying to kill her. They were trying to make her like them. With a growl, she redoubled her efforts. Another hole opened, and even as Volka cracked the skull of the bird that flew through it, another bird emerged through another opening. Ben abandoned his plasma rifles and reached for duct tape to attempt to patch it up. Near Carl Sagan, a bird’s feathers caught on fire. Around her, there was frantic swatting—and then the cave darkened with a whoosh, and birds shrieked in rage. Volka killed another gull, spun to catch the next with her branch, and found that her target had been trapped between duct tape and a sort of heavy tarp flung over the saplings.

      “The android got the cami-netting up!” someone shouted, slicing the neck of a bird caught between the net and duct tape. Volka exhaled in relief, at once seeing why Sixty had wanted the netting. The space between the knots on the net was only a few centimeters wide—too small for a gull—and whatever it was made of was strong. Outside the netting, the gulls were enraged.

      She exhaled in relief, and then someone said, “He’s bought us some time.”

      Volka looked around the interior of the cave opening, now free of living invaders. She looked at the birds lunging at the exterior. It was only a matter of time. 6T9 had promised to be with her when she died. He’d thrown down the netting, but was he still functioning? “You promised you’d be with me…where are you, 6T9?”
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      6T9 lay atop the outcropping, flat on his stomach, safe beneath the plume of a firestorm streaming from James’s plasma rifle. He’d needed Hale’s help to unroll the bundle. The man’s face was hopelessly bloodied with scratches, but Hale gave 6T9 the thumbs up signal and bounded to his feet. “Let’s get out of here,” he shouted.

      Nodding, 6T9 leaped up, preparing to jump over the edge. The protective plume of orange vanished.

      “I’m out of charge!” James said at the same time Carl cried, “6T9, look out behind you!”

      6T9 looked back, and his mouth gaped in a useless expression of shock. A single bird was swooping from the sky. Its wingspan was 7.392 meters. His Q-comm informed him unhelpfully that it probably had to dive into air currents to take off in flight, and then it informed him of the most likely target. “No,” Sixty said, sprinting toward Hale, James three steps behind him. Smaller birds pelted them, slowing their steps, and before their eyes, the enormous bird swept Hale away.

      The other birds retreated. Sixty stood shocked, but James grabbed his arm. “We have to protect the others.” Sixty stared at him dumbly. James yanked him forward, dragging him over the edge of the outcropping. 6T9’s feet connected with the ground, and he looked up. He saw the enormous bird, just barely keeping Hale aloft, gliding to the valley floor, 2.93 kilometers away. In the giant bird’s wake, the other birds trailed.

      “We can’t go after him!” James said.

      “Listen to James,” Carl cried into his mind. “You can’t save Hale. He is infected, and he has other plans.”

      The birds that had been attacking the shelter were gathering over Hale. He was at the center of a whirlwind retreating over the valley floor, now over 4.4 kilometers away.

      “We must go after him,” said Sixty, taking off down the hill. He’d gone less than a kilometer when an explosion ripped from the valley, knocking 6T9 from his feet.
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      Volka watched through the netting in horror as a fireball rose up from the valley floor. The birds in the whirlwind above the Marine fell to the ground like ashes. At the epicenter, there was a crater, and from the crater fallen trees fanned out like dominoes. Fire followed in an orange and black carpet of flame and swirling smoke. Sixty, who’d been racing down the hill, was knocked from his feet, and for a split second she was confused—and then the shockwave came. The saplings trembled, dirt and rocks fell around her, but the cave held. James took off down the mountain. A moment later, he was helping Sixty to his feet and they were retreating to the shelter. The birds in the sky circled aimlessly above them.

      “What happened?” she whispered.

      “Eh…err…that was a grenade?” Ben said.

      “That was no grenade,” Volka said, her skin prickling at the lie. She might be an ignorant hick from Luddeccea, but she’d shared a bed with a Luddeccean going through military training. Grenades were for throwing into a room to clear it of enemies; they were not for flattening whole forests. The impact looked nearly as big as the exclusion zone by New Prime. There were fires, but thankfully, the wind was sweeping the fire down the valley, away from the cave. She turned and glared accusingly at Ben.

      Ben lifted his hand as though to wipe his face, but was hampered by his suit. He averted his eyes “They’re new…We’re not supposed to talk about them.”

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “Little Boys are what you call those explosives. Clever name.”

      Volka had no idea how it was clever, and her brow furrowed.

      “They’re actually fusion devices, not fission,” said Ben, looking away.

      And some of those words Volka did understand. She exhaled. They had some sort of device that was a portable nuclear bomb. Something the size of a grenade. Not a suitcase nuke, a “pocket nuke.”

      “Hale has bought us more time. There are fewer birds now,” said Young.

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “I heard his final thoughts. If you like, I will share them.”

      For a moment, there was only the cry of the few remaining gulls, sounding frantic and confused instead of filled with rage.

      “Yeah,” said Young. “Do that.”

      Hale’s voice crackled from Carl’s necklace. “To Hell with this.”

      “That’s our boy,” said someone, and there were murmurs of assent through the cave.

      James and Sixty reached the fortress. They lifted the netting and slipped through.

      A nuclear bomb would have destroyed even Sixty, but Volka realized his protective programming wouldn’t have let him do anything but run toward Hale and try to save him. The same programming made him feel like a failure when humans died. As he came in, Volka put a hand on his arm. “I’m sorry,” she whispered. She couldn’t see his expression through her reflection on his helmet, but he nodded.

      Someone said, “I think maybe Hale had the right idea.”

      Volka felt her heart fall. Maybe he had. She would rather die than be infected. The darkness made her feel nauseous and made her hair stand on end.

      “What is happening out there?” James asked.

      Volka turned to the blind. “All the remaining birds are leaving,” she whispered.

      They’d withdrawn from the cave and were flying in a twisting formation, sweeping down the slope toward the valley like a living tornado, but veering in the opposite direction of the impact.

      “It’s ordered them to retreat in that formation,” said Carl.

      “I don’t like this,” said Ben.

      The twisting flock of birds swarmed at a point just over the horizon. More birds joined them from over the other side of the far mountains, flowing into the flock like a river to a sea, and the sea of birds in the air became too thick to see through. Hale hadn’t bought them that much time—their enemy seemed limitless.

      “I’m getting a strange heat signature,” said one of the Marines.

      Volka swore she could hear everyone holding their breath. And then the birds flew off in every direction, revealing a shuttle landing in the distance just at the edge of the horizon. Peering through a scope, Volka could see it had wings like an airplane and time bands along its sides. From the glow beneath it, she knew it was using hovers to land. A second after she made that observation, it vanished, hidden by the planet’s curve.

      “That’s my last shuttle,” Trina declared, and Volka started. Trina had been below with John, Lang, and Isaacs, helping protect the secondary entrance. John was with her now, just a step behind, his right hand out, her left hand back as though they’d just been holding hands. Volka’s eyes went to John. She couldn’t see his expression in his suit or smell him, but…

      Carl’s voice whispered in Volka’s mind. “Let yourself feel, Volka. Turn off your doubts.”

      Volka took a sharp breath. She felt a flutter of pterys in her stomach, and her heart felt light. “He loves her.”

      Carl spoke to her heart. “Yes.”

      Volka blinked. It had happened so fast.

      Carl spoke into her mind again. “Not fast at all in human time. She’s been with him for years across the stars, just in another form.”

      “Can’t see it but based on its last trajectory, it’s about 5.5 kilometers away,” said one of the men with the huge guns that looked like shoulder mounted cannons.

      A single light began flashing from the point where the shuttle had vanished. Jerome, the man who controlled the “local ether hotspot,” said, “It’s Morse code. They’re asking to talk. They want to send someone out to reassure us that they are well.”

      “They could have done that without attacking,” said Sixty.

      “They want to take us alive,” said Young. “And realize that we’ll die before surrendering, so now they’re going to try and talk us into it.”

      A gull let loose a raucous laugh too close by.

      Volka had been thinking that she would die before being infected, but it was still a shock to hear it said aloud with such calm certainty.

      “I believe Mr. Young is right,” said Trina. “It’s switching tactics because it needs—or at least wants—you. If you came aboard, I’d be repaired faster. Especially if it controlled John. He has been working on me for a decade and knows me better than any human.”

      “Should I fire a warning shot?” said the man with the cannon.

      Young shifted on his feet.

      6T9 took a step toward the barrier and glanced back once at Volka. “Could we take the shuttle?”

      Young nodded at 6T9. “We should try.”

      Trina piped up. “The shuttle was the only time gate stable vessel aboard me!”

      Volka’s brow furrowed. Without the shuttle, the Darkness wouldn’t be able to spread. At least not as quickly. She suspected a pod could be made to be time gate stable with time. She met 6T9’s eyes.

      James said, “We should destroy it.”

      Sixty gulped so loudly Volka could hear it through his helmet and hers. Turning to Young, Sixty said, “If we could steal the shuttle, it wouldn’t get us back to the Republic, but it probably has medical supplies, water filtration, and food. Once we decontaminated it, it could keep you safe from infection. And birds. Trina must have the access codes—”

      “I did have them,” Trina said. “But since the humans aboard my gate have been inhabited, they haven’t used the ethernet and may have changed them.”

      Dr. Bower—John—said, “That’s one way we knew something was wrong. They stopped using the ether for anything but work.”

      James said, “Stealing the shuttle would be the best hope of survival. We should try it.”

      Sixty exhaled audibly beside Volka.

      “To get down there, we’d need to use our flamethrower setting on our rifles,” Young replied. “It’s a power drain—we’d need our weapons to be fully charged.”

      John said, “We have a generator below for Lang’s equipment. It’s slow, but it will do the job.”

      6T9 turned to Young. “Let’s stall for time.”

      “Right,” said Young. To Jerome, he said, “Tell him we’d like to talk.”

      Jerome nodded. He lifted his palm, and Volka saw rapid flashes of light emit from it. There were answering flashes, and Jerome said, “They’re sending out a representative.”

      He turned to Young. “Who will we send?”

      Volka had a sudden very uncomfortable hunch she knew the answer.
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      Static flared beneath 6T9’s skin as he marched toward the valley and the single human “representative” of...well, whatever it was. He was not alone, and it was making his circuits flash madly. “I don’t understand why you have to come. I can’t get infected. You can.”

      From within Volka’s helmet came a growl. “If this representative tries anything funny, will you be able to fight him?”

      “I very savagely dispatched birds with a spike gun!” 6T9 protested.

      “They were just flying rats,” Volka replied. “Carl was telling me something about how your programming allows you to kill rats. You thought he was a rat back before you had a Q-comm and—”

      His faux skin flushed. “Yes, yes, we all know that story.”

      “I didn’t until Carl told me,” Volka said.

      “Carl has a big mouth,” 6T9 replied.

      “It’s actually quite small,” Volka said.

      For a moment, 6T9 felt like his Q-comm had gone offline. “Are you making a joke at a time like this? Because it isn’t funny,” 6T9 replied.

      Swinging the large branch she was using as a “walking stick,” she laughed softly. “No, it wasn’t funny. But I was trying. I think the certainty of impending death is making me slap-happy. Or slap-sad.”

      Static flared beneath his skin. She knew the likelihood of her own death if the team decided to fight the Darkness rather than submit, and yet was going to bring that death on earlier than was absolutely necessary. Humans were so illogical. “You could have stayed back in the cave.”

      “The Marines all seem very nice, but I don’t want to die with strangers,” Volka said.

      6T9 felt like his Q-comm had gone briefly offline, and then it hummed in understanding. Volka was saying she’d prefer to be with him at what could be one of the most momentous occasions in her life.

      He couldn’t muse on that, because his hardware started to malfunction—or rather, started to perform its primary function. He needed to reboot, or at least run a system check. Having no time for that, he just vividly imagined being on this isolated barren world if all the humans died, and he was left with only James. James could make a glacier seem warm.

      The visualization worked, and his hardware malfunction resolved itself. They were now within 702 meters of their rendezvous and the human male formerly named Dr. Dennis Khan, a xenobotanist. Zooming in on his features, 6T9 noted his face was stretched in a smile that lasted too long and there was a conspicuous lack of crinkles around the eyes. 6T9 heard the stones crumble beneath his feet and noticed the absence of conversation from Volka. She’d been trying to joke. So he tried to do the same. She’d said she didn’t consider him a stranger, so he said, “I always thought you considered me strange.”

      Volka huffed. “If I wasn’t trying to look fearsome, I’d elbow you.”

      Volka was only 160.2 centimeters tall in her boots. Most likely, Dr. Dennis Khan, or who or whatever he was, mistook her for a child and not fearsome at all. Better not to say that aloud. “Discretion is the better part of valor.”

      “What?” said Volka.

      Had he said that aloud? He did need a reboot. “Erm…I have that idiom wrong,” he lied. “‘Must put on a valorous face.’ That’s what I meant.”

      “A brave face?” Volka suggested.

      “Yep, that’s it,” 6T9 said.

      “It’s hard,” Volka confessed. “Even from here, the man we’re meeting makes every inch of my skin crawl. I can’t smell anything in this suit except myself and plastic but looking at him, I imagine the scents of stagnant water and decay.”

      “He just looks like a man to me,” 6T9 admitted. He squinted and studied the approaching figure. Khan was a little on the lean side, but healthy. He probably wouldn’t expire from a heart attack during the act, however...“I note that he isn’t looking at either of us with any sort of lustful appraisal—”

      “You’re thinking about that right now?” Volka whispered.

      “An application analyzing that is always running in the background,” 6T9 responded.

      “Why did I even ask?” Volka whispered.

      “Even if he wasn’t interested in me, I’d hope he would be interested in you, so that I could watch, but by the looks of it—”

      “Sixty!” Volka exclaimed.

      “What?” he asked, and then he realized what he’d just said. Aloud. To a Luddeccean. He needed to reboot.

      To his surprise, Volka laughed softly. “I can barely see you in there, and I can’t smell you. It’s…disquieting…but your mouth leaves no doubt it’s really you.”

      6T9 smirked. “There are other things I can do with my mouth that would leave no dou—”

      “You’re a android!” Dr. Khan shouted.

      Circuits firing, 6T9’s attention snapped to the doctor, only ten meters away. Had he recognized him as an android because of some sensor or telepathy? Or because another member of his crew had a 6T9 unit on Time Gate 33?

      “I am,” he replied.

      “We don’t want androids,” Khan said, his lip curling. “You cannot be part of us.”

      “I guess I won’t be having sex with the infected,” 6T9 muttered.

      Khan spat, “We do not need procreation activities. Procreation keeps us from our higher form.”

      6T9 gaped, horrified. “Really?”

      “I don’t think that is the most important issue, Sixty,” Volka whispered.

      “Well, you’re wrong,” 6T9 said.

      Clearing her throat, Volka said, “What do you need, Dr. Khan?” Which was when 6T9 remembered that he was supposed to be doing the talking and Volka was supposed to be doing the protecting.

      Khan smiled at Volka too long. There was a faint sheen of sweat on his brow. “We don’t want conflict. We can end all conflict.”

      “Umm…” said Volka. “I don’t know what to say to that.”

      “Sounds lovely,” said 6T9. “Personally, the only conflict I prefer is—”

      Khan hissed and faced 6T9, his lip curling. “You are not part of it. You can never be part of it.” His smile returned. “You will be eliminated.” He took a step toward 6T9, but Volka’s stick was on his chest an instant later. She gave a thrust, pushed him back, and wound up to strike again.

      Frowning sadly, Khan said, “You always protest our advance. And why, when you can live forever with us in peace?” As she pulled her stick back, he shook his head. “Always, always, we don’t understand your fear or your resistance. We are peace of mind, body, and spirit. We are absolute harmony. We are eternal. Those of you who avoid us always die.”

      Us? Always die?

      Volka started to growl. She lunged and knocked Khan backward with her stick. Khan’s eyebrows hiked, and he looked down at the weapon as though confused.

      Pulling her back, 6T9 said, “So, we’ll need a bit to relay that message to the rest of our team.”

      “Grrrrrrrr…” said Volka.

      To stall for time, 6T9 ad-libbed. “Do you have any specifics for when and how this oneness should be achieved? A place to meet? A time? Appropriate attire? Or is clothing optional? I don’t mean that in a sexy way, just in a maybe easier to infect sort of way.”

      Putting a hand to his chin, Khan regarded Volka. “You’ve become more primitive.”

      Volka swung the stick back to hit him, and 6T9 pulled her back before she could knock Khan over the head.

      “Could you answer my questions before she cracks your skull?”

      Blinking up at 6T9, Khan said, “You are not invited.”

      Smiling thinly, 6T9 said, “I got that, thanks. I’m asking for my human friends.”

      “Have them meet me here. No envirosuits.” He scowled. “If they don’t appear, we will resume our onslaught and the process will be much more painful. That would be unfortunate. We wouldn’t wish that. We never wish to do that to you. Why must you always resist? We thought we had resolved this over a million years ago.” He shook his head.

      Volka growled. Drawing her backward, 6T9 said, “I will relay all of that. I’m sure they’ll be reasonable,” he said, thankful that he was fairly certain that the chances of Marines embracing lives of celibacy were slim to none. His Q-comm sparked over other mysteries…Resolved over a million years ago? What sort of madness was the doctor talking about?
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      Volka held Carl Sagan, still in his “sausage suit,” as 6T9 relayed every detail of the encounter with Khan to James and Young. The other Marines were listening, but also getting ready. They were charging their phaser rifles and bundling Dr. Lang on her stretcher. She’d woken up briefly but hadn’t been coherent. Dr. Walker feared serious brain injury that only nanos could repair.

      “It sounds crazy,” said Young. “A million years ago?”

      Volka’s skin crawled. Crazy wasn’t exactly the right word.

      Carl squeaked, and his necklace crackled. “To it, all life is the same, you see. It encountered the aliens and planets Sundancer took us to millions of years ago. It doesn’t distinguish between us and those people.”

      Sundancer. Volka closed her eyes. She’d tried to warn them. And now she was gone, and most likely the entire team was going to die with her. All in vain. Volka’s nostrils flared, and she squeezed Carl tighter.

      Carl squeaked. “Volka, I have learned so much from this encounter, and James and 6T9 are constantly being monitored by Time Gate 1. The rest of the galaxy already knows what happened here.”

      “We may reach the shuttle,” Young said, and for a moment, Volka felt something like hope.

      “I highly doubt it,” said Carl. “But you don’t have to worry about it being a meaningless death.”

      “Wow, the weasel can really give a pep talk,” Ben said, his voice oddly boisterous, even happy. He winked at Volka, and oddly, his words and the wink lifted her.

      “Flirting in the face of danger,” Sixty murmured, and then huffed softly. She looked up at him. His eyes were on Ben but met hers. He rarely touched Volka, but he put a hand on her shoulder. For a moment she froze. It suddenly struck her that watching her die—all of them die—would probably be a tremendous sacrifice on his part, but she also knew he wouldn’t leave her until the end. He started to pull his hand away, but she caught it with her own. She would take what comfort she could. Gazing at a patch of light emerging through the netting, her eyes narrowed. And she would wreak whatever devastation she could on the Darkness that animated Dr. Khan. Her jaw set. They’d take that shuttle, or they would destroy it. Any amount of pain she could inflict on the Darkness she would, for Sundancer’s sacrifice and for every independent living thing in the galaxy.

      “We will have helped,” James said, “But if Time Gate 33’s ring is repaired, the pestilence will spread throughout the galaxy. The main gates won’t allow a transport, but there are thousands of smaller gates that will.”

      Trina, standing next to John in the back, spoke so quietly that Volka almost didn’t hear her. “I will stay with you as long as I can, John. But I won’t let that happen.”

      “We’ll reach the shuttle,” John whispered.

      “It’s time to go, Lieutenant,” Jerome said.

      Trina fell silent. Young looked around. “We’ve succeeded in delivering invaluable information to the Republic. No matter how this turns out, we’ve already won this battle. You know the plan. Let’s give them Hell.”

      The men gave cheers, but they were low pitched and angry. Without thinking, Volka found her voice joining theirs.
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      The “plan” wasn’t very encouraging, in Sixty’s opinion. While he and Volka had been on their rendezvous, a few of the men had tried to creep up to the top of the outcropping to recover Hale’s rifle. They’d been immediately attacked by birds. A plan of sending out a diversionary force while a smaller group snuck around to liberate the shuttle had been abandoned. Now the plan consisted of, “Walk out in our suits. Wait to see how long before they realize we aren’t naked. Start firing then. Hope we’ve gained enough ground to make it to the shuttle.”

      Not precisely sophisticated.

      “I escaped Luddeccea only to die by deranged chickens,” Volka said beside him. All of the humans laughed as though it had been funny.

      6T9’s eyes slid to Volka. His friend had a rifle now, but her trusty stick was tied to her back with some fabric cut from a sleeping bag. The team was moving briskly, at not quite a jog. The camouflage aspect of their suiting had been turned off, so they looked like they were wearing drab green uniforms instead of their hazmat suits, at least from the neck down. They had to wear helmets to protect them from the guano dust in the air. Their helmets should have given them away immediately, but Carl said, “The thing is relying on the birds for its intel. It sees what they see, but also what they understand. They don’t understand hats—neither do I a lot of the time, frankly. I suppose it’s because you’re so deficient in decent fur and plumage, so you make up for it every other which way. Anyway, if we leave our shelter before the human is actively watching, we’ll have a little time before they put it together that we’re not protected.”

      So far, the birds hadn’t noticed.

      Despite the pace and the fact that she wasn’t augmented, Volka wasn’t flagging. She moved smoothly, with sure steps, keeping her head low. His Q-comm sparked, and he realized she was stalking, just like he’d seen her do on the asteroid before she killed something and ate it raw. Her movements were even more fluid than the Marines, and he knew if he could see her ears, they would be forward. There was nothing at all in her poise to suggest fear…Volka was on the hunt.

      6T9 adjusted the phaser he carried. He didn’t feel at all the same. He eyed the rest of the team. They were walking in single file, with Dr. Walker and Trina carrying Dr. Lang on a stretcher between them. Isaacs walked in front of them, and John walked behind, near Trina. The two scientists were armed with hunting phaser rifles that wouldn’t become flamethrowers like the Marines’ weapons.

      When the team was discovered, they would move into a roughly rectangular formation with the scientists, Trina, Dr. Walker, and Dr. Lang’s stretcher in the center.

      Carl was riding in a backpack carried by Trina. He squeaked, “The thing that was once Dr. Khan has emerged from the shuttle.”

      “I see him,” said Young. “He is unarmed. You’re sure that he is the only human in the landing party?”

      Carl squeaked. “Yes. I suspect the Darkness didn’t want to waste resources that could be expended fixing Time Gate 33.”

      Trina piped up. “They are having problems. For some reason, they’ve lost gravity aboard the station. Every single tile of grav plating is saying it’s offline.”

      6T9 looked up. “The bird formation is changing.” Moments ago, they’d been flying every which way in the sky, but now they were condensing, flowing in another whirlwind up from the shuttle.

      “It’s getting ready to take off!” Young said. “Fire at stun levels to disable it!”

      The Marines fired into the whirlwind of birds, and the creatures’ wails echoed throughout the valley, but in the gaping hole left through their cloud, there was no sign of the shuttle. It had already left, presumably on an autopilot routine. Lifting his eyes beyond the cloud of birds, 6T9 saw it vanishing between mountain peaks, taking all his hopes for Volka’s and the teams’ lives with it and putting the infection that much closer to the Republic.

      The birds’ path changed. They flowed in the whirlwind toward Khan, and his voice rose above their din. “We offered to make this easy and comfortable, but you chose to make this harder. We. Will. Be. One!”

      A shot went off, and Khan tumbled to the ground.

      Birds poured down from the sky. The two Marines leading the group shot flames at them. Sixty exhaled. They’d entered the end game, and they’d lost.

      “Retreat!” said Young.

      Putting his hand on Volka’s shoulder, Sixty told himself they’d have a little more time together in the cave. But turning around, his jaw dropped. Emerging from the forest in the direction they’d come were animals of all kinds. Creatures the size of rhinos with wide, flat mouths and skin in thick plates, and leaner creatures slinking toward them, heads down…stalking predators. Outside the circle of flames provided by the Marines, the birds circled.

      One of the large herbivores charged the Marines—and was brought down by four phaser shots at once, but another animal had already begun to charge. One of the flamethrowers abruptly stopped working. 6T9 spun in place. There were birds and animals in every direction. His breath caught in a wasted display of emotion.

      Now it was over.
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      Volka threw her weapon to the side. “It’s out of power,” she muttered. Dawn was spreading across the horizon. They’d been fighting all night. She was tired all the way to her bones, but even if their enemies would relent, she knew she wouldn’t be able to sleep. The inside of her suit prickled—the water from her sweat had been reabsorbed by the armor—but not the salt.  She was hungry and parched. She’d lost all inhibitions about the waste recycling a long time ago, but sometime in the last few hours the straw that she’d been sipping electrolyte solution from had come disengaged from the filtration unit. The team was crouched beneath the branches of one of the alien purple pines. They’d discovered that the branches and strange needles burned slow and steadily, not like Earth or Luddeccean trees. Now the tree was smoldering and that was keeping the birds at bay...partially, anyway. The team was surrounded by walls of carcasses—creatures large as a lizzar, and by the way they had charged, just as dumb. Other carcasses lay strewn just outside that perimeter. The orange, sandy soil was stained red with blood she couldn’t smell through her suit—at least that meant it was presumably still working. Still more animals were coming. The team was down to just a few rifles, pistols, and low-charge grenades. How much longer could they hold on? Hours? Minutes? Did they have another “Little Boy” like Hale had used? She did not want to be taken alive.

      “Don’t give up hope!” Carl cried into her mind. “There is a—”

      A bird landed on his helmet. He squeaked angrily, and the thing erupted in flame. The tiny werfle had been fighting along with them, setting birds on fire and distracting animals.

      Giving up hope was a sin, but was there any sense continuing to fight?

      “Hang on, Volka!” Carl cried. “There is a—”

      There was a roar from the perimeter and Carl hissed. A long lean creature with enormous fangs rushed them, but then abruptly started chasing its own tail.

      Carl squeaked. “Can’t talk…distracting it.”

      The beast stopped spinning. Someone shot it, but another one took its place, and then another. Volka attacked birds that swooped beneath their smoldering canopy left and right. She heard the rumble of one of the enormous lizzar-like creatures, and 6T9 threw down his phaser rifle saying, “I’m out of power, too.”

      Volka spun, clipping a bird, and another, her lips curled in anger, her teeth bared, and then across the carcasses of phasered beasts, she saw a lion-like creature. It rushed toward her on powerful legs she knew would launch it over the dead carcasses. For a moment, time stood still, but then Sixty leaped up from beside her. He met the lion-thing midair, and the two tumbled over the giant carcass that had been their fortress and landed at Volka’s feet, wrestling, Sixty’s left arm in its mouth, its powerful claws wrapped around his back.

      “Help is coming, soon!” Volka felt Carl’s words in her heart, and then the lion-thing on top of Sixty abruptly stopped struggling, and blood gushed from its eyes and mouth. Pushing it off of him, Sixty sat up. His suit was helplessly ripped, and synth blood was everywhere. His faceplate was cracked beyond visibility. “Carl, did you kill it?” Sixty asked.

      Volka turned to Carl and saw his little face squashed against the visor, his eyes closed. He’d passed out, just as he had after he saved Sixty from phaser fire.

      “Short circuits,” Sixty cursed. Throwing off his cracked helmet, he shouted, “James, help me get this thing out of here!”

      The two androids picked up the lion-thing, swung it two times, and tossed it onto a charging animal that looked a lot like a deer, temporarily stunning it. Another lion-thing crept from between the herbivores, preparing to leap. A few of the Marines no longer even had pistols and were resorting to knives.

      “I’ve got this one,” said James, pulling out a knife of his own and leaping meters into the air toward the lion-thing.

      A branch fell from the burning tree. Volka knocked it aside before it struck her or anyone else and looked up in dismay to see that it had created a wide gap in their coverage. She began striking birds away more frantically.

      “Lieutenant,” Ben said. “I don’t want to be taken alive.”

      “We won’t be,” Young promised, rapid pulses leaving his phaser pistol.

      “If we get dragged away by one of the carnivores, we may not get a chance to tap a Little Boy,” said one of the men.

      They had at least one left! Volka almost laughed deliriously. A grenade would rip her limb from limb. A nuclear bomb would rip her atom by atom. She’d be dead before she could even feel it, and more importantly, take a lot of these things with her. She growled.

      John—Dr. Bower—grunted and said, “We didn’t stop the shuttle. They’ll have Time Gate 33 operational soon.”

      Trina, wringing birds’ necks in her gloved hands, said, “John, I promise, I won’t let—”

      “Lieutenant, it’s about time,” said Dr. Walker.

      Volka remembered Carl’s words. “Carl said help is coming soon. Maybe he knows something…”

      Firing off a few more rounds, Young replied, “The Republic is creating ships for gateless travel, but the prototypes are months away.” The Lieutenant glanced down at her, and she could just barely see his grim smile. “It’s top-secret intel, but it doesn’t matter if you know now.”

      James leaped back into the “wall.” Another Marine threw down his pistol. He tossed a small grenade over the wall and the explosion ripped through a herd of the deer-like things approaching from the East. But more came.

      They were down to two pistols and probably a handful of more grenades.

      “It’s time,” Young said, moving to stand over the unconscious body of Dr. Lang. Everyone began backing toward Young—Volka, too with Sixty beside her.

      She heard Dr. John Bower say, “Trina, I’m glad I finally got to meet you.”

      Still batting at birds, but more and more feebly, Volka panted, “Sixty, you, Trina, and James could escape. Young said that the Republic has faster-than-light ships in the works and they could be here as early as a year.”

      “I’m staying with John,” said Trina.

      “Staying with James would be voluntarily submitting to a year of celibacy. I’d rather be blown up,” Sixty replied.

      Volka giggled despite everything, or maybe because of it. She spun to knock a bird away from Young, though she wasn’t quite sure why she was doing it.

      Young grinned at her, looking absolutely manic. “Gentlemen and ladies,” he said, pulling a black canister from his belt that was wide as Volka’s wrist and about half as long as her forearm. It didn’t seem to be heavy. She’d heard that nuclear bombs were heavy, like lead. He pressed a button, and it lengthened, the top turning orange. “Any last words?”

      One of the guys said to another, “The girl on Mars really wasn’t the best, Jerome.” There were chuckles and snorts all around and Dr. Walker said, “I’m sure you two weren’t her best, either.”

      Volka could hear the grin in Ben’s voice when he said, “I’m glad these last few moments could be meaningful.”

      Everyone laughed, even James.

      Volka lowered her stick and looked at Sixty. Eyes meeting hers, he held out his arms. She let her stick drop and walked into his embrace. His arms wrapped around her, and he lifted her off the ground, his chin tucking into her shoulder. It was a lot better way to die than in a ditch with the Guard. Much, much better. She wasn’t afraid anymore. “See you soon, Sundancer,” she murmured, wondering when she’d decided that she believed spaceships could go to heaven. But 6T9 couldn’t. He’d go to a giant computer somewhere. She had the sudden urge to take off her helmet so she could smell the world, and him, one more time. Before she could voice that wish, Young said, “It has been a pleasure knowing you all.”

      The ground shook, and the sky filled with fire.
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      It took a moment for Alaric’s brain to register that he was seeing exactly what Luddeccean Intel had predicted through the scopes: a massive army of birds and beasts converging on a spot no larger than the spread of a Luddeccean pine. If they were right about that, there was also a good chance they were right that Volka was among them. They’d just mentioned her name casually in the pre-mission planning.

      The archbishop’s words replayed in his mind. “The worst nightmares of Luddeccean tradition are real. There is an alien force that controls the minds of animals and men, and it has infiltrated the Republic.”

      Alaric was thinking of Volka, but also of his sons, Alexis, and his world as his mind grasped the scene. “God help us all,” Alaric whispered, even though he didn’t believe in God.

      He threw himself into the role of captain like a man at sea would throw himself onto land. “Advance to target at Mach 10. Away team, prepare for deployment.”
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      It took Sixty 3.5 nanoseconds to realize that the sound that had registered as an explosion wasn’t the strange grenade Young held. It had been the sound of a vessel without dampeners traveling at ten times the speed of sound. Seconds later, the fires started, and it was two seconds after that when he realized that the flames weren’t aimed at them. They were being fired in a fan shape by humans who’d jumped from the ship on drop lines and landed as gently as snowflakes, even though they carried massive packs that were attached to weapons spitting fire. The lines retracted up into the ship, and a second later, he recognized the make of the vessel as being the same as Alaric’s ship on Libertas—which was impossible. There was no ship in the Republic that could travel faster-than-light, much less a Luddeccean ship. Suited humans jogged toward them, making a protective circle on the outside of their wall of carcasses as others destroyed beasts down the slope just meters from them, obviously in preparation for the ship to land.

      A human just opposite the wall from Volka and 6T9 shouted above the roar of engines, the whoosh of flames, and the scream of birds and beasts. “Citizens of the Republic, I am authorized by the Archbishop Kenji Sato of the Free System of Luddeccea to rescue you! Do you have wounded?”

      “Yes,” 6T9 responded, gesturing for Dr. Walker and Trina to bring the stretcher with Lang and Carl forward. Walker turned as they reached the wall of carcasses and called back, “Stratos you, too!” The man with the broken shoulder, tied in a sling over his envirosuit, cursed something to the effect of, “I still have one good arm,” but followed as well.

      The carcasses were still in the way.

      Slipping into a dominance routine and dropping to pick up the head of the nearest carcass, 6T9 declared, “James and I will clear the way.” It wasn’t James, but Marine Benjamin Moulton who was at the creature’s hindquarters with inhuman speed. Lifting it with augmented strength, he and Sixty had the beast cleared away in seconds, and Stratos, Dr. Walker, Trina, and their precious cargo were jogging to the ship, now hovering a few meters away. A wide gangplank descended, and troops with flamethrowers stood on either side, protecting the retreat.

      “Any more scientists?” the Luddeccean bellowed.

      “John, Isaacs, you’re next!” Young ordered, which was perfectly right and sensible. Civilians should have priority, which meant Volka. 6T9 spun in place, and for 3.8 seconds that felt like an eternity, he couldn’t see her…or James. He dropped his eyes in an unhelpful, pre-programmed emotional response that had him scanning the ground—and then he did see them. James was sitting against the far wall, legs bent and stretched out, hands behind him as though he’d been walking backward and slipped. Volka was sitting on her heels beside him, holding one of his arms.

      6T9 raced over, even as Young shouted, “Move out!”

      “It will be okay,” he heard Volka say.

      “I’m not going,” James replied. His helmet had come off sometime during his war with the alien predator, and his blue eyes were wide and on the ship.

      “The archbishop ordered them to protect us and he’s different,” Volka replied as 6T9 sat down beside her. It was the worst thing she could have said.

      Scrambling backward, succeeding in only pushing his back up the wall, James said, “He’s the worst of them. 6T9, they have faster-than-light technology that we had no knowledge of. They could have other technology as well. They may be able to prevent us from leaving our bodies when they torture us.”

      “Does he need help?” a voice with a Luddeccean accent asked.

      “They’re androids!” Volka shouted, leaping to her feet, tiny fists curling. “Will they be safe aboard your ship?”

      6T9’s skin flared with static. Short circuits, would Volka be safe?

      “You’re Captain Darmadi’s weere—I mean, Volka of New Prime, aren’t you?” said the voice.

      “I don’t know you,” Volka hissed, and 6T9 could hear the hair on her head rising in her voice.

      “I’m Lieutenant Grayson of the Luddeccean Guard. You are pardoned by his Excellency, Volka of New Prime,” said Grayson, bowing, probably not for Volka, but for Kenji. “Counselor Abraham is dead.” He nodded at 6T9 and James and took a step back as though vaguely uneasy. “The robots are not to be harmed.”

      Benjamin Moulton, the Special Forces member who had helped 6T9 move the massive herbivore minutes before, materialized from the gloom. “We have to get out of here. An attack from the time gate is more likely now. They know they’ll never get us alive.”

      He was right. The only reason a pod hadn’t been dropped on their grisly fortress was because the entity aboard the gate had hoped to possess the humans and command their minds.

      “James,” 6T9 said. “This is our only chance to escape without uploading ourselves.” He put a hand on James’s shoulder. “This body, it belongs to Noa, too. Don’t you want to try and hang onto it for her?” And then he realized his mistake. Noa wasn’t James’s owner. To be owned by a human was, for most androids, a shameful prospect—or a rage-inducing one. Noa was merely James’s wife; he’d chosen her without programming.

      To 6T9’s surprise, James met his eyes. “All right,” he whispered. His entire body began jerking spasmodically.

      “We’ve got incoming. Three minutes to move out,” the Luddeccean said. “I will have to leave you here.”

      “Come on,” said 6T9, throwing James’s arm over his shoulder. Benjamin Moulton got the other one.

      “Volka, go! We’ll be right behind you,” 6T9 said, and for once she actually heeded him. They hobbled toward the ship, the Luddecceans closing ranks from all directions. 6T9 didn’t see the flamethrower behind them extinguish, but he heard it. A moment later, the scream of birds intensified. He heard a startled, “Jesus,” from a Luddeccean and a more colorful curse from Benjamin. 6T9 glanced to the side and saw a bird with a long curving beak and immense talons ripping at Ben’s suit. A rock sped through the air and knocked it off, faster than even 6T9 could blink. He heard Volka growl, and his head snapped in her direction. She was just recovering from the throw, arm outstretched, foot forward. As soon as that registered, she was running toward Ben, and then past him. The bird was on the ground, looking stunned and harmless, but Volka ended its life with a kick to the head that broke its neck.

      “Move!” shouted their guide, and 6T9 snapped his attention ahead. He’d unconsciously followed Volka’s movements. On the other side of James, Moulton said, “Damn, I love you, woman.”

      “Careful what you say, Son, and around who,” the Luddeccean quipped.

      The gangway of the ship, packed with Luddecceans and the team, was approaching, and 6T9 was too busy lugging James up it to contemplate the Luddeccean’s words.
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      Volka pressed herself into the bodies on the gangway. It began lifting almost the second she stepped on it, and she almost fell over, but caught herself on Ben’s back. Looking over her shoulder, she saw Luddeccean Guard firing flamethrowers out the narrowing gap behind them. Animals and birds of all types were throwing themselves at the rising vessel. The opening closed with a sudden clang, and the ship accelerated. The space they were in had dark metal walls and it was much too small for the number of bodies. Acceleration sent her backward, and she collided against the Luddeccean Guardsmen who’d been behind her and they collided against the wall. Everyone else—6T9, Ben, the team, and the Guardsmen who’d come aboard before her—collided with her. The entire ship shook, and men put their hands on the walls.  Volka would have fallen over again if she wasn’t pressed so tight by all the people around her.

      The ship stabilized but Volka’s heart rate accelerated, and her skin went cold, even though her suit was thermoregulated. “Why is this space so cramped?” she asked. There wasn’t room for the Guard team and the Republic team. If she didn’t have her air recirculation device in her helmet, she doubted she would be able to breathe. They were being treated like cattle, and that did not bode well. She thought of the “pliers and wires” in the guest house garage on Luddeccea…

      “This is a trap,” she whispered, heart beating loud in her ears. “I don’t see Trina, John, Dr. Lang, or the others—”

      “Nah, the ship is just small, and they wanted to get the wounded through decon and to sickbay as soon as possible,” Ben said, inclining his head to the front of the chamber.

      Volka stood on her tiptoes. Sure enough, there was a door marked DECON ahead in bold yellow letters.

      Sixty looked back over his shoulder at her. His hair was flattened against his head, his face was coated with grime, and his expression was drawn. He looked very human. “It’s standard procedure to send wounded through first when minutes can mean life or death.”

      “Yep, your man got it right,” said one of the Guardsmen. “Also, we heard that those researchers might know what is going on down here. Even us Luddies know those scientist’s smarts are needed more than us grunts at the moment. They’re fine.”

      There were a few chuckles from the other Luddeccean Guardsmen and even some of the Republic team.

      There was a moment of silence and then Young said, “That was an explosion that rocked the ship. Sounded like we just missed the missile from the time gate.”

      Another voice with a Luddeccean accent answered him. “Heard it was just an escape pod probably set to self-destruct.”

      Young replied, “Would have killed us just the same. Thanks for the lift.”

      There was a moment of silence, and then the man behind Volka said, “Well, you know we were in the neighborhood and felt like stopping by.”

      There were a few chuckles around the cramped space.

      “Let me go,” James hissed, jerking his arms off of Ben and Sixty’s shoulders.

      “Looks like you two fought a lion barehanded,” one of the Luddecceans said, admiration, and maybe a little fear, in his voice…or even compassion. Sixty’s and James’s suits were both ripped and torn, and they both had lost their helmets.

      “The things they fought looked like lions,” said Ben, shaking his head and whistling.

      “It wasn’t heroics,” James spat. “We’re androids, and we can’t be infected. It would have been illogical for us not to protect our team.”

      Luddecceans and the team shifted on their feet. James’s tone was so out of line with his words.

      “Easy, James,” said Sixty, putting a hand on his friend’s back.

      James knocked it away, almost beaning Volka. Fortunately, she was short and didn’t have to duck very far. “I’ve been on the receiving end of Luddeccean hospitality before,” James snarled at Sixty. “So has Noa. The humans in here are on their way to a re-education camp; you and I will be lucky if we’re slagged.”

      Everyone fell silent, and Volka’s jaw dropped open in shock. James had seemed so...stoic.

      Holding up his hands, the Luddeccean who’d introduced himself as Lieutenant Grayson said, “We’re planning on taking you home.”

      There were nods all around from the Luddecceans.

      The man continued, “Even you robots—androids and any augment-cyborg-creatures.”

      The Luddecceans continued to nod, but all of the Galactic team got very still, and then Young said, “That’s good, because there isn’t a one of us that isn’t a cyborg.”

      There was nervous shuffling among the Luddecceans, and Volka knew if she could smell anything other than her suit, she’d smell fear. She had become accustomed to not thinking of all the humans in the Republic as cyborgs. She thought of them more as being attached to tiny, invisible phones, but cyborgs were what they were. To the Luddecceans, that would mean they were under machine control. Even Alaric had believed that anyone connected to the ethernet could be remotely controlled, but 6T9 had assured Volka that wasn’t true.

      Red lights flashed in the corner of the room, and a Luddeccean shouted, “Hold onto your stomachs, the drive is about to engage.” The ship had been steadily rising, pressing Volka into the deck, but at the Luddeccean’s words, gravity vanished and alarms blared. Bile rose in her stomach, and she was glad she had nothing there to lose. Her feet hit the deck a second later.

      The alarms ceased. A voice crackled over the intercom, and Volka froze. It was Alaric. “Away team, Galactic Republic guests, I apologize for the cramped quarters. In a few minutes, you’ll be released into decon. We have some business to attend to in System 33, but I’d like to assure the Galacticans that the next stop will be System 1, where you will all be released into Galactic Fleet custody.”

      Volka heard exhales of relief all around.

      The intercom cracked again. “In the meantime, I will have to ask you to disarm so your weapons can be autoclaved.”

      The intercom went silent. Grayson cleared his throat. “Galacticans, you’ll need to turn over your weapons.” There was a moment of more than silence, a sort of stillness. But then Young, very close to Volka said, “We’re their guests.” He lifted the strange grenade, the top half still filled with the pulsing orange, and Grayson and all the Luddecceans stepped back.

      “It’s partially activated!” someone whispered.

      “It wasn’t for you,” Young said quickly, raising his other hand. “It was for us. We weren’t going to be taken alive. You came just in time. These things take milliseconds to power up, but it will need…” Volka couldn’t see his face behind his visor, but heard him wince when he added, “Fifteen minutes and thirty-three seconds longer to power down completely.”

      Lieutenant Grayson took it gingerly, and said in a deadpan voice, “I’m guessing I don’t want this to get hot or jostle it too much.”

      “They’re supposed to be shock and heat resistant at this stage,” Young said.

      “Would you risk it?” Grayson asked.

      “Not if I had a choice,” Young said, and this time Volka could hear his wry smile.

      Grayson chuckled, and tension left the room. Young handed over a few more devices that Volka couldn’t identify, and around her, other Marines and Luddeccean Guards started doing the same. When that ritual was done, and the weapons were stowed, Grayson ordered the autoclave not to begin for twenty minutes so as not to trigger the “grenade,” and then he cleared his throat and said, “We’ll have to pat you down now. Would be helpful if you tell us about any weapons underneath your suits. If we find something in pat down that isn’t declared, we’ll have to ask you to take it out, and then you’ll need to be quarantined.”

      Young said, “Got it, standard procedure.” There were nods, and men held up their hands. Volka’s face flushed.

      Sixty looked down at Volka and said, “It is standard procedure.”

      Gulping, Volka nodded. She just hated it. A pat down from a Guardsman meant more than a pat. To her surprise though, the man who got her said, “I’m sorry about this, ma’am,” and took no liberties. Off in the corner, she heard the words, “Captain Darmadi’s weere.”

      There was a whoosh and light spilled in. Dr. Walker’s voice echoed through the room. By the muffled sound of it, she was still fully suited. “The researchers, Stratos, Trina, and I were all decontaminated, and I saw them safely to sickbay. Now I’m back to help you lot.”

      Despite the assurances Ben and Sixty had given her, Volka couldn’t help but notice their shoulders loosening at Dr. Walker’s words. For the first time, she felt herself relax a bit.

      Dr. Walker continued, “Line up on either side, check each other for punctures to your suits, or cracks in your helmets. You know the drill.”

      The room started thinning out. Volka could see through the DECON door and into another room that looked exactly like the room they were in. She started to follow everyone else, but 6T9 turned around and put a hand on her shoulder. A furrow between his brows, he scanned her up and down. “Your front is good, Volka. Hold out your arms and turn around.” Seeing the Marines and Luddecceans in that exact pose, Volka did as she was told, and 6T9 said, “You’re good.”

      Walker came over and tapped the helmet of her suit. A light flashed in her helmet. “Volka’s suit’s internal readouts show no punctures, either.”

      “Ah,” said Ben. “I think I have a puncture.”

      Remembering the bird with the wicked curved beak and long talons, Volka looked at him in alarm. Ben’s front was to her, but just looking at him, she got a horrible feeling in her stomach.

      “Your suit isn’t showing any punctures,” Walker said, and Volka released a breath she hadn’t known she was holding, but Ben shook his head. “It started acting up a few hours ago. I think it’s got a bad battery. I wouldn’t trust it. It feels wrong.” Volka couldn’t see anything, but she could feel something when she focused on his left shoulder. Turning, Ben flexed his muscles, and there it was—a tear about half as long as Volka’s finger. There was blood, already scabbing over, but worse, when Volka looked at it, she felt colder, and shadows played at the edges of her vision. Volka thought of Sundancer, her brilliant hull becoming dark gray…

      Dr. Walker was on the cut in an instant. “I’m giving you everything I’ve got, Ben,” she said. She swabbed it with something, injected him with something else, attacked the cut with something that made Ben hiss with pain, and left the cut bubbling. Finally, she bandaged up the wound and put a thick black tape over the tear in the suit. “You’ll go through ionization with everyone else, but you’ll have to keep the suit on, and after that, I’m afraid you’re off to quarantine, Buddy.” Her voice was too gentle, and it made Volka nervous, but when Walker pulled away, Volka didn’t feel as cold looking at Ben, and the blackness at the edge of her vision was just a hazy sort of gray. She told herself what little chill that remained was just her worry for him and gave him a game smile.

      “Anyone else?” Walker asked.

      The officer who’d been doing all the talking cleared his throat. “Russo and Silva.”

      Two Guardsmen, one she was sure had had his flamethrower die, started shaking their heads. “We’ll wait for our own doctor,” one said.

      “No lady-cyborg is touching me,” said the other.

      Narrowing her eyes, Walker said to the Luddeccean Lieutenant, “Give them standard first aid, tape them up, and get them into the decon chamber.” Turning to Sixty and James, she said, “You two will have to stay in here. You’ve most likely got the pathogen in your lungs and in your synth blood.”

      Volka’s eyes dropped to Sixty’s chest and she got that strange chill and the darkness in her vision again. “She’s right, Sixty,” Volka gasped. She put her hands to her face and had the horrible sensation that her heart was going to pound out of her chest.

      “It won’t hurt me,” Sixty said. “They’ll probably just autoclave James and me after making us inhale internal nano-temperature monitors. It will be fine.”

      “No, it won’t!” said James. “We’ll melt.”

      “Only our skin,” said Sixty.

      “Nope, you’re not going to melt,” Walker said. “Bower and Isaacs have confirmed that the bacteria isn’t particularly resistant to heat. An hour at 110 Celsius will kill it.”

      “One-hundred ten C?” Volka squeaked. That was hotter than the hottest day in Luddeccea’s city of New Prime by seventy degrees.

      Sixty grinned. “It will be like an hour at the sauna.”

      “No, it won’t,” James rumbled.

      “You’re being illogical,” Sixty rumbled in his Android General 1 voice. “They could raise the temperature to 115 C and we would be fine. If you are worried about the discomfort. Turn. Off.”

      “I will not turn off around them,” James said.

      “Ben and Volka, you need to move into the decon chamber,” Walker said.

      Volka hung back. Inclining his head toward the door, Sixty said, “Go on. Really, we will be fine.”

      Ben put a hand on her shoulder and drew her away. “They will.”

      Volka looked up at Ben. She couldn’t see his face with the lights reflecting on his helmet. She swallowed. Would he be fine?
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      The door between 6T9 and Volka closed, but there was a window, and 6T9 followed the pair with his eyes. Ben blended into all the other suited humans, but Volka was so tiny, she was impossible to miss. His eyes fell on the human man’s hand on her shoulder, and he snapped a hand behind his neck to control his head tic.

      “Don’t worry, he’ll be going to quarantine,” James said.

      Turning to James, 6T9 said, “I will worry about that. Walker applied all the standard anti-bacterial agents but if the pathogen is exceptionally virulent, he could die.” And he seemed like a nice enough human.

      “You’re not the slightest bit jealous?” James asked.

      “I am programmed not to be jealous, James.”

      “Uh-huh.”

      “I would miss her if she didn’t live on the asteroid, though,” 6T9 admitted. “Even though she kills deer and rats and eats them raw.” He closed his eyes. But Volka also enjoyed listening to him read books from ancient Earth while she sketched. And she always said “please” and “thank you” to him and basically treated him with courtesy and respect...aside from their argument in the elevator on Copernicus City. That seemed like a long time ago now, though it was less than forty-eight hours past.

      “I am going to reboot,” 6T9 said. He desperately needed to. Obviously.

      Pacing the small space like a caged animal, James ran a hand through his hair, and his face was drawn. “Don’t reboot and leave me here alone.”

      6T9’s circuits sparked. “You’re acting exactly like a human with PTSD.” And if a human had gone through what James had gone through, that would be understandable. But James wasn’t human.

      His friend stopped pacing, turned to 6T9 and said, “Well, that’s obviously impossible. I’m not programmed to experience PTSD.”

      6T9’s Q-comm hummed, trying to determine if he’d heard sarcasm in James’s voice and what that could possibly imply, but also if James was malfunctioning and simply in need of a reboot as 6T9 was. There was also an 88.2 percent chance that what 6T9 was actually hearing was offense. No android liked to be called illogical.

      An intercom cracked in the wall, and Walker’s voice echoed in the chamber. “Hey guys, there is an incineration box in the side of the wall. See the red handle?”

      6T9 replied, “Yes.”

      “You need to take off your suits and put them in there,” Walker said.

      Static flared under his skin and 6T9 touched the packet of Eliza’s ashes under his suit. “I have an item I want to keep. It’s imper-seal plastic. May I please keep it with me?”

      There was a moment of silence in which all of 6T9’s circuits dimmed, but then Walker said, “Sure, that’s fine. Autoclaving at that temperature will kill any bugs even if the seal is broken. Your suits with the heat shield layers are another matter.”

      “Understood,” said 6T9, circuits firing so brightly he almost couldn’t see.

      “That’s very sentimental of you,” James said. James was one of the few androids who knew of the packet’s existence.

      “I was programmed to be sentimental to Eliza,” 6T9 said. “She was my owner.”

      “Uh huh,” said James.

      Too busy stripping off his suit to ponder what that meant, 6T9 grinned. “It’s going to be exactly like a sauna. Are you sure you don’t want me to reboot?” Lifting his head, he winked at James, but the other android’s back was to him.

      Instead of the gruff reply that he expected, James said softly, “I can’t do this alone, 6T9.”

      He did sound like a human in trauma. Which, as James had said, was impossible. Or had he? 6T9’s eyes went to the window in the door, but couldn’t see anything other than the other room’s lights.
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      In the Captain’s chair, Alaric’s gaze drifted to the monitors and System 33’s distant sun. A light beeping caught his attention, and he pressed a button to the side of his armrest. “Report, Dr. Choi?”

      “Dr. Lang is now awake, and her condition is stable. Aside from minor abrasions, the other researchers from Time Gate 33 are fine. We’ve been monitoring our troops and the evacuees in decon and the outer airlock. The Republic doctor has been assisting them.”

      “Any suit breaches?” Alaric asked.

      “Five—Silva and Russo and three of theirs—”

      Alaric didn’t want to ask who, even though his chest felt heavy. Please, not Volka.

      “—one of their Marines and two androids,” Dr. Choi finished, and Alaric’s shoulders loosened. “According to the staff from Time Gate 33, the androids can be cooked at 110 C for an hour and be effectively sterilized.”

      “The outer airlock can be used for that,” Alaric said.

      “Our thoughts exactly, sir. Although, sir, Commander Ran has suggested we release them from the airlock. As we’re stationary, they’d be easy to retrieve, and the vacuum would incapacitate—”

      “We’re not going to incapacitate them.” Alaric’s jaw tightened. He’d like to. He didn’t trust the things aboard his ship, but it was by the archbishop’s orders. His hands curled until his nails bit his palms. He was taking a leap of faith for a man of faith. Alaric himself had no faith. He exhaled and reminded himself that Sato had more than faith...he had intel. His eyes roved across the bridge and caught on Sato’s neural port…and the man had experience with Galacticans and their technology.

      Choi cleared his throat. “The humans will need to be quarantined.”

      Alaric’s chest got tight as he thought of his two men. The Merkabah had jumped four times in twenty-four hours—during the test, back to Time Gate 8, to System 33, and to the asteroid belt at the edge of System 33, far from where Time Gate 33’s defenses could reach them in less than a standard Earth year. They didn’t have business in System 33; that had been a lie on Alaric’s part. They simply hadn’t had time to calculate a more suitable jump after the rescue.

      In truth, their hover engines were offline because of the avian onslaught, and their nets were drained. They’d need fifteen hours for repairs and for the nets to recharge. With the addition of the Galactic Republic refugees, they were going to be packed tight. “The brig is the only place we can spare. Seal them for quarantine but make them comfortable. Make sure the guards know our men being quarantined have served with honor and that the Galactic Marine is our guest.”

      “Yes, sir,” said Dr. Choi. Alaric disconnected and stared at the hologram of S33O4 and Time Gate 33. They’d reached the planet at just the right time within one hundred kilometers of their target. Also, they’d correctly divined the nature of their enemy. An army of dumb animals that should have been at each other’s throats, not aligned against humans. “To make the humans part of their own,” their intel had said. That was the only bit of information not confirmed. He rubbed his chin. The Galactic Marines had obviously been surprised by the situation on the ground. How had Luddeccean Intelligence wound up superior to the intel of the Galactic Republic? Granted, System 33 was unsettled, and therefore only nominally part of their territory. Still, the Republic was so much more advanced than the Luddecceans. Luddeccea had its spies in the Republic, but most Luddeccean tech stolen from pirates was decades out of date. He eyed the archbishop, seated in his wheelchair not far away, staring into the depths of the hologram just as Alaric had been doing. The archbishop’s neural port glinted in the holo-light, and the white werfle was perched on the armrest, seemingly mesmerized by the holo as well.

      Loud enough to be heard by them both, Alaric mused, “The intelligence gathering for this mission was more accurate than I’m used to dealing with.”

      The archbishop scratched the werfle’s head. “Isssh was in communication with the werfle among their party and was able to supply us with real-time information.” He frowned, and his hand paused. “Until their werfle passed out from exhaustion. Isssh believes he’ll make a full recovery.” His fingers resumed scratching the white werfle behind the ears.

      Alaric’s heart stopped. The words you’re mad were on the tip of his tongue. Biting them back, his heart resumed beating at double time. He almost asked if the archbishop thought he was crazy, but then Sato tilted his head and said, “Haven’t the events of today assured you that there are more things on heaven and Earth than dreamt of in our science, Captain?”

      A shiver raced along Alaric’s spine. Not since that fateful day on Libertas when his mind had slid over the android in the inn had his life been anything like he’d dreamt. The universe where he knew his enemies and his friends, where he knew his place, had all but shattered. He thought of the spaceship that traveled without a soundwave, that withstood phaser blasts as though they were soap bubbles, and leaped through space and time in the blink of an eye—something that his physics and engineering classes had taught him would be impossible for a single vessel. Even his certainty in the laws of nature had been shattered. And he was now captain of a vessel that violated one of those laws.

      Alaric was saved from having to answer when the blue light on his armrest started blinking. “Yes, Ran?” Alaric asked, his voice remarkably steady, considering.

      “Captain, I’ve learned something from our guests you and the archbishop need to know.” Ran’s voice was shaky, not cocky or condescending.

      “We’ll be right down,” Alaric said, wondering what had unnerved his First Officer.

      “We should invite the engineer, Dr. John Bower, and the android, Trina, to the meeting,” said the archbishop, the weere priest Ujk already wheeling him toward the door. “It will save time.”

      Alaric rose from his seat. “It sounds like you already know what Ran has to tell us,” he whispered. He felt lightheaded and as though the gravity was malfunctioning.

      “We know what Ran heard, but not nearly enough,” said Sato. The elevator put on the Merkabah specifically for the archbishop opened, and Ujk backed Sato in. “Come, Captain,” said the archbishop. “The human race has need of you again.”

      How could someone who knew as little as Alaric be at all of use to the human race? He knew better than to show his unease. Head high, he followed them into the elevator but was amazed when he didn’t stumble on the way.
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      A voice with a Luddeccean accent came over a speaker. “Prepare for ionization and gamma radiation.” Volka swallowed and looked around her.

      Within the helmets of the Luddecceans, dark gray shutters came down, completely hiding their faces. Volka started.

      “Don’t worry,” Ben said. “The composite in the visors of our helmets is resistant to radiation. We don’t need any internal plates in our visors to protect us.”

      “They’re purposely exposing us to radiation?” Volka asked.

      “First stage of decon. Works really well,” said Ben. “Hold out your arms.”

      He lifted his arms, as did everyone else. Volka copied.

      Red lights flashed in the corners of the ceiling. “It will last a minute or so, I suspect,” Ben said. Sure enough, the light stopped flashing a few minutes later. “Irradiation complete,” said the voice in the intercom. In the Luddeccean helmets, the “plates” retracted but no one lowered their arms. “Commencing alcohol shower,” said the voice, and then from every direction liquid began firing at them—alcohol, Volka presumed. It rained down from above their heads, sloshing down their visors in sheets instead of rivulets. It fired from the ceiling corners at their shoulders and arms. It came from the corners where their walls met the floor. It even gurgled up from the floor itself. Volka could feel the pressure beneath her boots. For once, she was glad she couldn’t smell anything outside her suit. The sprayers stopped, but no one lowered their arms. The intercom said, “Commencing evaporation.” Blasts of air hit them from every angle and only when they were done did anyone lower their arms.

      “Those with suit breaches will proceed to quarantine now,” said the intercom.

      Everyone stepped aside and Ben and the two Luddecceans walked to the front, all of their gear on. It occurred to Volka that the suits could keep germs out—or keep them in. Lieutenant Young stepped up to Ben, but before he said a word, Ben said, “I’ll be all right, sir.” For a moment, they said nothing, but then Young nodded and stepped back. A door opened to the ship proper, and Volka saw two armed Luddecceans in suits of their own. The three humans with suit breaches left the room, and the door whooshed shut.

      The intercom came on again. “The captain has requested you wait here for further orders. You’re free to take off your helmets.”

      There was a moment of silence, and then slowly, helmets came off. Volka took off hers and was assailed by the lingering scent of the isopropyl alcohol shower, sweat, human males, and Walker. Of course, the Luddecceans would have no women among them. For a few moments, the Luddecceans and the Galacticans regarded each other, and then Young held out a hand to Grayson. “I’m Lieutenant Young of the Galactic Marines.” Shaking Young’s hand, Grayson introduced himself. The humans around Volka seemed to unwind. Soon they were laughing and talking as though they weren’t on opposite sides, which, Volka supposed, for the moment, they weren’t. They didn’t look that different, she noted. Their haircuts were the same. The races of old Earth had blended hundreds of years ago, with people who were blonde and blue-eyed like James, or dark haired and dark skinned like Noa, being the exception. The Luddecceans and Galacticans all reflected that blend. The only notable differences between them—besides the lack of neural ports—were that the Galacticans all had perfectly straight teeth and clear skin with no sign of acne. Also, when the Galacticans looked at her, their eyes were soft. The covert glances she caught from the Luddecceans were angry.

      Volka shifted on her feet. They thought Alaric was her patron. It protected her, but it also upset the natural order of things. They thought she had power she didn’t have.

      Fortunately, as time went on, more glances went to the door and the intercom. After a long while, one of the Luddecceans said, “How long have we been in here?” and a Galactican replied, “Forty-five minutes, sixteen seconds, and forty-two milliseconds,” without consulting a chronometer. All the Luddecceans shifted away from the Marines as though mental chronometers were both undesirable and contagious.

      “Might as well settle in, boys,” said Grayson, and the Luddecceans and the Marines took seats on opposite sides of the wall. Volka sat next to the door separating the team from Sixty and James. There was a light spilling from the tiny window. Volka guessed it was from Sixty’s “invisi-filaments” that charged in heat or stunner fire, but she didn’t peek in, trying to remain as unnoticed as possible.

      One of the Luddecceans, sitting on his butt, leaning against the wall with his legs outstretched, said, “So on the remote chance we get shore leave in System 1, where would a guy go to meet a weere?”

      Ears curling, Volka flushed from her hairline to her toes and stared at the floor. In the context he was using, “weere” was the same as “whore.”

      “Well, we don’t have so many weere as you do on Luddeccea,” said one of the Galacticans.

      “What are you saying, soldier?” said one of the Luddeccean Guardsmen, his voice rising in mock, or not so mock, anger.

      “Who you calling soldier?” a Marine quipped. “We’re Marines.”

      Scratching behind an ear, looking somewhat confused, the first Marine said, “But I guess there are a few left in System 11 where they originated...”

      Despite her state of shame and embarrassment, Volka’s ears perked.

      “...Ben’s grandma is a weere, if I remember right,” the Marine finished, and suddenly Ben’s orange eyes made sense. Also, he’d known Sundancer was hurt, hadn’t he? Was he wave sensitive?

      At the Marine’s statement, the Luddecceans looked confused. They might or might not know that weere and humans could reproduce, but whether they did or didn’t, they’d think that the Marine had just called his possibly plague-infected fellow brother-in-arms’s grandmother a whore. And if they did know weere and humans could have children, they’d never admit they were descendants of weere. The Luddecceans’ feet shuffled, and their eyes slid to one another.

      Volka glanced at the Fleet Marines to see how they were taking all of this and found her eyes meeting Lieutenant Young’s. The Lieutenant looked angry, though Volka wasn’t sure why.

      The other Fleet Marine continued, oblivious, “‘Course, if it was my first and only time in System 1, I would head straight to Kabukicho in Japan or Dongguan in China. They have the best sex ‘bots. You can get anything with sex ‘bots.”

      The Luddecceans made noises of disgust and revulsion.

      “What? You afraid they got robot teeth that will bite your peckers off or something?” said a Marine, sounding incredulous.

      In Volka’s Luddeccean paperbacks, that was a theme that came up frequently. Oftentimes the robots had teeth where they weren’t supposed to. A glance at the Luddeccean Guardsmen confirmed they’d probably read those same books.

      “They got diseases!” said one of the Luddecceans defensively.

      “What?” said a Marine. “They aren’t human, and they can wash down with isopropyl or even bleach before each customer.”

      “And you can get anything you want—” said the first Marine. He went into a rather graphic description of some of the things a man could want, joined by his fellow Marines and even Walker. At the end, the Marine added, “And they like anything you do to them.” His voice was cheerful, with not even a hint of a leer, but Volka couldn’t help but think of the ‘bot who looked like a twelve-year-old boy aboard the Copperhead and all his terrible scars.

      The conversation was interrupted by the whoosh of the door opening. A Guardsman carrying a pile of neatly folded clothing entered. Behind him stood a man who might have been an officer, but Volka didn’t know enough about ribbons to say what rank. Before anyone could get up, the maybe-officer said, “Don’t get up. Captain’s in a meeting with some of the Galactic researchers and the archbishop. He wants you to stay put.”

      The man with the clothes walked to where Volka was seated, opened a little hatch that she hadn’t realized was above her shoulder, deposited the clothes in it, pressed a button and said, “Clothing for you, Robots,” and then sealed the hatch and walked away, fast, as though he’d been burned. The door to the hallway whooshed shut as he left, and the Luddeccean Guardsmen and the Galactic Guardsmen were left regarding one another again.

      “Welp,” said Young, after a long moment. “Hurry up and wait. Kind of makes me feel at home.”

      There was laughter from both sides of the room, but Volka couldn’t help but wonder, wait for what? She pulled her knees up to her chest. “Carl,” she whispered, trying to say the werfle’s name with her heart. There was no answer. “Sundancer?” she murmured, before she remembered the spaceship was gone. She felt a gnawing emptiness not just in her stomach, but at the end of every nerve ending, and shivered. Around her, conversation was buzzing again, but she felt completely alone.

      And then the door to the rest of the ship whooshed open again. Standing in it, silhouetted by light in the hallway, flanked by Trina and John Bower, was Alaric. He wasn’t wearing the ‘dress greens’ she’d seen him in a few times, but a work uniform. Made of gray camouflage material, the trousers were loose and tucked into high boots around his calves. The jacket was the same material and similarly boxy. There was a gold embroidered dove on his chest, and stars, but that was the only adornment. It might have been the uniform, but he looked like he’d lost weight—his cheekbones were sharper; the clothing hung on him. She thought she saw more gray beneath the cap he wore, and his face was hard and grim. At his feet was a white werfle. Behind him were four armed guards. Volka scrambled to her feet along with everyone else in the decon chamber. Alaric’s eyes went to Grayson and then to Young—they didn’t so much as graze Volka. The werfle though, it looked at her right away. Her stomach fluttered, and a voice hissed in her mind, “Miss Volka, you will come forward.”

      Ears going back, Volka edged a step toward the front, but then Alaric’s eyes briefly met hers and narrowed. They felt as cold and sharp as icicles. She should have stayed back. She shouldn’t have listened to the strange werfle. A muscle in Alaric’s jaw jumped. She was a woman and a weere, and the whole crew thought she was his weere. Bowing her head, she replied silently to the werfle, “No, it’s not my place.” She drew out each word, feeling their meaning.

      Alaric’s eyes left her and scanned the room. Oddly, it left her bereft. She should have been relieved that he was ignoring her. Last time she’d spoken to him, he’d ordered his team to fire on her and Sixty. He turned to Young again, and before he even began to speak, Volka knew she wouldn’t like his words.
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      “What are they waiting for?” James asked.

      Body still glowing with power overload bright enough to interfere with his vision, 6T9 couldn’t see James even though the airlock temperature was dropping rapidly. He’d turned off his pain receptors. He still ached, but not from the overload. “This is the last time I’ll be alone naked with you, James, and we haven’t even touched.”

      “Sixty, you’re thinking out loud again,” James said.

      6T9 scanned his recent processes. He had indeed said that last thought aloud. He groaned, not in embarrassment, but in frustration at his malfunctioning hardware and software. He couldn’t be embarrassed anymore. James had asked him not to reboot because he didn’t want to be alone, and 6T9 had indulged James’s malfunction. James could indulge 6T9’s malfunctions. He also groaned, frankly because he couldn’t see James. “The universe is conspiring to ensure that I never see you naked.”

      “You’ve said that 100.5 times,” James snapped.

      “How could I have said the universe is conspiring—”

      James cut him off. “Be quiet.”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked in understanding. “I understand the .5 decimal now!”

      “Fantastic,” James replied dryly.

      6T9 blinked. “I think I’m dimming a bit. I can see a bit more.”

      “I’m not naked anymore; I put on the clothes they gave us.”

      6T9 groaned. “The uni—”

      “Shut. Up!”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked. “Does that count as 101.25 times or 100.75 times?”

      “Put your clothes on,” James said. “Something is happening out there.”

      “Could you put them on me?” 6T9 whined. “I can’t see at all…”

      “You just said your vision’s coming back,” James replied. “By the ribbons on that man’s chest, I’d say he is the captain. He doesn’t look happy.”

      “Darmadi…” said 6T9, feeling for his clothes, not certain why he was suddenly so concerned with his nakedness. His hands closed on heavyweight Luddeccean silk. It wasn’t a luxury fabric on Luddeccea, but it was, as Eliza had often exclaimed, “luxurious.” He’d just finished slipping Eliza’s safely autoclaved ashes into his waistband and was pulling on the shirt when the airlock door opened. Cold air rushed in, and he heard James leave the room. 6T9 hopped after him. The clothing he wore—a criminally boring dark gray long-sleeved shirt over matching pants—cut down the glow from his invisi-filaments, and the cold dimmed them further—but the world was still blurry. James stood just outside the door. The Luddeccean Guard lined the wall on their right; the Marines were on the left. Volka was standing near the door to the airlock, a bit set off from everyone, ears curled. She looked back at Sixty, and her ears lifted.  Standing just inside the airlock to the decon chamber was her former lover, Captain Alaric Darmadi. His hands were behind his back, his chin high. He was flanked by Dr. John Bower, Trina, and a white werfle. Behind him were four armed guards.

      Static flared along 6T9’s spine and his Q-comm sparked. Darmadi had tried to save Volka—but then tried to kill her after she and 6T9 had saved him.

      “Androids,” Alaric said. “I had hoped that our next stop would be System 1.”

      James strode farther into the decon chamber, stopping a few paces from Darmadi. 6T9 followed but stopped at Volka. If he were telepathic, or she had ether access, he could reassure her that they survived pirates and Luddecceans before, and they would survive this. But all he could do was wink and hope she got the message.

      James’s voice snapped 6T9’s focus to the front of the room. “You thought System 1 would be our next stop, but it won’t be.”

      Alaric’s chin lifted higher. “No, it will not.”
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      The androids had exited the airlock, and Alaric was still standing, living, and breathing. The first strode directly up to Alaric. It had features that were visibly European, blonde hair, and blue eyes. The second Alaric recognized as the deviant android from Libertas. It stopped next to Volka, turned its head to her, and winked. Maybe it didn’t control her with technology, but could it control her with psychology? He couldn’t believe Volka would be involved with it but found himself biting back the urge to order it escorted out the airlock hatch.

      Both androids made his stomach turn, but for the sake of his orders and his crew, he was determined not to show it. He told himself not to think of picking through gears of the android spy he’d cornered on Adam’s Station and the shattered bodies and gore of dead children, or of the woman’s head blown clear off her body, her face a mask of terror. Other Guardsmen had too many similar stories to count, but he remembered the archbishop’s words, “James Sinclair won’t attack unprovoked. Sixty can’t.”

      The one called “James Sinclair” tilted its head and sneered. “May I ask where we will be going instead of System 1?”

      Alaric’s nostrils flared, but he held his ground and his temper. “We will be returning to Time Gate 33.” There were murmurs around the decon chamber. Alaric waited for them to quiet and then said, “I have just learned from...Trina…” His jaw got tight, and for a moment he could not speak. It was hard to refer to the androids by names, but that is what the Galacticans called the female-appearing android, and right now, he needed their help. He straightened his shoulders. They needed Luddeccean help as well. “I have just learned from Trina that a fleet of repair ‘bots aboard the gate have come online. She believes the gate will be repaired within eighteen hours.” And they had thirteen before the next jump.

      Alaric’s own Luddeccean Guardsmen’s faces remained impassive. They didn’t understand the danger or discounted it. Ran himself had said, “Why should we care if the gate becomes operational? The plague will take care of our worst enemies.” But a disease in the Galactic Republic would reach Luddeccea eventually—and the Luddecceans would be less prepared to deal with it. Half of their capital had just been wiped out by a variant of a disease that hadn’t caused massive deaths since before space colonization began.

      The Galactic Fleet Marines grasped the danger immediately. Alaric heard sharp intakes of breath from their ranks, and a few men wiped their faces, their expressions grim. He heard a tiny gulp from Volka but didn’t allow himself to look at her. His skin heated and his jaw tightened. She shouldn’t be involved in this. She should be someplace safe. What sort of barbarians dragged a civilian woman into this sort of mess?

      Trina, the woman—android, he reminded himself—nodded. “It’s true. It happened not long after we came aboard. I can see their activity but...” She bowed her head. “...I cannot stop it.”

      Dr. John Bower spoke up. “Trina and I sabotaged the repair ‘bots before my team escaped in the station.”

      “It is one of those things I forgot about,” said Trina, sounding disturbingly sorrowful.

      “You sustained a lot of damage during the operation,” said John. Alaric didn’t consider himself the sort of man who noticed another man’s affairs with women or with men—he purposefully ignored such details of his men’s lives—but the softness of Dr. Bower’s eyes could be heard in the man’s voice. It made Alaric’s eye twitch.

      “Not enough,” whispered Trina, and no machine should sound so despairing.

      Alaric met James Sinclair’s eyes. The android had no expression, and that was comforting. He—it—behaved more like a android should. To James, Alaric said, “It might be impossible for a ship this size to destroy a time gate.” His lips twisted at the understatement. Once a Luddeccean Guard armada had been held at bay by Time Gate 8. They only triumphed because of the crack team of Luddecceans who had disabled the gate from the inside…at least, that was what he’d been taught. In the last hour and a half, he’d learned that the “crack team” hadn’t been Luddeccean at all. It had been Archbishop Sato’s sister and the android standing before Alaric. Hands tightening behind his back, Alaric continued, “But it might be possible to destroy the time bands.” The time gate’s time bands were massive and required the power of four reactors. The bands were also relatively fragile. Unlike the reactors that powered them, they couldn’t be shielded by physical barriers, only the defenses of the station and the time-bending abilities of the bands themselves. Those abilities weren’t fully operational…yet.

      The android Sinclair didn’t give any indication that he’d heard.

      “I’m looking for ideas,” Alaric said, proud at how well he kept desperation out of his voice. “I hear you are the one I need to speak to.”

      For a long moment, the android regarded him, but then it held out its hand and said, “We haven’t been introduced. I’m James Sinclair.”

      Alaric stared at the hand for a beat too long. He felt a muscle in his jaw jump, but he took the offered hand and shook it. It felt too human. “Captain Alaric Darmadi.”

      Releasing his hand, Sinclair said, “I will do everything in my power to help you disable the gate.”

      The werfle at Alaric’s feet began chirping madly. Touching his neural port, James took a step back. “Volka can understand them without ether. Volka, is he trying to say something?”

      Alaric’s eyebrows shot to his hairline. For a moment, he thought the android was joking—but machines didn’t have humor, did they?

      Coming forward, ears pressed tight against her head, Volka said, “He wishes to be introduced. His name is Isssh, James…Mr. Sinclair, I mean Mr. Sinclair...and Lieutenant Young. His name is Isssh.” His crew glanced briefly at her as she stepped forward, and then their eyes snapped to Alaric. Volka was beautiful, even with her short wolfish gray hair, yellow eyes, and wolf ears. The suit she wore was too revealing, showing that despite her petite stature, she was perfectly formed. Guardsmen didn’t normally treat weere with such respect. They knew she was Alaric’s weere. He’d have to prove to them that her presence wouldn’t distract him. She looked so exquisitely uncomfortable—he was already distracted. He quickly looked away.

      “Hello, Isssh,” said James, bowing slightly.

      “Good to meet you, sir,” said Young, copying the android’s bow. “We wouldn’t have made it without Carl Sagan, and we’d like to know his condition.”

      Eyes still downcast, Volka replied, “Isssh says, Carl Sagan is recovering in sickbay. He wants to reassure us that his wave-kin is just exhausted.”

      That was exactly what Alaric’s ship doctor had said. Alaric shifted on his feet, feeling a creeping unease at the base of his spine as Volka continued. “It was very difficult for Carl to rupture what would be the equivalent of a cerebral artery, especially after the long night we had. Werfles typically need sixteen hours of sleep a day.”

      Alaric swallowed down his bile, the implications of what she’d just declared sinking in. If it was true, the werfles were…demons. Or aliens. The distinction didn’t matter that much. He thought of Wild Solomon and the bodies in the truck. Had Alaric only been spared because he’d kept a werfle as a pet as a child and teenager? His nails bit into his palm. His parents liked telling the story of how Alaric as a little boy had declared that he was Solomon’s pet.

      He didn’t want to believe any of it, but the Galactican lieutenant continued to address “Isssh,” saying, “We’re glad to know he’ll be recovering.”

      When Alaric’s own people testified to werfle demonic possession, he could discount it as superstition. But having citizens of the scientifically advanced Galactic Republic treat the creatures as equals was something else again. It cracked the last known certainty in his world. He exhaled. He didn’t have the luxury of being uncertain, shocked, or uneasy. If he lost his calm, his crew would, too, and Archbishop Sato himself had declared a truce with the creatures. The time gate was about to be weaponized. He had to focus on that. Everything else—Volka, the werfles’ brief war on his people, his life—was inconsequential. He didn’t have time for his heart or survivor’s guilt.

      To Lieutenant Young, Alaric said, “My quartermaster can see that your men’s suits are cleaned and give them rations, quarters, and shower access. I’d like to convene with you, James, Trina, Dr. Bower, and senior members of my crew now.”

      Trina trilled, “Oh, and we should bring Volka and Android General 1!”

      Wincing, the deviant ‘bot from the inn on Libertas said, “That’s not really my name, Trina, and military strategy isn’t part of my core programming.”

      Trina stepped past Alaric. “But Android General 1, you and Volka are my best hope. You singlehandedly rescued over three hundred stolen ‘bots, one of them a QC ‘bot from the infamous Copperhead pirates!” Tapping her lip, the woman added, “But you have four hands between you, so does it really count as singlehandedly? What a peculiar expression. I suppose it does roll off the tongue better than fourhandedly, though.”

      “We couldn’t have done it without Carl,” Volka murmured. “So it maybe should be fourteenhandedly?” She did not look up, and she sounded exhausted rather than flippant. Strange at all that she would speak in front of so many humans without being spoken to first.

      “Nonsense,” Trina said. “He has paws, not hands. But that does get truly awkward. Fourhandedly and ten-pawedly. Yes, I can see the advantages of only saying singlehandedly.” Trina turned to Alaric, and his eyes snapped away from Volka. Trina’s brown eyes were wide and disturbingly earnest looking. “Droid General 1 weaponized a hold full of sex ‘bots,” she said.

      Someone from his crew whispered, “I knew having sex with a ‘bot would be a bad idea.”

      Clearing his throat, ‘Sixty,’ as the archbishop had called him, or ‘Android General 1,’ as Trina called him, said, “‘Weaponized’ is too strong a word. I merely upped their masochism settings and utilized their ‘Hey, Sailor’ routines, to make them, well, more annoying.”

      “If anyone would know how to make them more annoying, it would be you,” James muttered.

      “Sixty thinks outside the box,” said the lieutenant. “He might be an asset.”

      “Errr...I really need to reboot,” Sixty said, rubbing the back of his neck. “Otherwise I might invite the captain to knock me around again.”

      Alaric’s face flushed. He took a step forward but bit his tongue and kept his hands behind his back.

      Sixty grabbed his head with both hands. “See what I mean?”

      “You will not reboot,” James rumbled. “And you will stay with me.”

      Sixty sighed. “All right.”

      Holding out a hand for them to pass, jaw tight, Alaric said, “Let’s go, then.”

      Trina put a hand on Volka’s shoulders. Her voice became imploring. “Volka should come too! She dispatched the Copperhead’s captain—while the captain was in a phaser proof and stun-proof mech-suit—with only a pistol and her cunning! Please, Captain, it would help me—and the cause—so much if she’s invited.”

      Alaric’s whole body went rigid. His eyes slid to Volka. Her head was down, but she didn’t deny what Trina had said. Had he thought the last certainty in the universe had crumbled when the Galacticans had begun speaking to the werfle? He had been wrong. Volka? Destroying a pirate captain in a mech-suit? It had to be a mistake...yet the Volka he knew would correct Trina if she’d lied.

      “I’m not surprised,” said Lieutenant Young. “Volka’s tiny but she packs a punch and keeps a cool head.”

      Volka started to speak. “Captain, sir, I’m sure I don’t belong—”

      The werfle squeaked.

      Volka glared at it. “But you can talk to them through the ether! Carl does it without—”

      At the word “ether,” there were sharp intakes of breath from the Guardsmen.

      Volka looked around, ears flicking nervously.

      It was way past when Alaric should have started damage control. Raising his hand toward the door, Alaric said, “Just come with us.” He did his best to keep his voice level, even though he was furious.
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      Sometimes Carl Sagan could be condescending and annoying. Volka decided Isssh was more so. “I can of course talk through the ether,” thought Isssh, hopping just ahead of her feet as they walked single file down the narrow hallway. Two Guardsmen were at the head, then John and Trina holding hands, followed by Young, Alaric, and James. Volka, Isssh, and Sixty were bringing up the rear, along with two Guard just behind them. The hallway was so narrow Volka could have touched both walls with outstretched arms, and the ceiling was so low she was afraid Alaric or Sixty would bump their heads. Everything was painted white or black, and it smelled like men’s sweat and dirty socks. There were funny “rungs” in the walls and in the ceiling at regular intervals—Alaric’s and Sixty’s heads just barely skimmed beneath them.

      “How do you think I talk to the archbishop?”

      Volka blinked down at him.

      “His neural net was deactivated. I reactivated it, but I prefer not to use the ether or their neural nets at all,” Isssh continued. “It’s primitive. They should learn to communicate like civilized beings. I’m afraid that Carl and his recently once-sister’s insistence that we accommodate their weakness will impair human evolution of wave consciousness.”

      His words left her numb instead of angry.

      “It’s the truth, and I think in your heart you feel it,” Isssh replied.

      The ship around her was beginning to blur. She needed sleep, that was all she knew. Alaric, James, Young, and even Trina and John seemed fine. It was frustrating to be so weak.

      “Well,” said Isssh, “Alaric and John haven’t been awake much longer than a standard cycle. James and Trina are androids, primitive and disgustingly wave ignorant as they are, they don’t require sleep. Young has scores of alertness nanos scouring waste from his brain and body cells. He’ll be fully functional for another thirty-six hours or so. I have no idea what is wrong with the 6T9 thing.” He sniffed disdainfully.

      As if hearing Isssh’s thoughts, Sixty said, “I need a reboot. If I say anything untoward, I apologize in advance. I’m just trying not to have a hardware malfunction at the moment.”

      Volka swallowed and glanced back to make sure he wasn’t having a “hardware malfunction.” Alaric could take a request to be “knocked around” in stride and would roll his eyes at a “malfunction.” He’d ignored and rejected advances from his uncle’s circle of friends on more than one occasion. Most Luddeccean men would feel in their rights to knock Sixty around. Granted, Sixty might enjoy it if he “turned up his masochism settings,” but Volka certainly wouldn’t want to see it happen. She thought again of FET12 and hoped that there wouldn’t be any other Luddecceans in the meeting they were attending.

      As if in answer to her question, Alaric said, “The Archbishop Kenji Sato is the one who ordered your team rescued. He is aboard this vessel and will be attending the meeting.”

      James came to an abrupt halt, and the whole party paused.

      Behind her, Sixty cursed, “Rusted gears.”

      “He’s here? Aboard?” James asked. Before anyone had a chance to answer, he growled. “This is a trap.”

      Alaric, a step ahead of James, said, “It isn’t. The archbishop has given orders to return you to System 1 as soon as this mission is complete.”

      James did not move, his focus fixated on Alaric. Alaric didn’t blink and stood tall, facing down the ‘bot. From what little Volka had seen, she knew James had superhuman reflexes, speed, and strength. He could snap Alaric’s neck. The hair on her head rose, and her ears came forward.

      “Ugh,” said Sixty. “I know that look.”

      James had “no look” that Volka could see. His expression was unreadable.

      In her mind, Isssh said, “He’ll have no emotion you can feel, either. Sometimes I think the androids aren’t just wave ignorant. I think they aren’t part of the wave at all. Disgusting.” He sniffed.

      Sixty, not hearing Isssh’s mental insults, exclaimed, “Kenji Sato is your brother-in-law—you can’t kill him, James.”

      The weapons of all the Luddeccean Guard but Alaric were instantly raised. Volka noted they were all stunners. Sixty would be immune. Would Trina and James be immune, too?

      “Yes, James is immune to stunners,” said Isssh.

      “You’re the archbishop’s brother-in-law?” said Alaric, eyes on James.

      “Yes,” said Volka and Sixty in unison.

      The eyes of Alaric’s men shifted to one another.

      Alaric stayed focused on James. His expression remained nearly as unreadable as the android’s and his hands were behind his back. “We are on the same side for this…if you value your wife’s life.”

      “Well, this will be interesting,” Isssh hissed into her mind. “That android has a history of being able to kill without remorse. So many of them murder in the Luddeccean system. Your Alaric doesn’t lose sleep over the pirates he’s executed, but the women and children he saw blown apart by androids, that haunts him.”

      Volka’s jaw dropped. Not at the thought of Alaric executing pirates; she’d felt like she’d known that somehow. After her one brief encounter with pirates, she understood why you would have to. But Sixty would never hurt anyone. She’d seen him ease a man to the ground after the man had tried to stun him. That James was able to kill she’d gathered, but he seemed reliable and brave. But hadn’t Carl said that Alaric had reason to believe Sixty would hurt her?

      Smoothing his whiskers, Isssh said, “Wonder if I should be preparing to jump to a new host.”

      Isssh mentioned androids killing Luddecceans so casually. She swallowed. Isssh’s and Carl’s species had killed half of New Prime.

      The white werfle’s neck snaked in her direction. “They brought it on themselves.”

      Volka’s heart rate quickened. For a moment, her exhaustion dropped away, and she was completely and utterly lucid. They were all on different teams: the androids, the Luddecceans, the Galacticans, and the One. She swallowed. The thing out there, the Darkness, it need not destroy them. They might destroy each other.

      Isssh’s voice hissed in her mind. “Not if you take the One’s lead.”

      Volka took a step back, her stomach twisting.

      Isssh sniffed, and she could feel his disdain for her.

      She had a sudden, acute, sensation of missing. She missed Sundancer, or even Carl. Carl could be overbearing, and Carl swore that Sundancer saw Sixty, Volka, and even him as merely pets. But Carl and Sundancer never made her feel disdained.

      Isssh licked a claw. “Carl spoils you.”

      James’s fists unclenched. “Lead on,” he said to Alaric, ignorant of Volka and Isssh’s conversation. But was he ignorant of the fact that androids were killing Luddeccean civilians? Was Sixty? She tossed that last thought aside—Sixty didn’t know about it. He wouldn’t hide something like that from her.

      Isssh’s thought hissed into her mind. “You don’t know that! He can hide it from us and from you!”

      She did know, though. Her nostrils flared, and her ears went back as Alaric led them into a cramped conference room with a long ovoid table. At the center of the table was a holoprojector, and by two of the chairs there were monitors set into the table. A door at the far end of the room said, “Bridge Entrance.” There was a wall of portholes that would have been awe-inspiring, but she’d become used to Sundancer’s wide vistas. Archbishop Sato sat at one end of the table with Commander Ran on his left. Young and James nodded respectfully, but both the archbishop’s and Ran’s eyes were on Volka.

      Half-rising from his chair, Ran declared, “What is she doing here?”

      Somehow Volka knew in an instant that Ran’s ire wasn’t just because she was a weere or female; he knew that she and Alaric had once been together.

      Isssh sniffed. “Very good, Volka. You’re reading him perfectly. Ran is brave and loyal to the archbishop to a fault, but so prejudiced against weere and too blind to his own failings to see that is one of the reasons why Alaric was given the command. There are weere priests aboard and Ran can’t bring himself to treat them with respect.”

      Volka only half heard Isssh’s words. She wasn’t sure she belonged here herself.

      Isssh licked his side. “And he despises you in particular. If Alaric were your patron, he could understand it. But you were once-mates for love. He’s very jealous.”

      Volka looked down at Isssh, eyes wide with alarm. She wanted off this dangerous five-player chess board of Darkness, aliens, androids, and fractured human races. She had the equivalent of a sixth-grade education; she wasn’t prepared for this. Alaric wasn’t defending her—he couldn’t really, not in his position. Alaric glanced at Young. The Lieutenant said, “Your werfle, Isssh, requested her,” and Volka blinked.

      “And I requested her and Android General 1,” Trina said.

      Sixty...Volka looked over her shoulder. He was just outside, running a hand through his hair, worried eyes on James. She stepped farther into the room, letting him in.

      “Hello, Kenji,” Sixty said, sidling over to James and putting a restraining hand on the other android’s forearm. “It’s nice to see you again.”

      Volka knew he was trying to keep things light on purpose, but she winced inwardly. Ran’s eyes nearly popped out of his head at Sixty’s impertinence. He’d been half standing before, but now he bolted upright. Volka’s eyes went to Alaric and found him glaring at her, as though it were her fault. The inward wince became an outward wince and she shrugged helplessly.

      “Sit, Commander Ran, sit,” the archbishop said. “He’s programmed that way and can’t help himself.” Volka bit her lip, but then released a breath as Ran eased himself into his chair.

      Sighing, Kenji—Volka scrunched her eyes and mentally corrected herself—Archbishop Sato said to Sixty, “I’m so sorry we don’t have ingredients for a Founders’ Feast aboard, but we have urgent matters to discuss. Everyone, please, sit down.”

      Isssh ran beneath the table, and a moment later, his head appeared in Kenji’s lap. Sixty sat next to the archbishop, putting the packet that contained Eliza’s ashes onto the table in front of him, saying to Sato, “It’s your Aunt Eliza. Well, her ashes. I carry her just about everywhere.”

      “Still taking care of her, I see,” the archbishop said, his voice very kind.

      Sixty beamed with what looked like pride, even as James sat down next to him with a barely perceptible growl.

      Volka waited to sit last—because she was a weere, it was her place, and she didn’t want things to be any more stressful than they already were. That turned out to be a horrible mistake. When everyone else was seated, the only places left were on Alaric’s right or his left. She sat down on his right, her nostrils full of the smell of him. He did not smell like old socks or old sweat, but of the shaving cream he favored and himself. It evoked feelings it shouldn’t. She swore she could feel his breath on her ear. She was intensely aware of Ran’s glare and Alaric’s indifference—or feigned indifference—toward her presence. Her ear twitched on his side. He’d tried to kill her, and she should be angry, and yet, she could smell he wasn’t angry with her. And maybe feel it, too.

      The conversation began, and Volka was even more out of place than she had feared. The technical details were completely beyond her, and she found the conversation turning into a senseless babble, as useless to follow as the murmur of a stream over rocks. Her sleepiness burned her eyes and made her mind foggy. She swayed in her seat, the world swimming around her like a dream where she could sense the emotions of everyone around her, but she was awake. She couldn’t sort what was real, and what she was imagining. In her imagining, Alaric wasn’t as calm and composed as he looked on the outside. He was worried about her—but even more worried about the time gate not being destroyed. John—Dr. Bower—wanted the bands destroyed, too—also, she could sense rather than see that he was holding Trina’s hand under the table. Young wanted the bands destroyed, but she could feel deception rolling off of him like ice water. Her ears perked at a question about the Merkabah’s faster-than-light drive. It was all nonsense to her, something about gravitons, or maybe anti-gravitons, or anti-matter, kali particles, and magnetic fields, and power arrays, and with a start she understood. He was trying to understand the Luddecceans faster-than-light drive, trying to wring as many details out of Alaric, the archbishop, and Ran as he could. She couldn’t read James, but the way he was inserting himself into the senseless technological babbling, she thought he was doing the same. She found her ears coming forward and her nostrils flaring. Anything said was being transmitted to Time Gate 1 instantaneously, which she didn’t necessarily think was bad, but they were supposed to be figuring out how to get through Time Gate 33’s shields.

      Alaric said stonily, “Yes, I’m certain that the Merkabah can navigate to within 200 kilometers of the gate. You do not need to know more about our drive than that. What I need to know is if our armaments can penetrate the shielding.” He went on to give a count of their torpedoes and their phaser power, the numbers rolling in one of Volka’s ears and out the other. She found her shoulders hunching, her eyelids sagging, and her head drooping.

      And then she clearly heard Young say, “Luddeccean LCS usually have more torpedoes and phaser power. Their faster-than-light drive must have a volume at least—” a long string of numbers followed, and numbers for the drive’s power requirement and likely mass as well. She glanced at him…and realized his mouth wasn’t moving, though the words were playing in her mind, at the same time John was giving further details of Time Gate 33’s inner shielding. John—Dr. Bower, she reminded her tired brain—finished by saying, “And it is a civilian gate, not a military gate—it doesn’t have refractors.”

      Volka did know that last word. Time Gate 8 above Luddeccea had had refractor shields. It was able to take incoming phaser fire and fire it back at the Luddeccean Guard ships. If Gate 33 could do that, it might not just be hopeless to stage an attack—it might be deadly.

      Staring at a point on the table, idly scratching Isssh’s head, Archbishop Sato said, “It still won’t be enough, Dr. Bower. Even if we successfully target the weakest points between the gate’s major support struts and the periphery of the bands, we don’t have enough firepower.”

      An air vent kicked on, buffeting the back of Volka’s head with warm air, making her instantly sleepier. Commander Ran tapped his fingers on the table. Dr. Bower said, “What if…what if I took one of the shuttles and said I wanted to join them aboard?”

      Volka’s eyes bolted open.

      “No!” Trina cried. “That isn’t the last resort! The sacrifice isn’t yours to make.”

      There was something about her tone that made Volka’s ears flick, but she couldn’t feel the meaning of her words.

      Turning to her, John persisted. “I’d have some time before the infection kicked in. I could sabotage the shields.” To the group at large, he said, “I could be your Trojan horse.”

      “The plan has some merit…” said Commander Ran.

      “It’s not a sure thing,” hissed Trina. “If there will be sacrifice it will be for a sure thing.”

      Sixty said, “If the thing aboard the gate is dumb enough to think a man who was willing to die twice to avoid it has suddenly changed his mind.” He shook his head. “I highly doubt it will take the risk. The whole reason you were allowed to survive before was because without the repair ‘bot fleet online, it needed manpower. Now it doesn’t need you.”

      There was quiet at the table. Alaric said, “The archbishop is right. We need more firepower.”

      Volka broke her vow not to look at him. When she looked his way, she saw him absently rubbing his chin. His expression was calm and captainly, but Volka could feel what he was feeling. Alaric felt terror. He was chilled. He was nauseous. He was imagining bodies stacked like cordwood in the back of trucks and the stench of raw corpses. For just a moment, his eyes met hers, and she saw her own eyes wide open and cloudy with death.

      They both looked away at once. And then through Volka’s weary, sleep-deprived brain, something occurred to her. Her focus shifted to Young. “You have at least one Little Boy.”

      Minutes ago—or was it hours?—she was so tired she didn’t know—Young had defended her. Now his eyes went wide, and he pushed back in his chair and gaped at her. Almost immediately that look of shock morphed to anger. His nostrils flared, his face hardened, and his eyes narrowed. She felt his sense of betrayal so strongly it was hard to stay upright. She had her own emotions to deal with, and Alaric’s, and everyone. Her eyes were dry, begging her to close her lids, and her muscles felt like rubber. She put her arms on the table to hold herself aloft and exclaimed, “I’m too tired to play five-dimensional chess!”

      “A ‘Little Boy?’” said Sixty. His tone became cutting. “Was one of those responsible for the nuclear blast in the valley that James assured me was dropped from the time gate?”

      “Yes,” replied Volka, rubbing her eyes. She felt gentle bemusement rolling off the archbishop. Alaric was pissed, but not at her.

      “We were waiting for authorization from command to tell you about them,” James said.

      “Is there a nuclear device, on my ship, that I don’t know about?” Alaric asked. Each word he spoke was so sharp, it was like a knife slicing through the air, and her ears twitched.

      “Yes, at least one,” Volka said, not waiting for Young or James’s “authorization.” This was about billions of lives, and she couldn’t care about the consequences.

      Sixty said, “It has the explosive power of fifteen kilotons TNT.”

      “Hence the name Little Boy,” said Alaric.

      “I imagine so,” said Sixty in a clipped tone.

      Volka had no idea what the significance of “Little Boy” was.

      Isssh’s voice hissed in her head again. “Little Boy was the name of the first atom bomb dropped on a military target. It occurred on Earth, in Hiroshima, Japan, over 500 years ago. It was similarly explosive.”

      Alaric and Sixty had caught the reference at once. She felt so stupid.

      “You’re not stupid at all,” Isssh informed her. “All the other wave-ignorant oafs at the table are, though.”

      “You knew about this the whole time,” she silently accused the werfle.

      It licked a long claw that was very black against its glistening white fur. “Yes,” he replied. “But I wanted to see what you—and they—would do. There are two Little Boys aboard, by the way. It’s fascinating witnessing your wave sensitivity growing before my eyes, and I would enjoy watching you tease the number of devices out of them, but I want a nap. I really don’t feel my best without a solid seventeen hours of shuteye.” With that, the werfle’s head disappeared beneath the table.

      “There are two Little Boys aboard, according to Isssh,” Volka said.

      “How did two fifteen kiloton nuclear weapons get aboard my ship?” Alaric asked the table at large.

      “They’re only about the size of a regular grenade,” Volka said.

      “And how does something as small as a grenade pack so much power?” Alaric asked, jaw tight.

      Cleaning his glasses, Archbishop Sato said, “I imagine through the power of quantum teleportation.”

      Young’s jaw dropped open, but he shut it fast. Volka didn’t know what quantum teleportation was exactly, but based on his reaction, she’d guess that was it.

      Alaric said, “I see. Where are they now?”

      Since no one volunteered, Volka said, “They were autoclaved with the rest of the weapons.”

      Alaric’s voice was like a cold wind across the table. “You are autoclaving two nuclear weapons. On my ship?”

      Young sat stiffly, but Volka saw his Adam’s Apple bob. “It’s completely safe.”

      “Well,” said Sixty, somewhere far off. “This changes the calculus quite a bit, doesn’t it?”

      Volka glanced at Alaric. His outward expression was hard and cold. His focus was on Young, but Volka could swear she could feel him smiling at her.
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      “Volka, where are you?”

      The voice was Carl’s. She couldn’t tell if it was in her mind or in her heart.

      Carl’s voice hissed again. “You’re in the conference room! Isssh, that son of a lizzar dung-fly. I’m sending him off to his next life right now!”

      The venom behind the words was so powerful, it made Volka’s eyes open wide. She felt cold air on her neck, and then Carl’s necklace crackled behind her. “Isssh! What are you letting your pets do to my pets?”

      Volka blinked. She was staring up from a sideways position at Alaric’s chin, and he was looking at a point behind her. Her arms were asleep beneath her head—she seemed to have lost her pillow. Her lips parted, about to say, “Love, where are we?” when Carl’s voice cracked in her ears. “You’re aboard Captain Alaric Darmadi’s spaceship, Volka. You passed out in the conference room because someone—someone named Isssh—wasn’t taking care of you!”

      Volka bolted upright, ears going back in mortification. She’d passed out in a meeting. No, not just a meeting—she’d passed out at what her paperbacks would describe as a “war council.” She was the first woman and the first weere to attend a Luddeccean war council—as far as she knew—and she’d fallen asleep.

      “Not your fault, Hatchling,” Carl declared. He was standing in the doorway on his back four paw pairs. The rest of his paws were crossed, and his ears were back. His eyes narrowed and his necklace crackled. “It was Isssh’s fault!”

      Ran stood up. “What is the meaning of this?”

      “Hello, Carl,” said the archbishop.

      “Hi, Kenji,” said Carl, walking in his direction. “I just want you to know, I consider you a hatchling, too.”

      “I thank you for that,” said Archbishop Sato. “Ran, you may sit down. Carl means me no harm.” The archbishop arched an eyebrow. “Or should I call you Fluffy?”

      That was Carl’s name when he used to be Archbishop Kenji’s and Admiral Sato’s pet werfle. Volka smiled ruefully. At last she was “in” on something discussed in the room.

      “Whatever makes you happy,” Carl declared. “Isssh, I see you pretending to be asleep on Kenji’s lap! What were you doing, not letting my pet sleep or eat!”

      “I can no longer be surprised by anything,” Alaric said under his breath.

      Isssh was still out of view, but the werfle’s voice hissed in Volka’s mind. “Is that a collar around your neck?”

      Sniffing, Carl grasped the medallion hanging against his chest. “This is a necklace.” He put a paw on Sixty’s chair and gazed up at the android, his whiskers twitching. “Given to me by my other hatchling. How are you doing, Sixty?”

      “I keep imagining everyone at this table except Volka and Isssh naked. I really need to reboot.”

      Volka’s ears twitched, not insulted, but wondering if she should be insulted.

      “How did Volka escape that dubious honor?” James muttered.

      “She’s monogamous,” Sixty replied. “I wouldn’t want to embarrass her. So I made myself stop when my processors wanted to go that way.”

      Volka’s lips pursed. That was oddly…chivalrous?

      “I’m not monogamous?” James rumbled.

      “You’re only monogamous by choice,” Sixty snipped.

      Meanwhile, Isssh and Carl were having their own conversation.

      “You’re coddling them by using the ethernet-to-speech device,” Isssh declared, still invisible beneath the table—and silent to anyone not telepathic, or empathic, or whatever Volka was.

      Carl shook three little fists in Isssh’s general direction. “They can’t help being ignorant. I’m not too snooty and uppity to talk at their level like you! Why didn’t you feed Volka and give her a chance to sleep? Why hasn’t Sixty been given a chance to reboot? Being a higher lifeform means taking care of the lesser lifeforms around you. But maybe you aren’t a higher lifeform, Isssh, much as you like to pretend you’re so above everyone—”

      A white streak shot out from beneath the table toward Carl Sagan. The two werfles collided and rolled into a spitting, hissing ball of white and golden fur that tumbled right out the door. Volka and everyone else at the table gaped except Alaric. He stood up and closed the door, but even with solid Luddeccean metal between the conference room and the hallway, the howling werfles could still be heard.

      “I love it when a man takes charge,” Sixty said, eyes on Alaric.

      “Show some respect!” Ran snapped.

      “Oh, I am, I will…” Sixty replied, tongue flicking out of his mouth.

      Volka’s lips curled up, ready to growl at Sixty. Maybe she did growl because Alaric looked at her with comically wide eyes. Scrunching her eyes shut and slapping her hands over her mouth, Volka mumbled, “Sixty…”

      “Nebulas, did I say that aloud?” Sixty asked.

      “Yes,” said James, Young, the archbishop, Ran, Trina, and John in perfect unison.

      “I need to reboot,” Sixty said, running a hand through his hair. “There are billions of lives at stake and all I can think about is sex.”

      Volka couldn’t sense Sixty’s emotions, but she didn’t have to. To lose control of one’s urges—she’d felt that before. She purposefully didn’t look in Alaric’s direction. Leaning around James, Volka tried to put a reassuring hand on Sixty’s arm, but her friend shied away. “Don’t. I’ll probably have a hardware malfunction.”

      There was a knock at the door. “Captain, it’s urgent.”

      Alaric opened the door, and Carl hopped between his feet, Isssh sulking two hops behind, ears back. An apologetic-looking guard said to Alaric, “They wanted in.”

      “Right,” said Alaric, narrowing his eyes on the werfles.

      Rising to his hind paws, Carl said, “Volka, you should go to sickbay and have Walker look at you and give you something to eat before you sleep. Sixty, go with her and reboot.”

      “Sixty can’t reboot,” James said, his voice flat.

      Sixty said snippily, “Let me tell you about the scenario currently looping through my mind, wherein you, Noa, and I finally have our threesome. Noa’s going to be so pleased with me for bringing you home safely—”

      “He has to leave,” Archbishop Sato said icily.

      “No,” snapped James.

      Throwing back his head, eyes closed, Sixty continued, his voice becoming deeper and more languid. “She’ll invite me over to dinner, as the two of you have been known to do. ‘Sixty,’ she’ll say, giving me a deep embrace that lingers longer than normal, her body, though fully clothed, pressing—”

      “Leave, Sixty,” said James. Sixty hopped out of his chair as though he’d been released from a chain.

      “Go with him, Volka,” said Carl gently. “You’re tired.”

      Volka opened her mouth to argue and yawned instead.

      Carl put a paw on her leg. “You won’t be harmed by the captain’s men. Captain Darmadi has a reputation for not suffering fools or insubordination. And Sixty will keep his mitts off you as well.”

      Volka’s lips parted, about to protest angrily that she knew the last, but then she noticed that Carl’s nose was pointed in Alaric’s direction. Alaric was focused on the group at the table, his face as unreadable as James’s, but at the werfle’s words, his shoulders relaxed as though a weight had fallen from them. Alaric wasn’t looking at her, but she knew he felt for her. A lot.

      She got up. The door had just opened when James said, “Sixty, you cannot reboot.”

      Sixty’s head went back as though it had been hit and then his tic came back. “Fine,” he said, stepping into the hallway, his head still jerking to the side…she’d seen it do that before, but her head was too foggy to remember where.
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      6T9 needed to reboot, but James had told him not to. James had been captured by Luddecceans before and wanted 6T9 to be ready to upload at a millisecond notice. 6T9 wouldn’t think it illogical, except Carl was here, and Carl would know if the Luddecceans were considering some sort of sabotage.

      So he’d accompanied Volka to sickbay and Walker, then used his three minutes of allowed shower time, and was now back in the sickbay, leaning against a wall in the small, cramped space, staring at the gap between a curtain and the floor at Volka’s bare feet. Her suit had been ported away for cleaning, and Walker was giving her a final once over behind the screen. Volka didn’t have perfect feet, the kind that people had augmentation to achieve—her toes went straight across, so the tips of her smallest toe and her big toe were almost in line. It was, his Q-comm helpfully informed him, a characteristic of people descended from the Picts, and was still common in Wales, and maybe in weere. Her feet were, relative to everyone else aboard, tiny feet with tiny toes, and the nails of her toes were nearly black, with gray moons toward the cuticles. 6T9 didn’t have any fetishes—his job was to accommodate fetishes—but he wanted to suck them, and from there…

      He jerked his head away. He couldn’t stop thinking about sex. This sometimes happened when he hadn’t rebooted in a while and his primary programming started to interfere with the higher logic functions of his Q-comm processor. The desire was so incessant at this point, it was annoying to him. But he was physically unable to reboot. James had ordered him not to, and 6T9’s core programming had James identified as a human before he had his Q-comm. 6T9 couldn’t deny a human in distress, even though his Q-comm told him James was being an idiot.

      Crossing his arms, he looked away and saw Lang and Isaacs. The two researchers from Time Gate 33 were off in the corner of the sickbay. Dr. Lang was asleep on a bed, and Isaacs was sleeping next to her on a chair. A medical assistant went over and checked a screen showing Lang’s vitals. 6T9 caught his eye and winked. The young human’s face went red, and his lips turned up in disgust.

      Q-comm sparking hot enough to cut through his original processes, 6T9 began rubbing the offending eye as though he had something in it. He needed a distraction.

      To the ship’s doctor, a man with gray hair at his temples and eyeglasses who appeared to be in his late thirties—and considering this was a Luddeccean vessel, probably was—6T9 said, “Are you sure I can’t help?” The doctor and medical assistants were running around like mad. Some men had received burns working on the “outriggers” and the “nets.” The doctor shook his head. “They’d accept help from you after they accepted help from your cyborg doctor, and they won’t accept help from her.” He huffed. “I wish I could take you up on the offer.”

      6T9’s eyes shot right back to Volka’s toes. The doctor paused, followed his eyes, and called out, “Jacobi, get the weere girl some clothes from supply!” And then he muttered under his breath, “Can’t have the captain’s weere running around naked.”

      Volka’s ears were quite sensitive. She’d probably heard that. Her toes curled, and 6T9 tilted his head. Dr. Walker was speaking in almost a whisper, but 6T9 heard her say, “When was the start of your last cycle?” and Volka’s even more hushed, “About fourteen Earth months ago.”

      “You’re taking some sort of hormones to suppress it. Do you need refills or—?”

      “No, it’s just, I’m weere...we don’t,” Volka replied. “Just once a year.”

      6T9 blinked, and behind the curtain, Walker said what he was thinking. “That isn’t in my databanks.”

      Once a year—that was every twelve months. Other implications to Volka’s statement sparked in 6T9’s processor. He pulled away from the wall and took a step toward the curtain.

      “I’m not pregnant,” Volka said, her voice steadier. “You don’t have to worry about that. It’s just sometimes, under stress, we skip a season.”

      That answered the spark in his consciousness and his processors went dark. He fell back against the wall, barely listening to what Walker said next. He trained his eyes on a spot on the floor, and then Walker threw the curtain back, and there was Volka wearing only a hospital shift with a single tie on the side.

      He would never untie that tiny little bow, but his mind couldn’t help imagining such contingencies. Just a quick pull, and the enormous gown would slip from her shoulders and pool beside her dark toenails. “Sixty, are you all right?” Volka asked.

      He lifted his head, his mouth dropped open, but he was afraid to speak. All the answers in his head were laced with innuendo. And why did he care? He was what he was; he shouldn’t have to apologize for it because it might make her uncomfortable.

      Before he could formulate an answer to Volka’s or his own question, the Luddeccean doctor was back, standing between them. “You can’t be walking about the halls like that! The captain would have my hide.” Putting a hand on Volka’s shoulder, he peered around the sickbay. “Where is Jacobi? I asked him to get you some clothing from the quartermaster.” He huffed. “Would you like a shower? A bath?”

      “Warships have bathtubs?” Volka asked, eyes getting wide.

      The doctor’s voice turned wry. “They do when they have a century-old archbishop aboard with aching joints.”

      “Oh,” Volka said. “I would like that, but—” Her yellow eyes that were too dilated for the light level, or rather, more dilated than a human’s eyes would be, met 6T9’s. “Are you really all right, Sixty? I know you needed to reboot...” Her lips parted. He’d seen those lips suck the raw meat off a rat bone. “...And you seem...not yourself.”

      That is why he didn’t want to make her uncomfortable. It wasn’t just that she would charge onto a ship full of pirates to save his buggy, malfunctioning hardware—James would, too. But she cared for more than his hardware. She cared for his comfort.

      He took a deep breath, shut down the offers, come-ons, and innuendos that wanted to come out of his mouth, and replied, “I’ll be fine. Go ahead.”

      There was a little crease between her brows, but she nodded, and let the doctor lead her to a door at the other side of the cramped room.

      Walker approached him, one eyebrow arched. “Hardware issues?”

      6T9 arched an eyebrow of his own, lifted his chin, and smirked. “None of my hardware has issues,” he said, even though it did. It was just a pre-programmed line.

      Walker rubbed her eyes. “I have ‘software’ issues.”

      6T9’s medical functioning, a function he’d had long before his Q-comm, took over. “Having trouble with your augments?”

      She tapped her temple. “Biological software issues. I have trouble sleeping, but don’t want to take the drugs they have here. All of them would leave me groggy. I’ve got nanos to flush my mind, but sleep is better. Especially when I have a feeling I’ll be needed here again soon.” She frowned, and her eyes became unfocused. “I have trouble relaxing.”

      “I have functions that can help you relax,” 6T9 said, his core programming taking over again.

      She looked at him with tired eyes and smiled. “I was hoping you’d say that.”

      Every circuit that was not his Q-comm fired, and his synth skin heated. Medicinal sex! He could fulfill two of his primary functions at once.
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      “Miss Volka? Miss Volka?”

      Volka sat upright, cooling bathwater sloshing around her, a dream of Sundancer, hidden in shadow, longing for the sun, dark in her mind, and tears barely held back in her eyes.

      “Miss Volka?” said a man, followed by pounding. More hopefully, the man said, “I have clothing for you.”

      Twice she’d fallen asleep at inopportune times. Flustered, Volka swallowed the painful dream of her friend, stood, wrapped a towel around herself, took the single step to the door in the tight space, and realized she had a predicament. “Is there a way to open the door just a crack?” she asked.

      “Ah…well…ah…yes. Just a minute,” the man stammered. The door slid open a fraction, and a man in a medical assistant uniform pushed a cloth bundle into the bathing room. He had his eyes scrunched shut so tight it looked painful.

      “Thank you,” she said, taking the garments from his hand.

      His eyes shut tighter and he flushed. “Yes, ma’am. You’re welcome.”

      The door slid shut, and on the other side, he said, “I’m sorry, it’s only refugee clothing. We, ah, don’t usually have, ah…ladies…aboard.”

      Ma’am? Lady? Luddecceans did not usually call weere women by either title. So, this is what it felt like to be a human’s weere? Being one’s own weere wasn’t enough to bring respect, she thought bitterly.

      Volka opened the bundle. There was a simple knit dress of heavy-weight Luddeccean silk. Luddeccean women, even in the sparsely colonized larger asteroids and moons, were expected to be either pregnant or nursing, and the cut reflected that and Luddeccean modesty. It had long sleeves and a hem that would go to Volka’s calves. There was an empire waist with a belt that could be tied above a wide belly. It was high necked, but there was a teardrop opening plunging to mid-chest held closed beneath the chin with a single button that could be released for easy nursing. Volka bit her lip. It was actually nicer than anything she’d been allowed to wear as a maid to Alaric’s uncle. Domestic weere were only allowed to wear simple tunics and baggy pants so as not to stir human lusts. She huffed. As though it were that simple.

      She slipped on the simple underclothes that came with the bundle, the dress, a pair of little slippers, and Bracelet, the only thing she’d worn beneath her suit. “Bracelet,” she whispered. “Would you please tell me the time?”

      “It is now 11:37 Earth GST,” Bracelet replied.

      “Nebulas,” Volka whispered. She’d been out in the bathtub for over an hour. Smoothing out the dress, she headed out into the sickbay. There were more Luddecceans there, and Volka smelled burned flesh and clothing. The doctor was busy with a Guardsman, but came over to her and said, “You’ve been given a berth with the other women in your party. Berth 3, in the officers’ wing, on the third deck adjacent to the bridge.” To an unburned Guardsman who was helping a grimacing comrade down onto a bed, he said, “You there, take her there!”

      “Yes, sir,” said the Guardsman.

      The injured man was moaning. There were obviously not enough medical assistants in the sickbay, and Volka tried to protest. “No, it’s really—”

      “Nonsense,” said the doctor. “Huang, get her out of here.”

      Huang gave a last worried look at his friend, and then said, “This way,” while walking stiffly past Volka.

      She followed, but as soon as they got to the third deck and she saw the numbers on the doors, she said, “I can read numbers. Please go back to your friend.”

      The man didn’t argue. He just turned around and stepped briskly back down the stairs.

      The officers’ wing looked like every other corridor on the ship, except that the doors running along the side were closer together. Volka found the door labeled Berth 3 and pressed the button beside it. The door slid open. The first thing she saw was the packet that contained Eliza’s ashes lying on top of a pile of what looked like medical tape and clothes. She smelled Walker, sex and…her eyes slid to the left, and the middle bed in a stack of beds three high. Lying there was Sixty. He was naked, and over his chest and just below his waist were long, metal tentacles. Her mouth dropped open. A robotic pentapus! She’d read about the man-eating alien-monsters in her paperbacks.

      Eyes meeting hers, Sixty gently put a finger to his lips.

      Volka blinked. And realized the tentacles were actually a shapely metal arm and leg, and that Walker’s head was pillowed on his shoulder. Walker’s eyes were closed, her lips were parted, and she was breathing gently. Dr. Walker was metal from her fingers to her shoulder, and from her toes to her hips. It was odd how much more human Sixty looked than the cyborg. At that thought, Volka’s eyes inadvertently traveled down the length of his body. Face going red, hand going to her mouth, she backed back out the door.
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      Alaric was in the “shop,” looking over Dr. Walker’s cleaned envirosuit. Lieutenant Young was standing beside it, speaking in a booming voice and gesturing wildly. “If we put this in the escape pod, I can set the external heat-releasing fibers to simulate human body temperature, and listen to this…” From the suit came a man’s voice. “Please, help me. I am a hopeless coward and want to surrender.” The voice was not at all robotic, however…

      “A little maudlin, don’t you think?” Alaric asked.

      “Yeah, yeah, I’ll need to come up with something more natural,” Young said. “But the point is, if we put this in the escape pod and use it to contact the crew aboard the gate, the people, aliens, thing, might hesitate.”

      Alaric’s brow furrowed.

      The suit began to speak again. “I am a combat Marine of the Galactic Fleet with a Ph.D. in astrophysics with a specialty in kali particle suspension. I’m too smart to die!”

      “That isn’t even reasonable,” Alaric said. He kept his volume low, his tone absolutely flat, though he was annoyed with the young man’s flippancy.

      Young’s expression went blank. A blush spread from his neck to his hairline. Alaric fixed him with the glare he used on his men and his children when he wanted them to settle down and behave.

      “My Ph.D. is in astrophysics,” Young said. His voice became defensive. “And it’s not just theoretical experience that got me shipped out on this mission. I worked in time band manufacturing.”

      Alaric stared at him. Young didn’t look a day over twenty-five.

      Misunderstanding his expression, Young said, “I know what you’re thinking, but I joined the Fleet late. Just two Earth years ago. I didn’t spend thirty-one years in service before making Lieutenant.”

      “How old are you?” Alaric asked, his composure slipping.

      “Sixty-four,” said Young.

      Alaric’s teeth ground, and for a moment, a wave of jealousy washed through him. Young wouldn’t just look younger for a long time, he would live longer. That was the sort of technology only available to archbishops on Luddeccea. His lips pressed together in bitterness…and exasperation. Young was old enough to be his father, but he had the mannerisms of a child. Maybe Alaric’s people were right; maybe with the increase in technology came a loss of wisdom. “You have no children,” Alaric said, composure lost for the second time in hours. It was the first part of a Luddeccean cliché that basically meant someone was a fool.

      “No,” said Young, looking confused.

      The second part of the cliché was, “You are not an adult until you have children,” but Alaric kept it to himself for the sake of diplomacy. He looked back at the suit. “You believe it will make them hesitate before they fire on the pod?” The plan was to send the pod in, manning it from just above the infected world’s atmosphere, out of visual range of the gate, utilizing relay buoys to extend the remote control. Traveling in its wake would be two drones carrying the Little Boys. When the pod was destroyed by the gate’s defenses, the drones carrying the Little Boys would use the pod’s debris as camouflage and navigate closer to the gate.

      “It might, and if it does, it will increase the odds of success from…” Young’s eyes became vacant. “...92.7 to 96.3 percent.”

      With a grim smile, Alaric hid his unease at the easy way Young plucked those numbers from the air, or rather, from the apps plugged into his brain. To the Lieutenant, he said, “I do like to be over prepared. Make it happen.”

      “Will do, sir,” said Young. The Galactican’s eyes briefly went to Volka’s suit next to Walker’s. “It’s too small to pass,” Young said in a voice that was disturbingly close to awed. “It’s a child’s suit updated to military spec.”

      Volka wasn’t particularly small for a weere woman, still, she was dwarfed by everyone aboard. And when she’d fallen asleep at the conference table, so close Alaric could have run a hand between her ears, she’d looked all of sixteen. But his Little Volka was a pirate killer and truth speaker. She’d revealed the Little Boys either out of loyalty to humanity, to Luddeccea, or maybe even him. All of those options were…interesting. As had been the android’s declaration that, “Volka is monogamous.”

      Alaric’s fingers twitched at the memory. The quartermaster had put her in a berth two doors down from his quarters. If she still wanted him…

      He brought his attention back to the shop and Young. The Galactican Lieutenant tapped his neural port. “I’ll need a heat source on the inside for the fibers to draw from. The more human shaped, the better.”

      To the two mechanics in the room, Alaric said, “You’ll work with Lieutenant Young and build something that meets those criteria.”

      “Yes, sir,” they said.

      “Don’t let him on the computer terminal,” Alaric said to the weere priest in the room.

      Young touched his chest as though to say, Who me? Alaric narrowed his eyes, and Young shrugged.

      “Yes, sir,” said the priest.

      “I’ve got some ideas. We’ll fire up the 3D printer, sir,” said one of the mechanics.

      “You have 3D printers?” Young asked.

      Alaric did not roll his eyes. “Luddeccean ships, although well made, occasionally need parts replaced.”

      The lieutenant had the decency to look sheepish.

      Alaric raised an eyebrow and almost smiled. “No hard feelings,” he said. “I am grateful for your help. I think this unorthodox partnership is going to work.” Which would definitely be in his favor if the new premier—whoever that eventually was—decided it was an unnecessary risk.

      Young nodded and grinned. “I think it will.”

      Alaric’s short-range communicator beeped. “Excuse me,” he said, stepping into the hallway. Just before the door closed, he heard one of his mechanics say, “Our ships need new parts, especially when you let your damned pirates escape into our space.” Alaric smiled tightly, glad someone had gotten that barb in. They sustained a lot of damage hunting the Republic’s trash. Of course, that trash made a lot of their technological “advances” possible.

      He clicked his comm and his doctor’s voice came on. “Sir, you wanted a report.” The man sounded tired, and Alaric immediately expected the worst.

      “Yes, continue, Dr. Choi,” Alaric said.

      “Dr. Lang, the female researcher, had rapid-test kits for the pathogen. When she came to full consciousness, she was able to tell us where they were and how to use them. We checked Russo, Silva, and the Galactican. They all tested positive.”

      Alaric bowed his head.

      “I gave them the highest dosage of anti-bacterials I could safely administer. We may be able to create a bacteriophage for this disease, but that will take time and…” He sighed. “If the woman is correct, the pathogen mutates very rapidly.”

      “Containment is essential for now,” Alaric said.

      “Yes, sir...and, sir, there is one other development. That android—the one that looks like a Euro-throwback—it was here. Seemed…distraught. Said that its friend isn’t in the airlock you’d set aside for them to power up in.”

      “Do you know where the android is now?” Alaric asked.

      “Which one?”

      “Either, both,” Alaric replied.

      “The Euro one said he was on his way to the brig and promised there would be hell to pay if its friend was there.”

      Alaric would have been told if the missing android had gotten into any mischief that warranted the brig.

      The doctor continued. “The other one—Sixty—left here about an hour or so ago. I don’t know where it went.”

      Alaric started walking briskly to the stairs. Passing the two guards to the bridge and officers’ quarters, he said, “Volka, Miss Volka, is she with you?”

      “No, she left.”

      Disconnecting, Alaric took the stairs two at a time.
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      Volka stumbled into the hallway, her back hitting the opposite wall.

      The sound of footsteps on the stairs made her turn…and there was Alaric, his brow furrowed, his worry roiling her stomach.

      Her lips twisted. He was Captain Darmadi. She wasn’t allowed to call him Alaric.

      “Volka, are you all right?” he asked.

      “Yes, I was…just going to my room.” She stared at the door that she had no intention of going back through.

      “Are you having some trouble with the door?” He asked, striding toward her.

      She gritted her teeth. “I know how to open a sliding door, Captain.”

      “I don’t doubt that, but maybe it is locked,” he said, voice perfectly level despite her outburst. He reached toward the button, and she said, “No…it’s just…” Alaric paused, and his icy blue eyes met hers. She looked down. “Sixty and Dr. Walker are in there. I, ah…interrupted them.”

      Alaric had a small black rectangle in his hand, and he immediately lifted it. It crackled, and she realized it was a radio of some sort.

      “Don’t get him in trouble!” Volka said. “Sixty can’t help it, and I think…” She remembered how comfortable Sixty and Dr. Walker had looked together. “They both needed a little comfort after the day and night we had.”

      “The other android is looking for Sixty,” Alaric said, not dropping the device. “I just want Sinclair to know Sixty has been found.”

      “Oh,” said Volka.

      Alaric pressed a button on the communicator. “The lost android is in the officers’ wing. It’s fine. Let the other one know.”

      He dropped the communicator to his side, and his eyes met Volka’s again. She knew, with whatever understanding that was awakening in her, that he didn’t know what to say. Despite his stoic exterior, he was overwhelmed to be next to her, just as she was overwhelmed being next to him. She could smell him, almost feel his body heat. He was also relieved to have her safe. Which was extraordinarily unfair.

      “Thank you for not ordering me shot this time,” she snapped. It was the most disrespectful thing she’d ever said to him.

      His jaw got hard. “Last time I ordered you shot, I thought you were destined to a fate worse than death.”

      Her stomach twisted. He was being sincere, but how was that possible?

      “I thought that you were being mind-controlled by the android.” He leaned toward her. “I thought you, of all people, would want to die. You’d want your soul protected.”

      Volka let out a breath, remembering the scorched earth around her only hours ago and the suicide pact she’d almost entered. He knew her. And his lips were far too close. Turning away, she said, “You were right.” It came out very small. She swallowed her anger. “Thank you for rescuing us. All of us.” Her ears went back submissively. He’d rescued their team and was about to rescue every human in the galaxy. “I can’t believe Luddeccea is letting you do this,” she said, glancing back up at him.

      His lips curled wryly.

      “They aren’t letting you do this, are they?” she whispered, heart thumping wildly. She just knew.

      He exhaled and gazed heavenward. “Things are tumultuous right now. We didn’t ask permission.” Rubbing the back of his neck, he winced. “Hopefully, all will be well when we beg forgiveness.”

      It was the most unguarded she’d seen him since coming onboard. She had the sensation of her stomach flipping over and knew it was his apprehension she felt. She took in the new gray in his temples, the lines around his eyes and in his forehead, his recent gauntness, and felt like she was seeing him for the first time. Once she’d idolized him and seen him as perfect. Now she saw him as a man with many flaws—but he was still a good man willing to take extraordinary risks to do the right thing. Her fingers curled. Everything would be so much simpler if he were like Ran or Counselor Abraham.

      There were footsteps on the stairs, and he stepped back. From just out of sight, Volka head Trina say, “If the plan doesn’t work…This could be our last night. I want to spend it with you, John,” and then John’s response, “It won’t be our last night, but we should spend it together.”

      There was a moment of silence that was too heavy, where Volka could imagine their bodies pressed together. Their footsteps resumed, and moments later, John and Trina entered the narrow hallway of the officer’s wing. They nodded at Volka and Alaric but didn’t make eye contact. “Excuse us,” said John. Alaric and Volka pressed themselves against the wall and let the two pass. Without a word, the couple entered a berth together.

      Watching the door close, Volka’s ears went back. “Well, I guess they deserve a little comfort, too.”

      “What about you, Volka?” Alaric whispered. “Do you deserve comfort?”  Her chest tightened. She knew it wasn’t only her comfort he was thinking of, and yet she knew he’d give her that. She could forget about everything in his arms with those lips on her. After all the years apart, her body remembered and was responding to him already. Hadn’t they both deserved a little respite from rules of God and society? He was as much a victim of Luddeccea’s strict mores as she was, but when they were alone, they weren’t officer and civilian, weere and human, or even man and woman, they were one flesh.

      Alaric’s hand came up and almost touched her cheek, but at the sound of footsteps in her room, he snapped his hand behind his back. She knew his lips were burning as much as hers. Breathless, she almost nodded.

      Before she could, the door to her berth slid open and 6T9 came out, pulling a gray knit pullover over his head. His perfectly toned midriff had Eliza’s ashes attached with surgical tape. As soon as the door shut behind him and his head was out of his shirt, he whispered, “Sorry about that. She couldn’t sleep, and I offered to help her relax. I helped. Three times.” Frowning, he muttered, “So far from a personal best.”

      His eyes went to Alaric and then back to her. He grimaced. “I’m interrupting you two, aren’t I?” One of his eyes closed, and he patted a thigh, looking between them again. “Nebulas, I guess there’s no chance you’d let me watch?”

      Alaric’s fist flew out before Volka could speak. 6T9’s head bounced off the hallway wall. Volka gasped. What Alaric had just done…was a perfectly Luddeccean response by a man to another man who was insulting his wife’s honor. It did funny things to her insides.

      “Oh, it’s you again,” 6T9 said to Alaric. “We can resume our scenario.”

      Volka winced. His Q-comm had slipped out, and he thought he was back on Libertas in the inn about to engage in “maintenance” with the Luddeccean Guardsmen stationed there.

      Looking at Volka, 6T9 licked his lips. “They said a girl was coming.”

      Alaric moved almost too fast for her to see, and Sixty was flat on his back on the floor a moment later. Sixty groaned in a way that sounded lascivious rather than pained. “Thankfully, I had my masochism settings on high.”

      Alaric was over him in an instant. He knocked Sixty beneath the chin, hopefully knocking his Q-comm back into place. “Stop,” Volka said, grabbing his arm. “He can’t help it! Especially if you knock him on the back of his head.”

      “What is wrong with him?” Alaric said.

      6T9 sighed. “I’m a very bad android who needs some good, hard discipline.”

      “Are you trying to get throttled?” Volka asked. Was his Q-comm still offline, or was it just his need to reboot?

      “Yes, ma'am,” said Sixty, biting his lip and batting his eyelashes.

      “Be quiet!” said Alaric.

      “Yes, sir,” 6T9 replied with a wink. He pantomimed zipping his mouth shut.

      “Volka—” Alaric started to say, still standing over Sixty’s body, but heavy footsteps on the stairs made them both look in that direction. Volka stepped away from Alaric, and an instant later James’s blonde head came into view. His blue eyes zeroed in on Sixty, and his face contorted into a look of pure rage. “James,” Volka said, jogging toward the other android, but he was already a blur heading toward Alaric. Growling, Volka stepped to the side before he could knock her over, but she swung out her left leg with every ounce of her strength, catching James’s shin. Falling forward, James threw out his arms to brace them on the narrow walls. With a cry, Volka launched herself from her right leg and jammed her knees into the small of his back, toppling him. Her knees splayed to either side of his body as he fell. Pain shot from her shin as her legs hit the floor, but she didn’t get up. Grabbing him by the hair, she started banging his head against the floor. “You. Will. Not. Kill. Anyone!” Someone was growling furiously. Holding James’s head up, she grunted. “Sixty. Was. Being. Culturally. Insensitive!” That was an expression she’d only learned recently in the Republic. She banged James’s head again. “He’s not even really hurt! He wants more!”

      “True,” she heard Sixty say, as though from a great distance. “But Volka…”

      Somewhere someone shouted, “Captain, is everything all right up here?”

      Somewhere closer than Sixty, Alaric said, “We’re fine. Leave us!” A moment later, his breath so close it tickled her ear, Alaric said, “Volka, my little pirate and android killer, you can stop.” She could feel his smile against the side of her face like sunlight. Which was when she realized that the person growling was her. Also, James was patting the floor in the universal sign for mercy, looking up at Sixty, who was standing in front of him.

      “Couldn’t you have used Time Gate 1 to find Sixty?” Volka demanded of James.

      “I tried, but 1 wouldn’t answer,” James replied.

      “Daddy 1 was my wingman!” Sixty declared with a whoop. Throwing up his hands, he cried, “Thank you, Daddy 1!”

      “Wingman? What are you talking about?” James asked.

      Sixty waggled his eyebrows and said, “What I’m always talking about.” And then Sixty slapped a hand over his face. “I need to reboot!”

      Volka could feel rather than see Alaric’s jaw clenching at Sixty’s antics. Growling, she swatted James’s head and said, “He wouldn’t have been culturally insensitive if you had let him reboot. Alaric said you wouldn’t be harmed, and so he won’t harm you. Unlike the androids you send to Luddeccea who kill women and children!”

      “What?” said James and Sixty in unison.

      Wrapping an arm around her, Alaric lifted Volka off of James. “Easy,” he whispered, and she could feel how much he needed this union between Luddecceans and the Galacticans to work out. But she was too tired and exasperated to stop herself. “It’s true,” she growled. Hopping on her right foot, she hissed at James. “Alaric has seen it! Isssh told me.”

      Standing easily without any hint of a wobble, James turned to her and Alaric. Except for messy hair, the android appeared completely fine. It suddenly occurred to her that James could wrestle lions. She knocked him down fair and square, but he only stayed down because he didn’t want to hurt her.

      Shaking his head, James said, “No, that isn’t true.”

      Something in Alaric snapped. Volka could feel it in his tightening grip on her side and in her heart. “Next you’ll tell me you don’t know about the pirates that slip through from Kanakah either,” he shot back.

      “Pirates?” said Sixty. “The Republic doesn’t allow pirates to slip through the Kanakah Cloud.”

      James exhaled. “Actually, Sixty…”

      Sixty groaned. “May I please reboot before I start talking about pirate booties?”

      Volka growled at James.

      Looking down at her, James narrowed his eyes.

      Voice chill, Alaric said, “You’re insulting my honor by persisting to believe that you’re not safe aboard my vessel.”

      James stared at Alaric, his face as still as though it had been cast in stone. Alaric stared right back, nostrils flaring, rage pouring off of him.

      James took a deep breath, looked away, and rubbed his neck. “Fine. Reboot, Sixty.”

      “Thank you,” said Sixty. Settling down to the ground, his whole body abruptly went limp. The barely perceptible hum that he had instead of a heartbeat went silent. Volka swallowed. She’d been with Sixty for months, but she’d never seen him reboot. “His eyes,” she whispered. They were open and unfocused; his mouth was slack.

      “It’s like a discarded toy,” Alaric murmured.

      “He is not a toy,” Volka replied vehemently.

      James glanced once at her and went over and closed 6T9’s eyes with surprising gentleness.

      There were footsteps on the stairs. Alaric dropped his arm from Volka’s side and pulled away. Volka shivered.

      “Sir?” said a Guardsman.

      “Everything is fine,” said Alaric.

      Volka dropped her head. Obviously, what they said here could be heard below. As the Guardsman disappeared and Sixty rebooted, Alaric and James regarded each other without an attempt to hide animosity on either side for several long minutes.

      At last, a barely perceptible whirr came from her friend, and Volka cried, “Sixty!”

      His head jerked up, and his eyes opened. “Pirates, James? We allow pirates into the Luddeccean system?”

      James looked at the floor. “They’re not a priority.”

      “They raid our mining outposts and use the miners and their families as slave labor,” Alaric said. “If the miners are lucky, they are left with enough air and a radio to call for help when the Galacticans leave.”

      “It is not sanctioned,” James replied. “They are pirates when they are in Republic space as well.”

      Through gritted teeth, Alaric said, “If you took care of them—”

      “We don’t execute them on sight like your people. We give them trials,” James snapped.

      “Yes, and you send them to jail, and then they are released and come into Luddeccean space,” Alaric replied. “Where you conveniently let us do your dirty work.”

      Volka gulped. Alaric had only wanted to be a priest. She’d only wanted to be his. And now both of them had had to take up arms.

      James took a breath. “I don’t condone everything the Republic does.” His head cocked. “Do you condone everything Luddeccea does?”

      Alaric glared at him.

      “We don’t, however, have androids coming into Luddeccean space killing civilians,” James insisted.

      “I’ve seen it. Witnessed it. Smelled the corpses,” Alaric said, taking a step toward the android, a vein popping in his neck.

      James’s hands balled at his side. “You. Are. Mistaken.”

      “They could be acting independently,” Sixty said, still sitting on the floor, staring at his feet. He looked up. “I acted independently when I came into Luddeccean space.”

      For the first time, James looked uncertain.

      “Face it, James,” Sixty said. “Not all machines like humans.” He smiled ruefully and gestured to his chest and James. “Or even like machines that like humans or behave like humans.”

      “Lovely,” Volka heard herself murmur. “We’re all bigoted.” She blinked, wondering when she’d gotten such gall.

      Sixty grinned sharply. “In some ways we’re all equal.”

      James rubbed his eyes. “Why would androids want to risk their lives—”

      “They’re not risking their lives, James,” 6T9 snapped. “You and I don’t want to upload ourselves, but most other androids don’t care.” He tilted his head and his eyes focused at a point on the floor. “James…we can’t afford this right now.”

      James exhaled and leaned against the wall, crossing his arms. “I don’t want my wife to die.” He said the words with such finality Volka wondered if he cared about anyone else dying. The hairs on the back of her neck prickled.

      “Sixty is right,” James said to Alaric. “We can’t afford to be enemies in this matter. I will do everything in my power as an agent of the gates and as a member of Galactican Intelligence to find and root out any machines coming to your system. I will do my best to see that the guilty parties are punished.”

      “Trapped and released, like your pirates?” Alaric said.

      From the floor, Sixty said, “You could have your intelligence officers not murder Luddeccean defectors in Republic space.”

      Volka’s eyes went wide. That was her.

      “I have nothing to do with that policy,” Alaric said.

      “Kenji might be able to do something,” Sixty shot back.

      They regarded one another, and Volka winced. Her leg, where she’d kicked James, hurt. She bit her lip.

      “I will see what can be done,” Alaric said.

      James tilted his head. “I will do what I can to see that the sentences of our pirates and any machines guilty of murder in your jurisdiction stick.”

      He held out his hand. Alaric looked down at it for a long moment, but then took it in his and shook it.

      Volka bit her lip harder. Her leg really hurt.

      Edging toward Volka, Alaric said, “Gentlemen, as a fragile human, I would like to retire.”

      Sixty raised an eyebrow as he rose to his feet, but he didn’t say anything. He stepped toward the staircase, and Volka tried to edge out of his way but her left leg hurt too much to put weight on it. She caught herself on the wall.

      “Are you alright, Volka?” Alaric asked. His hand went to her side, and it occurred to Volka that he’d never do that in front of Luddecceans.

      “Just a cramp in my leg,” Volka suggested. “Probably just need to walk it out.”

      She tried to do so and nearly fell over. Tears pricked at the corner of her eyes.

      “Cramps, my processors,” Sixty muttered. “James hit your leg with enough force to crack bone.” Glaring at James, his head jerked to the side.

      “She kicked me,” James muttered.

      Volka heard Alaric’s comm click, and then he said, “Doctor, I need a gurney in the officers’ wing.” She also heard the doctor’s reply. “If it’s not life-threatening, it will have to wait. We have some more burns.”

      “Volka weighs as much as a werfle. Just carry her,” Sixty said.

      “I can get there myself,” Volka said, trying to take a step and hissing with pain instead.

      “No one would be surprised, Captain,” Sixty continued. “Even James probably realizes you two are an item.”

      Alaric inhaled sharply.

      “I, ah, try not to ah, pay attention to such things, Sixty,” James mumbled.

      Gritting her teeth, Volka stammered, “We can’t add fuel to…the…fire…” But her heart sank. If she were a human, Luddeccean chivalry would allow Alaric to carry her. He’d make an obligatory comment about not telling his wife and everyone would laugh good-naturedly. But carry a weere woman? Punching Sixty for impropriety out of sight of his crew was fine but being seen by his crew with her wasn’t. Her world blurred. It struck her that she’d almost broke the rules of God out of loneliness and fatigue. God’s rules had seemed cruel, but maybe they were only cruel in the short run? She wasn’t even thinking of a far-off heaven. She was thinking of herself, tomorrow. Tomorrow Alaric still wouldn’t be hers no matter what happened tonight.

      “I’m going to be culturally insensitive,” Sixty declared. Before anyone could speak, Sixty had hoisted her up in his arms and began carrying her down the hall. He reeked of sex and Walker. Volka didn’t protest. She just wanted to escape; she couldn’t look at Alaric. But she heard his steps clicking in a hard, staccato rhythm on the deck behind them. She imagined him being furious, jealous, and relieved—it may have been her “empathy” or “telepathy”—or wishful thinking. She kept her eyes focused on her friend.

      As Sixty carried her down the stairs, she tried to joke to keep from crying. “This is really unfair, you know?”

      “How so?” Sixty asked, eyes ahead.

      “When you were out of power on Libertas, I dragged you across the floor by your feet.” She could never carry him. He was even heavier than a human man. She shook her head. “This is much too comfortable.”

      Sixty gave her a cheery grin. “Well, I’d like to accommodate your sense of fair play, but dragging you by your feet when your tibia is fractured would violate my programming.”

      Volka sighed dramatically. “Well, next time.” To keep talking, she said, “How are you doing since your reboot?”

      “I’m much better,” Sixty said needlessly. She’d known that.

      He smirked at her and winked. “For instance, I’d never say something like, ‘carrying you through this sickbay door is like a groom carrying his bride across the threshold.’”

      She choked, laughed, and cried at the same time.
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      “Volka,” 6T9 whispered. She was lying on a narrow bed in the sickbay. He’d used a flexi-cast to set her leg. The Luddeccean Guard, he discovered, had nano-injections for burns, breaks, and other common injuries, but Volka was a weere and possibly unable to tolerate them. They also had nerve disruptor technology for pain, but all the disrupters were in use.

      “What is it?” she mumbled. Her eyes were a brilliant yellow above the high-necked Luddeccean green dress she wore, but they were hooded. He had been able to give her pharmaceutical painkillers.

      “I think I inadvertently came between you and Alaric,” he confessed. “That is to say, well…I think the colloquial term is cockbl—”

      “Shhhh—” Volka said, lifting her head. Falling back into the pillow, eyes closing, she said, “It’s all right, Sixty. Hell’s a real place, you know. Not in the clouds.”

      “I think you’re getting your imaginary places confused,” Sixty said.

      She sighed and closed her eyes. He expected her to say something else, but her muscles twitched, and he realized she’d gone to sleep. A very un-Volka-like snore from beneath her bed made him start. He peeked beneath and saw Carl and Isssh asleep in an upside-down helmet on the floor, a tangle of white and golden snoring fur.

      Sixty had been given a space in an airlock to recharge, but he was still charged from the autoclave, and instead of going there to retire, he leaned against the wall, closed his eyes, and entered power save mode. He’d been “out” for seven hours, eighteen minutes, thirty-seven seconds and four milliseconds when the sound of James’s footsteps in the sickbay woke him up.

      “How is she, Sixty?”

      6T9’s head tic returned, and his jaw ground in frustration. “She’d be better if you hadn’t broken her leg.”

      “She tripped me!” James whispered.

      6T9’s voice rose. “Because you were trying to kill the captain.”

      Every bed in the admittedly small sickbay was full, and everyone not asleep in their beds was suddenly sitting upright, looking at James.

      Clearing his throat, James said, “The captain is fine. This is all a misunderstanding.”

      “The captain is fine because Volka beat the gears out of you!” 6T9 hissed.

      James exclaimed, "She did not beat the gears—"

      Someone let out a low whistle. "She went all weere on you, did she?"

      Someone else in the sickbay cackled.

      James glared at 6T9. “What really happened, Sixty? Why were you even up there?”

      “What happened was I made an inappropriate comment, and the captain responded like a Luddeccean. As to why I was up there, I was helping Dr. Walker relax by—”

      James held up a hand. “I can guess how you were helping.”

      “Volka came into the cabin, because it’s hers too—”

      Putting a hand over his face, James said, “You helped Dr. Walker ‘relax’ in Volka’s cabin?”

      “Well, it’s also Dr. Walker’s cabin, James,” 6T9 replied.

      “And then you ran into the captain on the way out,” James finished.

      “Your Q-comm is connected,” Sixty said.

      Rubbing his eyes, James said, “You know, you could try not to help the competition.”

      6T9’s own Q-comm sparked…and drew a blank. “How was I helping the competition? Dr. Walker is a citizen and soldier of the Republic, not the competition. I don’t know what you’re talking about.”

      Dropping his hand, James stared at 6T9 for 4.59 seconds. “No, I guess you don’t.”

      “What does that even mean?” 6T9 asked, inclining his head and studying James carefully, trying to decipher his meaning from his expression. But it was no use. Noa said James’s expressions were subtle. Sixty thought the android hadn’t upgraded his emotional expression app in over a century and it no longer played well with his operating system.

      “It doesn’t matter. Forget it,” said James. He gave a lackluster salute. “Everything is set up to go as you planned, Android General 1.”

      6T9 opened his mouth to rebuke him, but James said, “It is mostly your plan, and I’m actually over 96 percent confident that we can pull it off.”

      Jaw getting tight, 6T9 frowned. His Q-comm was sparking.

      “What’s wrong?” James asked.

      “Should we be so confident?” 6T9 asked.

      “The gate isn’t a military installation. Its defenses were built for space debris, not thirty kilotons of TNT,” James replied. “It has no real offensive weapons to speak of, and the defenses aren’t fully online.”

      6T9’s Q-comm continued to spark. “The best laid schemes o' mice an' men, Gang aft a-gley. That means—”

      “I know what it means,” James said. “It’s all without any risk to anyone aboard this vessel, too.” He peered at 6T9. “Are you getting superstitious? Do you need to reboot again?”

      “Maybe it’s not superstition,” 6T9 said, his Q-comm sparking wildly. “Maybe it is wisdom? Maybe we’re too certain?”

      “I’m not human,” James said, turning to the exit. “I won’t let the odds go to my head.”

      Sixty watched his back without really seeing him. His Q-comm was firing so fast his vision was almost white.

      The captain’s voice came on. “Crew, prepare for jump.”

      A moment later, sirens wailed, and red lights flashed. For 33.2 seconds the ship didn’t have gravity, and then it came back on again. The red lights stopped and so did the sirens. In the sickbay, men threw up. Sixty’s feet reconnected with the deck with a jolt.

      “Sixty!” Volka said. The distress in her voice made a red light go off in the periphery of his vision. She was sitting up on her bed, her eyes were wide but unfocused, and she was shivering, though the temperature in the sickbay was more than adequate.

      “It’s on the ship,” Volka whispered.

      “What? What is on the ship?” Sixty asked, coming to her side.

      “The Darkness,” Volka whispered, grabbing his arm. “It’s rising, Sixty.”

      He could only stare at her. He didn’t feel what she felt or hear her mind.

      “Where is Carl? I need to speak to Carl,” Volka said.

      “Carl’s right here.” 6T9 ducked beneath the bed, but both werfles were gone.

      “I dreamed they were in the brig,” said Volka, swinging her legs over the edge of the bed, and then gritting her teeth in pain. “Maybe they’re there. We have to speak to them. I know that the time gate has no offensive weapons, but—”

      6T9 put a hand on her shoulder because his vision briefly went white with the spark of his Q-comm. “No, I have to get to the captain. Now. We left something out of all our equations. Stay here,” he said, knowing that she wouldn’t, but he ran from the sickbay anyway to the stairwell that led to the bridge. The stairwell was flanked by two guards who raised stunners at his approach.

      “What do you want?” one of them said.

      “I need to warn the captain,” 6T9 said.

      “Warn him of what?” the guard said.

      6T9 forgot protocol and cultural sensitivity. He grabbed the man by both arms, ignoring the stuns going off against his chest. “There is an 87.6 percent chance that the time gate is armed!”

      The last words were cut off by the sound of klaxons.
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      The Merkabah came out of its jump just above the infected world’s atmosphere, outside of direct line of sight of Time Gate 33, and out of range of any known survey probes.

      “Launch the escape pod,” Alaric ordered, eyes on the windows that wrapped around the front three-quarters of the bridge.

      “Away,” said his ensign. There was a faint rumble within the Merkabah and a slight tremble of the deck, and then the pod appeared in the view screen.

      “Launch the drones,” Alaric ordered.

      “Done,” said one of his operators, and the drones powered into the pod’s wake without even a whisper.

      “Charting them,” said a weere priest at the holo-table.

      The archbishop said nothing, but he nodded at the priest’s words.

      Alaric’s eyes slid to Lieutenant Young. The lieutenant, Sinclair, Trina, and Dr. Bower were the only Galacticans on the bridge. Young and Sinclair were needed to authorize the detonation of the Little Boys, and Young was in control of the suit within the escape pod that would hopefully show up on Time Gate 33’s scanners as a human heat source. Dr. Bower and Trina were present for their knowledge of Gate 33.

      Young glanced up at Alaric and touched his temple, the sign that he was mentally connected to the suit within the escape pod and to his Little Boy. Sinclair did the same. Alaric’s jaw ground. They were using “the ether” in its most dangerous way for this mission—via a connection to a human mind and a machine’s mind. The archbishop had argued that since the Luddecceans had the ability available, they should use it. Alaric agreed, but defending the decision later would be difficult. Hence the signals of acknowledgment. No need to bring it to the attention of everyone on the bridge.

      “Sir,” said Ran. “I’m detecting an energy signature rising from the atmosphere, approximately 143 kilometers from stern. It’s still beneath the cloud cover, and I can’t get a visual.”

      Glancing at his monitor, Alaric knew it could only be a shuttle. “Dr. Bower, I was under the impression that the only usable vessel aboard Gate 33 was an escape shuttle.”

      “It is. We destroyed the research shuttle before we left but couldn’t get to the escape shuttle. Still, the only weapon it might have are charges to drop on small quasi-satellites, like the ones they used on the surface.”

      “It’s no match for us,” Ran said.

      Trina said in a musing voice, “It’s the only vessel aboard me that is capable of traveling through the gate.”

      Ran lifted his eyes to Alaric. “If we destroy it, couldn’t we delay their use of the gate?”

      “By several months,” said Dr. Bower. “A pod could be modified to withstand time gate jumps, but it would take some time.”

      “They’re in a rush to use the gate,” Alaric said. “Why would they risk their only available vessel…?” He glanced down at the holo. It showed the planet, Time Gate 33, and the gate’s visual range, the Merkabah, and a rough estimate of the shuttle’s position. The shuttle was approaching them, and its velocity was increasing. “They’re armed,” Alaric said, instantly certain. “Sound the alert.”

      Alarms sounded in the hallway, even as the controller for the first signal relay drone said, “First relay buoy is in position.”

      “How could they be armed?” Dr. Bower asked. “It must be a bluff.”

      Alaric didn’t have time to explain that a bluff was unnecessary if they didn’t know about the drones’ payloads. If they did know about the drones’ payload, they were approaching from the wrong direction. The better tactic would be to wait near the gate and launch from there. The shuttle had been on a scouting mission, looking for the Merkabah, he was sure of it. And they had something that would make them formidable.

      Turning his attention to the Republic’s agents, Alaric demanded, “Young, Sinclair, how are they armed?”

      Young’s jaw dropped. “Sir, I don’t know.”

      “You’re lying,” Alaric said, eyes snapping between the two. “There is something you’re not telling us.” Just as they hadn’t told him about the Little Boys.

      “They’re within visual range,” Ran said. “I’m not getting a phaser heat signature and…that’s odd.”

      “Bring it up on the holo,” Alaric commanded.

      The holo scene changed to the station’s escape shuttle. It was designed for loading people quickly in the event of a gate failure and to rendezvous with smaller escape pods if necessary. It had a rectangular shaped fuselage broader than the Merkabah’s with time bands that went from bow to stern. Its wings were shorter, designed for hover engines, not lift. What really stood out were what looked like cylinders mounted on each wing. Two meters long by a meter wide, they were, according to the sensors, as empty as the paper tube Alaric’s son had taped to his toy gun.

      “There is a strange heat reading in the formations on the wings,” Ran said.

      For a moment, time stood still for Alaric. His mind instantly screamed, “Those are their weapons,” and at the same time, his mind played his options: run, engage the shuttle, or continue the fight they’d begun.

      “Fire phasers,” he commanded. His jaw got hard. He would fight. He was going to finish this.

      “Firing now,” his gunner said, and on the monitor near Alaric’s chair the phaser charge reading dropped to 95 percent.

      “Our blasts never reached the shuttle,” Ran said. “Some sort of shielding, maybe but…”

      Alaric glanced down at the holo and his eyes widened in alarm. The wings of the shuttle appeared to have disappeared. “Bring the shuttle on screen,” he said, surveying the monitor near his chair. From this distance, the shuttle was a blur, but he could see the cylinders on its wings. To his naked eye, they didn’t look as smooth as in the holo. They looked like—

      “Those are grav plates that have been reconfigured,” said Dr. Bower.

      “Take evasive maneuvers, but keep us in range of the first buoy,” Alaric commanded, turning away from the window. His body slammed to the left in his seat, but there was no sound of metal collapsing, no tremble in the deck, or scream of hull breaches.

      “What was that?” he asked.

      “I don’t know,” said a weere priest.

      “We’re decelerating,” his helmsman said. “Helm isn’t responding.”

      Sinclair, standing behind the holo-table, said, “Captain, I think it is some sort of gravity beam…but whatever it is, it is not Republic tech, sir.”

      “Fire torpedoes one and two now,” Alaric commanded.

      The ship jerked as though it were a fish breaking free from a line, and there was a tremble in the deck.

      “I have control of the helm again, sir,” Alaric’s helmsman exclaimed.

      On the holo-screen, Alaric watched the remotely guided torpedoes speed toward the shuttle. Instead of heading directly toward the body, they both veered toward the wings.

      His weapons officer said, “Sir, they’re veering off course. We can’t correct them.”

      On the holo, Torpedo 1 reached the right wing and appeared to crumple as though it were made of paper. The same happened to the second torpedo on the left wing.

      “This readout is odd,” said Ran.

      Alaric glanced at the monitor near his chair and his eyebrows lifted. The torpedoes were being compressed…but also…

      “The missiles disappeared completely,” Sinclair said. “I think it might not be a gravity beam so much as a singularity beam.”

      Alaric glanced at him sharply and the android threw up his hands. In unison with Young, he said, “Not our tech!”

      “Incoming!” someone shouted.

      The stars spun, and a shadow whipped past the ship. One of his drone operators said, “That was the first buoy. We’re out of contact with the drones.”

      Alaric watched the buoy’s path in the holo. It streaked toward the shuttle, crumpled, and disappeared like the torpedoes. As soon as it vanished, the ship jerked again.

      “Definitely, some sort of singularity device,” Sinclair said.

      …and if Alaric didn’t keep it “occupied,” the ship would be pulled into its beams. “Fire phasers,” Alaric commanded. “Helm, get us within range of the second buoy.”

      He looked out toward the stars. If the shuttle was armed, the gate would be, too.  “We’ll go to the gate if we have to,” he said, eyes on the Galacticans. His crew he knew would support him. The Galacticans might not. “We are detonating our payload,” he added grimly, eyes on the two foreigners. Young tapped his temple. “Aye, sir.” Sinclair tapped his temple in acknowledgment as well. “Yes, Captain.”

      Alaric nearly fell back into his chair. If they’d refused, there wouldn’t have been anything he could do. Now he could see this through if it was the last thing they did. It was convenient that he knew the one civilian aboard he cared about would want the same.
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      Fear was biting at Volka’s heels, and her ears were flat against her head as she hobbled out of the sickbay with a stolen crutch. The blare of the alarm was painfully loud. Red lights were flashing. The doctor was shouting to orderlies to get ready for incoming and telling them to pay attention to Dr. Walker…when had she come in?

      No one had paid much attention to Volka, and she edged out the door just in time to see Sixty in the grip of two Guardsmen. He was sparkling like a Christmas tree, which meant they must have stunned him…he was fully charged now if he wasn’t before. Two more jogged by her nose. The alarm cut off, but the lights remained red.

      Staring up at the ceiling, seemingly oblivious to the men grappling with him, Sixty murmured, “I guess he knows.”

      “Take him to the brig!” said one of the men.

      “He’s stun proof,” another replied.

      “What?” said the fourth.

      6T9 threw up his hands. “I will go quietly. I don’t want to keep anyone from their battle stations.”

      The two new Guardsmen glanced at one another, and then they started hauling him Volka’s way. “He was only trying to help,” Volka protested, and one of the men by the bridge entrance said, “Stay out of the way, ma’am. No one’s a help when they’re in the way.”

      Volka hopped toward them anyway, her heart beating in her throat.

      “They’re right, Volka,” Sixty said. “Stay in the sickbay. We’ll work this out when everything is over.”

      She bit her lip. He was right. Sixty was innocent. Alaric was rational and the captain; this would be sorted out. Still feeling cold from her nightmares, she watched Sixty’s retreating back. In a painkiller-induced haze, she’d dreamed of Sundancer, her hull cracked and gray, and she’d felt a horrible longing for the sun. She’d also dreamed of Carl and Isssh. The werfles had been lying on their backs, eyes wide open, in what had looked like a prison—the brig in her confused mind. Dark water had risen around them, submerging their tiny bodies. Alaric had been in the dream too. He was fighting the water, but all he had was a sword, and the darkness had been oozing up his legs, undaunted. “Carl?” she whispered, feeling his name and imagining his bewhiskered snout and enormous eyes. She got nothing in response.

      Had it only been a dream? Swallowing her fear, she hopped and hobbled after Sixty and his captors. The ship shook and nearly knocked her over. With every step, she felt a growing sense of dread. It colored the edges of her vision and made her feel nauseous. When she saw anyone, she flattened herself against the wall. Invariably, they were at a jog, and their eyes were focused on destinations and objectives that weren't her.

      At the end of the hallway, 6T9’s captors dragged him through a pair of sliding double doors guarded by two men. They re-emerged a few minutes later and marched past Volka.

      Volka hopped over to the guards at the entrance to the brig. They did pay attention to her. “Ma’am, you can’t go in there,” one said.

      Tasting bile, Volka swallowed. She didn’t want to go in there. Every hair on her body was standing on end, and her ears were sealed back against her head. But her dream had been so horrible…She adjusted her crutch. If it weren’t for her leg, she could probably take them with it, but to what end? To wind up in a cell herself?

      Biting her lip, she tried a different tactic. “I think…I need to go in there,” she whispered.

      “And why’s that?” the man asked.

      “I had a bad dream,” she responded, and then realized how idiotic that sounded. She blundered on. “About my friend, the little golden werfle, he was in there and the thing…the thing we saw on the planet…it was in there too…” Her voice trailed off. Dumb, Volka. They’re going to think you’re crazy. Scrunching her eyes shut, she bowed her head.

      “You talk to the werfles, don’t you?” the man whispered. He had a slight accent—almost Libertan.

      It wasn’t right for a weere to meet a Luddeccean man’s eyes. But her eyes did rise in surprise. Instead of disdain, she saw fear in the man’s gaze, and maybe even respect.

      “Yes,” she said. “I talk to the werfles. And I feel the thing down on the planet. It is everything we were told robots are. It takes over people’s and animals’ minds, and it is…” She shivered and it wasn’t at all contrived. “...terrible.” Her eyes widened. “Alaric…” She ducked her head. “I mean, Captain Darmadi, he was in my dream. The Darkness was after him, too.” She nodded at the door. “And it’s in there. I can feel it. I need to go in.”

      The guards shifted on their feet. The one with the Libertan accent looked down at her leg, and then said, “Come on, I’ll take you in. Watch the door, Joe.”

      She looked up at her would-be escort, slightly alarmed at how easy that had been. She couldn’t feel much from the Guardsman. Her telepathic abilities seem to have abated with a full night’s sleep, and she was a little afraid he meant to push her in a cell.

      “Well, I can’t let you face the devil alone!” the man said, raising a stunner, and this time his sincerity was so obvious she smelled it.

      What was responsible for this turn of good luck? As soon as she asked herself the question, she knew. These were people who believed heaven and hell were real places—they were, even though they were human, her people. She bit back a smile of gratitude. “Thank you, sir.”

      “Name’s Davies,” he said. “Stay behind me.”

      Davies’s companion opened the door but closed it as soon as Davies and Volka were inside. Volka immediately wanted to vomit. She didn’t smell decay or dank waters, but she had the same creeping nausea and sense of unease she did when she was exposed to their stink. She could also smell werfles. Throwing a hand over her mouth, Volka scanned the brig. The space was lit by red lights and was spotlessly clean. There were eight cells—four with open doors and four with closed doors, through which golden light fell at the far end. Every cell had a control panel beside it, an intercom beneath that, and what looked like perhaps a small hatch, about the size of a shoe box, beneath those. Volka would guess the hatch was for giving prisoners—or in this case, the men in quarantine—food, water, and supplies. There was no sign of werfles.

      “Looks okay,” Davies said, sounding doubtful and lowering his stunner.

      “Is that you, Davies?” said a voice from an intercom at the far cell on the left. Every hair on Volka’s head stood on end.

      “Yeah, Russo, it’s me,” Davies replied, walking down to the cell.

      “Don’t talk to him, Davies,” said someone else.

      Davies stopped.

      “It’s got him,” the second voice said.

      “It’s just me, Davies. Nothing’s got me,” said the first man, “Russo,” and Volka shivered at the oiliness of his voice.

      Davies walked carefully down the aisle, and Volka hopped and hobbled after him. They reached the cells that were second to the last, and from one side, Sixty said, “Volka.” Volka turned to see her friend behind glass in a cell not wider than her arm span. Sixty filled the whole frame of the door. Despite being imprisoned, he was smiling. Turning sideways so she could see inside, he gestured to a fold down bed. “Look who I found.” On the bed lay Carl and Isssh, so tangled Volka thought they must be in a knot. She couldn’t see the head or tail of either of them. Her brow furrowed in concern.

      “Don’t worry,” Sixty said. “They’re only asleep. Every now and then they snore.”

      “They helped us.” The voice was Ben’s and it came from an intercom directly behind Volka. She turned to find the Marine wearing the same drab, gray, Luddeccean garb that Sixty wore. It fit him just as well. Without his helmet, she could see his hair was dark, nearly black, but it was cut so short it was hard to tell if it were straight or wavy.

      The intercom of the Luddeccean next to Ben crackled. “The little devils killed the bugs inside of us. I could feel it coming.” He shook his head. “But Russo was too far gone.”

      The intercom of the cell next to 6T9 hissed, and Volka spun again. “There. Is. No. Bug. You are the infection. You are the disease.”

      Russo was in the last cell there. He looked normal wearing the same boring clothing as Ben and Sixty, dark hair military short. There was no shine of sweat upon his brow, though Volka felt like there should be. The man’s lips twisted into a cruel smile, and then he threw himself against the glass so abruptly Davies pushed Volka half behind him. She could smell his fear.

      Russo’s eyes caught the protective gesture, and he jumped up and down like a man on a pogo stick and grinned at her maniacally. “Miss Volka? Misssss Volka! The captain’s weere! He won’t want you anymore when we are done. You are sick. Perverts!” Spittle flew from his mouth.

      “We get it,” Sixty said in a bored, sing-song voice. “You don’t like sex.”

      Spinning to pound the wall between himself and Sixty, Russo screamed. “You are an abomination, Robot! You will all be destroyed!”

      “Never thought I’d be more afraid of a man than a robot,” Davies whispered.

      “I never thought there’d be a human I wouldn’t want to have sex with,” Sixty muttered.

      “Oh, Davies, you don’t have to be afraid,” said the infected man, slinking away from the wall. Hands falling to the side, his voice became too smooth. “You can still join us. We are the way to peace. The only true way.”

      Volka’s skin crawled. The human beside her seemed just as ill at ease.

      Making the sign of the Three Books, Davies said, “The only way to peace is through God, Russo.”

      Russo barked, “Your God has not delivered you from lust, hunger, greed…those are all…human…” His lip turned up in a snarl. “Your captain keeps you from us. He is demented, deviant, aggressive because he believes in your God…”

      Blinking, Volka drew back. Though she’d never say it aloud among Luddecceans, she knew Alaric didn’t believe in God. Russo’s behavior was scary, but he didn’t know everything.

      Smacking the window with both hands, Russo declared, “God…That’s why he fights us. If he saw what the researchers of Time Gate 33 did, he’d understand the error of his ways. We don’t want to fight you.” Leaning against the glass, he said, “It’s so much easier when you don’t fight.”

      Volka pulled herself upright, about to say that they’d all fight to the death, but behind her, Ben said, “Don’t say anything, Volka. Don’t give it any weapon against us.”

      The man in the cell began to giggle. “This body has told us all we need to know about Luddeccea. The researchers have told us all we need to know about the Republic. You don’t know anything about our weapons, and we know all about yours.”

      The ship jerked, and Volka tumbled to the floor. Pain shot from her injured leg and she almost cried out, but then all the lights in the cell block went completely black.
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      “Sir, phasers are at 10 percent!”

      “Divert whatever power we can to our phasers,” Alaric commanded the priests.

      The ship shook, and the lights went out. Alaric focused on the holo, its light now the primary illumination on the bridge. The pod was nearly in range.

      “They are hailing the pod,” someone said.

      “We’re losing connection to the payload detonators,” said Sinclair. “Some sort of interference.”

      “I lost connection with the suit,” Young said. “I can’t respond to the hail.”

      The ship was trembling and losing velocity. Alaric’s hands tightened on the armrest. The second buoy had joined the first, all but three of their torpedoes, and 90 percent of their phaser power in the shuttle’s gravity weapon.

      “We’re back at 20 percent phaser power,” one of his crew declared.

      “Fire,” said Alaric.

      The ship jerked forward, cut loose from the shuttle’s beam. “Helm, take us closer to the gate,” Alaric commanded, eyes glued to the holo, and the phasers disappearing into the vortexes on the shuttle’s wings.

      Seconds later, one of his torpedo controllers whispered, “What is that?”

      Alaric glanced at the window. Time Gate 33 was in view. Strangely, it was completely dark. Along the outer edge of the inner ring, there were flat panels protecting the time band’s vulnerable periphery.

      “Magnify,” Alaric ordered.

      There was a beep, and in the window, he saw what the panels were.

      “Those are the grav plating panels,” said Dr. Bower. “But what have they done with them?”

      The grav panels were set at angles, and they appeared to be stitched to the time gate’s ring with coppery colored bands…time bands. At their apexes and bases were darker plasti-couplings.

      “They’ve turned the gate into a singularity weapon,” Alaric murmured.

      Dr. Bower started to speak. “The power in those couplings—”

      “We’re in range of the drones, sir.”

      “I’m in contact with the shuttle, giving my prepared speech,” said Young.

      “Deploy the drones now!” Alaric said.

      Young protested. “But our ruse—”

      The ruse wasn’t going to work, nor would the combined thirty kilotons of TNT. Alaric knew it in his bones, but he would never give up. “Deploy the drones and prepare to detonate,” Alaric ordered.

      “Done,” said Sinclair. “Captain, if I may suggest—”

      “Helm, bring us about,” Alaric commanded. “Open outrigger hatches,” he ordered. “And prepare the net—”

      The stars spun, the ship jerked toward the gate, the deck trembled, and the hull groaned. In the window, Alaric saw the blue bauble that was S33O4, and in the holo, he saw the pod crumple in the center of the gate, and the Merkabah being towed toward the gate’s central ring. The shuttle had retreated.

      “Detonate!” Alaric ordered.

      “Done,” said Young.

      “Done,” said Sinclair. “They were within meters of their target. It should be enough to at least temporarily disable the gate.”

      Unlike a fission bomb that didn’t generate heat in vacuum, the fusion grenades generated infrared that would melt the time bands and a good chunk of the time gate’s superstructure and substructure as well. Alaric held his breath, but then Ran said, “I’m not detecting any infrared wavelengths.”

      “Are the sensors down?” the archbishop asked.

      Checking, one of the weere priests replied, “Negative.”

      Alaric swallowed. No infrared. No heat.

      “How is this possible?” Ran asked.

      Alaric’s jaw got tight. “The heat is going where we’re going.” To destruction. The hull’s groan turned into a rumble. An alarm wailed. “Captain, we have a hull breach on Deck 3. Two men are gone.”

      “Two men are gone...dead?” Trina cried.

      The orb of the planet below retreated. They were running out of time. Alaric’s nostrils flared. The outriggers were delicate and would be ripped off by the gravitational force if he extended them, but to escape the gravitational pull he needed time…He sat up straight. “Extend the outriggers by .5 percent and deploy the nets.”

      A human priest protested, “But without the outriggers fully extended—”

      “Point five percent extended,” said Sato.

      “Nets deployed,” said Ujk.

      Alaric silently thanked the archbishop and the weere priest. The net on the only partially extended outriggers wouldn’t wrap around the whole ship. Also, the nets were more delicate, and each strand individually less powerful than time bands. There was a chance this wouldn’t work, but it was the only chance they had to steal time. “Power up the net,” said Alaric.

      Shipboard gravity vanished. The Merkabah shook, her hull screamed, sirens wailed, and anyone not belted in was knocked out of their seats and shooting to the back of the bridge. But the Merkabah shot forward, wrapped in a fragile time bubble, and the orb of S33O4 grew larger in the view screen. In the holo, Alaric watched the tips of the Merkabah’s wings shoot into the maw of Time Gate 33’s “singularity beam” and crumple like bits of paper.

      The alarms went silent so abruptly it was as if a hush had fallen over the bridge, though the deck still trembled, and instruments still beeped. They were out of the gate’s pull. “Get us out of visual range,” Alaric said.

      They weren’t alone. The shuttle was still out there. “Damage report,” Alaric said.

      “The beam took the outriggers out of alignment,” said Sato. “But it is repairable.”

      Alaric rubbed his jaw. They would not be able to jump home soon, but they could go home to deliver this devastating report. Forewarned was forearmed, and Alaric told himself the mission hadn’t been a complete failure no matter what it felt like.

      “Captain, the shuttle is on our scopes,” Ran said, and Alaric saw it rising from the planet’s atmosphere off their stern. They wouldn’t even make it home to deliver their report if the thing destroyed them. The Republic would have this whole adventure retold to them via Q-comm, but he doubted that they’d share it promptly with Luddeccea—Sinclair and Young had only become cooperative with Volka’s prompting.

      “Helm, take us into the atmosphere,” Alaric said. He glanced at the phaser readouts. They were at 7 percent, and he had one torpedo left. “Do not bring gravity back online. Divert all power to phasers. Keep them busy,” he commanded. He stared hard at the blue orb below them. The enemy was closing in, and even with the diverted power, they only had minutes left.

      “Sir,” Ran said, “We’ve had a breach of one of the quarantine cells in the brig, Russo’s. His behavior in the past few minutes has been…erratic and violent.”

      “Make sure that the brig is sealed. Do not let anyone out,” Alaric said.

      “The weere woman and Davies are in there,” Ran added, and Alaric wondered if the commander was testing him by conveying that last bit of information.

      In the window, the clouds of S33O4 were slipping by. Alaric’s hands clenched his armrests so tightly his fingers ached. “See that the door remains sealed, Commander.”

      Not for the first time, he wished he believed in God.

      
        
          
            [image: ]
          

        

      

      Volka was trapped in the dark, on the ceiling, barely holding her stomach. Davies’s body was between her and the floor. The ship had shaken, the gravity had vanished with the lights, and she and Davies had careened head first against the far wall. Or rather, Davies had careened head first into the wall. When the ship had first begun to shake, he’d turned, wrapped his arms around her, and tucked her head beneath his own just before gravity had disappeared and the ship had accelerated. He’d protected her even though she was a weere, and he’d hit the wall, and Volka had hit him. Now, she could hear him breathing, smell fear in his sweat and the horrible S-rations humans ate aboard ships in his breath, but he wasn’t moving. Did he have a concussion? From her paperback education, she’d learned that typically concussions only lasted a few minutes, and it was “God’s way of keeping the injured person flat, to allow their brain to recover after a blow.” She wasn’t sure what “flat” was in zero gravity. Also, what if it wasn’t just a concussion? What if his neck had broken in the impact? Then it was imperative, the same source informed her, for him not to be moved. If so, she shouldn’t move, but what if gravity came back on again? She didn’t want her protector slamming against the deck.

      “Volka?” Sixty’s voice clicked through an intercom in the absolute dark. She blinked. Actually, beyond Davies’s shoulder there was some light. She reached out with a hand, looking for any leverage, and found one of those peculiar “rungs” she’d noticed on the ceiling and walls of the ship when she first arrived. She now knew they were for leverage in zero G. Pulling herself forward, she peered over Davies’s shoulder and saw glowing spots in the floor. Their faint luminosity and hue reminded her of the glowing hands of her former employer’s pocket watch.

      “Davies,” said the man who wasn’t Russo. “Davies, man, answer!”

      “Volka?” said Ben. “I can’t see her, Sixty. Davies? Davies?”

      “Volka, are you all right?” Sixty asked again, his tone worried.

      She opened her mouth, prepared to answer, but then she heard a rattle, a hiss of air, and smelled a new person, and worse, fetid water. Her stomach heaved again, but she managed to keep its contents in…barely.

      Below Davies and her, Russo giggled. This time, his voice wasn’t coming through an intercom. For the first time, she realized that sometime during the shaking she’d lost her crutch. It floated just above the “floor,” between her and Russo.

      Russo peered up at her. Squinting for a moment, he stared up at her and Davies, and Volka’s heartbeat was as loud as a drum in her ears. She swore he looked right at her, but then he grabbed a handle on the wall and pulled himself toward the entrance. He hadn’t seen them...thank God for human night blindness!

      Sixty and Ben began to shout and bang their bodies against their doors. The fourth man was quiet, strangely so, but his door did not open. Volka used the sound as cover to shift, seeking Davies’s stunner.

      Russo laughed as he climbed along the wall. “We’ll infect them all, infect them all. They will be a lovely part of the holy waters.”

      The blasphemy made Volka’s eyes snap to the abomination that had been a man, and she saw the stunner in the center of the hallway, just above his head. Volka held her breath, and Russo continued his rant. “And we’ll have their ship. And the priests. And we’ll know how it all works. We won’t need a gate.”

      Laughing to himself, he climbed the side of the walls right beneath the stunner. Volka’s eyes went wide—he hadn’t seen it! Sixty and Ben continued to slam themselves against their prison doors, but it wasn’t loud enough to cover what she was about to do. Silently, Volka prayed, “Let them be louder, God.”

      There was an answer to her prayer, but it had Carl’s voice. “You got it, Hatchling.”

      Sixty started shouting, “You prude! Get back to your cell,” and Ben hollered, “You are betraying your world and your people, Russo! Don’t do it!” and Volka couldn’t bring herself to correct Carl’s blasphemy. Taking advantage of the noise, she tried wrestling around Davies, biting her lip to contain a cry when her injured leg collided with his unconscious form just so. Sucking in a breath, holding back blinding agony, she managed to push him to the floor and then turn about so her feet were against the far wall and her body was angled toward a rung on the wall near the stunner.

      Russo was fighting with the door, but thankfully, it didn’t budge. She nearly sighed with relief, but then, in an amazing imitation of Davies, he said, “Joe, it’s me, Davies. I can’t get this door open. What’s going on?”

      There was the static of an intercom, and then the voice of the second guard who’d been in the hall. “Davies, there is a breach in Russo’s cell. Is he out?”

      “No, no, he’s still in. Door’s not open all the way.”

      “What’s all the shouting?” the man outside asked.

      Kicking off the wall with one foot, Volka caught the rung in the wall by the stunner. Holding the rung with her left hand, she reached toward the stunner—just in time for the ship to drop. Volka kept her hand on the rung, but her body swung upward. The stunner hit the ceiling and bounced out of reach. Seconds later, she hit the floor, and the stunner did, too. She heard Davies and the crutch hitting the floor behind her, squeaks from Carl or Isssh, an exclamation of “blighted processors” from Sixty, and a groan from Ben. Worse was the rattle and hiss of air from the front of the brig. A tiny sliver of light spilled into the brig. After the only faintly luminous spots on the floor, it was nearly blinding.

      “Just the robot and the Galactican cyborg making trouble,” Russo said in Davies’s voice, recovering his feet in the returned gravity. Volka could see him wedging his hands in the door, trying to pull it open. “Help me with this, would you?”

      “Don’t do it, Joe!” the real Davies shouted from behind her.

      Russo spun and growled at Davies. “Surrender is the only option. You only have one useless torpedo left; your phasers have gone dark. You have no weapons that will work against us. It’s over. This ship is ours. You are ours.”

      Taking advantage of the distraction, Volka dived for the stunner. She heard Russo swear and footsteps on the deck as her fingers closed on its trigger. She rolled and fired. The sound of the stunner was covered by Sixty’s and Ben’s shouts, and the next thing she saw was Russo’s form above her.
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      Alaric’s seat restraints dug into his shoulders and hips.

      “They’ve got us in their beam—” said Alaric’s helmsman.

      Alaric’s body slammed to the right.

      “What was that?” Trina asked.

      “Gust of wind,” said Young. “We’re heading into a storm.”

      “Should we be doing that?” Trina asked.

      “We’re free of the beam,” said the helmsman, and Alaric’s body was slammed into his seat as the Merkabah leaped forward. He frowned; the reprieve would be brief. The shuttle was being hit by the same gust of wind. As soon as it recovered, they’d be captured again. On the holo, he saw their destination. A rugged, mountainous desert along the coast of the saltwater ocean they were now above, 130 kilometers away. They weren’t going to make it.

      His body was thrown against his restraints again.

      “We’re in the beam again,” said Ran, and Alaric swore he could hear his man at Torpedo Control itching to launch the last torpedo.

      “Decrease hover power to 10 percent,” Alaric ordered.

      He was distantly aware of Trina saying, “But without the wings for lift, that could blow out the hover engines.”

      Thankfully, his crew didn’t question the order. Alaric’s straps dug into his shoulders as the ship plunged toward the sea.

      “We’re out of the beam,” Ran declared. Alaric exhaled. A sign of hope. The planet’s gravity was a force more powerful than the enemy's weapon, but this trick would only last for a few seconds more.

      “I want the ocean on view screen,” Alaric said. The windows, filled with clouds, switched to a camera eye view of the roiling waters below instead. His father’s words filled his mind. “A saltwater ocean is just another kind of desert.”

      Alaric smiled grimly.

      In the holo, the shuttle dropped to follow them.

      “Bring hovers back on. I want a hovering altitude of seven meters.”

      Dr. Bower said, “Some of the wave swells are over fifteen meters high—”

      “Altitude of seven meters,” Alaric reiterated, too busy to order the scientist and Trina dragged off his bridge. “And switch off camera view.”

      The window briefly was clouds, and then it was filled with a dark blue wave that completely obscured the sky. Alaric almost laughed at how perfect it was.

      “The wave is exactly 18.28 meters,” Sinclair said.

      “And approximately 2,460 tons of water,” said Young. “It will crush a ship of this size.”

      “Excellent,” said Alaric, a new theory alive in his mind. It wasn’t the destruction of his ship the enemy wanted. “Helm, take us into that swell.”

      “Aye, Captain.”

      “Their beam is on us,” said Ran. “They’ve increased the power.”

      The ship started to lift, and Alaric smiled grimly. His theory was proving correct.

      “Turn off hover power and transfer to thrusters. Resist that thing’s pull!” Alaric commanded. The Merkabah dropped, jerked forward, and skimmed the water like a stone, the wave approaching like a ravenous mountain. The singularity device on the shuttle fighting gravity and their thrusters, keeping them just barely above the waves, shaking and fishtailing, hull groaning.

      Helm declared, “We’ve lost our rudder, our wing flaps, our spoiler, horizontal stabilizers—”

      The weere priest, eyes on the wave, whispered, “Five seconds to impact…”

      “Keep counting,” Alaric commanded. “Torpedoes be ready for my signal.”

      In a shaky voice, the weere priest continued, “Four…”

      The archbishop’s voice joined in. “Three.”

      Sinclair and Young added their voices to the count. “Two.”

      The wave filled their vision. “One,” Alaric whispered. The ship spun around, hull screaming, but it didn’t sink, and water didn’t come pouring in. Because it wasn’t 2,460 tons of water anymore—the water was being drawn into the singularity.

      “Fire!” Alaric commanded. The whole ship shuddered with the launch and shot out from the wave.

      “Engage hover, keep us seven meters above the water!” Alaric commanded, gazing at the holo, seeing the last torpedo lurch toward the shuttle. Between it and them, giant globules of water were being sucked into the beam, sea life swirling within them. Rivulets on the periphery of the globules escaped and flowed back into the sea. “The singularity weapon is utilizing a pulse beam,” he heard Sinclair murmur.

      Alaric’s attention was riveted to the singularity weapons sucking up thousands of tons of water—would it be enough to “distract” it from the missile? Alaric held his breath.

      “Trying to keep her on target, sir,” his man called.

      “I know,” Alaric whispered.

      At that moment, the Merkabah must have been seen out of the wave’s grip because the shuttle’s pull on the water stopped and reoriented to the missile. The torpedo veered away from the shuttle’s fuselage and missed its target, but in a split-second that seemed to hang in time, it collided with the portside wing. Orange light from the resulting explosion behind the Merkabah turned the water red. There were cheers from everyone on the bridge, and Alaric heard them echoing up from the rest of the ship as well. Lieutenant Young was looking at him with wide eyes. Alaric was vaguely aware of Sinclair saying to Kenji, “Did he and Noa go to the same flight school?” and the archbishop’s laugh.

      “Lift us now!” Alaric ordered. His body slammed against his seat back, and open sky came into view. “Chart us a path out of this storm.”

      “Aye!”

      Dr. Bower said, “Captain, Trina can give you a location that is as far from the infection site possible, out of visual observation range of the gate, and hopefully free of psychotic wildlife. Someplace we can land.”

      “We would appreciate that,” Alaric said. He could feel his pulse beating in his neck and tasted adrenaline on his tongue. There was a scream from the left wing.

      “Captain,” Helm said. “We’re losing our port hover. We need to land now.”

      Ran declared, “Closest dry land is twenty-five kilometers away, due east.”

      “Take us there,” Alaric ordered.

      “That will put us within observation range of the gate in twenty-five minutes and thirty-three seconds,” Trina said.

      “Heaven help us all,” the weere priest declared.

      Alaric thought they didn’t need help. The shuttle’s attempt to “save” them from the wave had proven something to him. The gate wanted his ship. He had one more weapon left—the self-destruct. If it came to that, he would use it. It would end them all quickly, but he thought of the beasts they’d seen turning on the Galacticans and imagined it happening on Luddeccea.

      It was Luddeccea and the Republic that needed heaven’s help.
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      In the split second before the stun took effect, Volka saw Russo’s face contorted in fury—lips drawn back, eyes wide, eyebrows high, face red—he looked like demons in the Three Books. She saw her future in his eyes, her mind blinded by the contagion. She rolled to the side but knew it wouldn’t be enough. She waited for the inevitable crash of his body on hers.

      It never came. There was a grunt from behind her and a loud thunk.

      “Miss, miss, are you all right?”

      It was Davies’s voice. She uncovered her head with shaky hands. Davies was huffing above her, her crutch in his hands and held like a bat. Russo’s body was crumpled on the opposite side of the hallway at Volka’s feet.

      “Yes, thank you,” Volka whispered.

      Davies smiled. “If you hadn’t stunned him—”

      Sirens wailed, and the ship rocked violently. Throwing the crutch aside, eyes on the stunned Russo, he smacked a hand onto the nearest cell’s control panel. Struggling to her feet, Volka was only half up before Davies picked her up by the waist like a sack of potatoes and threw her inside. A moment later, he dived beside her and they both slammed against the wall.

      “What’s happening?” Volka cried, but no one answered.
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      Sirens filled the ship. The bridge was dark, except for console lights and the twilight outside the window.

      Helm cried, “The port hover is—”

      “Turn off hover on both wings,” Alaric commanded. “Full power to bow hover, stern hover at five percent.” There was a sudden drop in volume around him and the ship’s descent intensified. Without the hover on port and starboard, the wind buffeted them wildly, the deck rising and falling at alarming angles.

      “We’ve lost a quarter of both wings—” Helm said. “I don’t think we can land it with only—”

      “We can. There’s snow ahead,” Alaric declared. The white blanket on the shore was brilliant blue in the light of the planet’s single moon with gently rising drifts. He hoped they were drifts. “We can land.” He didn’t know that, but Helm said, “Yes, sir!” with what sounded like renewed confidence.

      Alaric exhaled, never more grateful for that stunt of landing on a snowy street on Libertas. Smacking the general comm beside him, Alaric declared, “All crew, brace for impact.” The words were barely out of his mouth when the stern touched down and the bow thudded into the snow a moment later, knocking the wind out of him. The ship bounced, skidded across the snow, plowing through drifts for what felt like an eternity, and when it stopped, Alaric wasn’t aware of it. It was only when Priest Ujk cried, “Archbishop, are you all right?” and the elderly man groaned and said, “Well done, Captain...and helmsman,” that he realized they’d done it.

      Alaric’s chest swelled at the archbishop’s words, but his eyes went to the window. “We need to fix our hover engines. Ran, have Siddhartha put together a repair team. Grayson will have to provide cover.” They only had so much ammunition, and, “They’ll all need environmental suits.” Which would hamper the mechanics’ maneuverability and delay repairs. Maybe the enemy’s desire for the Merkabah would give them time enough for repairs—if they could hold off wildlife.

      “On it,” said Ran.

      “Captain,” Young said. “My team can help with the hover engines.”

      Alaric’s mind jumped at the possibilities. Young, in particular, could be invaluable if his hands-on experience was real.

      “We can’t trust your team,” Ran said. Turning to Alaric, he said, “The other android tried to warn us about a weapon. There is something they haven’t told us.”

      Alaric drew back in his seat. Ran was right. “I want a decon team sent with a security detail to the brig, and I want the android brought to me as soon as possible.” The room briefly lost focus. “And the weere and Davies, too…” He swallowed. There had been a breach. “...After the doctor clears them with the rapid-test kit and whatever other precautions he deems necessary.”
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      “We’ve landed,” Davies said. He was pressing Volka into the floor—she hardly noticed—her leg hurt too much to care about anything but her pain.

      He got up quickly, and some of the pressure and the pain abated. “I’m sorry, ma’am,” he said, blushing from his neck to his hairline. “I knew if we stayed in the hall, we’d risk more exposure to the bug thing, whatever it was, if Russo got tossed around.”

      Carl’s voice was in her head a moment later. “He is right. Do not leave your cell until the cleanup crew arrives or you’ll be waffles.”

      Volka’s brow furrowed.

      “Toast. I mean toast. Russo was bouncing around like a tricycle...I mean ball. Ball. Blood and spit everywhere out there, and Darkness.”

      “Ma’am?” said Davies, looking nervous. “I didn’t mean to be improper.”

      Volka blinked up at him. “You did nothing wrong.”

      His shoulders fell, and he held out his hand. “I should offer you a hand-up, ma’am.”

      This was what respect felt like. This was what it was to be the weere of a powerful man. Volka held out her hand and let Davies help her to her feet. Over the intercom came the sound of footsteps, and then men in bulky Luddeccean environmental gear passed by the glass, dragging a still-unconscious Russo. A moment later, they came down the hall firing liquid from hoses. “It’s alcohol or bleach,” Davies said. Releasing her hand, he dropped a bed from the wall for her to sit on. Nodding at her as she sat down, he stepped to the side. He had been exceptionally kind, even if he did so partially out of fear of Alaric, and she wanted to ask him about the hint of a Libertan accent she heard in his voice, but the door whooshed open and two Luddecceans in environmental gear came in, bearing what looked like cotton swabs, but they were bright blue. One of them spoke, and instead of being a man, it was Walker’s voice she heard. “We need swabs of your bodily orifices. If those test results come back clean, you’ll get an alcohol shower. Volka, you can stay here with me, but you’ll need to strip.”

      “Davies, you’re with me,” said the doctor.

      Dr. Walker put a yellow plastic sheet over the door, and then began her tests. It was as unpleasant as it had sounded, but when the swabs didn’t turn white, Volka didn’t really care about the alcohol that was sprayed over her body. After the doctor gave a final rubdown with a blue cloth to “detect any residual pathogens” and that came back clean, she was given more clothing to wear of the exact same style as before, and a new crutch.

      She stepped out from behind the yellow curtain when she was done and was immediately assailed by Carl’s happy squeaks and Sixty saying, “I’m going to be culturally insensitive.” Before she knew what was happening, he’d scooped her up like he had before when he’d taken her to the sickbay. “You’re not infected,” he said, his warm breath rushing between her ears.

      Sitting on his shoulders, Carl’s head bobbed. “I thought that you weren’t, but oh, Hatchling, I was afraid to hope! I’d kiss you, but I’m venomous.” She scratched him behind an ear, and he purred and wrapped his sharp claws around her hand. Volka's eyes got hot. Together with Sixty and Carl, she felt Sundancer’s absence more keenly, but she was more grateful than ever for the two’s presence. They were almost a family.

      On the floor, Isssh sniffed disdainfully, and Volka rolled her eyes at how ridiculous he sounded.

      Isssh’s voice hissed in her mind, “I am not ridi—”

      “Definitely ridiculous,” said Carl, aloud.

      Isssh hissed back, “I’ll have you—”

      But he was cut off by a guard saying, “You’re to report to the captain immediately,” his voice gruff.

      Craning her neck in alarm, Volka said, “Where is Davies?” But then she saw him past the gruff man who’d just ordered them to see Alaric. Davies’s eyes were wide, scandalized, and focused like a laser beam on 6T9’s hands on her body.

      “Maybe you should put her down,” Carl whispered.

      Sixty’s grip tightened, but his voice was contrite when he asked, “Do you want down, Volka?”

      Her leg was killing her. She’d banged it around too much in the last few minutes. She’d appreciated the crew’s respect, but right now she didn’t need respect, she needed a lift.

      Sixty had washed up quite a bit since he’d last carried her, but along with the scent of oil, plastic, and human male, she could still smell Walker in his hair and around his ears. He was her friend though, willing to be scandalous for her sake, and for this journey, the rest didn’t matter.

      “No,” she said. “Don’t put me down.”
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      Sixty needed to check his chronometer. The six minutes and thirty-three seconds he’d waited for the rapid-test results had seemed to drag indefinitely. Now, the walk to the bridge, with Volka in his arms, was going too quickly.

      He heard footsteps, and someone shouting, “Move, move, move! We need those hover repairs yesterday.” The deck was sitting at an odd angle as though it had parked with its nose up and tilted sideways at a ten-degree angle.

      There was an elevator to the bridge—but the guards directed them to stairs—and Sixty was grateful for the extra time. They were nearly to the final step when Volka gasped, “Sixty, did they take Eliza’s ashes from you when they locked you up?”

      It was the sort of thing she’d think about.

      “Would you believe that when I told them they were archbishop Sato’s great-great-great aunt’s ashes, they didn’t want to touch them?”

      She smiled. “Our superstitiousness, politeness, and respect for authority worked in your favor!”

      One of his eyebrows rose at the word “our.” Was she a Luddeccean still?

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “Speaking of respect for authority, maybe you should put Volka down?”

      “Why?” said Sixty, arriving on the landing.

      “Don’t give Darmadi any more reason to throw you out an airlock,” Carl said mysteriously as they approached the guards at the door to the bridge.

      “Better put me down, Sixty,” Volka said.

      “Of course, if you want, but—”

      “Yes,” said Carl and Volka in unison.

      Knowing he was missing something, Sixty put Volka down. The man, Davies, rushed over and gave her a crutch to lean on, the door to the bridge opened, and 6T9 didn’t have time to ask.

      Captain Darmadi was standing just within the door, silhouetted by windows showing a snowbank and above that, S33O4’s night sky. Perched on the snowbank were men with Luddeccean flamethrowers on their shoulders. 6T9’s Q-comm sparked and he realized they had five minutes before the time gate rose above them. The sky was clear, and they would be seen.

      “Android, you knew of the weapons aboard the shuttle and Time Gate 33, and you said nothing in our meeting.” The words were spoken not by Darmadi, but by Commander Ran, standing just behind him to his right.

      “During our meeting, I knew of no weapons,” 6T9 said. The bridge was dark, lit only by a few winking lights from view screens and readouts.

      “You’re lying,” Ran said.

      Darmadi held up a hand. “Why did you try to storm the bridge to warn me of weapons at the last minute? Was some intel revealed to you…?” His eyes slid to James and Young. “Intel that could have spared my ship and three of my men?”

      “I didn’t know that there would be casualties,” Trina whispered to John. “I thought the plan was safe, otherwise I would never have agreed to it. I’m so sorry.”

      “Hush, no one knew,” said John. Trina was leaning against him, looking as though she might be crying synth tears. She had excellent emotional expression, but no one except John and 6T9 was paying attention. Kenji, James, Young, and the Luddeccean personnel were all focused on 6T9.

      Ran’s voice rose. “Except you knew, android.”

      “I didn’t know,” 6T9 said, distracted by the gentle way Dr. Bower kissed Trina’s head and brushed her hair back from her face. It had become caught in teardrops there.

      “Please explain yourself,” said Darmadi tightly.

      6T9’s attention snapped to the captain. “I intuited that they would have a weapon. I wanted to warn you.”

      “You intuited?” said the captain.

      Behind the captain, Trina pressed her lips to Dr. Bower’s. It wasn’t gentle, it was hungry, and even 6T9 knew it was out of place on the bridge during such an important meeting.

      Forcing his attention back to the captain, 6T9 said, “They already demonstrated they had a weapon on the ground—the birds and animals they controlled.”

      “A primitive weapon, Sixty,” said James.

      “Not primitive at all,” said 6T9. “We could never do such a thing.”

      “They also had the weapon they used on Sundancer!” Volka said. As focus on the bridge shifted to her, she said, “Our friend…ship.”

      Behind the captain, Bower whispered, “Trina, it’s okay, it’s okay.”

      Young said, “But the gate had nothing like the weapons they eventually used. The Republic had nothing like the weapons they used.” The last was directed at Darmadi. The captain’s attention was fixated on 6T9; his hands were behind his back. 6T9 remembered Volka said he would be logical.

      “Captain,” 6T9 said, his Q-comm lighting. “The infection is a millennia-old consciousness that is completely foreign to Luddecceans and the Republic, and it has destroyed worlds. Knowledge is always the most dangerous weapon.” That had been his real weapon against the pirates, he realized. He’d known about the Hey, Sailor routine. James would not have. He continued. “The infected will have knowledge, and therefore, weapons we can’t even imagine, and aboard a time gate—the most technologically advanced structures that exist in the human-inhabited galaxy—they will have access to plenty of materials to build their weapons.”

      “He’s lying,” said Ran.

      “No, he’s not!” Trina cried, rising from her seat.

      All eyes on the bridge turned to her. “I would have known about a hidden weapon aboard me if it had belonged to the Republic…but these new people.” She touched her temple and frowned. “These infected people, they don’t talk over the ether.” Bowing her head, she whispered, “I miss them...the real them, I mean.”

      “They don’t need to use the ether,” Carl said from 6T9’s shoulder. “They can speak telepathically to one another, and to the Dark.”

      Trina continued, “I knew that they had disabled the gravity and that they had brought the repair ‘bots back online, but I thought they were only working on the time bands, not that they were building…a…singularity beam.”

      6T9 blinked. So that was what they’d been attacked with.

      “You could be lying, too,” Ran said, his voice almost a shout.

      “She’s not!” John declared, springing from his seat.

      Trina’s eyes scrunched shut, and she whispered, “Not about the weapons. I didn’t know about those. They are not Republic technology, Captain. The gates, we would know.”

      Alaric took a step toward her. “You are lying about something though,” he said. His voice sounded tired, not accusatory.

      “I didn’t know your men would die,” she said. “I thought the plan was very safe—you said it was safe.” She nodded, as though encouraging him to agree. When he didn’t respond, she looked between the members of the first meeting. “Everyone thought it would be safe…”

      No one responded, and she continued. “I thought I could have everything. John’s safety, your safety, and my mind. If only the time bands were destroyed, like in our plan, I’d still be. So, I lied…or rather, I omitted…”

      “Omitted what?” Alaric whispered.

      “Trina, no…” John whispered.

      “I promised I’d rescue you,” Trina said, turning to him. “I thought it was because…because…it was logical. You took care of me for all those years, and so I would take care of you, and who knew, maybe we could always take care of each other? Volka told me I loved you, and I told her she was wrong because I am not programmed that way. But maybe that is what love is? Taking care of one another?”

      6T9 heard Volka slide awkwardly closer to him and felt the brush of her arm against his own. In the window, above Trina’s head, Time Gate 33 came into view, framing her face like a halo. She looked up at the gate. “I can only be with you for a minute more, but I can take care of you for much longer.”

      John grabbed her hands. “Trina, what are you talking about? We can be together. Always.”

      Gazing at him, she said, “Thank you for staying with me these past hours…I am...I am glad I could know you in this form. And glad that you didn’t die when we were on the surface. I thought I would lose you then and wanted to stay with you as long as possible. Now I really have to go.” She smiled. “I have control of one system…”

      In the window, a tiny spark caught 6T9’s eye. For a moment, he thought it was a phaser being fired at them—though his Q-comm told him that made no sense—Russo had spoken about wanting the ship. And then he realized it was an explosion, probably one of the four nuclear reactors that powered the gate.

      “I still control my self-destruct,” Trina said.

      “No!” John shouted.

      The first spark was followed by another, and another, another, and the last. Trina’s face became vacant, her mind and body no longer inhabited by the computing power of the gate…and perhaps no computing power at all. She had the whole of the gate to animate her; she might not have needed local processors. As if to verify 6T9’s hypothesis, her body sagged. 6T9 stepped toward her, but it was John who caught her before she hit the floor. Above them, in the sky, Time Gate 33 broke into millions of pieces that rained toward the planet in a shower of shooting stars.

      On the bridge, cradling Trina in his arms, Dr. John Bower wept.

      Captain Darmadi went to him and put a hand on his shoulder, but the scientist shrugged it away. Straightening, turning to the crew, and not appearing offended, only tired, Captain Darmadi spoke. “This…infectious consciousness...is it still here on this planet?”

      “Yes,” said Carl, on 6T9’s shoulders. “The Darkness still inhabits the wildlife.”

      Shoulders falling, Darmadi said, “Lieutenant Young, I think I will take you up on your offer of assistance with our hover engines.”

      “Yes, sir,” said Young. “I’ll suit up my team, sir.”

      Darmadi inclined his head to one of his team, and then to Young. The Luddeccean Guardsman nodded and followed Young out the door.

      Captain Darmadi’s eyes fell on Volka, standing beside 6T9, and stayed there 5.8 seconds. His gaze shifted to 6T9, his chin dipped, a muscle jumped in his jaw, and then he looked away.
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      “The birds are arriving, sir,” said one of the priests at the radar.

      “I see them,” Alaric said, staring at the approaching cloud in his own monitor.

      “All hover diagnostics check out,” said the archbishop at one of the monitors.

      Alaric hit the comm, and before he’d even spoken, Lieutenant Grayson said, “We’re all in the airlock or decon, sir.”

      “Thank you, Grayson,” Alaric said. “Helm, get us out of here.”

      The Merkabah jerked from the snow. Without her rudder and huge chunks of her wings missing, Helm struggled to keep her ascent smooth, but her hover engines were humming beautifully—thanks in no small part to the Galacticans and Young in particular. Alaric had no doubt that they’d make it out of atmosphere. They’d finish their repairs above the planet, out of range of psychotic wildlife, and because of Trina, safe from the gate.

      A few minutes later, they were orbiting S33O4, and his eyes fell on the chair where Trina had sat. He’d barely noticed her the entire trip. She’d been little more than a talking terminal that could tell them the barest essentials about power usages on Time Gate 33. And yet, what he’d overlooked had saved them all.

      “You look pensive, Captain,” said the archbishop, reaching up to scratch the white werfle on his shoulder.

      Alaric did not know how to respond. On Luddeccea, confessing pensiveness over the destruction of an android…well, he might wind up on trial for suspected heresy.

      “I am, I suppose,” he admitted.

      “Commander Ran can hold the bridge,” the archbishop said.

      “Yes, sir,” said Ran, puffing noticeably.

      Rolling his chair back from his monitor, the archbishop said, “I would like some tea in the conference room, Captain. Would you please assist me?”

      It was an order disguised as a request, and it was, perhaps surprisingly, the first time the archbishop had “pulled rank” on Alaric during the voyage. “Of course, sir,” Alaric replied, hitting a few keys on his terminal to alert his steward of the plan.

      The steward, an older shipman, was already in the conference room when they arrived with not just hot tea, but coffee, cream, sugar, and shortbread biscuits. There was also a decanter of hot broth and a plate of beef jerky, both of which the archbishop had requested be made available for the weere aboard. The steward blushed profusely in the archbishop’s presence and seemed crestfallen when Sato asked him to leave. It reminded Alaric that to many of his people, the archbishop was regarded as a near-deity and more than human. Alaric eyed the neural port in Sato’s temple. Sato was more than human, but not in a way that was divine.

      Facing a porthole, sipping his tea, the archbishop said, “You were wondering about the android’s sacrifice.” The werfle was still on Sato’s shoulders and was peering at Alaric through narrowed eyes. Did it speak with the archbishop mind to mind or…? Alaric’s eyes fell on Sato’s neural port again. He’d taken it on faith that it was deactivated, even though he didn’t have faith.

      His jaw tightened. “Was it a sacrifice? Or will she move into a new body?”

      “It was a sacrifice,” Sato said. “For most androids, their backup is aboard a time gate. Trina was Time Gate 33. She destroyed herself with it.”

      Standing beside him, coffee in his hand, Alaric blurted, “Why?”

      The archbishop’s shoulders fell, and his breath came out in a sigh. “Probably for the reason she said.”

      Trina had been a machine, which meant her motivations were not her own. “Because she was programmed to preserve humans.” What had the archbishop said about Sixty? That he was unable to hurt humans.

      “Possibly, although I think that the importance of one particular human was at the forefront of her decision,” the archbishop said. “She was a time gate. If her core programming became inconvenient, she would have had the ability to reprogram herself. She never chose to do so, which probably says as much about her relationship to the humans aboard her as it does about herself.” The archbishop wiped his eyes. Alaric noted they were red as though he was crying, but Alaric dismissed it as an ailment of old age.

      Releasing another long breath, Sato said, “They’re all different from one another, just as we are. Slaves to their programming, like we are, and all blind to it like we are.”

      It was dangerously close to saying humans did not possess free will, and Alaric carefully remained silent.

      Sato shook himself. “The only way to see outside our blinders is to acknowledge the perspectives of others. It amuses me greatly that Sixty has had so much original perspective to offer.”

      Alaric stared into his coffee. “He seems to...malfunction...a great deal. I understand that they are designed to have normal human relations, but he seems to...go above and beyond in that respect.”

      “Well, going above and beyond is what he was designed for in that regard,” Sato said.

      “Pardon?” said Alaric.

      Sato blinked up at him. “Well, he is a sex ‘bot, isn’t he?” Turning back to the window, he said, “I think that is what gives him his unique viewpoint. He wasn’t designed with sentience in mind. It was thrust upon him, and he’s had to adapt to it. In a way, his personal evolution has been more...” The old man smiled wryly. “...natural.”

      Alaric barely heard. He felt his face heating. “He’s a...it’s a…” He closed his eyes. How had he been so dense? He’d thought it had been taunting him all this time, playing some sort of clever psychological game on Libertas and then getting stuck in a loop during their meeting...but it was a sex ‘bot. It was a weere…well, whore…Its purpose was to fulfill sexual needs.

      …and it was friends with Volka. “Why shouldn’t I send it out an airlock?” he muttered. It would be the Luddeccean thing to do. Sex was, officially, for procreation. Sex ‘bots were the ultimate in blasphemy.

      The archbishop glanced up at him sharply. “You’re letting your emotions get the better of you.”

      Alaric felt the blood drain from his face, and his body went cold at the archbishop’s words, mostly because they were true.

      He bowed his head. He couldn’t see Volka with it but come her season, she might do something rash. Hadn’t Volka told him he’d saved her from making such a mistake? His shoulders fell, remembering holding her in the shower after her third miscarriage. Had he really saved her?

      There was a whoosh behind them, and Sixty’s voice filled the conference room. “You shouldn’t send me out the airlock because it would be a bad idea to endanger Luddeccean and Galactican relations when you will need the Galactic Republic more than ever.”

      Alaric spun to see Sixty standing in the hallway entrance.

      “Thank you for coming, Sixty,” said the archbishop, wheeling around in a leisurely, completely unsurprised way.

      Inclining his head to the door, giving Alaric a grim smile, Sixty said, “I couldn’t help but overhear. I think the gravity beam warped the door; it doesn’t close all the way.”

      “How did you come to the conclusion we’ll need the Republic?” Alaric asked tersely, his mind spinning with the memory of Time Gate 33 exploding above them.

      Stepping into the room, the android said in an emotionless tone, “The infection has already destroyed many worlds. Through Russo and Dr. Khan, one of the infected scientists from the gate, it expressed its desire to continue spreading. Spreading is its purpose. If its purpose is to spread, and it has already been successful, then it must have a means of doing so. It arrived on S33O4 via an asteroid that came from out of this system. That was likely not accidental, and at least one of its methods, if not its primary one. There are probably more asteroids like the one that arrived here, spreading throughout the galaxy like...spores, if you will. The Darkness, as The One call it—” The android’s eyes briefly went to the white werfle, “—now knows from its human hosts of Luddeccea and the Republic. It will direct its efforts in our direction. It would be logical for the Luddecceans and the Galactic Republic to join forces to eradicate its spores. Endangering such cooperation by sending a citizen of the Galactic Republic out an airlock would be illogical.”

      The archbishop smiled sadly. “You have noticed that humans aren’t always logical?”

      A muscle in Alaric’s jaw jumped.

      The android looked at the ground. “It has come to my attention lately that some of my kind have acted without…” he nodded at Alaric before turning to the archbishop. “...empathy...toward your people, Kenji.”

      “Ah, yes,” said the archbishop. The old man took a deep breath. “What goes around comes around, as they say.” He wiped his eyes again.

      Frowning, a furrow forming on his brow, the android approached the old man.

      “You know we won’t send you out the airlock,” Sato said. “Even if…” the archbishop let out a long breath. “Even if I didn’t fear that you are right about our new enemy.”

      “I think…I knew that, sir,” said Sixty.

      The archbishop dropped his hand and looked up at Sixty with an expression of such pure gratitude it caught Alaric off guard. He had the sensation of not knowing, a sensation he’d never liked.

      Waving a hand toward the refreshment tray, the archbishop said to the android, “Would you like some refreshments, Sixty? We have Luddeccean tea, coffee, cream, and butter cookies.”

      The android smiled. “I would enjoy that very much. Your Aunt Eliza always said that Luddeccean food was the best, and she was right.” He looked at Alaric. “It’s the terroir. Milk is mostly lab-made in the Republic. Your grass-fed animals produce dairy products with greater chemical complexity.” Peeking at the archbishop’s cup, Sixty added, “Would you like a refill, sir?”

      “Thank you, Sixty, I would,” the archbishop said.

      Taking the archbishop’s cup, Sixty asked Alaric, “And what about you, sir?”

      Alaric had just suggested sending the android out an airlock, and here it was asking if he wanted more coffee. Of all its behavior, the simple gesture seemed the most alien.

      “No, thank you,” Alaric said.

      The android frowned. “I can’t poison it. I can’t harm humans. It is my purpose to care for you.”

      Alaric’s stomach sank, and he wasn’t sure why. “No, thank you, I’m just...done.”

      “Very well,” said Sixty, filling up the archbishop’s cup with tea. “Milk, no sugar, Kenji?”

      “You remember!” said the archbishop. Sixty handed him his cup and then proceeded to make himself a cup of coffee with so much sugar and cream that Alaric might have been able to pass it off to his boys as hot chocolate.

      The door whooshed again, and Sinclair stood there, the golden werfle on his shoulders and Volka, carrying a crutch, in his arms. She wore the same high-necked Luddeccean green refugee dress that she’d worn before. It made her kohl-lined yellow eyes gleam like amber and fit her form perfectly. Alaric felt himself flush, and his lips tighten.

      “They wouldn’t let you on the elevator?” the archbishop asked.

      “No, they said that was only for you,” Sinclair replied, gently setting Volka down and helping her with her crutch.

      Looking up at Alaric and Sixty, Sinclair said in a dry voice, “I had to carry her. I was afraid she might beat me up again if I didn’t.”

      Volka’s ears snapped forward. “I would never—”

      Sinclair smirked, and one of her ears flicked in a way that Alaric knew meant she was annoyed.

      Carl chittered, and its “necklace” crackled. “You already did, Hatchling!”

      Volka’s eyes met Alaric’s; she flushed and averted her gaze.

      “Here’s some beef broth and jerky for you, Volka,” Sixty said, setting both at a place at the conference table. “You should sit down and put your foot up,” he added. Volka and Sinclair sat down, and the archbishop said, “Did Carl tell you about Sixty’s premonition?”

      Volka looked down into her cup.

      Sinclair’s face became grim. “He did.”

      Sixty sat down too, and Alaric joined the four of them. He sat across from Volka, not close enough to run his hand between her ears. Alaric’s sister had told him of banned Pre-Revelation romances she’d read, and of lovers being “friends” after their affairs had ended. She described it as more “civilized.” Alaric felt that sitting at a table with Volka, pretending she was less to him than what she was, was brutal.

      Sinclair spoke, providing a welcome distraction. “It’s vital that Dr. Lang’s research get back to the Republic as quickly as possible. We’ll be able to create remote tests for the pathogen so it isn’t passed along at time gates and spaceports.”

      “We’re undergoing repairs,” Alaric said. “But I believe we’ll be able to get you back within the next eight Earth hours.”

      Sinclair’s shoulders visibly relaxed.

      Carl made a sound between a sneeze and a cough.

      Volka’s eyes slid to the werfle and back to the group. “We already have a remote test of sorts. The One can sense it, and so can some weere—maybe all weere. Carl says that exposure to him and Sundancer have strengthened my telepathic abilities, and I believe that is true. However, Captain, I don’t just feel it, I can smell it.” She didn’t sound at all like the teenager he’d known, and refugee dress or not, she had the poise of a princess. He wished she had said his name, though.

      Volka continued, “If you find other weere who are sensitive to the wave or just have sensitive noses, you could use them for screening at ill-informed...or on your ships when you run into pirates.”

      Her words were sensible, but Alaric froze, the possibility of infected pirates just coming to him.

      Volka’s mouth dropped open as though she were embarrassed. “I’m sorry. In the silly stories I read, pirates hide on asteroids, and I thought they might come into contact with the Dark that way, but that might be…” She blushed. “...uninformed.”

      “It’s not ill-informed,” Alaric said, his chest feeling heavy.

      Sinclair added, “The Kanakah Cloud is full of asteroids and uncharted settlements. An icy asteroid would be appealing to independent vessels looking for a water source.”

      Alaric frowned. The Kanakah Cloud was only two months from Luddeccean space at light speed. And then there was Luddeccea’s own asteroid belt and the many moons around the outer gas giants.

      “Oh…” said Volka, her lips forming a small “o” as though her own perceptiveness had startled her. Alaric’s fingers curled with the desire to pull her into his lap and tell her he’d keep her safe. He stared into the remains of his coffee. He hadn’t done that very well, though, had he? In the end, she’d had to save herself.

      “You’ve told Noa all that has happened?” the archbishop asked.

      Sinclair nodded. “She is aboard the Arkhipov and is prepared to allow you to dock—”

      The archbishop and Alaric both stiffened. Docking the Merkabah in the Arkhipov might mean never leaving the Arkhipov.

      “—or you could meet in a neutral location. We could send a shuttle to your airlock and conduct negotiations on Time Gate 1,” Sinclair finished.

      “That would be the preferred option,” said Sato.

      Sinclair nodded. “She’s ready for us.”

      “You’ve told her our new enemy’s favorite form appears to be similar to blue-green algae?” the archbishop asked.

      Wincing, Sinclair nodded.

      The archbishop tapped a finger on the table and said softly, as though to himself, “She always told me blue-green algae was evil.”

      Sinclair put his face in his hands and groaned. “In over a century of our marriage, she has not ceased believing it is evil.”

      Alaric’s mind spun with the revelation of “over a century of marriage.” Was their marriage a happy one? Did one need to be a machine to have peaceful marital relations? He glanced at Volka and then away. They might have a peaceful personal relationship, but they’d never have peace in public.

      “Blue-green algae is asexual,” Sixty said. “So, although I don’t believe in good and evil per se, I’d be inclined to agree with the sentiment.”

      James raised his head and narrowed his eyes at Sixty. “You and I were created by what is, essentially, asexual reproduction.”

      Sipping his milk and sugar, Sixty said, “Our makers took the best part out.”

      Volka’s ears flicked. “The admiral invokes blue-green algae like a curse—” Her gaze met Alaric’s. “I thought it was a common slur when I first arrived in the Republic.”

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “So did my once-kin Shissh!” Slinking from Sinclair’s shoulders onto the table, he picked up a piece of beef jerky and turned to Alaric. “Shissh is my once-kin from a half-dozen lives ago. She served aboard a ship with Noa for a while.”

      Alaric gave the werfle a stare that said, explain. But it was Sixty who took the hint. “She served as the ship’s cat.”

      Taking a bite of the jerky, Carl continued, “Did Wihhhassh—I mean Solomon—ever tell you that he was once my mother, and once Isssh’s mother, too, in a different litter?”

      Alaric’s brow furrowed.

      Carl waved two paws. “It was nine centuries and five centuries ago, respectively, when Solomon was female, of course.”

      “Solomon has never been in the habit of talking to me,” Alaric said, trying to play it safe.

      Carl’s eyes narrowed. He took a vigorous bite of the jerky and hissed. “It seems wrong that a mother wouldn’t talk about his own sons.”

      “Um, Carl…” Volka started to say.

      Isssh chattered, and Carl said, “You said it, Isssh.” Turning to Alaric, Carl said, “Solomon has been talking about you nonstop since you were a boy.” Rising to his hindmost paw pairs, Carl addressed everyone at the table as though he were a professor leading a lecture. “Isssh believes that humans will reach true oneness with the wave through religion.”

      Isssh squeaked and hissed.

      “I’m not debating you at the moment,” Carl said, waving his top paw pairs. “I’m explaining The One’s various hypotheses on the matter.”

      Isssh sniffed.

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “Ahem. I personally believe that humans will reach wave consciousness via technology, but Solomon believes that wave consciousness will come about through the fields you know as mathematics and physics.” He turned his whiskered snout back to Alaric. “You are very talented in those areas. We heard alllllll about it. ‘My pet has beaten all the rich boys at the inter-province mathematics competition. My pet is taking college level physics in high school.’”

      Embarrassed, Alaric found himself studying the bottom of his empty coffee cup. “Ah, I’m sure no one wants to—”

      Isssh chittered.

      “Oh, yes, that’s right. Solomon worried about you constantly, too. ‘My pet has grown so tall he bangs his head on the low roof of his parents’ house. His legs are so long he can’t fit on the bed he shares with his brothers. I’m afraid his feet will get frostbite.’”

      Alaric stared at the last dregs of his drink as though they were the most interesting thing in the world. He remembered those winters without heat. “That would explain why he slept on my feet and never let me stretch out,” he joked weakly. “I think we should discuss—”

      Isssh squeaked.

      “Yep,” continued Carl. “We heard all about that. But did you hear about the time Isssh’s tail was stuck in an elevator door? The time I hibernated through spring and almost through summer? No, I bet not.”

      “Errr…” said Alaric.

      “Carl,” said Sixty.

      Waving a paw, Carl declared, “Solomon told us all about your determination to see that he had something to eat even when your family had nothing. For every fresh egg you gave him, he felt compelled to make sure your mother had two rats for stew.”

      Isssh hissed, and Carl grumbled, “Once-mother always made us hunt for ourselves as soon as we could slink out of the nest.”

      Flushing, Alaric barely heard. His family had resorted to rats during the winters, and although Volka would not think worse of him for it, the human and android at the table were another matter. “We should really talk about—”

      Carl waved a paw. “Did Solomon tell you about how Isssh was the first of our kind to inhabit a gixelloopalop?” Isssh squeaked with what sounded like indignation.

      Carl ranted, “Or how I almost tenpawdedly destroyed Time Gate 8? No. And recently, when you were in prison—”

      “In prison?” Volka whispered.

      “It was nothing,” Alaric ground out, not able to raise his eyes.

      Carl kept going. “It was on Abraham’s trumped-up charges. But when Solomon tried to give Alaric the only rat not infected with plague when Alaric was starving, Alaric insisted he eat it…unlike some people, who might be weere, who catch rats on an asteroid I know of and don’t always share them even though they are by no means starving.”

      “Let’s change the topic,” suggested Alaric.

      “To how you should have been allowed into the priesthood?” Carl asked, blinking his eyes innocently.

      “No,” said Alaric. “To—”

      Turning to the androids at the table, Carl said, “The priesthood on Luddeccea is the equivalent of medieval monks when it comes to science and culture, only Luddeccean priests are allowed to marry, which is far more sensible, if you ask me.”

      The archbishop cleared his throat. “Captain Darmadi would be an excellent addition to our ranks.”

      Alaric’s cup slipped from his fingers and he looked up, suddenly feeling dizzy.

      The archbishop continued, “But I hope that for now, he will remain in the Fleet. I don’t know if we would have survived if it had been anyone else in charge.”

      The dizziness passed. Alaric felt heavy and couldn’t meet anyone’s gaze. “For God and Luddeccea,” he said.

      Sinclair cleared his throat. “It was well done.”

      Alaric wanted more than anything to talk about something else.

      “Would you like some more coffee?” Sixty asked.

      “Please,” Alaric said, wracking his brain for a change of subject and grabbing hold of the first thing that came to mind. “There are human-weere couples on Libertas who’ve been denied independent contracts for asteroid mining. If weere are sensitive to the threat we’re facing, and it exists on asteroids that may already be in our system, we should get them out there, and we should make sure they’re prepared to recognize a spore.” He could feel his face flushing as he said the words and had to force himself not to look at Volka. He couldn’t change the past, but he could maybe change the future for other couples who found themselves in their predicament.

      “That would mean acknowledging that such couples exist,” the archbishop said.

      Alaric felt like throwing his fresh cup of coffee across the table. He steepled his fingers instead. “Of course, Your Excellency.”

      “Which doesn’t mean it should not be done,” said the archbishop.

      The comm rang, and Alaric was grateful for the distraction.

      Ran’s voice filled the room. “Sir, we have discovered the Galacticans’ ship.” Cups clicked on the table around Alaric. “It’s in the shadow of the second planet in this system,” he continued.

      “Bringing it up on the holo,” the archbishop said.

      The holoprojector at the center of the table lit up. The ship on the screen looked like the one Sixty and Volka had escaped in, but…“What has happened to her?” Alaric murmured. Her hull was dark gray with veins of a mustard yellow that gripped her like a pentapus.

      “She was infected, I think,” Carl said.

      Alaric looked up at the werfle in alarm.

      Bowing its head, the werfle said, “Not like we would be. She isn’t possessed. She’s dead.”

      Isssh squeaked mournfully.

      Alaric looked to Volka for clarification. “Sundancer is a living thing.” Taking a deep breath, she glared at Carl. “We can’t be sure she’s died!”

      “We can’t feel her anymore,” said Carl. “She’s gone, Volka.”

      Alaric sat back in his chair. There was no way they could tow the ship to Luddeccea. He swallowed, and if it was infected…“She must be destroyed.”

      “What?” Volka growled, leaning forward in her chair, her lip curling.

      “Are there any surviving infected humans in this system? On an escape pod perhaps?” Alaric demanded of the werfles and Volka.

      Volka sat back in her chair. Carl put a paw to his nose. “We don’t know.”

      “If they got hold of her, they could travel anywhere in the galaxy,” Alaric said.

      On the comm, Ran said, “I agree, sir, but we have no phaser power, Captain, and no torpedoes.”

      “They never worked before, anyway,” Alaric said.

      He heard Volka swallow. “Would you do something for her?” she asked in an uncertain voice. It reminded him of other times and different circumstances. Why not just say, would you do something for me? and reach a hand into his chest and tear out his heart while she was at it?

      Alaric swallowed. “If it is in my power.”

      Volka bit her lip. “In my paperbacks, sometimes, when someone died aboard a ship, their coffin was launched into a star. Could we, could you, launch her into the star?” When she spoke, the Volka who had stunned Russo, slain pirates in mech suits, and spoke like a princess looked a lot like the teenage Volka he had known, whispering, would you stay in bed a little longer?

      “We have EM boosters aboard,” he found himself saying.

      “EM boosters?” said Sixty.

      “When we apprehend Galactican pirates, we salvage their ships. Sometimes it’s more convenient to send them to one of our off-planet bases than to complete the operation in zero G. The EM boosters attach to the vessel and take it to a predetermined destination. It might take a month or so from the second planet to the local star, but it would work.”

      “That would work, sir,” said Ran. “And it would make sense before jumping to the Republic to test the nets here. The second planet has ice caps, decent gravity, and air pressure even if the atmosphere doesn’t have enough oxygen. It might be a good place to be if repairs wind up taking a while.”

      “Excellent thoughts, Ran,” said Alaric.

      “Well done, Commander,” said the archbishop.

      “Thank you, sirs,” said Ran, and Alaric could hear his chest puffing.

      He was dimly aware of Sixty’s mouth making a small “o” of shock, Sinclair pursing his lips, and the archbishop narrowing his eyes at Carl. There was something Alaric didn’t know. But Volka was smiling at him, eyes sparking, looking genuinely happy, and for once, he didn’t care.
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      “There’s another form that Volka has to fill out.” The voice was Lauren G3’s and it was in 6T9’s head. There was a shapely cybernetic leg over his stomach that 6T9 gently removed. Silently, into the ether, he said, “Which form?”

      As Lauren G3 gave the form’s sixteen-character alphanumeric code, he found a pair of underwear that was probably his, stepped over a man sleeping on the floor, and exited the guest room he was loaning to Walker on Carl’s, Volka’s, and his asteroid.

      “Are you going to have the next payment for the spaceship you blew up?” Lauren asked.

      6T9 winced. It wasn’t exactly their asteroid. It was only theirs to live on so long as Carl Sagan’s current form was alive, after which it would revert to full ownership and control of 6T9’s former employer’s great-something grandson. Or that had been the deal until 6T9 blew up the asteroid’s fancy spaceship with chandeliers and gold-plated toilets while trying to save Sundancer. Since the spaceship had technically been only on loan, 6T9 was on the hook for it. Failure to make timely payments could mean not just losing his home, but also going to jail. Until Sundancer’s…demise…he’d been using funds from their delivery service.

      “I don’t think I can renegotiate the payment plan again, 6T9,” Lauren G3 said in an ominous voice.

      “It’s fine. I’ve got it under control,” 6T9 said. Two female Marines were asleep in a window nook, a blanket draped over them. A male Marine was on the floor beside them. Walker had invited thirty-three of her closest friends to the asteroid for leave. With its multiple swimming pools, jacuzzi, sauna, ski hill by the ice mine, billiard room, and deer hunting, it was a relatively cheap luxury location for them. They weren’t quite paying luxury rates—it hadn’t seemed fair since they’d had to bring their own beer and food.

      Looking around for Carl, he stepped on a beer can. “Rusted gears!” he cursed. “Under control” might be a bit of hyperbole.

      “What was that?” Lauren G3 asked.

      “Nothing, all good, trying to find—” At that moment, he spotted Carl curled up on the chest of a sleeping man of considerable stature and musculature affectionately known as “Tank.” The werfle really got around, and not for the first time, 6T9 thought that if he ever did exchange bodies, he would come back as a small, furry, objectively “cute” animal. “Thanks, Lauren G3, gotta go,” said 6T9, disconnecting and then leaning low and whispering, “Carl, wake up!”

      “Go away, the kitty is mine,” Tank muttered, wrapping a protective arm around Carl.

      “Go away,” Carl hissed into 6T9’s ether. “Tank is warm.”

      “I was going to call Volka,” 6T9 said. “Before everyone is—”

      Carl had already slunk from Tank’s embrace. “Why didn’t you say so?” he asked, hopping over to 6T9, ignoring Tank’s semi-conscious protests.

      Together they went down the hall, past other rooms filled with guests. The house was no longer empty, but 6T9 still missed Volka. When they arrived at Time Gate 1, she wasn’t allowed passage off the gate. Her paperwork hadn’t been processed properly when she’d come through the first time, and now Volka was stateless, spending her share of their delivery fees on food and lodging in the gate’s overpriced facilities. But Lauren G3, the law ‘bot, was on the case. 6T9 frowned. Lauren G3’s exact words when he’d told her of the predicament was, “Frankly, I don’t know why you bother. She’ll die in only a few decades; it seems better to build a life with your own kind, or at least cyborgs. I’m only taking the case because you’re my friend, Android General 1, and I like a challenge.”

      Friend was not a word 6T9 would use to describe Lauren, but since she’d offered to do it pro bono, he hadn’t corrected her.

      There was only one hologlobe-phone in the house—most people just had avatars of themselves meet in the ether, but that was impossible for Volka and for Carl at long distances. For convenience, 6T9 had put the phone on the desk in the butler’s pantry, right off the kitchen. He checked his internal chronometer, sat down at the single chair with Carl on his lap, and connected. The phone rang once, twice, three times on Volka’s end and he found himself holding his breath. The Luddeccean delegation were returning home today. He swallowed. Had Volka decided to go with them? Captain Darmadi was in love with her, and he strongly suspected Volka couldn’t not be in love with him. And even though Walker swore Volka was asleep in her own bunk during the final night on the Merkabah, Sixty wasn’t sure she and Darmadi hadn’t spent time together in those final hours. He’d bumped into them in the hallway in the officers’ wing after their sleep cycles. Darmadi had asked Volka if she’d slept well. She’d replied she had. And then Darmadi had asked her if she had had “pleasant dreams?” She replied that she had dreams that were good more than pleasant, and he replied that he’d had “good dreams, too.” What could it be but subtle Luddeccean innuendo for getting it on?

      Carl’s necklace crackled. “6T9, is your neck out of joint? It’s jerking to the side.”

      Before 6T9 could reply, Volka appeared on the globe.

      “There you are, Sixty. Thank you so much for connecting us, Bracelet,” she said.

      Carl started to grumble, “Volka, I’ve explained that Bracelet is not—”

      6T9 put a hand over Carl’s necklace, muffling the sound. The werfle gave an angry squeak.

      “You’re still there!” he exclaimed.

      Volka huffed. “I wasn’t going to accept Galacticans’ or Ran’s generous offers.”

      “What?” said Carl and 6T9 at the same time.

      Volka rolled her eyes. “Ran offered me his patronage.” She bowed her head. “I could smell that he has no great desire for me.”

      Ran had offered to take her back to Luddeccea? He found himself almost smiling with relief at the thought of her saying no, but then Carl said, “Despite your lack of body fur and facial whiskers, you’re a lovely girl by most human standards no matter what Ran thinks.”

      6T9’s not quite smile vanished. That was what he should have said. Well, without the comments on body hair and facial whiskers. Not being found attractive was emotionally fraught for humans.

      “But…” she said shifting uneasily.

      Carl’s whiskers twitched furiously. “He wanted to hurt Darmadi.”

      Volka smiled grimly. “That was my thought.”

      6T9’s Q-comm sparked with such force his head snapped back. “What do you mean ‘the Galacticans’ generous offer’?” 6T9 blurted.

      Volka’s lip curled. “They suggested that if I were to accept Ran’s patronage and become a spy for the Republic that they could expedite my processing, and I could return to the Galactic Republic in a few years as a full citizen of System 1.”

      Static surged beneath 6T9’s skin. If Volka returned to Luddeccea as a spy to get back to the Galactic Republic, she’d have to face the Luddeccean security forces on the two-month trip at light-speed from Luddeccea to the Kanakah Cloud and possibly pirates and Dark spores as well. Not to mention the Guard while on Luddeccea itself…

      “Sixty,” Volka said. “Your head tic is back.”

      6T9 smacked the side of his neck. “What lovely Galactican came up with that plan?”

      Volka looked up as though searching the ceiling. “A System 1 lawyer, I think. A Jeannette Lan, maybe?”

      6T9’s head jerked. He wanted…he wanted…

      “Sixty?” asked Volka.

      “Is anything else new?” he asked, smiling and dumping that information into the ether for Lauren G3, James, and Noa to utilize.

      Almost immediately, Lauren G3 responded with, “It’s legal on their part. Just have her fill out the form and I’ll get her legal residency within four years.” James’s response was, “I’m sure the offer was distasteful to Volka, but it was also legal. What do you want me to do, kill Jeannette for you?” 6T9’s head jerked again. Noa’s thoughts intruded into his brain. “Accept the damned interview request of Android General 1 from The Galactic,” she said, referring to a popular, sensationalist, ether news site. “And let Jeannette know that you did. Make sure she knows the issue of Volka’s residency being held hostage will come up in the interview. Before you say anything, I know it isn’t in your programming to impersonate a general, but you have a Q-comm, Sixty. Use it.”

      “Well, do you like it?” Volka asked.

      “I do, I do,” said Carl, scampering up to 6T9’s shoulders and kneading his claws with such force that red lights went off behind 6T9’s eyes.

      6T9 blinked and saw that Volka was holding up a watercolor of Gate 1’s main terminal. Although Volka’s oil paintings were more in the style of the Dutch Masters, the watercolor reminded him of the loose style of John Singer Sargent, although the greens were markedly too saturated due to her colorblindness. It was more interesting for that, 6T9 thought. So much of what made human endeavors interesting came about because of their weaknesses, not their strengths.

      “It’s just a sketch, you understand,” Volka said. “I did it as a study for a more detailed oil painting at a later date.”

      “I think next time you should paint a rat,” said Carl. “A dead one. With its innards spilling out.” He licked his lips. “That would be beautiful.”

      “Shissh was saying I should paint a deer in a similar pose,” said Volka with a smirk.

      6T9’s brain was pondering other things. “How did you acquire paint, paper, and brushes?” The supplies he’d gotten her were aboard Sundancer. There wasn’t an art supply store aboard Time Gate 1, and as far as he knew, Volka had no idea how to use her bracelet to make ethernet purchases for delivery.

      Volka blushed. “Ben bought them for me.” Her ears folded submissively. “He’s the only person I know on Time Gate 1. Since they won’t let him out of the quarantine here, I’ve been spending time with him.”

      Carl chittered. “You know, marriage would be one way for you to gain residency.”

      Sixty wasn’t sure how Volka responded because, for a moment, all of his processors stopped working. When they came online again, the first thing he heard was Volka, saying, “Sixty? Your head?”

      Sixty put his hands on either side of his temples to stop the relentless tic that had taken over again. “No idea why this is happening.” His Q-comm sparked and he ethered the reporter who’d been bothering him for an interview and left a message saying he was available. Taking Noa’s suggestion, he also pinged Jeannette Lan and checked the ethernet for any data on her. His eyes narrowed. She was running for a judgeship position.

      Carl began speaking to Volka about the urine artwork of the gixelloopalops, but Sixty didn’t really hear. He was answering a ping from the reporter. His eyes went wide. “Carl and I are coming to see you, by the way.”

      “We are?” said Carl.

      “Yes, for a holoshoot I’m doing for The Galactic. They’re paying for our travel expenses.”

      “When?” asked Volka and Carl.

      6T9 reached out to the local gate and checked their current traffic and schedules. “By the time we get through customs this side of the galaxy, four hours.”

      Behind 6T9, someone in the kitchen said, “I don’t know how I managed not to get laid last night. Where is the sex ‘bot?”

      “Carl, we have to get to the airlock now,” Sixty declared, steadying the creature on his shoulder and leaping up.

      A Marine stuck his head in the pantry door. “There you are!”

      Carl hissed. “I’m venomous.”

      The man vanished, saying, “Geez, I just wanted to know where the pancake mix is.”

      “Um, Sixty,” said Volka.

      “Yes?” he asked, turning back to the globe again.

      Volka had a hand over her face. “Maybe put on pants first?”
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      Sitting on the fine white table cloth of the Time Gate 1 restaurant, Carl hefted a shot glass filled with beef broth in four paws and declared, “To Volka’s residency in the Galactic Republic! Well done, Sixty!”

      Volka forced a smile and stifled a yawn. She’d had a long day between the reporter, Jeanette, her hours of painting, and her visit with Ben, but Sixty had proposed using some of the “ill-gotten gains” from the interview and “holoshoot,” to celebrate her residency at a “steakhouse.” It was lab steak and tastier than the rice, wheat, and all the terrible soy products humans ate, but still…bland.

      Beaming, Sixty clinked his glass of red wine against Carl’s. Volka’s ears perked at the sound and her brain became slightly more awake. Sixty was wearing pants, a red shirt, and the pleather jacket he favored, the one that had an extra-large pocket on the inside for Eliza’s ashes. All of his clothes smelled vaguely like Walker, lots of other people, sex with many of those people, and, somewhat incongruously, laundry detergent. The rinse cycle on the asteroid machine was probably malfunctioning again. Or it just might be the “water saver” mode being set too high.

      Lifting her own broth, Volka clincked her glass against theirs and stifled another yawn. She felt a wave of sadness coming over her. “It’s the next table over,” Carl whispered. “They’re breaking up.”

      “Oh.” Volka murmured. Was it really that, though? She thought of her visit with Ben yesterday and frowned. The quarantine facility they had him in on Time Gate 1 was the size of a small, very nice apartment. He had a hologlobe that she’d watched shows on with him, access to the ethernet that he’d used to purchase her art supplies, and exercise equipment. There was a glass wall on one side of a sitting area that she spoke to him through. There were always guards on her side, tucked in the corners, listening to every conversation. Yesterday, he’d asked her to open the door to the quarantine and told her that between the two of them they could take out the guards. She’d seen a dark aura around him and had sat absolutely petrified. He’d claimed he’d been joking a moment later. He hadn’t been. But today he had seemed better. There’d been less darkness in his aura; he hadn’t made her feel cold. She shouldn’t worry.

      Volka shook herself and found Sixty looking at her with concern.

      “Sometimes when I’m tired, I feel things…” Volka explained. On the crowded time gate, there was a lot to feel. Sitting across from Carl, who probably could hide things—

      “Yep,” said Carl, reading her thoughts.

      —and Sixty whose emotions she couldn’t get tangled in, was a relief.

      Carl sniffed. “Isssh would hate that rationalization.”

      Lifting her glass again, she declared, “It was genius, Sixty.” She was still dizzy by how quickly it had all happened. The reporter from The Galactic and her holographer had barely arrived when Jeannette Lan had too, digital tablet in hand, saying, “You can’t claim I delayed you now.” And that had been that. It was done; she could go back to the asteroid now and slam a frying pan over the head of anyone who talked about Sixty like he was a slab of meat. Her brow furrowed. Of course, maybe 6T9 didn’t mind. And maybe she’d be out of place there. Also, she did want to see Ben again, if only to support his recovery. She felt a roiling in her stomach.

      Sixty looked into his wine glass. “It was Noa’s idea. I needed a human perspective.”

      Volka nodded to show she understood, even if she didn’t. She felt off when she should be overjoyed. A sort of emptiness. Similar to when Sundancer had died.

      Not wanting to appear ungrateful, she said, “You executed it, though, Android General 1,” trying to make him flustered.

      It worked. “It goes against my programming to impersonate a general,” Sixty declared.

      Volka laughed. He rolled his eyes, and then an awkward silence fell across the table.

      “Well, I want to hear about Benjamin,” Carl declared. “You think he is better today. I’ve been hearing updates from Shissh on how the Republic is working on a cure, and Shissh herself is very hopeful.” Putting his shot glass down, Carl rubbed two little paws together. “I’d love it if you made baby humans. You’re so much cuter in your larval stage.”

      “Carl!” Volka said. She knew Ben was interested, but to state it all so bluntly was off-putting.

      Not one to be dissuaded by impropriety, Carl continued, “He’s not like Ran who would just use you to stab Darmadi in the gut. And speaking of, you and Darmadi had some resolution, I think.” He made a little coughing noise, and Volka squinted at him suspiciously. She’d had a dream her last night on the Merkabah. Not a “pleasant” dream, but a “good” dream. It had been very...vivid...and she remembered it as clearly as though it had happened. She’d felt guilty about some of it afterward, and asked Carl how much had been real. “Dreams are just dreams, Volka. Take from it the meaning you need.”

      The thing about the dream that stuck with her most were the things that she and Alaric had said to one another. He’d said many things she hadn’t known she needed to hear, and she’d said things that perhaps he’d needed to hear as well. It had been a real goodbye. She hadn’t known she’d needed that.

      Volka’s mother had been a widow before she met Volka’s father. She’d told Volka, “We weere don’t ever stop loving someone, and I do still love my first husband and think about him. But we also have big hearts and can let more than one person into our hearts…though not our beds at one time. We’re not like those monkey humans.” She’d punctuated that with a growl.

      On Luddeccea, it would have been hard to move on. Very few male weere would have accepted her if they knew she’d been with a human male on purpose. Sometimes, even rape victims weren’t forgiven. But Ben, perhaps putting the gossip together, had looked at her and asked point blank, “So you and the captain, is that still a thing?” After her dream, she’d felt comfortable saying “no” with a clear conscience.

      She didn’t feel in love with Ben…

      “Don’t overthink it,” said Carl.

      …but after a season, if she didn’t lock herself up as she’d done every year since Alaric had gone, maybe that would change?

      “A big part of love is just deciding,” said Carl, but not to Volka, to Sixty. Her friend was sitting still as a statue, one hand on his neck.

      “Sixty loves more than anyone, Carl, because he loves everyone,” Volka said.

      “It’s in my programming,” Sixty said softly.

      “Does that matter?” Volka asked.

      Rubbing the back of his neck, Sixty studied his wine.

      Carl cleared his throat. “Ben won’t make you stop painting like a Luddeccean male might.”

      “Oh, I know that,” Volka said. Besides just giving her the paints, he’d made her feel like her habit was interesting and special. “Volka,” he’d said, orange eyes intent on her through the glass, “People in the Republic want everything right now. You have a skill that takes years—decades—to master. It can’t be faked, and Galacticans are too lazy to learn.”

      She studied the pattern of light on her glass. He’d felt Sundancer too…

      “Since I met you, Volka,” Ben had said today, “and got aboard your spaceship, a whole world has opened up. It’s like a lightbulb went off in my brain; it feels like religion should feel. I felt a spaceship’s soul, and I’ve heard a tiger talk to me in my mind.” He’d looked over her shoulder and smiled fondly at Carl’s once-sister Shissh, in her Bengal tiger form, sleeping on the floor.

      “He’s like you,” Carl said. “A weere blindsided by human monkeyness.”

      “I know that, too,” Volka said. Days ago, Ben had told her, “I should tell you, in case it bothers you, that I was with a girl for five years before she broke it off.”

      “He’s wave sensitive,” Carl said, narrowing his eyes at Sixty, “and even a follower of the Three Books.”

      “He is,” said Volka. “The Three Books are different in System 11 but, still…” She touched her temple. “He had an incident yesterday. It took hold of him for a moment...”

      Sixty looked up in alarm.

      “But he’s a fighter, and better today. I didn’t see the dark around him at all.”

      Today, he’d put a hand on the glass between them and declared, “I’ll keep fighting it, Volka. It’s never going to get you or the Republic.”

      “He quoted something from the Koran…” she said. A waiter put food in front of her. She couldn’t even smell it—the empty feeling was coming over her again. “I’m sure it’s his faith that keeps him fighting.”

      “What did he say?” 6T9 asked, sounding far away.

      Volka shrugged. “I can’t remember...he actually said it in Arabic.” She had put her hand up to the glass, so they were palm to palm, and had felt resolve coursing from him to her, sure and strong. Resolute. Maybe she loved him a little already, but why did she feel emptiness when she thought of him?

      Sixty was quiet. A waiter refilled her glass with ice water, and Volka shivered. She found herself staring at a spot on the pristine white table cloth where light from a single candle was dancing. Very slowly, she turned to Carl. He was standing on his back four legs, and the rest of his paws were hanging limply at his sides.

      “Carl,” she whispered. “Is Ben okay?”

      He rubbed his head. “The station is big and crowded, and I’m not that close to him,” said Carl. “I don’t feel the Dark in his direction, though.”

      She distantly heard Sixty ask, “Bracelet, what did Ben say?”

      Bracelet repeated Ben’s words in Arabic and in his voice.

      “Carl,” Volka said. “Shissh is there, maybe—”

      Sixty stood up so fast, his wine glass tipped over. Grabbing Carl by the scruff of the neck, he said, “I’ve contacted quarantine and Dr. Lang. We should go there. Now.”

      Carl squeaked but didn’t reprimand Sixty. Carl always reprimanded Sixty. Volka froze in her chair.

      A waiter came by. “Sir?”

      Touching his temple, Sixty said, “Come on, Volka.”

      She climbed to her feet. Putting a hand on her shoulder, Sixty steered her to the door.

      “Thank you, sir,” the waiter called.

      Exiting, they passed a dingy man at the door, holding up a pamphlet and saying, “Eating lab meat makes you violent! Resist your baser instincts!” Before he’d finished, Sixty was already pushing Volka into a hover car. The next few minutes were a blur of zipping over pedestrians in the terminal, arriving in the blinding white space that was the lobby at the entrance to quarantine, being told they couldn’t go in, and Sixty yelling at the guards that it was an emergency, that a man’s life was on the line.

      “Carl, tell Shissh something is wrong!” Volka cried as Sixty argued. The smell of disinfectant was unusually strong in the off hours.

      Sitting on Sixty’s shoulders, head bowed, ears back, Carl said, “I can’t. She’s exhausted.” He put four paws over his nose and spoke into Volka’s heart. “She thought she could hold it back. I’m so sorry, Volka. I’m so sorry, Shissh.”

      Volka’s mouth fell open, remembering the “sleeping” tiger earlier in the day. Not sleeping—passed out, exhausted after holding back the Dark.

      “All right, you can come in,” a white-coated man or android who looked like a man said. Volka already knew, but she entered quarantine anyway. The odor of disinfectant by that time felt like it was burning in her lungs.

      Someone asked if she wanted to see the body, and she said yes.

      They led her to the visiting room. Shissh was still there, her body spread out on the floor. Her mouth was open, exposing her huge canines. A woman had a stethoscope to her chest and was saying, “She’s alive, but barely.”

      Volka turned to the glass wall. They’d taken all the furniture in Ben’s sitting room and piled it to one side. Men and women in envirosuits were walking back and forth, some swabbing the floor and the walls. Doctors and researchers came and went from the decon chamber, their faces hidden in envirosuits. Someone said, “He had a tablet in his cheek; we should have known…”

      Ben was laid out on a shiny steel table. His skin was pale, and his orange eyes were closed. She couldn’t see any Dark around him. When she finally turned away, Sixty was right there. He put his arms around her, and she could feel the shape of Eliza’s ashes in his coat and hear the hum he had instead of a heartbeat. She didn’t care who or what he smelled like when he held her tight and whispered, “I’m so sorry. I know how much it hurts.”
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      Standing in waist-high System 7 blue blade grass, 6T9 stared a bit to the right, out at the not-at-all-distant horizon of the asteroid. He could see where the plasti-glass panels of the “ceiling” met the sculpted, tree-covered, rolling hills. An air circulator hummed as it buffeted the back of his neck with an artificial breeze. Despite the machine’s best efforts, his chemical receptors detected a whiff of fungus. He needed to get FET12 going on the plasti-glass cleaning as soon as he was done clearing brush.

      “Almost finished,” Volka said, her voice tight with determination. Her brush pinged furiously against the can of water she was using as a rinse. Volka did most things furiously lately. She was angry at the Dark for taking Sundancer and Ben. Ben had left her a holo-message in the ether that Volka downloaded to Bracelet a day after he passed. He’d been afraid of the Dark having access to the data in his mind. “I’m a Special Forces agent, Volka,” the holo Ben had said. “If it found out everything I knew, it would be even more dangerous. I feel it eating its way into my mind, taking more and more. Dr. Lang keeps telling me a cure is around the corner, but Volka, I can feel she’s lying. There is only one way to stop it in time. I’m sorry. I wish we could have had more time. I pray this discharges my obligations to you for what I am about to do.”

      Sixty didn’t blame the Dark for Ben’s suicide. Sixty blamed Ben and Volka’s antiquated religion. The words Ben had recited in Arabic weren’t from the Koran; they were from a scholar from the 2200s who’d been inspired by the Koran. The martyr will be forgiven for everything, except obligations and debts to those he loves. He who dies defending his family, faith, or the galaxy is a martyr.

      Ben had obviously thought that his death was the ticket to an upload to heaven. Eliza had told 6T9 that faith gave humans strength. 6T9 thought faith let them die too easily.

      Behind him, Volka said, “Almost…alright, I’m done.”

      Swinging his arms to loosen his joints, 6T9 turned and strode through the thick grass to where Volka stood on a bluff of iron-rich asteroid rock, her watercolor supplies on a folding table in front of her. FET12 was in sight among some trees, dragging branches off to the methane power converter. Shissh was laying close by, enormous head resting atop her gigantic paws. Carl was chittering by her nose, but as 6T9 approached, the Bengal tiger put an enormous paw lazily over the werfle’s head, squashing it to the ground, and then dropped her own muzzle with a huff. Volka looked down at the big cat and frowned. 6T9 wasn’t an expert on big cats, but he didn’t need to consult the ethernet to know that the tiger was depressed. Ben had been “her special pet,” according to Carl.

      “What do you think?” Volka asked.

      6T9 surveyed the painting. Like her watercolor of Time Gate 1, it was reminiscent of John Singer Sargent. The “wildlife” was loose and quickly captured, but she’d spent more time on his form, and in particular, his profile. “I like it.”

      She bit her lip and he added, “I think it is exactly what your client wants.” The Galactic had mentioned Volka was a painter “roped into the role of rescuer,” and featured her watercolor sketch in their interview. She’d almost immediately gotten commissions. They had no Sundancer and no lodgers at the moment—the cleaning ‘bots were still busy cleaning up after the last lodgers—and her artwork was paying for the fancy gold spaceship with a gold-plated toilet that 6T9 had blown up. 6T9 had at first protested this scheme, but Volka had argued that she didn’t want to live anywhere else, and if he didn’t take her money, he was essentially evicting her, and also, it wasn’t fair that he’d taken care of her, but wouldn’t let her take care of him.

      “You’re the perfect model,” she said. “You don’t even breathe.”

      “I’d be even more perfect naked,” 6T9 said, surveying the drab clothing he wore.

      Volka blinked up at him. “The client wanted blue blade grass in his commissions. How could being naked in blade grass ever make sense?”

      6T9 opened his mouth.

      Flicking her ears, Volka said, “I don’t want to hear about sadomasochism scenarios.”

      6T9 shut his mouth.

      From the “sky”—or from the ceiling, depending on how you thought about it—came a clicking noise, a groan, and the “sun” moved a few more meters to the “west.”

      Volka looked up. “Let’s do another one. This time, stand on the right side of the blade grass patch and look left.” Her yellow eyes met his, and her voice was soft when she asked, “Would you mind if we listened to my lessons?”

      “They’re my lessons, too,” Sixty said. “You may only have a sixth-grade education, but I never even went to kindergarten.” Since the “war council,” Volka was obsessed with her lack of education. And “general uselessness.” During her time at Time Gate 1, unbeknownst to him, she’d tried to enlist in the Fleet. They wouldn’t take someone without ether access, and she wasn’t a candidate for surgery. He let out a breath. She wasn’t a candidate for all but the most innocuous, carefully constructed personalized nanos, either. Her immune system was too strong.

      “It’s different for you,” she said.

      “No, it’s not,” 6T9 said. “You can download everything I can download, and you have a perspective I will never have.”

      Before she could protest, eyes on hers, Sixty leaned toward her wrist and said, “Bracelet, start playing History of Earth Civilizations, Ancient Greece, please.”

      “Certainly, 6T9,” Bracelet replied. 6T9 began walking out into the grass, and the device began to recite, “Ancient Greece was a civilization that existed from the twelfth century BC to the end of antiquity in sixth hundred BC on Earth’s European continent, located on the planet’s north and eastern hemispheres on the body of water known as the Mediterranean Sea…”

      6T9 had one leg hitched up on a rock and was staring down at the lake and Bracelet was getting into the organization of Greek City-States when Volka’s brush dropped.

      “She’s awake,” Volka said.

      For a moment, all of 6T9’s circuits sparked, and his vision went white, trying to decipher who “she” could be.

      But then Shissh began chuffing—the big cat equivalent of a purr. Carl chittered like a madman—or werfle, and even though it was impossible and never dreamt of, 6T9 didn’t have to ask who “she” referred to.

      “Open the airlock for her!” Volka cried, dashing through the forest toward the landing pad, Shissh already bounding ahead of her, Carl hopping after them. Opening the outer airlock with a thought, 6T9 took up after them, scooping up the werfle on the way. Carl and 6T9 caught up with Volka and Shissh at the inner airlock door. The door was stainless steel and obviously not translucent, but Volka was standing there hopping on her toes, lips parted, smiling slightly—his emotion reading apps pegged the expression as “astonishment”—it was as though she could see the ship already. Shissh was pacing madly, chuffing more vigorously. Carl was kneading holes in 6T9’s shoulder and his purr was alarmingly loud.

      “What is it?” 6T9 asked, realizing there was some communication he was missing out on.

      Volka spun, her ears cocked fully forward. “She’s amazed that we still exist.”

      Remembering the dead worlds, 6T9 said, “I would imagine she would be.”

      With a thought, he reached out to the inner airlock door. There was a metallic clang, a whoosh of air laced with chemicals that didn’t come from Sundancer, but no ship. 6T9 blinked, and she was above them. Before anyone could say a word, she settled upon them, and they were inside of the ship, the dirt they had stood on moments earlier sifting out beneath their feet.

      For a moment, the interior was so brightly lit, Sixty couldn’t see. He heard Carl and Volka laughing like they had when the ship had first rescued them from the Luddecceans…the ship, and they, were overjoyed.

      Gradually, the interior dimmed, and the walls became orange and white. The laughter of his friends died and was replaced by feral grins. Wiggling in 6T9’s arms, Carl hissed, “Sundancer’s grateful for her sunbath.”

      Shissh growled, chuffed, and roared in the ether. “She’s ready to hunt.” The tiger let loose a noise 6T9 was reasonably sure was the inspiration for the expression “hair raising.”

      Volka turned to 6T9 and said, “Sundancer’s not afraid to fight anymore.” She grinned, and 6T9 expected to see elongated canines.

      On his shoulder, Carl hissed.

      6T9 had seen the ship take over his friends’ emotions before—he’d seen them become madly overjoyed as they’d been moments ago, and overwhelmed by sorrow so dark it was blinding, and embarrassed enough a Marine had declared, “Fiddlesticks.” This was something else. He was suddenly very aware that he was surrounded by carnivores. “I am glad I am not edible,” he said.

      Volka laughed, Shissh chuffed, and Carl hissed in his ear. “I wouldn’t push your luck.” 6T9 gulped. Well, that confirmed that hypothesis.

      On Volka’s wrist, Bracelet began to beep. Volka cocked her head. “Answer, please, Bracelet.” Her voice was smooth, more confident than normal. It struck 6T9 that Volka was never insecure when she was in full carnivore mode.

      Noa appeared in a holo above Volka’s wrist. “Your spaceship is back.”

      6T9 stepped toward Noa’s image. “Have you been monitoring our asteroid, Admiral?”

      Noa rolled her eyes. “You have the only faster-than-light spaceship in the Republic. Of course we’ve been monitoring your asteroid.”

      “What do you need, Admiral?” Volka said. Her eyes were very bright.

      Shissh slunk toward Noa’s hologram as though she might pounce on it, and Carl hung so far forward on 6T9’s shoulder, 6T9 was afraid he might fall off.

      “The Republic needs your help,” Noa said.

      “We’re ready for whatever you have for us,” Volka said, chin dipping low, a smile pulling at the corner of her lips.

      That Carl, Shissh, and Volka were ready to fight for the Republic, 6T9 had no doubt. He did wonder if the Republic was ready for them.

      Sundancer’s interior became dark red and began to throb.

      
        
        ~FIN~

      

      

      The next chapter in Sixty’s, Carl’s, and Volka’s adventures is The Defiant.
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